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Preface

The thirteenth-century Icelandic text The Saga of borour kakali
survives today as part of the fourteenth-century compilation The
Saga of the Sturlungar. In extant form, The Saga of Pérour kakali
is a biography of Pordur kakali Sighvatsson (c. 1210-56) — chief-
tain, Norwegian royal retainer, and sheriff —and covers the pe-
riods 1242-50 and 1254-56.

Consequently, the saga is based on a “true story” In 1242,
Pérdur returned to Iceland from service as a royal retainer in
Norway. At this time, Pordur appears to have been relatively
penniless and powerless after being deprived of his patrimony
by his enemies (chiefly Kolbeinn ungi Arnérsson of the Asbirn-
ingar and Gissur Porvaldsson of the Haukdzlir) and allegedly
outspending his means in Norway. In short order, Pérdur was
hounded to the ends of the country by his enemies, who had
slain and subjugated all of his powerful kinsmen during the pre-
ceding four years (1238-42) and thus taken control of over half
of Iceland.

However, over the course of less than a decade (1242—48),
the underdog Pérdur managed to overcome all the odds, de-
feating his enemies and establishing hegemony over all Iceland
(1248-50). Pordur was the only medieval Icelander to achieve
this feat, almost seven centuries of colonial rule commencing
shortly after his time (1262/4-1944). Yet, the spokes of fortune’s
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wheel soon turned against Pérdur, and he ended up dying in
exile in Norway in 1256.

When it was first written, The Saga of borour kakali was
longer and probably covered Pordur’s entire adult life (c. 1233
56). This original — *The Great Saga of Pérour kakali — is now
lost. Though of unattributed authorship, *The Great Saga of
bordur kakali was written in the 1270s, potentially by Svarthofoi
Dufgusson (c. 1218-c. 1286) — Pérdur’s cousin and trusted fol-
lower — who witnessed the majority of the events described in
the text.! *The Great Saga of bPorour kakali has been theorised
by several scholars (including myself) to have been intended as
a work of propaganda. The most recent word on this (mine) is
that the saga was most likely written to provide political sup-
port to Hrafn Oddsson — Svarthofoi’s brother-in-law, a trusted
follower of Pordur, a powerful chieftain, and later the sole gov-
ernor of Iceland on behalf of the Norwegian king— who during
the 1270s was contending with three knotty problems: a rival
for the governorship of Iceland, a troublesome southern bishop
determined to wrest ownership of church estates from secular
leaders, and controversial legal reforms.

As mentioned, the extant portions of the saga cover the peri-
ods 1242-50 and 1254-56. It begins in medias res. Chapter 1is a
prologue of sorts, summarising events in Iceland following the
seizure of two of Pérdur’s cousins, Orakja Snorrason and Sturla
bérdarson, at Hvitarbra in the year 1242. The chapter reports
that Orakja and Gissur Porvaldsson travelled abroad and tells
how Kolbeinn ungi subjugated the Western Quarter of Iceland
to his leadership. Chapter 2 describes Pérdur kakali’s arrival
back in Iceland in September 1242. Chapters 2—35 provide an ac-
count of bordur’s attempt to gather support for his case against
Kolbeinn and Gissur for the deaths of his father and brothers at
the Battle of Orlygsstadir in 1238.

1 For the most comprehensive survey of the origins of The Saga of Pérdur
kakali (as *The Great Saga of Pordur kakali), see Daniel Martin White, On
the Origins of Pordar saga kakala, PhD diss., University College London,
initial submission: 2020.
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PREFACE

Chapters 6-7 explain the course of events when, after gather-
ing an army, Pérdur immediately invades the Southern Quarter.
This campaign comes off as a success in chapter 7, and chapters
8-10 describe the escape of Pordur and his men from Kolbeinn,
who has been made aware of the incursion by Hjalti biskupsson,
the interim leader of Arnesping.

Chapters 11-22 tell of a series of escalating skirmishes be-
tween Porour’s and Kolbeinn’s sides, and the raising of navies by
each. Following a devastating attack on Vatnsdalur by Pérdur,
Kolbeinn avenges himself by pillaging Dalir and the region
around Reykholar, before hunting down Pérdur’s brother, Tumi
yngri, and killing him, in chapters 23-26. This outrage, and the
harsh measures imposed on the Eyfirdingar, set the stage for
chapters 27-35, which describe the course of the naval engage-
ment called the Battle of Hunafléi and the amphibious manoeu-
vres which followed.

Though the Battle of Hunafléi proves undecisive, a partial
resolution between the two sides is reached in chapters 36-38 by
Kolbeinn returning bérdur’s patrimony to him and dying short-
ly after. Pordur establishes himself as the leader of Eyjafjorour
while Brandur Kolbeinsson takes the helm in Skagafjorour.
Chapters 39-41 describe escalating tensions between Pérdur
and Brandur, culminating in a second confrontation at the Bat-
tle of Haugsnes in chapters 42-44.

Having summarily executed Brandur following a total vic-
tory over the Skagfirdingar, Pérdur and Gissur agree to resolve
their own dispute through the mediation of the Norwegian king
in chapter 45. The two travel to Norway and submit their case to
the Norwegian king’s judgment in chapter 46. Chapter 47 tells
what happened next in Iceland and dates the death of Brandur.
Returning to Norway in chapter 48, it is stated that Cardinal
William of Sabina decided the dispute in Pérdur’s favour, and
that he was to be sent by the Norwegian king to promote the
royal cause with the assistance of the new bishop elect of Holar,
Henrik.

Chapter 49 summarises Pordur’s time in Iceland during the
period 1247-50. Most of the narrative is taken up with the mat-
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ter of how he established leadership over the whole country and
notes some key events during his ascendancy. Pordur and Bish-
op Henrik, however, fall out, for the latter believes the former
to have laboured more on his own behalf than the king’s. The
consequence is that Bishop Henrik goes to Norway and makes
the case against Pordur before King Hakon in 1249. Chapter 49
ends abruptly in the winter of 1249-50 by telling how few sup-
port bordur’s case in Norway.

Chapter 50 — the last — picks up the story four years after the
end of chapter 49, with Gissur’s arrival in Norway in 1254 after
the Flugumyri Arson on 22 October 1253. After a confrontation
with Pordur at the court, we hear about Pérdur’s activity in Nor-
way as a sheriff, his popularity, and then an account of his death.

The Saga of borour kakali, treated as a primary source, pro-
vides the reader with an interesting view of power politics and
political culture from the periphery of medieval Europe, chal-
lenging dominant historiographical narratives derived from
the sources produced at the center. For example, let us consider
the influence that Halfdan Semundarson — Pérdur’s brother-
in-law —1is reported to wield, despite the fact that he was, by
his own admission (in chapter 2 of the saga), a peaceful, placid
individual, so uninterested in politics and conflict that he sur-
rendered the opportunity to lead Rangarping to his brothers. In
chapter 7, Pordur asks his sister Steinvor to summon the house-
holders of Rangarping for an attack on the episcopal See of Skal-
holt. Here we are told of a levy of troops being quickly raised in
the name of Halfdan — who did not even hold a political office
in the region — and then immediately disbanded with virtually
no effort:

Steinvér summoned together all of the householders in one
location, ordering them to be ready to follow Pérdur and
Halfdan. Bjorn and Kolbeinn met Halfdan and gave him the
message from Pordur and Steinvor. Halfdan said it was un-
wise to assault a holy place on account of the householders
[of Arnesping], who would not be of any account. ‘T will not
go anywhere, nor shall any of my men, but Pérdur may get
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vengeance against the householders some other way in time’
Then Halfdan sent men to the householders and told them
to go home.

This evidently does not square with the typical view of the pow-
erful medieval magnate as a warrior and skilled political player.

Additionally, a close reading of the contents of The Saga of
bordur kakali yields much historical evidence to confront out-
dated views of the roles and limitations of women, the disabled,
and the poor in medieval European society. To illustrate this,
consider the following scene from chapter 2 of the saga which
describes the indomitable Steinvor, Pérour’s sister (and the wife
of Halfdan):

Steinvor [...] said that Halfdan would obviously assist Pordur
in such ways as he could. She also noted that, hitherto, Half-
dan had never been a warrior, and ‘T have not urged him to
involve himself in high-profile cases. However, our relation-
ship will suffer if you do not assist my brother Pérour and
the natural order of things shall be violated: I will take up
weapons and seek a following of men, leaving you with the
kitchen keys. Steinvor continued speaking for a while and
Halfdan listened in silence.

Later on, in chapter 7, The Saga of Pérdur kakali reports that this
same Steinvor was so well-regarded that she was chosen to arbi-
trate a high-profile dispute alongside a bishop. Clearly, Steinvor
does not fit the “damsel in distress” stereotype commonly mis-
applied to the wives of medieval élites.

Beyond its historiographic value, the saga also reflects con-
siderable art. The artistic skill of the saga’s author has previously
been compared unfavourably to The Saga of the Icelanders (the
magnum opus of Pordur’s cousin Sturla Pérdarson — the famous
poet, writer, chieftain, royal retainer, and lawman).> However,

2 Jénas Kristjansson and Peter Foote, trans., Eddas and Sagas: Iceland’s Medi-
eval Literature (Reykjavik: Hid islenska bokmenntafélag, 2007), 195, 198.
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my contention is that Sturla and the author of *The Great Saga
of bordur kakali were both skilled practitioners, and that pitting
the two against each other does not add anything to scholarly
discourse on either text.

I admire two things in particular about the literary art of The
Saga of bérour kakali. Firstly, the author of *The Great Saga of
Dborour kakali was highly skilled with the technique of interlace-
ment. The interlaced structure of the saga is fractal, with the au-
thor using it to depict simultaneous action within scenes at the
smallest scale and to interweave the saga’s main plot with several
subplots on a grand scale. The effect of this is that the narrative
appears to orbit around the titular character, P6rdur kakali, and
invites the reader to draw comparisons with other characters.
Secondly, the saga is also replete with intertextual references to
then-contemporary literature (chiefly The Saga of King Sverre
of Norway) which enables the author to “show” the audience a
lot about the character of P6rdur in particular without actually
having to “tell” them much.

The Saga of Pérdur kakali is readily available in Icelandic edi-
tions of The Saga of the Sturlungar, but, hitherto, only one Eng-
lish translation of The Saga of the Sturlungar (and thus The Saga
of Pordur kakali) has ever been produced. This translation was
carried out by Julia McGrew and R. George Thomas (published
in two volumes, 1970-74).3 Nevertheless, even with the invalu-
able assistance of the eminent Icelandic scholar Sigurdur Nor-
dal — who provided English translations of the trickier passages
of text —McGrew and Thomas’s translation turned out “defec-
tive and unreliable” (in the words of Oren Falk).#

Published translations are cultural levelers insofar as they
open up texts to broader audiences — members of the interested
wider public—who may not have the means or time to learn
the original language merely to study a single primary source or

3 R. George Thomas, ed. Sturlunga Saga, trans. Julia H. McGrew, 2 vols. (New
York: Twayne Publishers, Inc. & The American-Scandinavian Foundation,
1970-4).

4 Oren Falk, “Helgastadir, 1220: A Battle of No Significance?” Journal of Me-
dieval Military History 13 (2015): 99ni3.
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read a lone literary classic. While McGrew and Thomas’s trans-
lation of The Saga of Pérdur kakali is more-or-less serviceable if
used with extreme caution (i.e., by native English speakers with
fluency in Icelandic), the importance of competent translations
should not be forgotten, especially for the reader without Icelan-
dic language skills: poor translations can offend, confuse, and
mislead users of the target language.

What follows is an Icelandic-English parallel text of The Saga
of bPordur kakali. It may appear controversial to some that I have
chosen to present the source text of the saga in modern Icelan-
dic orthography. However, I would counter that the language
of the medieval Icelanders is not a dead one. I feel strongly that
imposing “standardized Old Norse” orthography on the medi-
eval Icelandic corpus —which is done in spite of the fact that
spelling was neither homogenous nor static in reality during
this period —serves to marginalize this language even more
than it already has been by the ascendancy of English during
the digital age. Moreover, when one does not employ modern
Icelandic orthography, one prematurely accepts the relegation
of the language which birthed the sagas to history, even though
it still breathes.

As for the English translation, I have striven to maximize
both fidelity to the text and reader comprehension. Neverthe-
less, I admit that a marked preference for the latter is evident.

D.M. White
August 2019
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Fyrsti kafli

Einum vetri eftir lat Snorra Sturlusonar héfust peir atburdir er
morg tidindi gerdust af sidan, utanferd Gissurar Porvaldssonar
fyrir sunnan land en Orekja fér utan i Eyjafirdi. bad haust
kom ut Pérdur Sighvatsson ad Gasum og Jon Sturluson og var
pa barn ad aldri. Solveig médir hans kom og par ut og deetur
hennar. Jén lindids var styrimadur 4 skipi pvi.

[ penna tima var Kolbeinn ungi mestur h6fdingi fyrir nordan
land og hafdi prongt undir sig mestum hluta landsins. En pa er
Gissur for utan hafoi hann sett Hjalta freenda sinn i rm sitt og
skyldi hvor peirra Kolbeins veita 60rum ef 6fridur veeri ger a
adra hvora, Sunnlendinga eda Nordlendinga. Voru og Dufgus-
synir utan reknir, Svarth6fdi og Kolbeinn. Bjorn skyldi vinna
eida Kolbeini ad vera aldrei & méti honum vid hvern sem hann
etti um.

Sturla Pérdarson var tekinn med valdi vid Bria med Oreekju
sem fyrr var ritad og skyldi annadhvort fara utan eda sverja
Kolbeini tylftareid og hinir bestu menn honum ur Vestfjéroum
a0 vera aldrei 4 mot Kolbeini p6 ad bPordur keemi til eda nok-
kur madur haefi 6frid { méti honum. Pall prestur Hallsson reid
nordur og Ketill prestur Porleiksson, Gunnsteinn Hallsson og
Vigtas son hans, Péroddur prestur og allir hinir bestu menn
ur peim sveitum sem hann 4tti forraedi. Sor Sturla eid og pessir
menn med honum og reid heim sidan.
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Chapter One

The consequences of these events, which occurred in the year
following Snorri Sturluson’s death, were far-reaching. Gissur
Porvaldsson went abroad from southern Iceland while Orakja
departed for overseas from Eyjafjérour. That autumn, Pérdur
Sighvatsson returned to Iceland via Gasir. With Pérdur on this
journey were Jon Sturluson, still a child at that time; Solveig,
Jon’s mother; Solveig’s daughters; and Jon lindas, the captain of
their ship.

At that time Kolbeinn ungi was the most powerful leader in
northern Iceland. In addition, Kolbeinn had set himself over the
greater part of the country. When Gissur travelled abroad he
left his authority in the care of his kinsman Hjalti; there was an
agreement in place that Kolbeinn and Hjalti would assist each
other should any attempt be made to raise rebellion in either
the northern or southern part of the country. Two of the sons of
Dufgus — Svarth6fdi and Kolbeinn —had been driven abroad
from the country like Orakja, while a third — Bjérn — was
obliged to give an oath to Kolbeinn. Bjoérn’s oath stipulated that
he would never be an enemy to Kolbeinn, irrespective of the
circumstances.

Sturla Pérdarson had been forcibly seized at Bra with Oreek-
ja. Sturla was compelled by his captors to choose one of two
alternatives: to go overseas like Orakja or to get eleven of the
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Petta hid sama sumar reid Einar Porvaldsson og Poérdis
Snorradéttir og hinir bestu baendur med peim tr Isafirdi nordur
a fund Kolbeins og fengu par seemilegar viotokur og gjafir gédar.
Og a0 skilnadi peirra jatudu pau 6ll pvi er Kolbeinn vildi eda
beiddi.

Ridu pa vestur med peim Einar Jonsson og Einar dragi og
beir sex saman af fylgdarménnum Kolbeins. En pa er pau komu
til Stadar { Steingrimsfjérd gerdu peir menn til Asgrims Berg-
pérssonar 4 Kalladarnesi. Kom hann til méts vid pa og festi
trdnad sinn med eidum vid Kolbein og var til pess traudur i
fyrstu. En pa er peir heyrdu ad annadhvort skyldu allir menn
vinna Kolbeini eida i Vestfjoroum eda sata afarkostum ellegar
for honum pa sem 6drum er ekki var til annarrar handar ad
hann sa ekki annad sitt rad en gera svo sem beitt var. Ridu peir
b4 vestur til Isafjardar og stefndu par fund biendum, héfou
pa uppi eidamalid. Gekk pad audvelt sem von var pvi ad par
voru margir vinir Kolbeins hinir steerri buendur en i annan stad
vildu allir gera vilja Einars og Pérdisar. Séru pa allir beendur eid
Kolbeini.

Eftir pad foru pau vestur til Bardastrandar og attu par
fund vid hofdingja og stefndu til Gisla af Sandi og h6fou uppi
ordsending Kolbeins ad Gisli skyldi sverja eid eda mata ella
pvi meira fjandskap af Kolbeini sem hann hefdi i fleira pvi
verid, sem honum var til métgangs, en adrir. Gisli kvedst aldrei
mundu Kolbeini eida sverja. For pa { heitan og fjandskap af
hvorumtveggjum. Var par vid Eyvindur prestur Pérarinsson,
gd0ur madur og gofugur, er oftast var vanur ad vera umbot med
Gisla og 60rum ménnum peim er pess purftu vid. bar var og
Pérarinn Kollason systurson Eyvindar. Kélludu peir pa Gisla a
tal vi0 sig og badu hann ad hyggja i hvert éefni komid var, kvadu
nu eigi Sighvat eda Sturlu til lidveislu vido hann eda adra pd er
honum hefdu mestir flutningsmenn verid. Gisli kvad Kolbein
annars maklegan eda pa menn er radio h6fou Sighvat eda Sturlu
en hann veitti peim né einn trinad. Eyvindur kvad pa 4 hitt ad
lita ad hann breytti eigi svo ad hann taeki afarkosti 4 mét en
sveitin hefdi 6frid og potti 6llum pad af honum hljétast. Gisli
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most prominent men from the Western Quarter to join him in
swearing an oath of twelve to Kolbeinn. This oath was designed
to bind Sturla and his eleven confederates against becoming
Kolbeinn’s enemies, even if Pordur returned to Iceland or some
other person waged war against him. Gunnsteinn Hallsson; Vig-
fas Gunnsteinsson; the priests Pall Hallsson, Ketill Porleiksson,
and Péroddur; and all the worthies from the districts headed
by Sturla rode north. Together, Sturla and these men swore the
oath before riding home.

That same summer, Einar Porvaldsson, Pérdis Snorradot-
tir, and the most important householders living in Isafjordur
rode north to meet Kolbeinn. Kolbeinn welcomed them well
and gave good gifts. When the time came to part, Einar and the
householders agreed to everything and anything that Kolbeinn
either wanted or requested.

Afterwards, Einar Jénsson, Einar dragi, and six of Kolbeinn’s
retainers accompanied Einar Porvaldsson and his compan-
ions back to the west on horseback. When the travelers neared
Stadur in Steingrimsfjérdur, Kolbeinn’s men made for Asgrimur
Bergporsson at Kalladarnes. He came to meet them and gave
his oath of allegiance to Kolbeinn. Asgrimur had been hesitant
at first, but when he was informed that the Vestfirdingar were
either to swear Kolbeinn an oath or suffer the consequences of
disobedience, then matters went as they often do when one is
backed into a corner. Asgrimur thus saw no other feasible course
of action than to do as he was told. From Steingrimsfjérdur, Kol-
beinn’s men rode west to I[safjordur and summoned a meeting
of the local householders. For the second time on their jour-
ney, the matter of the oath was brought up. It was anticipated
that things would go smoothly in those parts, as the Isfirdingar
were great friends of Kolbeinn. Moreover, everyone living there
wanted to do what Einar and Pérdis asked them to; thus, all the
householders present swore the oath to Kolbeinn.

Next, Kolbeinn's men went still further west until they came
to Bardastrond to have a meeting with the leaders of the district.
Gisli of Raudasandur was summoned to that meeting. They told
Gisli that he was either to swear an oath or experience consid-
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kvedst po aldrei Kolbeini Arnérssyni mundu eid sverja hvad
sem i skurd gengi.

Eyvindur pagnadi pa um hrid og meelti sidan: Sverdu pd eid
Kolbeini unga. Eg 4 pann son er Kolbeinn heitir og er heitinn
eftir Kolbeini Sighvatssyni og ma pa verda réttur eidur pinn er
pt veist pad 1 hug pér ad pu pykist honum sverja.

Gisli kvedst petta gera mundu me0d forsja peirra. Gengu beir
pa med pessu radi til moéts vid pa Einar og Nordlendinga. Sagdi
Eyvindur pa ad Gisli vildi gera eftir baen hans og annarra vina
sinna. Stafadi Einar Jonsson pa Gisla eid en hann sor eftir pvi
sem peir Eyvindur prestur h6fou radid og sa engi madur i pad.
Séru pa allir baendur eida 4 peim fundi, peir sem pess voru
beiddir. Skildu peir pa slikir vinir sem peir fundust.

Féru peir Einar pa nordur i fjérdu og gengu par allir hinir
staerri baendur til eida utan fdir menn. Sanda-Bardur og nokkurir
menn vildu eigi sverja.

Eftir petta riou peir Kolbeins menn nordur. Nu fékk Kolbeinn
med sliku moti vald yfir Vestfjoroum sem hér var sagt.

Petta sama haust vard Porfinnur afturreka i Hrutafirdi. Voru
par Dufgussynir 4 skipi og margir adrir islenskir menn. Ridu
beir pa heim i Hjardarholt.

Foér pa Bjorn drumbur nordur a fund Kolbeins og Porsteinn
Hjalmsson med honum. Skyldu peir pa frida fyrir peim
braedrum vid Kolbein.

En er peir komu 4 halsinn hja Svinavatni reid par madur 4
moti peim. S hét Jon og var kalladur lidsmadur.

Porsteinn spyr hann tidinda.

Hann sagdi peim skipkomu ad Gasum og ad par var a bérour
Sighvatsson.

Porsteinn spurdi hvert Jon skyldi.

Eg skal fara i Vestfjordu, sagdi hann, ad finna ydur hina
steerri baendur.

Porsteinn spyr hvad erinda sé.

Jon segir: Hefir Kolbeinn til pess ord send, ef Pordur keemi
hér fram nokkur, ad taka hann og skyldi feera honum.

Porsteinn bad hann finna adra baendur en vid munum rida 4
fund Kolbeins.
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erably more enmity from Kolbeinn than he presently did (this
was due to the fact that Gisli had been a constant adversary of
Kolbeinn’s, more so than others). Gisli retorted that he would
never swear an oath to Kolbeinn. The situation got heated and
there was much hostile feeling on both sides. The priest Ey-
vindur Pérarinsson, a good and magnanimous man, was pre-
sent at the meeting. Eyvindur had often mediated between Gisli
and others, whenever the need arose. Pérarinn Kollason, Eyvin-
dur’s nephew, was also there. They took Gisli to one side to talk
and asked him to think about how difficult matters had now
become for them. They reminded him that he had neither Sigh-
vatur or Sturla to rely upon now, nor any of the others who had
given him a great deal of support in the past. Gisli responded
that Kolbeinn and the others who had plotted against Sighvatur
and Sturla deserved something altogether different to an offer
of allegiance from him. Eyvindur reminded Gisli that he had to
be careful not to act in such a way that he brought harm upon
himself or caused the district to be stricken with warfare that
everyone would blame him for causing. Gisli nevertheless de-
clared that he would never swear an oath to Kolbeinn Arnérs-
son, whatever the consequences.

Eyvindur went silent for a moment, and then said: ‘do you
have to swear Kolbeinn ungi an oath? I have a son called Kol-
beinn, who is named after Kolbeinn Sighvatsson, and you may
consider your oath more bearable and valid if you think about
him while swearing’

Gisli replied that he would do as they advised. They went
with this plan in mind to meet with Einar and the Northerners.
Eyvindur said that Gisli wanted to do as he and his other friends
asked him to. Gisli proceeded to swear the oath, repeating after
Einar Jonsson, as the priest Eyvindur and he had planned, and
no man saw through it. All the householders at that meeting
then swore the oath, exactly as they were bade. This done, they
parted in such a state of friendship as they had met.

Einar and his companions now went northwards to the fjord,
and all the prominent householders came to swear the oath ex-
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P4 skildu peir. Reid Jon pa vestur en peir Porsteinn ridu pa
nordur og Bjorn.

Og pd er fal syn i milli peirra Jons meelti Bjorn vid Porstein:
Pau tidindi hefi eg frétt ad eg mun aftur hverfa og rida eigi
lengra. Hvi synist pér svo? sagdi Porsteinn.

Bjorn svarar: Eg veit ad breedur minir munu jafnskjott fara til
Pérdar sem peir na honum hverigu sem eg heit Kolbeini en eg
vil fylgja peim.

Porsteinn vard far um og kvad hann rada mundu. betta var
um dagmalaskeid.

Sneri Bjorn nu aftur og reid svo nordan ad hann fann ekki
menn, kom heim i Hjardarholt er litid var af nétt. Vakti hann
upp bradur sina og sagdi peim pessi tidindi. Peir urdu pessu
fegnir og potti hann vel farid hafa. Sdtu peir nii heima um hrid.
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cept for a few men. Sanda-Bardur and some others refused to
swear it.

Afterwards, Kolbeinn's men returned to the North. What has
just been described is the means by which Kolbeinn came to
control the Vestfirdir.

That same autumn Porfinnur fipur ran ashore at Hrutafj6rour.
With him were the sons of Dufgus and many other Icelanders.
After landing, the sons of Dufgus rode home to Hjardarholt.

Then Bjérn drumbur and Porsteinn Hjalmsson went north-
wards to meet with Kolbeinn: they were seeking a truce with
Kolbeinn on behalf of Bjorn’s brothers.

When they reached a ridge by Svinavatn, they noticed a man
riding to meet with them. The man’s name was Jén and he was
called lidsmadur.

Porsteinn asked him for news.

He told them that a ship had come to Gésir which had Pérdur
Sighvatsson and many other Icelandic men onboard.

Porsteinn asked Jon what he was currently doing.

‘Tam on my way to the Vestfirdir, he said, ‘to find you and the
other prominent householders’

Porsteinn inquired of Jon what his errand was.

Jon said: ‘Kolbeinn has sent word that if Pordur comes passes
through here, he is to be seized and taken to him’

Porsteinn bade he find the other householders, ‘and we will
ride to meet with Kolbeinn’

Then they parted: Jon rode west, but Porsteinn and Bjorn
rode north.

And when they were out of Jon's sight, Bjérn said to Por-
steinn: ‘T have resolved to terminate this journey and return
home based on the news which I have just received’

‘What do you mean?” asked Porsteinn.

Bjorn answered: T know that my brothers will rally to
bérour’s side as soon as he nears them, and — regardless of what
I have promised Kolbeinn — I will follow them’

Porsteinn was uneasy about this proposition, though com-
mented that it was up to Bjorn. This exchange took place about
breakfast time.
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Fig. 2. A statue of Snorri Sturluson by Gustav Vigeland in Reyk-
holt. Source: Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/
File:Reykholt_o7.jpg.
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Bjorn now turned back and rode southwards in such a fash-
ion that he met no men. He arrived at Hjardarholt in the early
evening. Bjorn woke up his brothers and told them the news.
On hearing it, they were delighted and thought he had done
well. The brothers now remained at home for some time.
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Annar kafli

En er bordur var a land kominn { Eyjafirdi pa voru par fyrir
heimamenn Kolbeins unga og hleyptu pegar til Skagafjardar 4
fund Kolbeins og s6gdu honum ad Pérdur var ut kominn.

Pérour vard landfastur laugardag hinn neaesta fyrir Mariu-
messu sidari. Hin var 4 60rum degi viku. Voru par i kaupstefn-
unni margir hinir sterri beendur, peir er verid hofou astvinir
f6dur hans. Kemur pd til hans Halldéra moédir hans og adrir
freendur hans og urdu allir honum fegnir i fyrstunni.

En er peir hugsudu um riki Kolbeins unga, hversu mikid
ordid var, pa potti peim nalega sem Pérdur veeri latinn. Og
voktust pa upp af nyju peir harmar er Halldéra hafdi bedid pvi
a0 engi hans freenda treystist ad veita honum en alpy0a var svo
hreedd ad ekki pordi vid hann ad meela pad er eigi var 4 allra
manna viti. En margir voru { sékum vafdir vid Po6ro, er farid
hofou med eignir peer er fadir hans hafdi att og breedur.

En er Pordur sa hversu alpyou var sndid af hraedslugedi til
motgangs vid hann fyrir riki Kolbeins svo ad hverjum poétti sem
lata sjalfan sig eda eignir sinar ef honum gerdi nokkurn gédan
hlut pa fékk hann sér hesta og reid inn til hérads.

Pérour reid nt inn & Grund. Pa bjé 4 Grund 4 f6durleifd hans
Styrmir Périsson og Sigridur Sighvatsdéttir. Pau 4ttu tvo born.
Hét Teitur son peirra en Halla déttir. Teitur var pa eigi heima og
farinn ut i Grimsey.
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Chapter Two

When Poérdur came ashore at Eyjafjorour, he was confronted by
Kolbeinn ungi’s retainers. These men rushed off immediately to
Skagafjordur to meet with Kolbeinn and notify him that Pérdur
had returned.

Pérdur made land on the Saturday before the later mass of
St. Mary (which took place on the second day of the week). In
the marketplace were many prominent householders, those who
had been faithful friends to his father. His mother Halldéra and
other kinsmen then came to meet him there and everyone was
delighted to see him at first.

However, when they considered how great Kolbeinn’s power
had become, it seemed to them that Pérdur was as good as dead.
Halldéra wept — her previous grief returning to her —because
none of Pordur’s kinsmen dared to offer him help. Moreover,
fear was so rife that no-one was even willing to risk informing
Pérdur of anything which was not already common knowledge.
Still further, many of those present were embroiled in cases
against Porour: they had taken over property which had be-
longed to his father and brothers.

Pérdur now saw that everyone was too frightened to assist
him due to Kolbeinn’s power, for all believed life or property to
be in jeopardy should they do him a good turn. Thus, he mount-
ed his horse and rode into the district, eventually arriving at Gr-
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ba er Sighvatur og Sturla voru latnir pd 1ét Kolbeinn eiga
skuldadém eftir Sighvat og gerdi hann félausan. I pvi mali vafdi
hann alla hina steerri beendur i Eyjafirdi med 60ru hvoru, ad
peir skyldu agirnast og kallast att hafa eda 1ét pa kaupa hvort
er peir vildu eda eigi og gefa frjalsar eignir fyrir til pess ad pa
veeri 61l alpyda meir bundin i métgangi vid P6rd ef hann keemi
til Islands. P4 lét hann sem hann keypti Grundarland sumt ad
Halldéru og Tuma og gaf peim vid eignir i Skagafirdi. Bjuggu
pau meedgin pa ad Pvera. Potti Kolbeini sem Tumi mundi par
minna aleidis koma til métgangs er évinir hans satu umhverfis.

En Styrmi og Sigridi Sighvatsdéttur rak hann nordur til
Eyjafjardar er pau bjuggu adur i Bjarnarstadahlio, pottu pau par
sitja fyrir njésnum, en kvad Sigridi pad sagt hafa ad seemilegt
veeri ad hun settist { rim fodur sins.

Sigridur kvad Kolbein mega reka sig 4 braut af stadfestu sinni
en aldrei pykist eg ad heldur eiga Grundarland pott eg setjist
par nidur.

En petta vard sem annad svo ad vera sem Kolbeinn vildi.

P4 er P6rdur kom 4 Grund kom til hans Arni 4béti og
Gudmundur Gilsson og bddu peir hann verda 4 brottu sem
fyrst, s6gdu pann tima er Kolbeinn yrdi var vid utkomu hans ad
hann mundi pegar gera menn til hans. Téku pad flestir upp fyrir
Pordi ad Halfdan magur hans veeri likastur til ad veita honum
nokkvern styrk fyrir kosta sakir og eettar en kvadu Steinvéru
systur hans hofudskorung og liklega til framhvata margs vio
Halfdan bénda sinn.

Tok Pordur pa pad rad ad rida sudur um land. Var pd eigi
meira foruneyti Pérdar ad sinni ar Eyjafirdi en tveir menn,
Snorri Poéralfsson er it kom med honum og annar madur er
Hamundur hét og var Porsteinsson. Hann var kalladur auga.
Hann var leidtogi peirra. Ridu pa nordur yfir Vodlaheidi og svo
upp hina nyrdri leid 4 Sand.

En er Kolbeinn ungi spurdi ttkomu Pérdar pa sendi hann
pegar nordur til Eyjafjardar prja tigu manna. Voru par fyrir
heimamenn hans. Og er peir komu til Gasa konnudu peir budir
allar med brugdnum vopnum og fundu b6rd eigi sem von var ad.
Eftir bad undu peir illa vi0 sina ferd og toku sidan Leif austmann
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und. At that time, Styrmir Périsson and Sigridur Sighvatsdottir
lived at Grund on his patrimony. The couple had two children: a
son named Teitur and a daughter called Halla. Teitur was not at
home then, because he had gone out to Grimsey.

After the deaths of Sighvatur and Sturla, Kolbeinn had held
a debt court and declared the former to have been insolvent.
He entangled all of the prominent householders in Eyjafjorour
in this matter by having them reclaim property they had previ-
ously owned, buy property whether they wanted it or not, and
receive property for free as gifts. The purpose of this was to fur-
ther bind the whole population in enmity against Pérdur if he
returned to Iceland. Then Kolbeinn made representations that
he had bought part of Grundarland from Halldéra and Tumi,
and gave them property in Skagafjérour. Following this, mother
and son lived at bvera. The reason for doing this was that Kol-
beinn thought Tumi would find it more difficult to bring op-
position against him if he was surrounded by enemies himself.

Kolbeinn then drove Styrmir and Sigridur Sighvatsdottir
north to Eyjafjérour, when before they had lived at Bjarn-
arstadahlio. Kolbeinn did this because he feared that they would
have been spies if they remained there. He also put about a ru-
mour claiming that Sigridur had said that it would be seemly for
her to assume her father’s seat.

Sigrirdur said that Kolbeinn may have driven her away from
her farm but that T would never consider that I own Grundar-
land, though I settle down there’

Nevertheless, as with all other matters, this one went as
Kolbeinn wanted.

When Pérdur came to Grund, Abbott Arni and Gudmundur
Gilsson rushed over and asked him immediately to make
himself scarce. They told Pérdur that as soon as Kolbeinn
became aware of his return to Iceland he would immediately
send men after him. Many then mentioned to Pérdur the fact
that his brother-in-law Hélfdan would be likeliest to provide
him with some armed support on account of their kinship and
his means; additionally, they noted that Pordur’s sister Steinvor
was formidable and likely to goad her husband Halfdan a lot.
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er sidan var kalladur Knarrar-Leifur og létu sem peir mundu
fothoggva hann, Leifur hafdi verid vin Pérdar og félagi, en toku
vopn 6ll er kaupmenn é4ttu. Kaupmenn allir attu hlut ad, s6gou
Leif saklausan og fyrir pad 1étu peir Leif lausan en reendu tvo
islenska menn, Styrkar Einarsson og Porbjorn skakk, til priggja
tiga hundrada. Eftir pad foru peir vestur og sogou Kolbeini ad
Pérdur var ridinn a Sand.

Kolbeinn sendi pegar menn Hjalta biskupssyni, bad hann
veita sér og setja peer gislar fyrir sem honum peetti veenst ad
duga mundi. Hjalti var heima og jok heldur fj6lmennid.

Pérour reid leid sina par til er hann kom til Keldna. Halfdan
og Steinvor téku vid honum vel.

En er bordur hafdi faar naetur verido ad Keldum pa heimti
hann 4 tal Halfdan mag sinn og Steinvéru systur sina og sagdi
a0 peim mundi kunnigur skadi sa hinn mikli er hann hafoi
bedid ilati fodur sins og svo og braeedra og svo teknar allar eignir
vorar en latid mér hvergi 6heett. Nu er eg til pess hingad kominn
magur a ykkarn fund ad krefja pig nokkurrar lidveislu og vita
ef gud gefur pann tima ad vér meettum med nokkuru méti fa
seemdir vorar. Pykir mér engi madur jafn liklegur til lidveislu vio
mig sem pu, fyrst sakir vensla og pess ad pu ert kostameiri fyrir
fjar sakir og annars afla en hver annarra minna venslamanna.
Venti eg og hér best ad sem pid erud.

Steinvor svaradi vel mali hans og kvad einsatt vera Halfdani
a0 drygja dad og veita Poroi allt slikt er hann meetti, kvad hann
hafa verid engan styrjaldarmann hér til: Hefi eg hann og sjaldan
eggjad ad ganga { stormeli en ni mun eg pad bert gera ad
litid mun verda okkart sampykki ef pu veitir eigi Pordi brodur
minum. Mun pa svo fara sem minnur er ad skopudu ad eg mun
taka vopnin og vita ef nokkurir menn vilji fylgja mér en eg mun
fa pér af hendi burluklana.

Var Steinvor pa mal6d um hrid en Hélfdan pagdi og hlyddi
til.

En er Steinvor pagnadi pa meelti Halfdan: Svo list mér sem
menn muni hér fleira vio purfa en dkafa einn saman ef petta
mal skal nokkvern stad eiga er Pérdur byrjar. En mér er kunnast
hvad manna eg er sjalfur. Eru mér litt hendar stérdeildir og er
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Pérdur took the advice to ride southwards. He had no more
than two companions at this time: Snorri Poralfsson, who had
returned to Iceland with him, and another man named Hamun-
dur Porsteinsson. Himundur’s nickname was auga. He was their
guide. They proceeded over V5dlaheidi and so onto the north-
erly path to Sandur.

As soon as Kolbeinn ungi learned of Pérdur’s return to Ice-
land, he sent thirty men north to Eyjafjérour. His home-men
were already there. At Gasir they searched all the booths with
drawn weapons, but did not find Pérdur, as was to be expected.
The men were unhappy with this being the result of their jour-
ney, so they arrested a Norwegian named Leiv, who was later
called Knarrar-Leiv, and planned to cut off his feet, because Leiv
had been a friend and companion of Pérdur. Kolbeinn’s men
also seized all of the weapons the traders had. The merchants
protested to Leiv’s treatment, saying that he was innocent. The
end of the matter was that they let Leiv go, but robbed two Ice-
landers, Styrkar Einarsson and Porbjorn skakk, of the equiva-
lent of 3,600 ells of wadmal. Afterwards, Kolbeinn’s men went
west and informed him that Pérdur had ridden to Sandur.

Kolbeinn immediately sent messengers to Hjalti biskupsson
and asked him to be on his guard and to post as many sentries as
he saw fit. Hjalti was at home and increased his host somewhat.

bérdur continued riding until he came to Keldur. Halfdan
and Steinvor greeted him well.

After Pérdur had stayed at Keldur for a few nights, he re-
quested a conference with his brother-in-law Halfdan and sister
Steinvor. Pordur said that they well knew how much anguish he
had suffered from the deaths of his father and brothers, ‘further-
more, all of our property has also been taken and I have no safe
haven for myself. I have come here to meet with you, brother-
in-law, to ask you for some assistance so that we can attempt to
regain some of our honour, if God wills it. I do not think there is
anyone who is more likely to help me than you, first on account
of our kinship and second because you are the most well-off in
terms of wealth and other strength of all my kinsmen. Conse-

39



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

eg heldur hniginn fyrir aldurs sakir en verid p6 avallt 6samur
a0 eiga hlut i stérmaelum. En mér synist sem beir er i petta mal
ganga sem nalega hafi allt landsfélk i méti sér. Vil eg og vita
hvern afla Pérdur feer annars stadar par sem freendur hans og
vinir eru. Mun eg ef Pérdur kemur hér med nokkvern styrk lids
ganga i mal med honum lengur. Steinvor eggjar pessa svo mjog.

Gerdu pau pad rad oll saman ad Poérdur skyldi fara i Vest-
fjorou og leita eftir hverjir menn honum vildu veita. Sagdi Half-
dan par marga pa menn er harma sina attu ad rétta vio Kolbein
og Sunnlendinga, kvad pa enn mundu gjarnari 6fridar en sig
eda sina menn.
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quently, I expect to receive the greatest amount of support from
you two!

Steinvor responded favorably to his speech and said that
Hélfdan would obviously assist Pérdur in such ways as he could.
She also noted that, hitherto, Halfdan had never been a warrior,
and Thave not urged him to involve himself in high-profile cas-
es. However, our relationship will suffer if you do not assist my
brother Pérdur and the natural order of things shall be violated:
I will take up weapons and seek a following of men, leaving you
with the kitchen keys’

Steinvor continued speaking for a while and Halfdan listened
in silence.

When Steinvor had finished, Halfdan spoke: ‘T think that a
lot will need to be done if this mission that Pordur has begun is
to prove a success. I know best myself what sort of man I am: I
am no warrior and have been pacifistic for many years. I have al-
ways been reluctant to become embroiled in high-profile cases,
and it seems to me that those who join Pérdur’s cause will be
going against almost the entire country. Before I get involved,
I want to know what support Pordur can muster elsewhere, in
those places where his kinsmen and friends are to be found. If
Pérdur can return here with some substantial force, I will join
his cause, because Steinvor has strongly advocated for this’

Thus, the three agreed that Pordur should go to the Vestfirdir
to recruit those willing to support him. Halfdan remarked that
there were many men there who had wrongs to redress with
Kolbeinn and the Arnesingar, and, moreover, that they would
be more keen to go to war than either he or his men.
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Tumi Sighvatsson 4tti pd bu i Arnarbaeli. Kom hann pegar til
Keldna er hann frétti ad Poérdur var par kominn og vard par
fagnafundur mikill med peim breedrum. Rédst Tumi til vestur-
reidar med Pordi og nokkurir menn med honum.

Nikulas hét madur og var Oddsson. Oddur fadir hans var
ettadur ur Austfjoroum. Modir Nikulass var Herdis dottir
Barkar af Baugstooum. Hann var fylgdarmadur Halfdanar.
Hann var mikill madur og sterkur og vel viti borinn. Hann fengu
pau Steinvor og Halfdan til fylgdar vid P6érd. Borkur hét madur
og var Guomundarson. Hann rédst enn til ferdar med Poroi.

Urdu peir Pérour og Tumi braedur saman neer tuttugu menn
ba er peir ridu fra Keldum. Ridu peir pa vestur yfir Pjérsa, féru
svo um héradid ad Hjalti biskupsson vard ekki var vid. Ridu pa
vestur til Borgarfjardar og svo til Dala.

Svertingur hét madur og var Porleifsson. Hann bjé pa i
Hvammi. Fér Tumi pangad og var par medan Pérdur for vestur
{ jordu. En er Oreekja var utan rekinn pé dreifdist vida si sveit
er honum hafdi fylgt. En er peir spurdu ad Pérdur var kominn i
Dala pa potti peim hann likastur til nokkurrar uppreistar i moti
hans 6vinum. Drifu peir pa flestir allir til hans. Ték hann vid
peim flestum vel. Voru peir fremstir { peirri sveit freendur hans
Dufgussynir: Bjorn keegill og Kolbeinn gron, Porgeir Hréo-
bjartsson er kalladur var stafsendi, breedrungur Dufgussona,
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Chapter Three

At that time, Tumi Sighvatsson lived at Arnarbeeli. Tumi came
to Keldur as soon as he learned that Pérdur had returned to Ice-
land. A most joyous reunion took place between the brothers.
Tumi and a few men with him resolved to ride west with Pérdur.

There was a man named Nikulas Oddsson. His father Oddur
was from a family in the Austfirdir. Nikulds’ mother was Herdis,
the daughter of Borkur of Baugsstadir. Nikulds was a follower
of Hélfdan’s. He was a large, strong, and intelligent man. Stein-
vor and Halfdan asked him to accompany Pérdur. There was
a man named Borkur Gudmundarson. He decided to journey
with Poérdur also.

The brothers P6rour and Tumi rode from Keldur in a par-
ty comprising nearly twenty men. They proceeded westwards
over Pjorsé, and travelled through Arnesping in such a way that
Hjalti biskupsson did not become aware of their presence. Af-
terwards, they continued further westwards to Borgarfjorour
and so on to Dalir.

There was a man named Svertingur Porleifsson. At that time,
he lived at Hvammur. Tumi went to Hvammur and remained
there while P6rdur went westwards to the fjord. After Orakja
had been driven abroad, his followers had scattered. However,
as soon as these men heard that Pérdur had come to Dalir they
all flocked to his side, because they considered that it would
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Gudmundur Jénsson er kalladur var sorti, son Pérdisar Sveins-
déttur Sturlusonar, Asgrimur baulufétur og enn fleiri adrir p6
a0 vér nefnum eigi alla.

Reid pa Pordur vestur til Saurbzejar. Sturla Pérdarson bjo pa
a Stadarholi. Fékk Pérdur par gédar vidtokur.

Og er hann hafdi par verid eina nétt gengu peir Pordur og
Sturla 4 tal. Kvad Pordur sér pad sagt ad hann veeri mestur
madur og vitrastur { peim sveitum af hans freendum: Hefi eg pad
og spurt ad pér hafi peer hrakningar neer borid er vér fengum
& Orlygsstodum. Hefir pu og jafnan sidan verid lidsinnadur
minum freendum, peim er sins réttar 4ttu ad reka. Veenti eg enn
a0 svo munir pu til min gera. Var mér pad sagt ad ekki yndir pu
betur vid skilnad ydvarn Orekju en pér mundi pad p4 { hug ad
veita pbeim ef nokkur vildi pess réttar reka.

Sturla kvedst 6hoglega vid kominn: Munud pér spurt hafa ad
eg hefi eid svarid Kolbeini unga og par i bundnir peim eidum
allir hinir bestu menn i minni sveit.

bérour kalladi eida pa ekki verid hafa annad en naudung
eina.

Sturla kvadst vilja verda honum a0 lidi eftir pvi sem hann
meetti sér vid koma en kvadst buinn mundu til slikrar lidveislu
sem hann vildi { ganga pa er P6rour keemi vestan.

bérour for padan vestur yfir Breidafjord til Bardastrandar.

P4 bjo i Haga Eyvindur prestur Ragnheidarson sem fyrr var
getid. Hann atti Pérunni Gellisdéttur. Hennar médir var Vigdis
Sturludottir.

Gisli Markdsson bjé a Raudasandi. Hann 4tti Pordisi Gellis-
déttur, systur Pérunnar, og var hann svo meegdur vid borod.
Hann var mestur bondi fyrir vestan Arnarfjord og var pa mjog
kominn 4 hinn efra aldur. Hafdi hann og alla svi verid i ferdum,
fyrst med Sighvati, en pd med Sturlu er hann kom i Dali. Hafdi
og engi madur verid einfaldari { 6llum malaferlum vid Sturlunga
en hann. Atti hann par og allt sitt traust er peir voru en purfti
jafnan til ad taka pvi ad hann var hinn mesti ¢jafnadarmadur.
Synir Gisla hinir skilgetnu voru litt 4 legg komnir en laungetna
sonu atti hann marga og pa fullkomna ad aldri.
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not be long before he rose up against their mutual enemies.
bérour received the gathering very well. Foremost in this group
were his kinsmen Bjorn keegill and Kolbeinn grén (the sons of
Dufgus), Porgeir Hrodbjartsson who was called stafsendi (a
cousin of Dufgus’ sons), Gudmundur Jénsson who was called
sorti (the son of Pordis, the daughter of Sveinn Sturluson),
Asgrimur baulufétur, and still more others, though we shall not
name them all.

Pérdur continued westwards to Saurbeer. At that time, Sturla
bérdarson lived at Stadarholl, and Pordur got a good reception
from him there.

After Pérdur had been there for one night, he had a conversa-
tion with Sturla. Pérdur noted that Sturla was the greatest and
wisest man of his kinsmen in these districts, ‘and I have dis-
covered that you suffered nearly as many hardships as we have
as a result of Orlygsstadir. You have always been a supporter of
those of my kinsmen who tried to attain vengeance, so I expect
that you will furnish me with the same assistance. I was also
informed that at your parting with Oreekja matters did not go in
your favour and that you would be willing to support those who
sought to do something to seek redress.

Sturla responded by telling P6rdur that he was in a tricky
position, because ‘as you will have discovered, he said, ‘T have
sworn an oath

[Here there is a lacuna in Kréksfiardarbok and the copies of
Reykjarfjardarbdk are followed]

to Kolbeinn ungi, and all the most prominent men in my region
are also entangled in it with me’

Pordur said that the oath had been made under duress.

Sturla said that he wanted to be as helpful as he could, and
that he would be prepared with as much support as he could
muster when Pérdur came west.

Pordur went still further westwards from there over
Breidafjordur to Bardastrond.

45



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

En er Poérdur kom i Haga sendi hann menn eftir Gisla og
stefndi ad sér 6llum beendum er nokkur malaskil kunnu. pPérdur
bar pa upp erindi sin, fyrst vio Gisla og pa vid alpydu, beiddi
Gisla ferdar sudur um land til méts vio Halfdan og par med
alla adra er hans flokk vildu fylla. Taldi hann pa upp vandraedi
sin sem erin voru til, sagdi pad saman bera, skada sinn og
alpydunnar i pessum sveitum, kvedur og vel sama ad hann veeri
fyrirmadur i malunum en peir veittu honum eftirgénguna.

Mun pa vera annad hvort af bragdi, sagdi hann, ad vér
munum rétta vorn hlut eda falla ella 4 fetur freendum vorum,
og er par godur hvor upp kemur.

Gisli kvadst eldur vera mjog fra 6fridi og veeri sér mal af ad
lata en kvad p6 erna naudsyn & vera ad allir drygdu dad og
veittu honum: Hefi eg og pa eida unnid Kolbeini ad mér sémir
allvel fyrir pa sok ad vera honum métgangsmadur. Mun eg fa til
ferdar med pér, Pordur, fjéra syni mina og hvetja alpyou pa er eg
ma ordum vio koma og wtla eg pad skulu mikid stoda.

bérour tok pvi vel ad einu og kvadst aldregi etlad hafa ad
hann mundi sjélfan sig undan draga.

bérour for pa nordur til Eyrar i Arnarfirdi.

P4 bjo 4 Eyri i Arnarfirdi Steinunn doéttir Hrafns Svein-
bjarnarsonar Bardarsonar hins svarta. Modir hennar var Hall-
katla Einarsdéttir, Grimssonar, Ingjaldssonar, Grimssonar
glammadar, Porgilssonar errubeinsstjups. Steinunn atti sex
born, deetur tveer og sonu fjora. Hrafn hét son hennar hinn elsti,
annar Gudlaugur, pridji Olafur, fj6rdi Oddur. Herdis hét déttir
hennar hin eldri. Han var gift peim manni er vér nefndum fyrr,
Svarth6fda Dufgussyni freenda Pordar. Svartho6foi var pa vistum
& Eyri med Steinunni. Onnur déttir Steinunnar hét Halla.
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At Hagi there lived the priest, Eyvindur Ragnheidarson, as
has already been mentioned. He was married to Pérunn Gellis-
déttir, whose mother was Vigdis Sturludottir.

Gisli Markusson lived at Raudasandur. His wife was Porunn’s
sister Pordis Gellisdottir and he was therefore related to Pérdur.
Gisli was the most powerful householder west of Arnarfjordur,
but was getting on in years at that time. He had spent his en-
tire life on campaigns, first with Sighvatur and then with Sturla
when he came to Dalir. No-one had been a more fervent sup-
porter of the Sturlungar during all their conflicts than he had,
but he had also had their full support and often needed their
help when he became involved in litigation and conflict (this
was a regular occurrence as he was an exceedingly violent man).
Gisli’s legitimate sons were still children, but he also had many
illegitimate ones who were adults by that time.

When Pérdur came to Hagi, he sent for Gisli and summoned
all of the householders who knew anything about disputes.
Pérour then brought up his mission, first with Gisli, and then
with all of the people. Pérdur asked Gisli to travel southwards
with him to meet Hélfdan, along with all others who would
join his force. He then talked of his troubles, which were many,
saying that he and all who lived in these parts had suffered the
same, and also stated that he would be well suited to lead their
cause, with them as his supporters.

“Then one of two things will happen, he said, ‘either we will
right our situation, or otherwise fall at the feet of our kinsmen,
and whichever comes about seems good to me’

Gisli replied by saying that he was now far too elderly to en-
gage in conflict, but commented that it was nevertheless neces-
sary for all to join together and assist Pérdur: T made my oath
to Kolbeinn in such a way that I am still able to be his enemy.
I will send four of my sons with you as supporters, Pérdur, and
I shall persuade as many people as I can to join you. I consider
that these measures shall be of great assistance to you!

bérour did not take this particularly well, and said that he
had never thought that Gisli would be so close-fisted with his
aid.
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bérour then went north to Hrafnseyri in Arnafjérour.

At that time, Steinunn (the daughter of Hrafn, the son of
Sveinbjorn, the son of Bardur svarti) lived at Hrafnseyri. Her
mother was Hallkatla (the daughter of Einar, the son of Grimur,
the son of Ingjaldur, the son of Grimur glammadur, the son
of Porgils errubeinsstjupr). Steinunn had six children: two
daughters and four sons. Hrafn was the name of her oldest
son, the second was Gudlaugur, the third Olafur, and the
fourth Oddur. Herdis was the name of her oldest daughter: she
was married to a man who we mentioned earlier, Svarth6{oi
Dufgusson (Pérour’s kinsman). Svarthofoi was then living at
Hrafnseyri with Steinunn. Steinunn’s other daughter was called
Halla.
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Pad var tidinda er Pérdur kom 4 Eyri ad Hrafn og Svarthofoi
voru eigi heima. Peir voru pa farnir nordur i Dyrafjord i
Hjardardal til brullaups. P4 var hid neesta kvold fyrir Mikjals-
messu. Pegar um néttina sendi Pérdur mann nordur i Hjardar-
dal ad peir Hrafn og Svarth6fdi skyldu koma til méts vid hann
a Sondum. Bardur Porkelsson bjé pa 4 Sondum er kalladur var
Sanda-Bardur. Hann atti Sesselju déttur Gudmundar Sigridar-
sonar. En pa er peim kom ordsending Pérdar pa foru peir til
mots vid hann 4 Sanda.

Pérdur heimti pd 4 tal, Hrafn og Svarth6fda og Bard, og segir
slikt sem 1 var hans radagerd, kvedst par fyrst best ad veenta er
Svarthofdi var, freendi hans.

Svarthofoi sagdi sér pad pa i hug er Sturla brédir pinn var
drepinn fra oss en allir vér hraktir og skemmdir ad vér mundum
fegnir verda ef nokkur vildi pess réttar reka. Skaltu og eigi
beaenastad til purfa, slikt er vér megum veita pér.

Bardur segir ad hann mundi pad rdd upp taka og peir Eyrar-
menn: Hefir mér lengi pad vel gefist. Bardur var landseti Hrafns.

Pérdur spyr: Hver er sa hinn ungi madur? Hvi leggur pu ekki
til?

Hann kvadst Hrafn heita og vera Oddsson.

bérdur kvadst heyrt hafa hans getid eda viltu nokkud vera i
ferdum med oss?
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Chapter Four

When Pérdur came to Hrafnseyri, he discovered that Hrafn and
Svartho6fdi were not home: they had gone north to Dyrafjérdur
to attend a wedding at Hjar0ardalur. It was the evening before
Michaelmas. Pérdur immediately sent a man to Hjardardalur
with a message summoning Hrafn and Svarth6fdi to meet with
him at Sandar. Bardur Porkelsson, who was known as Sanda-
Bardur, lived at Sandar at that time. He was married to Ses-
selja the daughter of Gudmundur Sigridason. When Hrafn and
Svarthofoi received Pordur’s message, they went to meet him at
Sandar.

bérour took Hrafn and Svarthofdi aside for a conversation
and proceeded to tell them of his mission. He stated that he
was first and foremost expecting a favourable response from his
cousin Svarthofoi.

Svarthofdi replied ‘I thought that when Sturla, your brother,
was taken from us, and we were all mistreated and shamed, that
we would be glad if someone wanted to avenge this; moreover,
you need not request our help, for we shall provide whatever
assistance you require’

Bardur said that he would make the same decision as the in-
habitants of Hrafnseyri, because ‘that has often ended well for
me’. Bardur was Hrafn’s tenant.
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Hrafn sagQist vera ungur og litt til ferda fallinn. Hefi eg,
sagdi hann, ekki i ferdum verid med héfdingjum hér til. Kvadst
hann og eigi vita hvort hann mundi hardnadur vera nokkud par
hann var litt kominn af barnsaldri. Hrafn var pa sextan vetra er
bérour kom i Vestfjorou.

Pérour segir Hrafni eerna naudsyn til bera ad vera motgangs-
madur Kolbeins fyrir sakir drdps médurbradra sinna: Létust
par og engir menn jafngofugir, fyrir utan pa Sighvat {60ur minn
og sonu hans, sem peir Sveinbjorn og Krakur.

Hrafn kvad og eigi badi vera skyldu, a0 mega litid veita pér,
enda lata pig illa ad komast, pvi er eg ma.

bérour pakkadi honum vel og kvadst @tla sér mundi pad
mikid mega fyrir sakir freenda styrks pess er Hrafn atti.

Pessir voru pd hinir sterri beendur nordur i fjordum er
Pérdur kom pangad: Jon Porkelsson bjé & Alftamyri. Hann 4tti
Guortinu déttur Témasar Ur Seldrdal. Halla var médir hennar,
dottir Pérdar Sturlusonar. Guttormur son Helga Sveinssonar bjo
i Lokinhémrum. Puridur hét moédir hans, déttir Hrafns Svein-
bjarnarsonar. Guttormur hafdi 14tid f6dur sinn 4 Orlygsstodum
og tvo modurbraedur. Bjarni Brandsson bjé pa & Myrum, gédur
bondi. Steinpdr prestur Steinpdrsson bjé pa i Holti i Onundar-
firdi. Gudmundur Sigridarson bjé pa & Kirkjubdli i Onundar-
firdi.

Pessir beendur bjuggu { [safirdi: Sigmundur Gunnarsson bjé {
Stdavik. Hann atti Herdisi Hrafnsdéttur sidar en fyrr hafdi hana
att Eyjolfur Karsson og attu pau einn son er Eyjolfur hét. Einar
Porvaldsson var pa ungur og attu pau Pérdis médir hans bu i
Vatnsfirdi.

Annad sumar adur var Illugi Porvaldsson drepinn. Eftir
pad dpokkudust baendur svo mjog { Isafirdi um drép Illuga vid
Orzkju ad peir vildu fara ad honum. Var par hofudsmadur Péll
Bardarson ur Ogri. M6dir hans var Valgerdur Snorradottir.
Hann var systrungur Illuga. En er Oraekja vard pessa var stukku
peir sumir er i pessu hofou verio med Pali nordur um land til
Kolbeins og gerdust pa astvinir hans sem fyrr er sagt.
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bérour asked: ‘who is that young man? Why do you not share
your views?’

He said that we was called Hrafn and was Oddur’s son.

Pérour said he had heard of him and asked ‘will you come on
the journey with us?’

Hrafn responded that he was young and would be little help
on the journey. T have not, he said, ‘been on journeys with
leaders before’. He noted also that he did not know whether he
would be tough enough as he had not long since left childhood.
Hrafn was sixteen years old when Pérdur came to the Vestfirdir.

Pérdur noted that Hrafn had good reason to be Kolbeinn’s
enemy for the sake of the slaying of his uncles: ‘apart from my
father Sighvatur and his sons, there have not been more wor-
thier men killed than Sveinbjérn and Krakur!

Hrafn replied: T am little able to assist you, but I am not un-
willing to provide what help I can’

Pérour thanked him well and said he thought he would be of
great help by virtue of the strong kinsmen Hrafn had.

The following were the most prominent householders in the
northern Vestfirdir when Pérdur came there. Jon Porkelsson
lived at Alftamyri. He was married to Gudrun, the daughter of
Tomas from Seldrdalur. Her mother was Halla, the daughter of
Pérour Sturluson. Guttormur, the son of Helgi Sveinsson lived
at Lokinhamrar. buridur was the name of his mother, she was a
daughter of Hrafn Sveinbjarnarson. Guttormur had lost his fa-
ther at Orlygsstadir and two uncles. Bjarni Brandsson lived then
at Myrar, a good householder. Steinp6r Steinpérsson, a priest,
lived then at Holt in Onundarfjérdur. Gudmundur Sigridarson
lived then at Kirkjubél in Onundarfjérdur.

These householders lived in Isafjordur: Sigmundur Gunnars-
son lived in Stdavik, He was married to Herdis Hrafnsdottir
but before she had been married to Eyjélfur Karsson and they
had one son who was named Eyjélfur. Einar Porvaldsson was
then young and lived with his mother at his household in Vatns-
fijorour.

During the previous year’s summer, Illugi Porvaldsson was
killed. Because of the killing of Illugi, the householders in
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Pormédur Hjalmsson bjo i Pernuvik. Aron son Halldérs
Ragnheidarsonar bj6 { Ogri. P6rdur Heinreksson bjé { Reykjar-
firdi. Atli Hjalmsson bjé i Grunnavik.

bérour Sighvatsson for nordur i Hjardardal og kom par adur
menn voru i brott farnir fra brullaupinu. Voru par allir hinir
bestu menn fyrir utan fram ur Isafirdi. Taladi Pordur pa langt
erindi. Hafdi hann upphaf 4 sinu mali ad hann krafdi alla menn
par lidveislu og uppstédu svo skjoétrar ad allir skyldu komnir 1
Saurbee ad allraheilagramessu.

En er Pérour hafdi lokid sinni raeedu péttust menn pad finna
a0 hann mundi vera vitugur madur pegar er hann fengi stillt sig
fyrir ofsa. En nokkud potti ménnum hann stirt tala i fyrstu. En
pvi djarfari og snjallari var hann i mélinu er hann hafdi fleira
melt og fiolmennara var vid. Peir menn svorudu i fyrstu er i
eida hofou bundist med Kolbeini um haustid, kélludu sér eigi
sama a0 fara ad Kolbeini medan hann gerdi eigi afbrigdi vio p4,
kvadu og eigi purfa um pad ad leita ad peir mundu upp standa
med bordi en vera kvadust vilja vinir hans { 60rum hlutum.

Pérdur kvad svo lika mundu sinum vandreedum ad hann
kvadst annadhvort gera skyldu peim er veeru i Vestfjoroum, ad
vera med honum eda i moéti ella, kvad sér og eigi minna etlad
mundi ef hann kemi aftur Gr pessari ferd en eg mun mega
skrifta your eftir maklegleikum er nt lata sér verst fara.

Beendur segja hann arid morgum eiga illt ad launa pétt hann
heitadist eigi vi0 pa.

Pérdur kvad pa eigi purfa ad minna sig @ harma sina.

S16 pa 1 heitan med peim og kvadust baendur eigi blotna
mundu vid pad. Skildust peir vid svo buid.

For bordur 4 Sanda um kvoldid en um daginn eftir baud
Bardur honum b sitt. Pordur ték vid buinu. Potti petta geysi-
stormannlegt.

Litlu sidar sendi Poérdur menn sina ut i fjérou ad kvedja
menn upp en hann sjélfur for nordur til Onundarfjardar og fékk
par fatt eitt af ménnum og padan fér hann inn til Isafjardar og
fékk hann par ner enga menn. En Isfirdingar, vinir Kolbeins,
gerdu njosn honum.
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[safjérdur became most unhappy with Orzkija, to the extent that
they wished to attack him. The ringleader of the plot was Pall
Bardarson from Ogur. His mother was Valgerdur Snorradottir.
He was Illugi’s cousin. But when Orekja became aware of this,
some of those who had been involved in Pall's scheme fled to
Kolbeinn in the North and became then his faithful friends as
was mentioned earlier.

Pormédur Hjdlmsson lived at Pernuvik. Aron, a son of Hall-
dor Ragnheidarson lived at Ogur. Pérdur Heinreksson lived in
Reykjarfjorour. Atli Hjalmsson lived in Grunnavik.

Pérdur Sighvatsson went north to Hjardardalur and came
there before men had travelled away from the wedding. In at-
tendance there were all the best men from west of Isafjérdur.
Pérour then spoke for a long time about his mission. He began
his speech by demanding the support of everyone present and
that they prepare in haste such that all congregated at Saurbeer
on All Saint’s Day.

When Pé6rdur had finished his speech, the first reaction of
those gathered was to think that he must be an intelligent man
because he was able to suppress his pride. Though some of the
men thought his speech had been strained at first, his speech
became bolder and more eloquent the longer he talked and the
larger the crowd got. The men who had bound themselves by
oath to Kolbeinn during the autumn responded first, saying
that they would not attack Kolbeinn while he was not infringing
their rights and that it would be against their interests to stand
with Pérdur, although they did mention that they wanted to be
his friends in other ways.

Pérdur said that it was his intention to bring an end to his
difficulties, and, consequently, that the Vestfirdingar would have
to be either with him or against him. He declared also that he
had decided that if he returned from this quest ‘I will have to
punish those of you whose misdeeds now make evident your
worst side’

The householders retorted to Pérdur that he already had
enough vengeance to attain without threatening them also.

Pérdur said they did not need to remind him of his suffering.
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bPérdur fér padan nordur til Steingrimsfjardar. P4 bjo
Asgrimur Bergb6rsson 4 Kalladarnesi sem vér gatum fyrr.

Fundust peir freendur og krafdi Pérdur hann ferdar, kvad
honum sist muni séma annad en vera i ferd med sér, fyrst fyrir
sakir freendsemi, en pad annad hversu mjog Sturla brédir minn
héf pig, sa hinn pridji hlutur hversu pt varst vid allar hrakningar
& Orlygsstodum og sast 14t freenda pinna og peetti mér sem ydur
mundi aldrei ur hug ganga.

Asgrimur vardist marga vega og keenlega og kom lagagrein
tyrir sig pvi a0 hann var forvitri, fyrst med eidum peim er hann
hafdi svarda Kolbeini. Pa segir hann sem satt var ad hann sat 1
nerra lagi peim Nordlendingum pegar er hann veeri i nokkurri
flandsemi vid pa. Dr6 hann svo sitt mal um sidir ad hann lést
hvergi fara mundi.

P4 atti POrour tal vid adra baendur. Drogu allir sig undan pa
er peir vissu ad Asgrimur mundi heima sitja.
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Then matters became heated between them, though the
householders declared they still would not yield. Thereafter,
they parted.

Pérdur went to Sandar during the following evening. Bardur
offered him the farm and Pdrdur accepted and took over the
household. This act was thought exceedingly generous.

A little while later, Pérdur sent his men to the fjords to raise
supporters. bPordur went north to Onundarfjérdur himself and
recruited a few men there. Thence, Pordur went into Isafjérdur
but he gathered barely anyone there. The Isfirdingar sent word
of bérdur’s movements to their friend Kolbeinn.

Afterwards, Pérdur went towards the North to Stein-
grimsfjordur. At that time, Asgrimur Bergporsson lived at
Kaldadarnes, as we mentioned earlier.

The two kinsmen met and Pérdur ordered Asgrimur to join
his forces. Pordur stated that it would be dishonourable if As-
grimur did not accompany him on his journey, firstly on ac-
count of our kinship, secondly because of how much my brother
Sturla helped you, and thirdly because you witnessed all of the
wretched treatment we received at Orlygsstadir and saw the
deaths of your kinsmen and those whom I think you will never
forget!

Asgrimur cleverly defended himself in many ways, and cit-
ing the law—in which he was knowledgeable —, mentioning
first the oath that he had sworn to Kolbeinn. Then he said —as
was true — that he lived far too near to the Northerners to make
them his enemies. Asgrimur made his case for a long time and
finished by declaring that he would be going nowhere.

Pérour then held a conference with the other householders;
however, they all refused to join his cause when they discovered
that Asgrimur would be remaining at home.
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Fimmti kafli

Asbjérn hét madur Gudmundarson smids Saldmonssonar.
Hann var einhleypingur og vaskur madur. Eigi var hann eettstor.

Hann gekk fyrir P6rd og meelti: Hvi seetir pad ad pt kvedur
enga menn aodra til ferdar pessarar en bandur? Viltu eigi adra
nyta? Eg vil bjodast til ferdar med pér og atla eg ad vera pér
miklu meiri en einhver béndi. Fa ptt mér sveit nokkura og mun
eg freista ad krefja pa upp baendurna. Er pad maklegra ad vér
eigum saman. Hér er hvoruga til ad spara.

bérour tok pvi vel og kvad svo vera skyldu. En um morgun-
inn eftir fékk Pordur Asbirni nfu menn og kalladi p4 alla saman
gesti.

For pa Asbjérn ut eftir Steingrimsfirdi. Var pad flest bonda ad
burtu voru af beejum sinum og hofou folgist. Hofou peir heyrt
kvitt af pessari radagerd um kvoldid. En peir urdu allir ad fara er
heima voru staddir.

Fér Asbjérn par til er hann kom { Husavik. Hogni hét bondi
er par bjo. Var hann { brottu. Asbjérn ték konu hans og hafdi
med sér, tladi pa ad beendur mundu eftir rida og mundi pa na
fundi peirra. En heimamenn gerdu Hogna njésn ad kona hans
veeri { brott tekin. Hogni for eftir peim Asbirni vid fjértanda
mann. Peir fundust vid heygard nokkurn. Beiddi Hogni pa ad
Asbjérn vildi lata lausa konu hans. En Asbjérn bad pa fara med
sér en husfreyja feeri heim. Beendur vildu pad eigi, ségou hann
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Chapter Five

There was a man named Asbjérn, the son of Gudmundur smidur
Salémonsson. Asbjorn was a vagrant and a manly man, though
he was not of a great family.

Asbjérn came before Pérdur and asked ‘why have you made
it known that you only intend to solicit the support of house-
holders for your mission? Will you not have others join you? I
will offer you my services, and I intend to be of much more use
to you than some householder. Provide me with a company of
men, and I will then attempt to recruit householders. I feel it
would be fitting for us to stick together’

Pordur liked the idea and responded that he would make it
happen. The following morning, Pérdur found Asbjorn nine
men and dubbed the group ‘the Guests.

After this, Asbjérn headed out along Steingrimsfjérdur. Most
of the householders were not home and had gone into hiding.
They had received some news of P6rdur and Asbjorn’s plan dur-
ing the evening, so all those who were then at home left.

Asbjérn continued on his way until he came to Husavik. At
that place there lived a householder named Hoégni. He was not
at home. Asbjérn abducted Hogni’s wife and kept her with him,
thinking that this would bait the householders into riding after,
and eventually meeting, them. Hogni’s lodgers made him aware
that his wife had been abducted, and he chased after Asbjérn
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annars maklegan fyrir slikar tiltekjur. Fér pa i heitan med peim.
Eggjadi Asbjorn ad beendur skyldu ad peim ganga en ekki vard
af pvi. P4 skaut Asbjorn spjoti og kvad peim leida skyldi ad peir
feeru a0 monnum Poérdar i annad sinn. Kom spjotio 4 Hogna
upp 1 hreerana og renndi ofan i leerid. Var pad sar mikio og ban-
veent. Sa var hinn fyrsti averki er menn Pordar veittu. Gengu pa
baendur upp nokkurir en sumir fluttu Hogna heim.

Pérdur reid ur Steingrimsfirdi sudur til Saurbaejar. Meettust
beir pé flokkarnir og peir hid vestra féru. Var pad um kvoldid
tyrir allraheilagramessu. Fundust peir par Pérdur og Sturla.

Spurdi Poérdur pa hvort Sturla veri buinn til ferdar med
honum.

En Sturla kvadst eigi nenna ad svo bunu ad brjéta eida sina
og svo margra manna sem i voru med honum en skammt mun
lida 40ur Nordlendingar brjota vid mig og skal min pa eigi 4
bak ad leita. En rida mun eg med pér sudur til Borgarfjardar ef
pa vilt.

Péroi fannst fatt um og kvadst eigi vita hverju hann skipti
pad.

Reid Pordur sudur yfir heidi til Hvammsfjardar og Sturla
med honum. Kom pa Tumi brédir hans til méts vio hann. Teitur
Styrmisson systurson Pérdar var pa nordan kominn vid sjounda
mann. Reid Pérdur pa med allan flokkinn sudur til Dala. Heimti
hann pa saman alla hina bestu menn og leitadi rads vid pa hvert
a skyldi snua.

Var pa rannsakad hversu margt lidid var. Var pa neer tvo
hundrud manna. Pétti pa eigi lidskostur til vera ad rida nordur
a. Logou pad flestir til ad Pordur skyldi sudur a snta. Potti par
minni vorn fyrir landi en aernar sakir. Lidid var og litt vopnad.
Logdu pad margir til rads ad pangad skyldi 4 leita er nokkur
vopnaafli veeri fyrir.

Pérour spurdi hvar pad veeri.

Honum var sagt ad Loftur biskupsson etti skjoldu marga og
drjugum 6nnur vopn.

Pérdur segir hann maklegstan til vera ad fa nokkura skomm
af honum: Hann hefir lengi verid andstreymur oss freendum.
Var hann og mest manna i radagerdinni { moéti peim fedgum.
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and the Guests with thirteen other men. The two groups met
by some hay-yard. Hogni then ordered Asbjérn to release his
wife, but Asbjorn counteroffered, stating that if Hogni and the
householders came with them, he would let the housewife re-
turn home. The householders did not want to do this and said
that Asbjorn deserved something else for such a deed. Matters
soon became heated between the two parties. Asbjorn urged the
householders to attack them but nothing came of it. Then As-
bjorn thrust a spear, commenting that the householders would
think twice before threatening Pordur’s men a second time. The
spear entered Hogni’s groin and rent down his thigh. It was
a great and deadly wound. This was the first atrocity which
Pérdur’s men carried out. Afterwards, some of the household-
ers joined the Guests for the journey, but the others took Hogni
home.

bérdur rode from Steingrimsfjordur south to Saurbeer and
was joined by the companies which had come from the West.
This took place the evening before All Saints’ Day. Pérdur and
Sturla also met there.

Pérdur asked Sturla whether he would now be coming with
him.

Sturla replied that he was not prepared to break his oath and
those of the many others whose fates were entangled with his
‘but it will not be long before the Northerners break with me
and when that happens, I will not hold back. However, I will
ride with you south to Borgarfjérdur if you want’

bérdur thought little of that offer and said he did not know
how that would help him.

bérour, accompanied by Sturla, rode south over the heath
to Hvammsfjordur. Here, his brother Tumi reconvened with
him. Teitur Styrmisson, Pérdur’s nephew then arrived from the
North with six other men. Pérdur now rode with his whole force
south to Dalir, where he gathered together all of the best men to
seek their advice as to what their objective should be.

The size of the army was then assessed: they were nearly two
hundred men altogether. None thought that the force was nu-
merous enough to ride northwards. Consequently, most pro-
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bessa eggjudu allir. Og var pad rads tekid ad rida sudur til
Hitardals.
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posed that Pordur head for the South, for it was felt that there
would be less resistance from the inhabitants of those parts and
also just cause for Pordur to attack them. The troops were also
lightly armed. Many now suggested that they search yonder for
some armaments with which they would be able to increase
their strength.

bérour asked how they might accomplish this.

He was then informed that Loftur biskupsson owned many
shields and a substantial cache of other weapons.

Pérdur noted that Loftur was truly deserved to suffer some
sort of inconvenience from him, because ‘he has long been an
adversary of my kinsmen, and he was the ringleader in the plot
against Snorri and Oraekja’

All supported this plan and the decision was taken to ride
south to Hitardalur.
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Sjotti kafli

Loftur biskupsson bjo6 i Hitardal a0 Husafelli.

En er Pérour kom upp 4 heidina ur Svinbjugsdal pa kalladi
hann til sin Teit Styrmisson og bad hann ad rida fyrir i Hitardal
og handtaka Loft biskupsson en gera honum ekki og lata eigi
menn komast i brott af beenum.

Teitur reid fyrir med fimmtan menn. Téku peir baeinn.

En Loftur var eigi heima. Hann hafdi ridid { brott 4dur um
daginn ofan undir Hraun. P4 bjé undir Hrauni Skuli Porsteins-
son. En Lofti kom njésn um kvoldid og reid hann ofan til sjovar
og fékk sér par skip og for hann pa sudur yfir fjoro til Garda. bar
bjo6 pa Porleifur Pérdarson. Var Loftur med honum um hrid.

Pérdur var i Hitardal um noéttina. En um morguninn eftir
leetur Pérdur reka saman hross 61l og svo 1ét hann taka vopn 6l
pau sem fundust. Voru skildir bornir ut ur kirkju.

Padan for Pordur sudur til Reykjardal hins sydra. Par kom
til méts vio hann Pérdur Bjarnarson. Hann bjo pa i Eskiholti og
atti Margrétu dottur Pérdisar Sveinbjarnardéttur.

Peir Pérdur og Sturla fundust um daginn er Poérdur fér ur
Hitardal og attu pa tal saman og hvarf Sturla vestur aftur. Var pa
ekki til tidinda.

Reid pa Pérdur sudur um heidi Skardaleid til Laugardals par
til er hann kom i Tungu til bus Gissurar. bar var pa fyrir béra
Guomundardéttir modir hans. Var par allt i kirkju borid svo
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Chapter Six

At that time, Loftur biskupsson lived at Husafell in Hitardalur.

When Pérdur came up onto the heath from Svinbjugsdalur,
he called Teitur Styrmisson over and ordered him to ride ahead
to Hitardalur and arrest Loftur biskupsson, but do nothing to
him and allow no-one to escape from the estate.

Teitur rode forward with fifteen men and seized the farm-
stead.

However, Loftur was not home: he had ridden down under
Hraun earlier in the day. At that time, Skuli Porsteinsson lived
under Hraun. Loftur received the news in the evening and he
headed down to the sea, acquiring himself a vessel there and
sailing south over the fjord to Gardar. At that time, Porleifur
bérdarson lived there. Loftur remained with him for a while.

Pérdur stayed at Hitardalur overnight. The morning after,
Pérdur had all the horses gathered together, and also every
weapon which had been found. Furthermore, the shields were
borne out from the church.

Thence, Pérdur continued southwards to the southerly
Reykjardalur. Pordur Bjarnarson came to meet him there. He
lived then at Eskiholt and was married to Margrét, the daughter
of bordis Sveinbjarnardottir.
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par var engi hlutur inni til matar ménnum nema flautaker eitt.
Vildu menn pa drepa fé en P6rour bannadi pad, kvad ekki dvelj-
ast skyldu ad pvi, kvad hermenn verda pann mat ad hafa sem til
veeri. Fékk hann pa njosn af ad Hjalti hafoi flokka saman dregid
nidri { Fléa. Bad Pordur pa hvern mann s6dla hesta sina og svo
var gert. Sneru menn pa i burt. Og pa bad Pérdur ad peir skyldu
tyrir rida er kunnugt var ofan i Fléann.

Tumi brédir hans kvad pad fjarri skyldu fara og ridi allir
austur yfir ar, peir er mér vilja fylgja.

Gekk pa 1idid 1 tvo stadi. Attu menn pé hlut ad vid P6rd ad
heldur skyldi rida austur yfir arnar, kvadu pangad lidveislu von.

Pérdur 1ét eftir beenum manna og reid austur til Keldna um
ndttina, atti pa tal vid Halfdan mag sinn og beiddi hann lidveislu.
En Halfdan var hinn seinlegasti, kalladi pa engan afla verda pé
a0 hann steedi upp. Pérdur bad hann fa sér menn til lidsemdar
pétt hann seti heima. Halfdan kvadst vilja finna breedur sina
aour. Steinvéru konu hans likadi pd stérilla og vid petta reid
Pérdur a brott.
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bPérdur and Sturla came together the day that Pordur left
Hitardalur and had a conversation before Sturla turned back
west. However, nothing came of their talk.

Pérour rode on Skardaleid south over the heath to Laugar-
dalur. Eventually, he came Gissur’s estate at Tunga. There, they
were met by Péra Gudmundardéttir, Gissur’s mother. Every-
thing in the household had been taken into the church, such that
there was nothing with which to feed the men except for some
whipped milk. The men wanted to kill livestock, but Pérdur
would not allow that, saying they should not dawdle doing this
and that warriors must have each whatever food was at hand.
Pérour then heard from one of his spies that Hjalti had drawn
together forces from beneath Fl6i. Pordur then asked each man
to saddle his horse, and this was done. Now the army departed.
bérdur requested that those who knew how to get to Fl6i should
ride at the front.

Tumi, his brother, said that they should by no means do that,
‘and all those who want to follow me will ride east over the river’

The army was now caught on the horns of a dilemma. Then
those men who were of that opinion told Pérdur that they
thought they should ride east over the river, saying that from
there support could be expected.

Pérdur gave into the entreaties of these men and rode east to
Keldur during the night, then had a talk with Halfdan his brother-
in-law and asked him for support. But Halfdan was most reluc-
tant and he considered that nothing would be gained by sup-
porting him. Pérdur asked whether he could get some men to
help even if he remained at home. Halfdan said he wanted to
discuss it with his brothers first. Steinvor his wife was most dis-
satisfied with this and with that Pérdur rode away.
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Sjoundi kafli

Ormur hét madur og var Bjarnarson, Porvaldssonar, Gissurar-
sonar, brédurson Gissurar Porvaldssonar. Hann bjé pa 4 Breida-
bdlstad i Fljotshlid. Hann var godordsmadur og hafdi att mikinn
hlut ad drapi Snorra Sturlusonar.

Pérour reid pa austur 4 Breidabdlstad en Ormur stokk undan
austur { Ver. En P6rdur sat i buinu 4 Breidabolstad um hrid.

Pa somu nott er Pordur var i hérad kominn og Hjalti spurdi
pad ad hann var par med flokk sinn tok hann pad rads ad hann
reid nordur um land 4 fund Kolbeins Arndrssonar unga en bad
bandur ad halda setum sem fjolmennustum i Skalaholti en
beiddi biskup a0 fara 4 fund Pérdar med sattarbodum og draga
pad efni til peirrar stefnu ef Kolbeinn meetti til komast nordan.

Reid Sigvardur biskup austur 4 Breidabolstad til mots vid
P6rd ad baen Hjalta og leitadi um seettir fyrir hond beenda. Stein-
vor kom og til med biskupi. Biskup flutti akaflega en P6rdur var
hinn pverasti. Biskup baud af hendi beenda ad sex menn skyldu
gera fyrir hvorra hond en Pérdur neitadi pvi en baud ad Steinvor
og Halfdan skyldu gera allt skorad. Biskup kvadst pvi hvorki
kunna ad neita né jata fyrir hond baenda fyrr en peir kéru sjalfir.

For biskup pd heim i Skalaholt til méts vid beendur en hann
skyldi senda sem skjotast Pordi mann og segja hvort beendur
vilja seettir eda eigi. Og var a kvedin stund neer sa skyldi aftur
koma.
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Chapter Seven

There was a man named Ormur. He was the son of Bjorn (the
son of Porvaldur Gissurarson), the nephew of Gissur Porvalds-
son, and resident at Breidabolstadur in Fljétshlid. Ormur was
a chieftain and had played a large role in the killing of Snorri
Sturluson.

Pérdur rode eastwards to Breidabdlstadur but Ormur fled
east to Ver. Pordur remained at the farmstead for a while.

The very night that Pérdur arrived in the region, Hjalti
learned that he was there with an army. Hjalti resolved that he
would ride to the north of the country to meet with Kolbeinn
ungi Arnérsson. Moroever, he asked the householders to fortify
themselves within the episcopal see at Skalholt with as many
people as possible. Still further, Hjalti requested that the bishop
go to meet Porour with an offer of a settlement and draw out the
negotiations until they rendezvoused, if Kolbeinn was able to
come to the South.

Bishop Sigvard rode eastwards to Breidabodlstadur to meet
with Pérdur at Hjalti’s request, seeking a settlement on behalf of
the householders. Steinvor also came there with the bishop. The
bishop pleaded the householders’ case forcefully, but Pérour
was incredibly stubborn. The bishop asked that six men should
arbitrate from each side, but Pordur refused that, countering
that Steinvor and Halfdan should decide all without reserva-
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A Dessari stundu féru menn milli peirra P6rdar og Bjarnar
Seemundarsonar ad leitast um hvort Pérdur vildi vera { saettum
peim sem brédir hans Tumi hafdi adur tekid fyrir bada pa vid
Bjorn fyrir pad er hann hafdi 4dur verid 4 Orlygsstédum.

Pérdur bad Bjorn rida a fund sinn i gridum og raeddust peir
vid sjalfir.

Reid Bjorn til mots vid bord 4 Breidabolstad. Atti b4 Tumi
mikinn hlut ad vid P6érd brodur sinn, kalladi eigi fleiri en svo
verid hafa ad honum hefdi séma gert af peim mélum en mér
pykir pad eigi fjarri ad pt héldir peer seettir.

Pérdur kvad Bjorn mundu mestu um rada sjalfan hvort hann
vildi gerast hans vinur eda dvinur en eigi mun eg tryggdir veita
Birni fyrr en eg veit hver madur hann vill vera.

Bjorn kvedst pad skjott syna mundi honum. Gaf hann pa
Péroi semilegar gjafir. Pordur pekktist pad og skildu pa laglega.

Tveim dogum sidar en a kvedid var kom sd madur er biskup
sendi POrdi. Sagdi s ad beendur neitudu peim seettum sem
Pérdur beiddi.

Pérdur reid pd pegar til Keldna med flokk sinn. Var Halfdan
ridinn ofan { Odda en Steinvor var heima. Gerdi Poérdur pegar
pa Dufgussyni, Kolbein og Bjorn, til méts vio Halfdan. En Stein-
vor stefndi saman beendum 6llum i einn stad, bad pa bina vera
a0 rida pann veg sem peir Pordur og Hélfdan. Peir Kolbeinn
fundu Halfdan og segja honum ordsending peirra systkina.

Hélfdan kvad pad vera 6rad a0 rida 4 helgan stad ad beendum
peim er eigi veeri sleegur til: Mun eg hvergi fara og engir minir
menn en Pérdur ma fa sdma sinn 4 annan veg 4 baendum { tomi.

Sendi Halfdan pa menn til beenda og bad pa fara heim.

En er peir Kolbeinn komu aftur og ségdu Po6rdi ord Half-
danar pd vard hann allreidur, kvedst pa skyldu rida ad baendum
og sja hvad 1 gerdist. Hafdi hann pa og sanna njésn um fj6l-
menni peirra ad peir voru neer sex hundrud og h6fou buist um {
kirkjugardi i Skalaholti.

Pérdur reid ut yfir 4 og kannadi lid sitt og hafdi neer tvod
hundrud manna. S6gdu pa margir sem satt var ad pad var 6rad
a0 rida ad peim. En Pérdur kvedst svo oft mundi heetta verda i
6veent efni ef nokkud skyldi ad vinnast um hans mal.
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tion. The bishop responded that he was neither able to refuse
nor accept this offer on behalf of the householders before they
decided themselves.

Afterwards, the bishop went home to Skalholt to reconvene
with the householders. He was to send his swiftest man to tell
bérour whether the householders wanted those terms or not at
an appointed time.

Concurrently, men went between Bjérn Seemundarson and
Pordur to discover whether or not Pordur wanted to uphold the
settlement that his brother Tumi had made on their behalf with
Bjorn due to the latter’s participation in the Battle of Orlygs-
stadir.

Pérdur asked Bjorn to ride to meet him under truce so they
could discuss it man-to-man.

Bjorn came to Pordur at Breidabdlstadur. Tumi strongly ad-
vanced the opinion to his brother Pérdur that there were no
others who had given him any honour concerning that case,
‘and I think that it is not unreasonable that you should hold to
this settlement.

Pérour said that only Bjorn could decide for himself if he
wanted to be friend or foe, ‘and I will not grant Bjérn my trust
until I know which man he means to be’

Bjorn said that he would soon show him. Immediately, he
bestowed honourable gifts on Pérdur. Pérdur appreciated this
gesture and, having reconciled, they parted company.

Two days later, as had been determined, a man sent by the
bishop arrived to meet Porour. The messenger reported that the
householders had refused the terms which Pérdur offered.

As soon as bordur heard this, he rode to Keldur with his
forces. Halfdan had ridden down to Oddi, but Steinvor was at
home. Pérdur immediately sent the sons of Dufgus, Kolbeinn
and Bjorn, to meet with Halfdan, and Steinvér summoned to-
gether all of the householders in one place, ordering them to be
ready to follow Pérdur and Halfdan. Bjérn and Kolbeinn met
Halfdan and gave him the message from Pérdur and Steinvor.

Hélfdan said it was unwise to assault a holy place on account
of the householders, who would not be of any importance. ‘I
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Sudur fra Audsholti kom biskup i méti Pérdi og baud allt hid
sama af beenda hendi sem fyrr. Pérdur var pa hinn styggvasti vio
biskup, sagdi hann allt draga til 6li0s sér. Biskup kalladist jafn-
framt skyldi bannsetja P6rd og alla menn hans sem hann ridi
4 stadinn. Pordur bad hann ad hann Iéti pa baendur brott fara
af stadnum, kvad pad dsannlegt ad hann draegi pa 1 kirkjugard,
slikir hernadarmenn sem peir veeru pa er peir brutu kirkjuna
a Miklabeae laugarkveldid og leiddu 1t sex menn og létu hvern
hoggva a feetur 60rum. Biskup vildi pd fra rida og gera njosn
bendum. En menn Pérdar vildu pad eigi og létu hann eigi na
a0 rida en er Pordur kom eftir bad hann biskup rida hvert er
hann vildi og reid eftir sem akafast par til er hann kom 1 geilar
hja Skalaholti og bad hann menn p4 stiga af baki og buast til
atgongu.

Pa sendi hann pa heim Hrafn Oddsson og Teit Styrmisson
a0 vita hvort beendur veeru i sama skapi um seettir sem fyrr eda
hversu peim litist 4 umbunad peirra hve torséttlegir peir veru.
En er peir komu heim pd var biskup skryddur og prir tigir klerka
med honum og sagdist pegar skyldu bannsetja Pord er atganga
teekist og alla hans menn.

Teitur 16gmadur, vitur madur og goédgjarn, brodir Gissurar,
hann bad biskup ad freista ad ganga 4 milli og vita ef nokkud
sto0adi, sagdi sem satt er hversu mikil vorkunn Pérdi var 4, svo
mikinn mannskada sem hann hafdi fengid en sviptur 6llu fénu
og hefir ekki til vidurlifis fyrir sig og sina menn annad en pad
er hann verdur ad deila til i hendur évinum sinum eda raena
saklausa menn poétt hann leiti eftir sinum hluta med pvi méti
sem hann pykist helst mega.

Linudust beendur pa og badu ad peir biskup og Teitur feeru i
millum og gafu sitt mal mjog 4 peirra vald og forsja.

Gekk biskup pa ad finna Pérd og peir Teitur. S6gou peir
Hrafn pd svo sem peim hafdi synst ad beendur veeru torsottlegir
ef nokkur dad veeri i peim. Tumi var pa og allsattfis. Somdust
pa seettir med pvi moti ad biskup og Steinvor skyldu um gera. En
pad er pau yrou eigi 4 satt pad skyldi gera Steinvor ein. Baendur
skyldu { engum moétferdum vera vid Po6rd par til Gissur keemi til
Islands. Skyldi p4 lokid seettum med peim P6rdi og bendum ef
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will not go anywhere, nor shall any of my men, but Pérdur may
get vengeance against the householders some other way in time’

Then Halfdan sent men to the householders and told them
to go home.

When Bjorn and Kolbeinn came back and told Pérdur what
Haélfdan had said, he became completely enraged, saying that
they should attack the householders holed up in the See and see
what transpired. Pérdur now had reliable information concern-
ing their numbers, that they were nearly six hundred and had
ensconced themselves in the churchyard at Skalholt.

bérdur rode over the river and surveyed his army. He had
nearly two hundred men. Many then said, as was true, that it
was a bad idea to ride against the householders in the See. How-
ever, bordur retorted that one must often take risks in uncertain
situations, if one is to achieve anything in the matter at hand.

The bishop came south from Audsholt to meet Pérdur, and
made the same offer as before on behalf of the householders.
bérdur was very peevish towards the bishop, and stated that he
had done all he could to harm him. The bishop responded that
he would excommunicate Pérdur and any of his men who rode
against the episcopal See. Pérdur asked that the bishop have the
householders leave the See, saying that it was improper that he
had drawn them into the churchyard, such warriors as had vio-
lated the church at Miklabaer one Saturday evening, led out six
men, and had each of them killed in front of the others. The
bishop then wanted to ride ahead and warn the householders,
but when Pérdur’s men noticed this, they made the bishop wait
until P6rdur got to the front rank, as he rode at the back. Pérdur
allowed the bishop to ride wherever he wanted, and chased after
as fast as he could, until he came to a narrow glen by Skalaholt.
Po6rdur now asked his men to mount their horses and prepare
for battle.

Then he sent Hrafn Oddsson and Teitur Styrmisson to the
bishop’s home to find out whether the householders were of the
same mind concerning the settlement as before or how well de-
fended they were, and how difficult they would be to overcome.
When Hrafn and Teitur arrived at the bishop’s home, the bishop
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Gissur keemi til en haldast ella. Gengu pa bandur til handsala
vid bord.

Reid Pordur pa austur a Breidabolstad eftir settina og sett-
ist pa enn i b Orms. En Ormur var lengstum i Veri medan
Pérdur var 4 Breidabodlstad. Foru menn { millum peirra og
vannst ekki ad um seettir. Pérdur sendi Bjorn Dufgusson vestur
i Breidafjardardali en P6rd Bjarnarson til Borgarfjardar ad vera a
njosn um ferdir Kolbeins Arnérssonar unga fyrir pvi ad pad var
pa kvittad ad lidsdrattur veeri fyrir nordan land.

En Poérdur reio ut yfir 4 i Biskupstungu. Kom par biskup og
Steinvor og luku pa upp gerdum og gerdu a hendur alpyou,
bénda peirra er pingfararkaupi attu ad gegna i sveit Gissurar,
prjt hundrud, en a4 hendur hinum sterrum bendum fimm
hundrud. Eftir pad reid Pérdur sunnan af hérudum til Borgar-
fjarOar.
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was then in his vestments and had thirty clerics with him, and
he announced that he would excommunicate Pordur and all his
men as soon as the battle began.

Teitur, the lawspeaker, a wise and benevolent man, and also
Gissur’s brother, asked the bishop to try to mediate between the
two sides and discover if some compromise could be reached.
He said, as was true, that Porour deserved a great deal of slack
because he had experienced great sorrow, ‘and, moreover, has
lost all of his property, so has nothing to provide for his men
other than that which he can acquire through disputes with his
enemies or by robbing innocent men. He is only trying to re-
coup what he has lost by any means which he thinks may suc-
ceed’

The householders now gave way and asked the bishop and
Teitur to mediate between them and gave their case into their
power and foresight.

Thus, the bishop and Teitur went to find Pérdur. Hrafn, the
bishop, and Teitur then said to Pérdur that the householders
would be difficult to defeat, if some had valour in them. Tumi
was also very eager to settle. It was then determined that the
bishop and Steinvor should decide the terms. Nevertheless, that
which they were not able to agree on would be decided by Stein-
vor alone. The householders were not to take part in conflict
with Pérdur, until such a time as Gissur returned to Iceland. The
truce would then end between Pérdur and the householders, if
Gissur returned, but otherwise upheld. The householders sealed
their agreement with Pérdur with a handshake.

Then Pérour rode east to Breidabdlstadur after the settlement
and then settled again on Ormur’s estate. But Ormur remained
a long while at Ver, while Pérdur was at Breidabolstadur. People
mediated between them but no settlement was reached.

bérdur sent Bjorn Dufgusson west to Breidafjardardalur and
Pérdur Bjarnarson to Borgarfjorour to watch out for the coming
of Kolbeinn Arnérsson, for it was rumoured that men would be
being gathered together from northern Iceland.

bPérdur himself rode over the river to Biskupstunga. The
bishop and Steinvor came there and delivered their judgment:
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all those householders who paid the assembly-travel tax in
Gissur’s region were each fined the equivalent of 360 ells of
wadmal, but for the wealthier householders the figure was
600 each. After the settlement, Pérdur rode from the southern
regions to Borgarfjorour.
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Attundi kafli

Nt verdur fra pvi ad segja er vér gatum fyrr ad Hjalti biskupsson
kom 4 fund Kolbeins unga og segir honum slikt er titt var um
ferdir Pérdar og bad hann sudurreidar.

Kolbeinn brast vid skjott og sendir pegar menn nordur til
Eyjafjardar og peir drégu lid saman um allar sveitir fyrir nordan
Oxnadalsheidi. Adra menn sendi hann vestur til Hrutafjardar.
Skyldu peir krefja menn upp um hin vestri hérud og fjélmenna
sem mest.

En er flokkar komu saman p4 vildi Hjalti ad flokknum veeri
stefnt sudur um Kjol og svo til méts vid Poro.

En Kolbeinn kvad vera mega ad Pérdur veeri pa vestur um
ridinn adur vér komum sudur og munum vér pa eigi nd peim.
Vil eg stefna hinar vestri heidar og svo til Borgarfjardar. Ma svo
sist bera i sundur fund vorn hvort er Pérdur er sudur eda vestur.

Hjalti kvad Sunnlendinga yfrid lengi polad hafa pennan
6frid. Kolbeinn kvad pa vel matt hafa hrundid af sér ef peir
hefdu karlmennsku til svo ad peir pyrftu eigi annarra manna
lioveislu. Nordlendingar allir badu Hjalta ills, kvadu petta allt af
honum hljétast.

Kolbeinn reid pa med allan flokk sinn vestur til Midfjardar og
padan sudur um Tvidagru. En er peir féru upp ur Gnupsdal 1ét
Kolbeinn telja lid sitt og var vel sex hundrud manna. Kolbeinn
kvedst pa erid lid hafa ef gifta félli.
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Chapter Eight

Now we must pick up where we left off earlier. Hjalti biskups-
son came to meet Kolbeinn and told him the news he had about
bérour’s journey, ending by asking Kolbeinn to ride south with
him.

Kolbeinn reacted quickly: he immediately sent men north
to Eyjafjorour, and they pulled an army together from all the
districts north of Oxnadalsheidi. Kolbeinn ordered another
company of men to go west to Hruatafjorour. This group were
to recruit men from around the western regions and collect as
many troops as possible.

When the troops had gathered together, Hjalti wanted the
army to go south over Kjol to encounter Pérdur.

However, Kolbeinn said that he thought that Pérdur may
well have ridden west by then, ‘before we come south, and we
will thus not come across him. I want to go westwards over the
heath to Borgarfjordur. If we do this, we will be more likely to
find Pérdur regardless of whether he is in the South or the West!

Hjalti protested that the Arnesingar had suffered long
enough from warfare. Kolbeinn retorted that they may well have
been able to repel their enemies if they had been manlier them-
selves, rather than relying on the support of other men. All of
the Northerners felt ill-will towards Hjalti and muttered that the
situation was completely his fault.
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Svo var vedri farid er peir ridu 4 heidina a0 um morguninn
var & krapadrifa og vindur litill og urdu menn alvotir. En er &
leid daginn tok ad frysta. Hljop pa vedrid i nordur. Gerdist pa
hrid svo grimm sakir myrkurs og frosts ad sjaldan verda pvilikar.
Lei0 eigi langt adur peir vissu eigi hvar peir féru. Drést pa 1i6i0
mjog af kulda. Bad Kolbeinn menn pa stiga af baki og taki menn
glimur stérar og viti ef ménnum hitnar vid pad.

Urdu par svo miklar hrakningar ad margir menn tyndu
vopnum sinum og fengu eigi 4 haldid fyrir kulda. Gengu pa
pegar nokkurir menn til heljar en margir meiddust til 6rkumla.
Tok pa heldur ad birta vedrid. Kenndust peir pa vid ad peir voru
komnir a vatn pad er Holmavatn heitir. Hof pa hver annan a
bak. Foru peir pa par til er peir komu & Gilsbakka nokkuru fyrir
dag. Var Kolbeinn par um néttina. En um daginn eftir reid hann
ofan i Reykjaholt med allan flokkinn. En pad af lidinu er eigi var
feert 14 eftir i Sidunni.
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Kolbeinn now rode with his whole army westwards to
Midfjérour and thence south over Tvideegra. When they came
up from Gnupsdalur, Kolbeinn had his troops numbered and
the force was found to be at least 720 men. Kolbeinn comment-
ed that the army was large enough if fortune favoured them.

As they rode over the heath the weather was such that, dur-
ing the morning, there was a shower of sleet with little wind.
Thus, the men became completely soaked. But as the day wore
on, a frost set in. Suddenly, the wind leapt to the north. Then
such a greatly dark and frosty storm blew in as one sees only
once in a blue moon. It was not long before they had no idea
where they were going. Now the army became utterly exhausted
from the cold. Kolbeinn ordered the troops to dismount their
horses, ‘and engage in vigorous wrestling with each other to try
and get warm that way’

This led to many severe wounds and many men lost their
weapons because they could not keep hold of them because of
the cold. It was not long before some men died and many ac-
quired life-altering injuries. Eventually, the weather changed
for the better. When this happened, the army discovered that
it had come to the lake which is called Holmavatn. The men
heaved each other onto horses and proceeded to travel on until
they came to Gilsbakki somewhat before daybreak. Kolbeinn re-
mained there overnight. The day after, he rode down to Reykholt
with his whole army, apart from the troops who were not fit to
travel (they remained behind on Hvitarsioda).
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Niundi kafli

En er P6rdur kom ofan i Reykjardal ad Englandi pa kom i méti
honum Pérdur Bjarnarson og segir honum ad Kolbeinn var
nordan kominn med fjolmenni og sat pa i Reykjaholti.

Ari hét madur. Hann bjé pa ad Lundi i Reykjardal hinum
syora. En BoOvar bordarson bjo pa i Be. Hann atti Herdisi
Arndrsdottur systur Kolbeins. Peir voru systkinasynir Sighvatur
fadir bPérdar og Bodvar.

Pérdur reid ofan eftir Reykjardal til Bajar og beid par til
bess er flokkurinn kom allur eftir. Og pa er menn voru saman
komnir leitadi hann rads til hinna betri manna hvad upp skyldi
taka. Lagdi pa naesta sitt hver til. Eggjudu peir er araedamestir
voru ad rida skyldi ad peim i Reykjaholt, kolludu par marga
mundu vera litt til feera ad verjast fyrir kulda sakir. En allir hinir
vitrari menn s6gdu pad 6rad ad svo fair menn ridu ad par sem
slikt fjolmenni veeri fyrir, sogou pd allskérulega ridid pé ad hann
ridi vestur um svo ad hann etti ekki vid pa. Var pad rads tekid.

Reid pa Poérdur ofan eftir dal og etladi yfir um 4 ad
Gufuskalum og svo vestur Langavatnsdal. En er hann kom ofan
a Vollu pa var sagt ad eigi var hrossis yfir ana. Sneri pa flokkur-
inn allur upp til Grafarvads. Og er menn komu upp fra Pingnesi
ba reid Poérdur 4 siki eitt. Brast nidur isinn undir hestinum og
var hvortveggi a kafi, hesturinn og hann. Og er hann kom 4 land
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Chapter Nine

When Pérdur came down into Reykjardalur at England, Pérour
Bjarnarson came to meet him and told him that Kolbeinn had
arrived from the North with an army and was sat at Reykholt at
that time.

There was a man named Ari. At that time, Arilived at Lund in
Reykjadalur hinn sy0ri. Bodvar Pérdarson lived then at Beer. He
was married to Herdis Arndrsdottir, Kolbeinn’s sister. Bodvar
was also Porour’s first cousin.

bérour rode down along Reykjadalur to Lund and waited
there until his whole army had gathered there. When the men
were all together, he asked the other leaders what plan they
should adopt. Nearly all then expressed their own view. The
most daring urged that they ride to Reykholt, stating that many
of the men there would be little able to defend themselves due
to the cold. However, all the wiser men said that is would be un-
wise for such a small army as they were to ride to a place where
there would be such a large host before them. These men pro-
posed instead that it would be a magnificent idea if Pérdur rode
westwards so that he need not concern himself with Kolbeinn
and his forces. It was this plan that was adopted.

bérdur proceeded to ride down along the valley and planned
to ride over the river at Gufuskalar and so west to Langavatns-
dalur. But when he came down to Vellir, it is said that there
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var hann alvotur og sneri ofan aftur til Pingness og sex menn
med honum.

P4 bjé sa madur i Pingnesi er Borkur hét og var Ormsson.
Hann tok vel vid Pordi og skipti vid hann kleedum. Par 1étu peir
menn Pordar eftir hesta nokkura. Setti Borkur pa inn i hus hja
hrossum sinum. Reid Borkur pa med P6rdi upp til Grafarvads.
En er hann sneri ofan aftur heyroi hann til hvorstveggja flokk-
sins, Pérdar og Kolbeins.

Pérour reid til Stafaholts og 40i par og padan ut yfir Nordura.
[ Svignaskardi setti hann eftir sex menn til njésnar. Voru par
Dufgussynir prir, Sanda-Bardur og Porsteinn kollur Porbergs-
son, Porgeir stafsendi. En P6rd Bjarnarson setti hann eftir i
Eskiholti ef Kolbeinn ridi hid nedra. En Pérdur reid Gt & Myrar
me0 allan flokkinn og var allill feerd.

En er Ari 4 Lundi vard var vid ferdir Pordar tok hann hest
sinn og reid til Baejar sem hvatast. En er hann kom i Bee var
Boovar 1 rekkju. Ari segir Bodvari ad flokkur Pérdar ridi ofan
eftir Reykjardal og bad hann geeta hrossa sinna ad pau yrou eigi
tekin.

En fyrir voru komnir menn Kolbeins, Porvaldur keppur og
tveir menn adrir. En er peir heyrdu hvad Ari sagdi spruttu peir
upp og ridu sem mest mattu peir til Reykjaholts og segja Kol-
beini hvad titt var. Hann bad hvern mann spretta i klaedi sin og
ri0a eftir sem hvatast. Og er peir voru bunir ridu peir ofan eftir
Reykjardal og komu i Bae. Var Bodvar tti og spurdu peir hann
um ferdir Pordar. Hann kvedst eetla ad [ongu mundi hann vestur
um ridinn. Ridu peir Kolbeinn pa ofan 4 Véllu og spurdu par
a0 Pordur hefdi upp snuid til Grafarvads. Snua peir pa upp til
Pingness. Var Borkur uti. Spyrja peir hann ad um ferdir Pérdar.
Hann kvadst eigi vita pad hvort Pérdar menn voru eda adrir,
kvad par rida annan flokk ad 60rum i alla nétt. Kolbeinn bad
hann ganga 4 leid med peim. En er Kolbeinn reid 4 brott dvold-
ust par eftir nokkrir menn hans og fundu hesta i husi einu, pd er
alvotir voru og nyteknir undan s68lum. Ridu peir pa eftir Kol-
beini og segja honum ad peir hefdu fundid hestana og kvddu ad
par mundu vera menn Pérdar nokkurir. Reid Kolbeinn pa heim
aftur 4 baeinn.
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was no ice bridge over the river which the horses were able to
walk on. The whole army then turned back up to Grafarvad.
As men travelled up from bingnes, Pérdur was riding over one
trench; however, the ice broke down under the horse, and both
he and his mount tumbled into the water. After Pérdur made it
ashore, he was completely soaking. Thus, he headed back down
to Pingnes with six men.

At that time that man lived at Pingnes who was named
Borkur and he was Ormur’s son. He greeted Porour well and
gave clothes to him. P6rdur’s men left some horses behind there.
Borkur then placed the horses inside the house where he kept
his own. After this, Borkur rode with Poérdur up to Grafarvad.
As soon as Borkur turned back to go back down, he was able
to hear two groups, one of which was Pérdur’s and the other
Kolbeinnss.

Pérdur rode to Statholt and rested there a while before head-
ing on from there out over Nordura. At Svignaskard he posted
six men as sentries. These six were the three sons of Dufgus,
Sanda-Bardur, Porsteinn kollur Porbergsson, and Porgeir staf-
sendi. Pordur also left Pérdur Bjarnarson behind to watch at
Eskiholt, in case Kolbeinn rode below. Pérdur proceeded to ride
out to Myrar with his whole army but the going was tough.

When Ari of Lund became aware of Pérdur’s journey, he took
his horse and rode to Beer as fast as he could. On arriving at Beer,
he found that Bodvar was in bed. Ari told Bodvar that Pérdur’s
forces had ridden down through Reykjadalur, and asked him to
take care of his horses, so that they did not get taken.

But before this, Kolbeinn’s men had arrived, Porvaldur
keppur and two others. As soon as they heard what Ari said, they
sprang up and rode as quickly as they were able to Reykholt and
gave Kolbeinn the news. Kolbeinn directed every man to dress
quickly and ride after Pérdur and his troops as fast as possible.
Once Kolbeinn’s forces were ready, they rode down Reykjadalur
and came to Baer. Bo0var was outside and they asked him about
Pérdur’s journey. He said that he thought would long since
have ridden westwards. Kolbeinn and his men then rode down
to Vellir and discovered there that Pérdur had turned up to

85



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

Einar langadjakn Jonsson reid ad Berki og setti spjotshalann
millum herda honum og bad djéfulinn segja pad hann vissi.

Borkur kvadst eigi vita hvad hann segdi honum en ekki mun
eg pér fleira segja.

Borkur hof upp 6xina er hann hafdi i hendi og laust til Einars
en Einar bar fram hja og kom hoggid 4 lend hestinum. I pvi kom
a0 Hallur Jénsson og kvad engan mann skyldu Berki illt gera.
Hann var annar madur en Brandur Kolbeinsson mest virdur af
Nordlendingum. Var pd rannsakadur beer allur i Pingnesi og
tekid fé pad sem laust var innan gatta en reent hja fram hrossum
Ollum. Og vard petta 16ng dvol. Ridu peir Kolbeinn i brott. En
Borkur kvedst zetla ad skammt mundi lida ad peir sjalfir mundu
verst una vi0 dvol sina og verr en hann vio félat sitt.

Kolbeinn reid nu i Stafaholt. Par fengu peir sanna njésn af
um ferdir Pordar og ridu pa eftir sem dkafast. Njdosnarmenn
bérdar hvorirtveggju sja er flokkur Kolbeins kom { Stafaholt.
Brugdu peir pa vid og ridu fram eftir Pordi. Hofou peir
Kolbeinn pa skeidreitt eftir stignum. Dro pa saman skjott.
Kafdist pa hesturinn undir Pérdi Bjarnarsyni en annar undir
Keegil-Birni. Gerdu peir pa ymist ad peir runnu eda ridu ad baki
peim Svarthofoa og Bardi. En er peir komu ad Langa pd bar leiti
a milli.

Pa hljop Svarthofdi af hesti sinum og bad Bjorn brédur sinn
a bak stiga: Eg sé ad oss dugir eigi lengur tvimenning en vio
Pérdur Bjarnarson munum forda okkur sem verda ma.

Bjorn kvadst aldrei mundu fra honum rida.

beir bPordur og Svarthofdi toku pa skeid ofan eftir dnni en
peir Bjorn ridu fram eftir flokkinum Pérdar sem akafast. En
peir Svarth6fdi og Pérdur kostudu sér i snjdinn og josu a sig
mjollinni. Peir Kolbeinn séttu pa svo fast fram ad ekki var neer
milli peirra. En er peir Bardur komu eftir pa var Hrafn Oddsson
a halaferdinni. Peir badu hann hvata eftir P6rdi og segja honum
hvad er titt var er hann hafdi hvildan hest. En er hann hitti P6rd
pa gekk Pordur og leiddi hestinn eftir sér. Hrafn bad hann fara
a bak, segir ad Kolbeinn var pa nalega kominn 4 hela peim en
meiri von ad peir Svarthofdi og Pérdur séu teknir.
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Grafarvad. Thus, they headed up towards bingnes. Borkur was
outside. Kolbeinn’s men asked Borkur about Pérdur’s journey.
Borkur replied that he did not know whether they were Pérdur’s
troops or others, but said that there had ridden one group of
men after another ‘throughout the whole night’ Kolbeinn asked
him to come on the journey with them. After Kolbeinn rode
away, some of his men remained at Pingnes and found horses
in one of the houses. They noticed that some were completely
soaking and had recently had their saddles taken off. The men
immediately rode after Kolbeinn and told him that they had
found the horses, and said that some of Pérdur’s men would be
at bingnes. Kolbeinn now rode back to the farm.

Einar langadjdkn Jonsson sped at Borkur and pointed his
spear-shaft between the householders shoulders and command-
ed the devil to tell them what he knew.

Borkur said he did not know what Einar expected him to say,
‘but I will not say any more’

Borkur hefted up the axe which he had in his hand, and
launched at Einar, but Einar dodged it, and the blow dug into a
horse’s leg. At that Hallur Jénsson arrived and said that no man
should do evil to Borkur. Hallur was the second most honour-
able man in northern Iceland after Brandur Kolbeinsson. Then
the whole farm at Pingnes was ransacked and all the loose goods
were seized and all the horses stolen. Kolbeinn’s men remained
there for a long time doing this. Afterwards, Kolbeinn and his
troops rode away. Borkur commented he did not think that it
would be long until they themselves would come off worst from
their stay and worse than he for his lost wealth.

Now Kolbeinn rode to Stafholt. There they got trustworthy
news about Pérdur’s journey and they rode back as quickly as
they could. Pérdur sentries all saw Kolbeinn arrive at Stafholt.
They broke cover and rode from there back to Pérdur. Kolbeinn
and his men had a good course for riding on the path. The two
groups of horsemen were getting closer and closer together.
Pérdur Bjarnarson’s horse then caved under him and another
under Keegil-Bjorn. They began alternating between running
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Eftir pad sté Pordur 4 bak og reid pa fram eftir skdgargétunum
par til er klif var litid. Par bar pa leiti { milli. Bad pa Pérdur alla
sina menn af baki stiga, kvad par vio skyldi nema og hlaupa 4 pa.
En par vard sem vida annarstadar ad fléttamanninn er eigi haegt
a0 hefta. En er POrour sa petta, ad pa hleypti margur sa mest er
aour kvadst hafa preyttan hest svo ad hvergi matti ganga, pa bad
Pérdur, er pvi matti eigi aleidis koma ad nema par vid, ad f6lkio
skyldi eigi svo geyst rida og sendi pa fram fyrir Gudmund sorta
og baud ad eigi skyldi brott rida af beenum { Alftartungu.

En er Pérdur kom 4 baeinn pa sté par af baki alpyda. Og pa
segir honum Ingjaldur skald Geirmundarson og kvad séd vera
hversu pa mundi fara: Nu flyr 61l alpyda en hinir betri menn
munu eigi fra your rida. En ef pt bidur hans pa verdur pad pinn
skadi og peirra manna er pér fylgja.

Stigu peir pa & bak. Ték pd og svo ad batna feerdin ad pa var
allt skeidreitt. Pordur bad pa menn fara i kirkju er protna h6fou
hesta. Hlupu b4 1 kirkju neer prir tigir manna. Bru var 4 Alftd og
var par seinfaert yfir.

En er Pérdur kom yfir dna hleypti sinn veg hver. Pérdur sendi
menn fram eftir lidinu og bad menn saman halda hvad sem i
gerdist. En pvi kom ekKki til leidar. Vard pa eigi fleira i reid med
P6rdi en hans menn og voru pad sex tigir manna. En er bérdur
var burt ridinn tr Alftdrtungu b4 kom pegar flokkurinn Kol-
beins. Vard pa svo neer farid ad peir sem nordur h6fou snuid fra
kirkjunni og fyrir hisin ad pd er peir sneru aftur nadu peir eigi
kirkju. Voru pa vegnir tveir menn i kirkjugardinum, Sigmundur
Hallsson og Torfi Porgeirsson. Gengu peir Kolbeins menn pa til
kirkjudura og rannsokudu hvad manna par veeri inni. [ pvi bili
kom Kolbeinn, kvad pa dviturlega gera, lagu par og gerou ekki
pad er framkveemd veeri { en 14tid P6rd draga undan og alla pa
er nokkud mannsmoét veeri ad. Setti hann pa par eftir er ofeerir
voru. Sidan toku peir eftirreid sem akafast. En er peir komu ad
Alfta vard peim eigi par greidfeert yfir pvi ad Pordur hafdi 14tid
af draga bruina. Pa vard peim Kolbeini allt saman mikil dvol.

Pérdur sneri nu ut eftir Myrum. Og er hann kom yfir Hitard
pa sté Teitur Styrmisson af baki og Kolbeinn grén og enn fleiri
menn og votnudu hestum sinum er vatn féll 4 isnum. Pa ridu
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and riding back with Svarth6fdi and Bardur. When they reached
Langa, they were shielded from view.

Svarthofoi leapt from the back of his horse and asked his
brother to mount its back saying: ‘I see that we shall no longer
ride together. P6rdur Bjarnarson and I will try our best to es-
cape’

Bjorn refused to abandon him.

Pérdur and Svarth6fdi now ran down along the river, and
Bjorn and Bardur rode on after Pérdur’s army as fast as pos-
sible. Svarth6foi and Pordur cast themselves into the snow and
covered themselves with it. Kolbeinn and his men pursued with
such vigour that there was little distance between them. When
Bardur and Bjorn arrived, Hrafn Oddsson was travelling at the
rear of the army. They asked him to speed after Pérdur and tell
him what the tidings were, because he had a rested horse. When
Hrafn reached Pérdur, Pordur was at that time walking and
leading the horse after him. Hrafn asked him to remount, say-
ing that Kolbeinn had nearly come upon them and that it was
more than likely that they would be arrested.

Straightaway, Pérdur remounted and rode along a forest path
until he reached a little cliff where they were in cover. Pérdur
then ordered his men to dismount, and said they should am-
bush Kolbeinn’s troops. Nevertheless, it transpired as at other
times that fleeing men are not easy to stop. When Pérdur saw
that the majority galloped away — those who had previously
said that their horses were exhausted to the point that they
could barely walk anywhere —and identified that it would not
be possible for them to make a stand there, then he ordered that
the folk not ride oft with such haste. He also sent forward Gud-
mundur sorti to instruct them that they should not ride beyond
the farm at Alftartunga.

When Pordur reached the farm, all the people there dis-
mounted. Then the poet Ingjaldur Geirmundarson spoke to
him and said it had become apparent how matters would go, be-
cause ‘now all the common folk flee, but the better men will not
abandon you. Nonetheless, if you wait for Kolbeinn, then the re-
sult will prove shameful to you and those men who follow you’
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Kolbeins menn sunnan ad anni. Og er peir Teitur stukku upp
af anni pd sneri Pérdur aftur en Kolbeins menn sneru pd aftur
undan pvi ad peir voru fair eftir komnir. Teitur bad pa menn
skunda 4 bak, kvadu petta ekki vera annad en dvol peirra. Reid
ba hver undan sem métti. En Pérdur reid um daginn jafnan
sidast og vildi hann aldrei svo mikid rida sem alpydunni var i
hug. T6ludu pa sumir vid hann en sumir keyrdu hestinn undir
honum. Bar pa enn undan. Kolbeins menn téku pa drjugum
menn af b6rdi er hestana praut. Voru peir allir flettir en 4 sumum
unnio. En er Pordur reid ut 4 vadlana pa sau peir Kolbeins menn
a0 undan mundi bera og hurfu pa aftur.

bérour reid 1 Miklaholt og dvaldist par um hrid. Par bjo pa
Gudmundur Olafsson. Hann var vinur mikill Sturlunga. Fysti
hann Po6rd sem fyrst burtreidar. Reid Pérdur padan vestur
Kerlingarskard og svo til Helgafells. Fékk Pordur sér par skip og
for ut 1 Fagurey en hestana 1ét hann reka hid innra. Kom hann
par laugardag fyrir hadegi. Pad var hinn nzesta dag fyrir Andrés-
messu.

pétti pad 6llum mikil furda og varla deemi til finnast ad
menn hefdu ridid hinum sdmu hestum i einni reid af bingvelli
og til Helgafells i svo miklum 6feerdum sem pd voru. Pérdur
rei0 fimmtadag um hadegi af bingvelli en kom til Helgafells
fostunéttina er stjarna var i austri. Pottust pd allir pegar vita ad
P6rd mundi til nokkurra stérra hluta undan rekio hafa.

Kolbeinn reid i Alftértungu med allan flokkinn og var par
um noéttina.

En um morguninn eftir voru menn leiddir tr kirkju. Var pa
hoggvin hénd af peim manni er Pérhallur hét og var Oddleifs-
son. Annar madur hét Naddur er enn var handhéggvinn. Hann
hafdi ridid nordan med Teiti Styrmissyni. Fengu pa allir adrir
menn lifs grid og lima en voru flettir vopnum og hestum. Reid
Kolbeinn eftir pad i Hitardal og var sagt par allt hid sanna um
ferdir Pordar.
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Therefore, they remounted. Now the roads became consider-
ably more passable and soon they were all on a good path for
riding. Pérour told the men with exhausted horses to seek the
sanctuary of the church. Immediately, nearly thirty men ran
into the church. There was a bridge over the Alft4 and it took a
long time to get over there. After Pordur came over the river, the
troops began to scatter. Pordur sent men forward after the men
to ask them to stick together whatever the circumstances. But
that did not come to pass. By now there were no more than sixty
men riding with Pordur (these were his own men).

As soon as Pérdur rode away from Alftértunga, immedi-
ately after came Kolbeinns men. The distance between them
was so insignificant that when those who had wheeled north-
wards from the church in front of the house turned around,
they were unable to reach the sanctuary of the church. Two men
were killed in the churchyard, Sigmundur Hallsson and Torfi
Porgeirsson. After this, Kolbeinn and his men strode up to the
church door and enquired which men were inside. At that mo-
ment Kolbeinn arrived and said that it would be unwise if they
dawdled here rather than focusing on the important task at hand
and so allowed Pérdur to get away with all the other significant
men. Kolbeinn left those of his troops there who were unable to
travel, but the remainder resumed the chase as quickly as pos-
sible. When Kolbeinn’s men reached Alft4, they could not easily
get over the river, because P6rour had had the bridge dragged
down. Kolbeinn and his men were then stranded on the oppo-
site side of the river for a long while.

Pérdur now turned out beyond Myrar. After he made it over
Hitara, Teitur Styrmisson, Kolbeinn gron, and yet more men
dismounted to allow their horses to drink the water falling from
the ice. At that time, Kolbeinn’s men were riding towards the
southern bank of the river. When Teitur and the others hurried
up from the river, Pérdur turned his forces back to face Kol-
beinn’s men, but the latter turned tail and fled as so few of them
had arrived at that point. Teitur then told the men to remount,
saying that they should not be diverted by this. Everyone then
rode on as fast as they could. Pérdur rode at the back of the
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company, and he would never ride faster than everyone else
wanted to. Some of them talked with him, but others urged their
horses on. Again they escaped Kolbeinn’s clutches. Kolbeinn’s
men then arrested great numbers of P6rdur’s men, whose horses
were tired. They were all undressed, and some wounded. When
Pérdur rode out onto the flats, then Kolbeinn’s men saw that he
had got away, and then they turned back.

bérour rode to Miklaholt and stayed there for a while. At that
time Gudmundur Olafsson lived there, he was a great friend of
the Sturlungar. He pleaded with Pérdur that he immediately ride
away. Pérdur headed from there west to Kerlingarskard and still
further westward to Helgafell. Pérdur got himself a ship there
and went out to Fagurey, but the horses he had driven along on
the mainland. He reached Fagurey on Saturday before the high
day. That was the last day before St. Andrew’s mass.

Everyone thought it was completely amazing and without
comparison, that men had ridden the same horses in one jour-
ney from Pingvellir and to Helgafell on such atrocious paths.
bérour rode from bingvellir at midday on Thursday, and came
to Helgafell on Friday night, when the star was in the east. Folk
straightaway arrived at the conclusion that Pérour had escaped
for some great destiny.

Kolbeinn rode to Alftartunga with his whole army and re-
mained there overnight.

The morning after, people were led out from the church. The
man who was named Pérhallur and was Oddleifur’s son, had his
hand cut off. A second man, who was named Naddur, also lost
his hand: he had ridden north with Teitur Styrmisson. Everyone
else was granted a truce of life and limb, but their weapons and
horses were confiscated. Afterwards, Kolbeinn rode to Hitar-
dalur and heard there the whole truth about Pérdur’s journey.
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Tiundi kafli

N er ad segja fra peim Svarth6fda og Pordi Bjarnarsyni er peir
lagu i fonninni par til er flokkur Kolbeins var um fram ridinn.
Stoédu peir pa upp og gengu til baeja og fengu sér hesta. Ridu peir
i Stafaholt og drapu 4 kirkjudur.

Dufgus karl gekk til dura og fagnar vel syni sinum og spurdi
hvort hann vissi ad Olafur chaim var par med prj tigi manna.

beir Svartho6£oi hlupu pd pegar 4 hesta sina og ridu i brott.

ba spurdi Svarthofdi Pord: Hvar veistu bae pann vera er
kominn sé fra almannavegi?

bérour segir: Baer heitir { Skogum er vid skulum til rida. En er
peir komu par pd foru peir i badstofu og afkleeddust. En er peir
hofou litla hrid sofid pa var peim sagt ad menn Kolbeins ridu
a0 gardi. Hlupu peir Svarthofdi pa upp og skutu inn brynjum
sinum og stalhufum 1 ofninn en peir hlupu ut. Skildi pa med
peim. Hljop Pordur i skdg en Svarthofoi til hestanna. Reid hann
pa undan sem akafast en peir eftir og kviudu hann fram 4 hamri
nokkrum. Hann hratt par fram af hestinum og hljop par sjalfur
eftir. Pad var har hamar en hvorki sakadi hann né hestinn pvi
a0 mikill lausasnjor var borinn undir hamarinn. En engi peirra
vildi par eftir fara. Ridu Kolbeins menn p4 leid sina. Svartho6foi
for heim 4 beeinn til vopna sinna og reid padan vestur til Sauda-
fells. Sidan for hann ut { Fagurey til Pérdar. Pérdur Bjarnarson
tor heim i Eskiholt.
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Chapter Ten

Now we must return to Svarthofdi and Pérdur Bjarnarson. The
two men lay in the snow drift until Kolbeinn’s army had ridden
past. They stood up and went to a nearby farm and got them-
selves horses. Then, Svarth6fdi and Pérdur rode to Statholt and
knocked on the church door.

The man Dufgus went to the door and greeted his son
Svarth&fdi well, asking whether he knew that Olafur chaim was
there with thirty men.

On hearing this, Pérdur and Svartho6fdi leapt immediately
onto their horses and rode away.

Then Svarth6{0i asked Pérdur: ‘do you know where we might
find a farm far off the beaten track?’

bérour responded: ‘there is a farm called Skdgar, to which we
shall presently ride’

When Svartho6fdi and Pordur arrived there, they went into
the bath-house and undressed. After they had been in the bath-
house for a little while, they were informed that Kolbeinn’s men
had ridden into the yard. Svarthofdi and Pordur then leapt up,
shot into their byrnies, and set their steel hats on their heads, be-
fore running outside. They split up: Pérdur ran into the woods
and Svarthofdi to the horses. Svarthofdi then rode away as fast
as he could, but Kolbeinn’s men made chase, and he was eventu-
ally cornered on some cliff. Svarth6fdi pushed the horse over
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Kolbeinn Arndrsson ungi hvarf aftur i Hitardal og reid
nordur Holtavorduheidi og svo heim & Flugumyri og 1ét hafa
setu einhverja jafnan pann vetur mjog fjolmenna i ymsum
stodum par sem honum pétti best fallid.

Pérarinn hét madur og var kalladur balti. Hann setti Kol-
beinn til njésnar { Miofirdi. Dré hann ad sér marga illhreysinga
og hafdi setu ad Osi. Gerdist hann hinn évinselasti. Rendi
hann hvern mann pann er honum var i nand.
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the edge and leapt himself after it. It was a high cliff, but neither
he nor the horse were injured from the fall, because there was
much loose snow accumulated beneath it. None of Kolbeinn’s
men wished to follow, so they rode away. Svarth6f0i went home
to the farm for his weapons and rode thence west to Saudafell.
From there he went out to Fagurey to meet Pérdur. bérour
Bjarnarson went home to Eskiholt.

Kolbeinn Arnérsson turned back to Hitardalur and rode
northwards over Holtavérduheidi and so home to Flugumyri.
He retained a force of men at Flugumyri during that winter and
large numbers of troops in other strategic places of his choosing.

There was a man named Pérarinn balti. Kolbeinn set Pérarinn
as a spy in Midfjérour. Pérarinn recruited many evildoers and
headquartered himself at Os. He became universally reviled and
robbed all men who were in his vicinity.
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Ellefti kafli

bérour Sighvatsson var i Fagurey neer til jola fram. For padan inn
til Ballarar. Pa bjé par Bardur Hjorleifsson. Hann atti Valgerdi
Sighvatsdoéttur, systur Pérdar. Pordur fékk par gédar vidtokur.
Badu pau hann par fyrir 6llu sja sem hann etti. Lét Pordur par
eftir suma menn sina. En hann fér sjalfur til Budardals og sat
par um jélin. Par bj6 pa Porbjérn Ingimundarson.

A ofanverdum jélum ridur Sturla Pérdarson til fundar vid
Pérd. Ridu peir pa ut i Dogurdarnes. Kom Bodvar Pérdarson
par til mats vio pa. Leitadi Pérdur 4 vid Bodvar um lidveislu. En
Boovar segir sem satt var ad honum var mikill vandi 4 vid hvorn-
tveggja peirra Kolbeins pvi ad hann atti Sigridi Arndrsdottur,
systur Kolbeins. Kvadst Bodvar vilja fyrst um leita ef nokkrum
seettum maetti 4 koma med peim Kolbeini. Var pad pa rads tekio
a0 Bodvar reid nordur og var adur skorad ad hverjum kostum
Pérour vildi ganga.

En Pérdur for vestur yfir Breidafjord til Bardastrandar og
padan vestur a4 Sand. Foér pa enn eigi allmarglega med peim
Gisla.

Padan for Pordur til Selardals. Par bjo pa géour madur og
gofugur, Témas prestur Poérarinsson. Hann atti Hollu, déttur
Pérdar Sturlusonar. Pau voru bérn peirra: Pérarinn hét hinn
elsti son peirra, annar Krékur, pridji Audun, Snortur hét hinn
yngsti. Peir voru allir mannveenir. Déttir Témass hét Gudrun,
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Chapter Eleven

Pérour remained on Fagurey until shortly before Christmas.

Thence went he inland to Ballara. Then Bardur Porkels-
son lived there. He was married to Valgerdur Sighvatsdottir,
bérour’s sister. Pordur got a good welcome there, and they of-
fered him everything there as if it were his own property. Pérdur
left some of his men behind there but went himself to Budarda-
lur and stayed there over Christmas. At that time, Porbjérn
Ingimundarson lived there.

Towards the end of Christmas, Sturla Pérdarson rode to meet
Pérour. Both then rode out to Dogurdarnes. Bodvar Pordarson
then came there to meet with them. Pérdur asked Bodvar for
support. But B60var responded, as was true, that he had strong
ties to both Kolbeinn and Po6rdur, because he was married to
Sigridur Arnérsdottir, Kolbeinn’s sister. Bodvar said that he first
wanted to see if some settlement could be arranged between
Kolbeinn and Pérdur. This plan was then agreed upon: Bédvar
was to ride north to offer Kolbeinn each of those terms that
Pérdur wanted to offer.

bérdur went west over Breidafjordur to Bardastrond and
thence west to Raudasandur. On that occasion, Gisli and Pérdur
were again not entirely cordial with one another.

Afterwards, Pérour headed to Selardalur. At that time the
priest Tomas Pérarinsson —a good and generous man — lived
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onnur Ragnheidur, pridja Gudfinna, fjérda Gudridur, immta
Hallbera.

For Pérdur padan nordur a Sanda. Var hann par um veturinn
og var pa allt tidindalaust.

A 6ndverdri langafostu kom ordsending Bodvars Pordar-
sonar til hans ad Pérdur skyldi koma til méts vid hann til Helga-
fells. Bjost pa Pordur skjott vid og for nordur til Isafjardar. Sendi
hann p4 Asbjorn Gudmundarson til méts vid Atla Hjdlmsson
og beiddi ad Atli skyldi koma 4 hans fund og gerast hans madur,
ella bad hann Asbjérn sjé pad rad fyrir Atla ad P6rdi yrdi ekki
mein ad honum.

En er Asbjérn kom { Grunnavik bar hann upp erindi sitt
vid Atla. En Atli kvadst vilja sitja kyrr hja malum peirra Kol-
beins, kvedst eiga Kolbeini gott ad launa. Asbjérn kvad hann
eigi mundi svo hja sitja malunum ad eiga ekki vid P6rd en vera
vinur Kolbeins. Fékk Asbjorn ekki af Atla. Fannst pad 4 bordi
er peir Asbjorn fundust ad honum patti 1itid erindi Asbjarnar
ordid hafa.

For Pordur pa sudur til Saurbeejar og padan { Dogurdarnes,
svo sudur um fjordu til Helgafells. Var B6dvar par kominn. Potti
Pordi Boovar allt hafa par meelast 1atid og vildi engar peer sattir
sem Kolbeinn baud honum. Sagdi bPérdur ad pad mundi upp
koma um hans mal sem audid yrdi. En aldrei kvedst hann ganga
mundu ad peim sattum er dugandi ménnum pyki honum eigi
seemd { ad taka eftir freendur sina.

For Pordur pa vestur 1 fjorou og heim 4 Sanda. Var hann pa
par fram um paska.

Um vorid fér Pordur a gagndoégum sudur i Dali. Var honum
pa mikid sagt af yfirgangi Pérarins balta og dspektum. Atladi
Pérour pa ad fara ad honum og komst eigi lengra en 4 Donustadi.
Bar pad pa vid um ferdina ad Pordur fékk litinn hestakost. Hvarf
hann pa vestur i fjérou en setti eftir Keegil-Bjorn og Porgeir staf-
senda.

Hékon galinn hét madur. Hann var Boétolfsson, norreenn
madur ad foduraett. Hann var kertisveinn Skula hertoga. Hann
kom Gt med Orekju Snorrasyni. Hann var nti heimamadur
bérdar. Almar Porkelsson var pa og heimamadur Pérdar. bessa
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there. He was married to Halla, Pérdur Sturluson’s daughter.
These were their children: Pérarinn was the name of their eld-
est son, the second Krakur, and the third Audun. Snortur was
the name of the youngest son. They were all promising men.
Tomas™ daughters were named Gudrun, Ragnheidur, Gudfinna,
Guoridur, and Hallbera.

Pérdur went thence north to Sandar. He was there during the
winter, which passed wholly without incident.

At the beginning of Lent a message arrived from Bodvar
bérdarson, asking Pérdur to come to meet him at Helgafell.
Pordur swiftly set off and went north to Isafjérdur. He then sent
Asbjérn Gudmundarson to meet Atli Hjalmsson and ask Atli to
come to meet him and become his man. If Atli refused, he asked
Asbjérn to see to it that Pérdur did not come to any harm from
him.

When Asbjérn arrived at Grunnavik, he brought up his er-
rand with Atli. But Atli said that he wanted to remain neutral in
the conflict between Kolbeinn and Pérdur, saying that he had
only had positive dealings with Kolbeinn. Asbjérn told Atli that
he would not be able to have good relations with Pérdur if he
were Kolbeinn’s friend. Asbjorn got nothing from Atli. It was
felt that Pérdur, when he met up with Asbjérn, thought little had
come of Asbjérn’s mission.

bérour went south to Saurbeer and thence to Dogurdarnes,
and so south across the fjord to Helgafell. Bodvar had already
arrived there. Pordur thought B6dvar had allowed himself to be
completely won over, and would not agree to a settlement on the
terms offered by Kolbeinn. P6rdur said that what would come of
his case would be what fate dictated. But he said he would never
accept a settlement which doughty men did not think would be
honourable recompense for his kinsmen.

Pérour returned to the Vestfirdir and home to Sandar, he re-
mained there until after Easter.

During Spring—on the Rogations Days— Poérdur went
south to Dalir. Then much was told him about the transgres-
sions and troublemaking of Pérarinn balti. Pérdur intended to
attack him but did not get any further than to Donustadur. The
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menn setti hann eftir i D6lum og bad pa rida ad Pérarni og drepa
hann pegar er hann dreifdi setunni. Alls voru peir tiu menn
saman. Asbjérn Gudmundarson sendi hann nordur til Stein-
grimsfjardar og pé tuttugu saman. Bad hann Asbjérn taka 61l
hin steerri skip i Steingrimsfirdi og 4 Strondum og flytja vestur &
Dyrafjérd. Hafdi Pordur pa nokkurn pata af ad Kolbeinn mundi
fara skipalidi nordan og eyda svo Vestfjorou.

En er bordur var vestur kominn pd for hann hann fyrst 4
Sanda. Gaf hann Bardi Svefneyjar er toku halfan fimmta tug
hundrada og enn gerdi hann Bardi fleiri seemdir.

Um fardaga for Pordur & Myrar. Par bj6é pa Bjarni Brands-
son. Leitadi pa Pordur eftir vid Bjarna ad hann vildi taka par vio
budinu. Bjarni lét pad uppi. Var hann med Pérdi um veturinn og
allt 1id hans.
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journey was stalled for a lack of horses. He turned back to the
Vestfirdir, but left Kaegil-Bjorn and Porgeir stafsendi behind.

There was a man named Hékon galinn, he was Bo6tdlfsson,
a Norwegian on his father’s side. He had been Duke Skule’s
squire. He came to Iceland with Orakja Snorrason. He was now
bérour’s follower. Almar Porkelsson was then also a follower of
Pérour. These men he also left behind in Dalir and asked them
to attack Pérarinn and kill him, as soon as he dissolved his
household, which altogether consisted of ten men.

Additionally, Pérdur sent Asbjérn Gudmundarson north to
Steingrimsfjérdur with nineteen men. He told Asbjérn to take
all the larger ships in Steingrimsfjérour and on Strandir and
move them west to Dyrafjordur. Pérdur had received intelli-
gence that Kolbeinn would come to the Vestfirdir with a navy
and so desolate the region.

When Pérdur arrived in the west, he went first to Sandar. He
gave Bardur the Svefneyjar — which had a value equivalent to
5400 ells of wadmal — and granted Bardur yet more honours.

During the Moving Days, Pérdur went to Myrar. At that
time, Bjarni Brandsson lived there. Pérdur told Bjarni that he
wanted to make the farm his residence. Bjarni agreed and he
and his household remained with P6rdur over the winter.
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En millum pings og fardaga pa féru peir Bjorn og Hdkon nordur
til Midfjardar. Pérarinn bj6 pa 4 Bretaleek. Peir komu par drdegis
adur menn voru upp stadnir, gengu inn pegar med brugdnum
vopnum. Pdrarinn spratt upp og fékk eitt sverd vopna og vardist
beedi vel og lengi. Par féll hann. Peir reendu pvi er laust var.

bar fengu peir njosn afad Kolbeinn lét draga saman fj6lmenni
allt slikt er hann fékk og svo storskip. Setti hann pa Brodda mag
sinn hofdingja yfir skipalidinu. Skipti hann pa lidinu i tvo stadi
en hann etladi sjalfur ad fara landveg. Var pad pa eitt { ordi ad
ey0a Vestfjorou svo ad Pordur meetti par eigi heldur fridland
hafa en annarstadar 4 Islandi.

Peir Bjorn fara na vestur { Dali og sendu Porgeir stafsenda til
mots vid Pord. Porgeir fann P6rd 4 Myrum og segir honum vig
Pérarins og slika fyrireetlan Kolbeins er peir h6fou frétt. Pérdur
reid heiman pad sama kveld og etladi til Isafjardar og draga
saman menn og skip.
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Chapter Twelve

During the period between the Moving Days and the General
Assembly, Bjorn and Hakon went north to Miofjordur. Pérarinn
lived then at Bretaleek. Bjorn and Hakon arrived there early in
the morning, before men had got out of bed, and stormed into
the house with drawn weapons. Pérarinn sprang up, picking up
for himself only a sword for protection, and defended himself
both well and for a long while. Nevertheless, there he fell. Bjorn
and Hékon robbed the place of all loose goods.

At Bretalaek, they got intelligence that Kolbeinn had gathered
together as many large ships and men as he was able to. Kol-
beinn had appointed Broddi, his brother-in-law, as commander
of the naval forces. He also divided his troops into two divisions
and intended himself to command a land invasion. It was then
said the plan was to desolate the Vestfirdir, such that Pérdur
might find as little sanctuary there as elsewhere in Iceland.

Bjorn and Hakon now went west to Dalir and sent Porgeir
stafsendi to meet Pérdur. Porgeir found Pérdur at Myrar and
told him of the killing of Pérarinn and the news that they had
heard of Kolbeinn’s plan. P6rdur left home that same night and
headed for Isafjérdur to gather men and ships.
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Asbjérn Gudmundarson for til Steingrimsfjardar sem vér gatum
fyrr. Tok hann ferju 4 Heydalsd. Fér hann padan nordur fyrir
Strandir allt til Trékyllisvikur. Par s6fnudust saman Stranda-
menn og vildu verja skip sin og énnur fong. Létu beir pa Asbjérn
eigi nd 4 land a0 ganga og var pa grjotflaug og skotid spjotum og
pvi 6llu er laust var. En er peir hofou barist skamma hrid fengu
Strandamenn af verra og gafust upp. Téku peir Asbjorn ferjuna
Trékyllinn og annad skip gott er Hringaskuta var kollud og allt
pad sem peir péttust purfa.

Fér Asbjorn padan og nordur til Dranga. Par bjé pa Gunn-
laugur smidur Porvaldsson. Hann atti tvo sonu roskva. Hét
annar Audun en annar Porvaldur. Peir voru vasklegir menn
og bjodhagir. Asbirni pétti peir verid hafa { 6pykkju vid sig en
hinir mestu vinir Kolbeins. Asbjorn 1ét taka pa bdda braedur og
handhoggva hvorntveggja peirra, kvad pa na skyldu med engar
njosnir hlaupa a fund Kolbeins.

Féru peir Asbjorn nordur til Horns. Par 1ét hann sera til
olifis einhleyping pann er Péroddur hét og var kalladur kuggi.
Var par og enn ekki til saka annad en ad hann vildi eigi laus lata
vopn sin fyrir peim Asbirni. Ték hann pé 61l pau skip er nokkur
voxtur var ad. For hann b4 vestur til Isafjardar.

Atli Hjalmsson hafdi farid nordur & Strandir eftir hval
boérdisar Snorradéttur. Hin bjé pa i £dey. Atli for nordan nok-
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Chapter Thirteen

Asbjérn Gudmundarson went to Steingrimsfjordur as we men-
tioned earlier. He took a ferry to Heydals4. Asbjorn went thence
north along Standir all the way to Trékyllisvik. The Stranda-
menn gathered together to guard their ships and other property.
They prevented Asbjorn and his men from landing, throwing
stones, spears, and everything else they could. However, after
a short fight, the householders were subdued and they surren-
dered. Asbjorn and his men then took the ferry Trékyllinn, an-
other sturdy ship called Hringaskuta, and all else they needed.

From here, Asbjérn sailed north to Drangar, where
Gunnlaugur smidur Porvaldsson lived. Gunnlaugur had two
adult sons, one named Audunn and the other Porvaldur: they
were tradesfolk and strong men. Asbjérn thought they were
hostile towards him and the best of friends with Kolbeinn. Thus,
Asbjérn had both brothers seized and a hand cut off from each,
saying that they would think twice before running to Kolbeinn
with information in future.

Asbjérn and his men then went north to Horn. There the va-
grant who was called Péroddur and called kuggi was wounded
to death on his orders. There was no reason for this other than
that Péroddur had refused to give up his weapon to Asbjorn. He
also seize all the ships there which were somewhat large. Then
he went westwards to Isafjrdur.
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kud fyrr en gestirnir og vissu pé hvorir til annarra. Atli kom i
ZEdey med farminn og litlu sidar kom Asbjorn { Adey. Kvaddi
hann pa Atla til ferdar med sér til méts vid Pord. Atli kvadst fyrst
vilja fara heim nordur eftir vopnum sinum og kledum.

Asbjérn segir hann mundi vilja fara til lids vid Kolbein en
vera { moti Pordi: Skaltu nu eigi svo lausum hala um veifast og
bad sina menn héndla hann.

Pérdis Snorradéttir og Bardur Hjorleifsson vildu veita Atla
og hélt pa madur 4 manni. Baud Atli fyrir sig slikt er hann matti
en Asbjérn kvad hann pa deyja skyldu. Var Atli pé veginn. Hét
sa madur Skeggi er ad honum vé. Likadi Pordisi petta verk verr
en illa.

Féru peir Asbjorn pa til Pernuvikur og var Pormédur brédir
Atla eigi heima. Var peim sagt a0 Pormédur veeri ad seli sinu.
Kunnu pa eigi heimamenn ad varast fyrir pvi ad engi vissi
Pormédi 6tta von. Peir Asbjérn foru til selsins. Gekk Pormédur
ut. Var hann pegar handtekinn. Hann spurdi med hverju moti
ferd peirra skyldi vera. Asbjérn kvad hann pad brétt vita mundu
og segir honum pd vig Atla brédur sins. Pormédur spyr ef
nokkura hluti skyldi tj4 ad bjéda til lifs sér. Asbjérn kvad pa
ekki pvi mundi vid koma pvi ad drepinn var 4dur brodir hans
og kalladi hann aldrei trdan mundi verda. Pormédur kvad
yfirbeetur liggja til alls. Asbjorn kvad pa ekki mundi tja skreiding.
Pormoédur skriftadist og bjost vid dauda sinum. Pormddur
lagdist eftir pad nidur. En sa madur hét Atli er hann vé og var
Hallsson. Eftir vig Pormédar féru peir Asbjorn til skipa sinna og
sigldu ut eftir [safirdi.

Petta hid sama kvold kom Pérdur Sighvatsson i Arnardal i
Skutulsfirdi. Kom pa til hans Sigmundur Gunnarsson og nokkrir
bverflardamenn. Um kveldid sendi Pérdur menn & hestvord
fram 4 Arnarnes. Og er peir h6fou skamma stund verid 4 nesinu
b4 sdu peir ad sjo skip sigldu innan eftir [safirdi. Ridu peir heim
sem skjotast. Spruttu menn i kleedi sin og gengu ofan til sjévar.
Var pa umraeda mikil hvad skipum petta mundi vera. Var flestra
manna etlan ad vera mundi skip peirra Kolbeins manna. Bad
Pérdur menn hlaupa ofan a skerin og verja peim landgéngu. En
er skipin komu ad landi p4 kenndust menn. Gekk Asbjorn pé 4
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Atli Hjdlmsson had gone north to Strandir after a whale
beached on Pérdis Snorradéttir’s land. At that time she lived at
ZOey. Atli had been up north slightly earlier than the Guests
so had not met them then, but he and Asbjérn were already ac-
quainted. Atli came to Adey with his cargo and a little later As-
bjérn arrived there too. Asbjérn then asked Atli to journey with
him to meet with Pérdur. Atli said that he first wanted to travel
north to his home to get his weapons and clothes.

Asbjérn said that Atli was planning to go and join Kolbeinn
and become Pérdur’s enemy, ‘but I shall not allow you to do so.
He ordered his men to seize Atli.

Pérdis Snorradéttir and Bardur Hjorleifsson wanted to help
Atli, and confronted the Guests with an equal number of men.
Atli offered what his means permitted in exchange for his life,
but Asbjorn decreed that he must die. Atli was then slain. The
man who was named Skeggi executed him. Pérdis judged this
work to be worse than evil.

Afterwards, Asbjorn and his men went to Pernuvik, but
Atli’s brother Porm6dur was not home. They were told that
Pormédur was in the livestock shelter. The household servants
gave no regard to this because they did not know Pormédur was
in danger. Asbjérn and his men went to the shelter. Pormédur
came out. He was immediately seized. Pormédur now inquired
as to the purpose of their visit. Asbjorn said that this would
soon be known to him and told him of the killing of his brother
Atli. Pormédur asked if there was anything he could offer in ex-
change for his own life. Asbjérn said this could not be permitted
given the slaying of his brother, which made it henceforth im-
possible to trust him. Pormédur noted that anything was pos-
sible, but Asbjorn responded that naught would be gained from
such pleading. Pormddur was then shriven and prepared him-
self for death, lying down afterwards. The man who was named
Atli Hallsson killed him. After the killing of Pormddur, Asbj('jrn
and his men went to their ship and sailed away out of Isafjérdur.

That same evening, Pérdur Sighvatsson came to Arnardalur
in Skutilsfjérour. Then Sigmundur Gunnarsson and some of the
bverfjardamenn came to meet him. During the evening, Pérdur
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land og beir sveitungar. Sagdi hann pa allt slikt er i hafdi gerst
beirra ferd. Pottust pad allir finna 4 P6rdi ad honum likadi pessi
verk litt. Tok og alpyda illa 4.

Litlu sidar um morguninn kom Eyjélfur Eyjolfsson. Sagdi
hann pa ad hann hefdi var ordi0 vio skip peirra Kolbeins manna
a Hornstrondum. Pérdur gerdi pa sina menn 4 alla vega fra sér
til lidsafnadar en setti njosn fyrir pa Kolbeins menn ad hann
yrdi var um ferdir peirra i pann tima er peir keemu. Stefndi
hann 6llum skipum og ménnum saman a Sléttanesi i Selvogum.
Komu pd saman prir tigir skipa og prju alskipud ménnum.

Heimti pa Pérdur saman hina bestu menn og leitadi rdds vid
pa hvad til rads skyldi taka. Spurdist pa og ad peir Broddi og
Hafur Bjarnarson voru komnir undir A£dey étta skipum. Var
P6roi pa mest um ad leggja nordur til mots vid pd. Teiti Styrmis-
syni og Svarth6foa var meira um ad leita sudur 4 Breidafjoro,
segja par allt i vinnast ef Kolbeini naedu, kvadu nordur fra ekki
mundu vera nema bukarla og fiskimenn og pa er ekki mannsmot
veeri ad, sogdu og sem satt var ad sudur fra veeru allir fylgdar-
menn boérdar peir sem freeknastir veeru. Var pad pa rads tekio ad
Pérour hélt sudur 6llu lidi sinu til Breidafjardar.
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sent a horse guard out to Arnarnes. When these scouts had been
on the headland for a little while, they sighted seven ships sail-
ing towards them from Isafjérdur. The men rode home as fast
as they could. Men leapt into their clothes and went down to
the beach. Now there was much speculation as to what ships
these would be. Most men thought that these would be the ships
of Kolbeinn’s men. Pérdur asked men to rush down onto the
skerries and prevent them from landing. However, when the
ships came to land they recognized the men. Asbjérn then came
ashore, along with his company. He then told everything that
had happened on their journey. It was felt by all that Pérour
thought little of Asbjorn’s effort. Everyone else also deemed
them evil.

A little later, during the morning, Eyjélfur Eyjolfsson arrived.
He then told that he had become aware of ships bearing Kol-
beinn’s men at Hornstrandir. Pérdur then sent men in all di-
rections from himself to gather an army and posted sentries to
watch out for Kolbeinn’s men so that he became aware of their
movements during the period of their approach. He summoned
all of the ships and men together at Sléttanes in Selvogar. At that
time, thirty ships were gathered together, three of which were
fully crewed.

Next, Pérour summoned together all the best men and so-
licited their counsel as to what plan they should implement. It
was discovered then that Broddi and Hafur Bjarnarson had ar-
rived beneath Adey with eight ships. Pérdur favoured the op-
tion of sailing north to attack them most. Teitur Stymisson and
Svarthofoi leaned more towards the option of heading south to
Breidafjordur, saying that all living there would fight if Kolbeinn
came but that north of them all they would find would be no-
one except for farmers and fishermen of no worth. They also
noted, as was true, that all of Pordur’s bravest supporters were at
this time in the South. Consequently, the decision was made that
Pérour should sail south with his whole army to Breidafjérour.
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Fjortandi kafli

N er par til mals ad taka er Kolbeinn Arnérsson ungi hafdi sent
péa Brodda til Vestfjarda. En um veturinn adur hafdi hann sent
menn sudur til Péru Gudmundardéttur, médur Gissurar voru
beir fyrir peirri ferd Einar Jénsson og Héskuldur Gunnarsson
pess erindis ad peir toku hernadarsok af Péru Gudmundar-
déttur 4 hond Pordi og fjortan moénnum 60rum. Ridu peir Einar
og Hoskuldur til pings med pessi mal.

Kolbeinn reid upp 4 ping ad domum. Kom par Hjalti bis-
kupsson til méts vid hann. Vard Pérdur sekur og peir menn allir
fiértan, Teitur Styrmisson, Hrafn Oddsson, Dufgussynir fjorir,
Eyjolfur Eyjolfsson, Hrafn Sveinbjarnarson, Hakon galinn, Por-
steinn Porbergsson. Var betta illa reemt af alpydu. Potti 6llum
i pessu synast hinn mesti akafi og kolludu peir Pérdur petta
flautasekt fyrir pvi ad peir Pordur hofou nattverd einn i Tungu
og hofou flautir einar.

Eftir pad ridur Kolbeinn Arndrsson og Hjalti biskupsson og
Ormur Bjarnarson af pingi vestur til Breidafjardardala og h6fou
ner sex hundrud manna. Sturla Pérdarson var pa i Selings-
dalstungu. Kolbeinn sendi pangad sina menn og bad pa drepa
Sturlu. Hann fékk njésn og reid undan vestur til Saurbaejar. En er
Kolbeins menn komu i Tungu var Sturlu leitad med brugdnum
vopnum um 6ll his og svo i kirkju. Var pa reent pvi er laust var.
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Chapter Fourteen

Now we must tell of Kolbeinn Arnérsson ungi who had sent
Broddi and his men to the Vestfirdir. During the winter before,
he had sent men south to Péra Gudmundardéttir, the mother
of Gissur — the leaders of this company were Einar Jénsson and
Hoskuldur Gunnarsson — with the aim of obtaining from Péra
Gudmundardéttir an accusation of looting against Pérdur and
fourteen other men. Einar and Héskuldur then went to the as-
sembly to present the case.

At the assembly, Kolbeinn went to court and met Hjalti
biskupsson. Pordur was outlawed along with all fourteen oth-
ers, including Teitur Styrmisson, Hrafn Oddsson, Dufgus’ four
sons, Eyjolfur Eyjélfsson, Hrafn Sveinbjarnarson, Hakon galinn,
and Porsteinn Porbergsson. This verdict was generally disap-
proved of and everyone thought this was entirely over the top.
Pérour and his men called this the whipped-milk outlawry, be-
cause they had supped on nothing more than whipped-cream
at Tunga.

Afterwards, Kolbeinn Arnérsson, Hjalti biskupsson, and Or-
mur Bjarnarson rode west from the assembly to Breidafjardard-
alur along with around 720 men. Sturla Pérdarson then lived
at Seelingsdalstunga. Kolbeinn sent his men there and ordered
them to kill Sturla, though Sturla learned of this and fled west to
Saurbeer. When Kolbeinn’s men arrived at Tunga, they searched
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Reid Kolbeinn pd med allan flokkinn vestur til Saurbzejar. En
Sturla fékk sér skip i Tjaldanesi og for padan 1t til Krosssunds.
Komu par til méts vio hann Dufgussynir, Hdkon galinn og peir
heimamenn Pordar er sudur par hofou verid. Ridu peir Kol-
beins menn pa ofan eftir Langey ad sundinu. Og er peir fundust
skorti par eigi illt ordtak er hvorir véldu 6drum. Ridu Kolbeins
menn { fjéruna en peir Sturla reru brott fra sundinu. Skildu peir
Sturla par og Dufgussynir. Skyldi hann pa fara sudur um fj6rd
i lidsafnad.

Kolbeinn Dufgusson og Hakon galinn reru inn til Ballarar
og svo sudur til Bildseyjar og vildu vita hvad titt veeri um hesta
sina. HofOu peir pa og frétt af ad Kolbeins menn héfou fengio
skip nokkur.

En Bjorn kegill og Jon Arnason voru i Tjaldanesi og reru
inn til Akureyja og etludu ad taka skip pau sem par voru. En
er peir komu fyrir lendinguna pa sdu peir menn hlaupa med
vopnum uppi um eyna og upp um Kyrauga. Peir kenndu ad par
voru komnir Nordlendingar og hlupu peir pegar 4 land. Voru
beir mjog svo jafnmargir. Par var fyrir peim Ottar brédurson
Gudmundar biskups. Peir Ottar hlupu pegar 4 borg eina en peir
Bjérn sottu ad peim og badu pa upp gefast. Gafu peir Ottar pa
upp vopn sin og gengu peim til handa og féru med peim Birni.
Reru peir pa ut til Fagureyjar.

N er peir Kolbeinn og Hdkon komu i Bildsey voru par menn
tyrir og hofou bundid hesta peirra og stludu pa ad leggja pa
a skip. Hlupu peir Hédkon pegar upp 4 eyna. bar var fyrir Jon
Oddason er kalladur var skeggbarn og peir niu saman. Stukku
peir upp fra sjonum og 4 borg eina og bjuggust til varnar en peir
Kolbeinn og Hékon héldu eftir peim. Og pegar er peir Kolbeinn
komu ad borginni hljép Kolbeinn upp og tok Jon hondum og
féllu peir badir saman ofan fyrir borgina. Var pa pegar unnid
a Joni. Hakon Botolfsson greip af honum stalhufuna og laust
i h6fudid og var pad hogg svo mikid ad Jon leiddi til bana fam
dogum sidar. Eftir pad voru peir allir handteknir og flettir og
hofou peir Kolbeinn pa heim med sér til Fagureyjar.

Ekki vard af lidsafnadi Sturlu og undu peir Kolbeinn illa vid
pad. Hafdi hann verid kyrr medan i Fagurey og hafst ekki ad.
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for Sturla with drawn weapons in all the houses and also the
church. Then all the movable property was stolen.

Kolbeinn rode with his whole following west to Saurbeer, but
Sturla had got a boat from Tjaldanes and gone out to Krossund.
There Sturla met the sons of Dufgus, Hakon galinn, and those
of bordur’s retainers who had stayed in the South. Kolbeinn and
his men rode down along Langey by the strait.

When they met, plenty of curses were exchanged between
the two sides. Kolbeinn’s men rode along the shore, but Sturla
and his men rowed into the channel. Here, Sturla and the sons
of Dufgus parted. Sturla was to go south of the fjord to gather
troops.

Kolbeinn Dufgusson and Hakon galinn rowed into the fjord
to Ballara and then south to Bildsey to assess the horse situa-
tion. They discovered then that Kolbeinn’s men had procured
some ships.

Bjorn kaegill and Jon Arnason were at Tjaldanes. They rowed
close to Akrey intending to take the ships there. When Bjérn
and Jon pulled up at the landing point, they saw armed men
running across the island and up past Kyrauga. They immedi-
ately recognised them as Northerners, and immediately leapt
ashore. The two sides were of equal numbers. Commanding the
Northerners was Ottar, a nephew of Bishop Gudmundur. Ottar
and his men ran onto a little hill. Bjérn and his companions at-
tacked them and compelled them to surrender. Thus, Ottar and
his men threw down their arms, yielded, and went with Bjorn.
They rode over to Fagurey.

Now when Kolbeinn and Hakon arrived on Bildsey, they
observed some men who had tied up their horses, intending
to load them into a ship. Hdkon and his men immediately ran
through the water up to dry land. The men already on the is-
land numbered nine including their commander Jén skeggbarn
Oddsson. Jon and his men rushed up from the beach to a hill
where they prepared to defend themselves, but Kolbeinn and
Hékon followed in hot pursuit. As soon as Kolbeinn arrived at
the hill with his men, he ran up and tackled Jon: the two then
tumbled down the hill. Jén immediately sustained a wound.
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Fengu peir pa njosn af ad 1id0 Kolbeins var komid i Arney og
hofou peir eitt skip. Tok Sturla pa pad rad ad gera mann vestur
i moti Pordi og bad ad hann skyldi hvata sudur sem mest. En
hann sjalfur og Dufgussynir reru inn til Arneyjarsunds fjérum
skipum og etludu ad verja Kolbeins ménnum sundid par til
er Pordur kaemi vestan. Var par svo til farid ad proskuldur 1a i
sundinu en djupt af at tvo vega. Var par reitt ad fjérum en eigi
floédum. En er peir Sturla komu ad sundinu 16gdu peir skipum
tveim megin hja proskuldinum og atludu ad gryta a pa svo ad
peir needu eigi utan ad rida. En er fjara tok hertu peir Kolbeins
menn 4 og ridu utan 4 proskuldinn. Ték pa ad mjokka sundio
og matti pa gryta 4 skipamenn dr badum eyjunum. Hrukku
peir Sturla pa ur sundinu en Kolbeins menn ridu inn i Langey
og fluttust peir pa pegar inn yfir Krosssund. Eftir pad riou peir
pegar inn um Medalfellsstrond og svo inn til Dala en Sturla for
heim i Fagurey.

Sendimadur Sturlu meetti P6rdi i Flatey og segir Pérdi hvad
titt var sudur par. P6rour bad sina menn ferma hvert skip af
grjoti. Tok hann pa heit mikid til guds og taladi langt erindi og
snjallt og herti alla { akafa ef fundi manna beeri saman ad hver
skyldi duga sem mannlegast. Eftir pad gengu menn a skip sin.
Var pa bedi gert, siglt og r6id sudur um fléana. En er skipin
sottu sudur undir eyjarnar pa sau peir Kolbeinn Arndrsson ungi
og pottust pegar vita ad pad mundi vera lid Pérdar. Peir Pérdur
fundu einn bat er fiskimenn voru 4 og sogdu peir slikt sem i
hafdi gerst med peim Sturlu og Kolbeins ménnum. Hélt bérdur
pa 1t til Fagureyjar og fundust peir Sturla par.

Var bad pa rads tekid ad Teitur Styrmisson var sendur sudur
til Bodvars ad beida hann lidveislu. En peir Pérdur og Sturla
héldu skipum sinum inn til Hélmslaturs. Skyldu Bodvar og peir
Teitur par koma til méts vid pd. Komu peir Bodvar og Teitur
a0 akvedinni stundu. For pa sem fyrr ad Bodvar vildi eigi veita
Péroi moti Kolbeini. La Pérdur pa um hrid undir Holmslaturs-
eyju med prija tigi skipa og hafdi pa 4 fjérda hundradi manna.

En fra peim Kolbeini er pad ad segja ad peir ridu inn i
Hvammssveit og svo yfir 1 Laxardal. Téku pa ad herja, meida
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Hékon Bétélfsson wrenched the helmet off Jon and smashed
him in the head with such a strong blow that he died a few days
later. Kolbeinn and his men arrested and robbed the eight re-
maining men and then took them over to Fagurey.

Nothing had come of Sturla’s attempt to raise troops, which
Kolbeinn and the others found most dissatisfying. He had re-
mained quietly on Fagurey and not taken any action.

They now learned that a company of Kolbeinn’s men had
come to Arney in a ship. Sturla decided to send a messenger
west to Pordur to ask him to come with all haste, before he and
the sons of Dufgus rowed with four ships over to Arneyjar-
sund. Their intention was to trap Kolbeinn’s men on Arney un-
til POrdur arrived from the west. There was then a land-bridge
running across the strait with deep water on each side. It was
possible to ride across it when the tide was low but not when it
was high. When Sturla and his men came to the strait, they post-
ed ships on either side of the land-bridge, intending to throw
stones at Kobeinn’s men if they tried to cross to the mainland.
When low-tide came, Kolbeinns men mounted and rode out
onto the land-bridge, and because the strait had narrowed they
were able to stone the ships’ crews from both islands. Sturla and
his men then sailed away from the strait, and Kolbeinn’s men
rode towards the mainland across Langey and straightaway af-
ter onto Krossund, before riding along Medalfellstrond to Dalir.
Sturla, for his part, went home to Fagurey.

Sturla’s messenger met Pérdur on Flatey and told him the
news from south of there. POrdur ordered his men to fill each
ship with stones. He then made great promises to God and
gave a long speech. He urged the most zealous of his men to
have courage in their hearts if it came to battle. Now the men
boarded ships and headed south across the bay, rowing with the
sail raised. When the ships passed beneath the islands, Kolbeinn
Arnoérsson and his company saw them and instantly knew them
to be Pordur’s men. They met a fishing boat, and the fishermen
aboard told them what had happened between Sturla’s and Kol-
beinn’s men. Pordur then went over to Fagurey where he met
Sturla.
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menn en rena fé. Rdku menn pa bu sitt a fjoll og foroudu sér
svo og fé sinu.

118



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

It was then decided to send Teitur Styrmisson south to B60-
var to ask for his support while P6rdur and Sturla sailed with
their ships to Holmslatur. Bodvar and Teitur were to come and
meet them there. Bodvar and Teitur arrived at the appointed
time, but then, as before, B6dvar refused to support Pérdur
against Kolbeinn.

Pérdur remained for a while under Hoélmslatursey with 30
ships crewed with up to 480 men.

Concerning Kolbeinn and his men it may be said that they
rode into Hvammssveit and so over to Laxardalur. There they
began to harry, mutilating people and looting property. People
drove their livestock into the mountains and so managed to save
themselves and their property.
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Fimmtandi kafli

Tosti hét madur. Hann var fylgdarmadur Hjalta biskupssonar.
Hann reid upp 4 halsana fyrir sunnan Laxdrdal a0 leita farar-
skjota manna og peir prir saman. Peir sau hvar undan peim
voru rekin naut og hross og voru med prir menn. Voru peir
allir slyppir. S& madur hét Ingélfur er féid rak. Hann var mikill
madur og sterkur. Hann sa ad peir mundu hvergi undan komast
og bad ad peir skyldu renna 4 pa pegar er peir mettu. En er
peir Tésti komu eftir pa badu peir pa Ingolf laus lata fongin. En
Ingélfur kvad pad eigi mundi ad éreyndu og rann hann pegar
a Tosta en peir félagar peirra sottust i annan stad. Hvortveggi
beirra, Tosti og Ingolfur, voru sterkir menn. For pa svo med
beim ad Tosti féll. Greip Ingélfur pa medalkaflann 4 sverdinu,
pvi er Tésti var gyrtur med, og hjo pa undan Tdsta fotinn par er
kalfi var digrastur en annan { ristarlionum i einu hogginu. Eftir
pad flettu peir pa alla vopnunum og hestunum en félagar Tosta
fluttu hann til hiss og segja Hjalta ad Tosti hefdi fengio averka.

beir Hjalti sau pa hvar menn slégu a engiteig. Lét Hjalti pa
taka. Hét annar Aslakur en annar Arni. Peir voru gamlir menn
og heilsulitlir og h6fdu peir pvi eigi fordad sér. Hjalti 1ét hvorn-
tveggja peirra fothoggva og meltust pau verk illa fyrir. b4 1ét
Hjalti enn brjéta fotleggi i tveim moénnum i Laxardal. Eftir pad
reid hann heim sudur en Kolbeinn nordur til Skagafjardar.
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Chapter Fifteen

There was a man named Tdsti. He was a retainer of Hjalti biskups-
son. Tosti rode up the ridge south of Laxdrdalur with two other
men to find and fetch horses. He and his men found that the
horses and livestock were being driven away before them. Three
unarmed men were walking behind the cattle. The one coaxing
the cattle forward was Ingélfur, a big and strong man. Ingdlfur
realised that they would be unable to escape, and he urged his
companions to lunge at them as soon as they got the chance.
When Toésti reached them, he and his men demanded that they
hand over what they had. Ingdlfur replied that they would not
do so without putting up a fight, and immediately leapt at Tosti.
Concurrently, their respective companions began to grapple
with each other. Tosti and Ingdlfur were both hardy men, but
it transpired that of the two Tosti fell. Ingélfur then seized the
sword in Tosti’s scabbard and struck off his feet with a single
blow: cutting one where the calf was thickest and the other at
the ankle. Then they stole the weapons and horses of Tésti and
his companions. After that, Tosti’s companions led him back to
the farm and told Hjalti that Toésti had been wounded.

Hjalti and his men saw where some men were ploughing a
meadow. Hjalti ordered them seized — one was called Aslékur,
the other Arni— they were old and weak so had not ridden
away. Hjalti had the legs of both cut off: this deed was met with
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En er Pordur spurdi petta pa sigldi hann vestur til Bardastran-
dar. Gekk hann pa af skipum en lét menn fara med skipin hio
ytra. Spurdi Poérdur ad peir Broddi og Hafur h6fou haldid skip-
unum nordur Gr [safirdi og h6fdu gert par adur nokkud hervirki
en drepid engan mann. Fér Pordur pa heim til Myra og allir
menn til bia sinna. Var hann pa heima um hrid.

Var nu af 14ti0 ad leita um seettir. P6tti pa synt ad annar hvor
peirra Kolbeins mundi hniga verda fyrir 60rum.
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strong disapproval. Hjalti also had the legs of two other men
broken in Laxardalur. He rode home to the South, while Kol-
beinn returned north to Skagafjordur.

When Pérdur learned of this, he sailed west to Bardastrond
and disembarked there, but had the ships continue along the
coast. Porour was told that Broddi and Hafur had sailed ships
north of [safjordur and had damaged some property but had not
killed anyone. Pérdur then went home to Myrar and all his men
to their respective farms: he remained at home now for a while.

Efforts to seek out a peaceful settlement now ceased, and
it was clear to everyone that one of either Kolbeinn or Pérdur
would soon need to give way to the other.
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Sextandi kafli

Penna vetur hafdi Tumi Sighvatsson verid i Skalaholti med Sig-
vardi biskupi sem fyrr var sagt. En eftir ping er peir Hjalti voru
sudur komnir reid Tumi leynilega ad sunnan med pridja mann
og for hann pa vestur i Flatey til fundar vid Teit Styrmisson. Var
pad pa radid ad peir Tumi og Teitur skyldu par eiga bu badir
saman.

En er Tumi hafdi par skamma stund verid pa hofu peir ferd
sina sudur til Dala og voru t6lf saman. Voru par Dufgussynir,
Bjorn og Kolbeinn. badan foéru peir sudur til Borgarfjardar og pa
sudur Gagnheidi par til er peir komu & bae pann er ad Olfusvatni
heitir.

Par bjé sa madur er Simon hét og var kalladur knutur. Hafdi
hann fra blautu barnsbeini verid fylgdarmadur Gissurar Por-
valdssonar. Hann var 4 Orlygsstadafundi med Gissuri. Hann var
einna manna tillagaverstur vid Sturlunga. Hann var og i Reykja-
holti ad vigi Snorra Sturlusonar. Voru honum par eignadir
averkar vid hann. Med honum var og sa madur er Porsteinn hét
og var Gudinason, kjosverskur madur. Honum var og eignad
banasar Snorra.

En peir Tumi téku bzinn og rannsékudu pegar og fundu
Simon 1 badstofu og hafdi hann par gert reyk. Var hann ut
leiddur og hoggvinn. S& madur vé ad honum er Gunnar hét
og var Hallsson. Hann var kalladur nautatik. Peir spurdu ad
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Chapter Sixteen

That winter, Tumi Sighvatsson had been at Skalholt with Bishop
Sigvard as was told earlier. After the assembly, when Hjalti and
his men had come south, Tumi secretly rode south with two
men and he went then west to Flatey to meet with Teitur Styr-
misson. Tumi and Teitur now decided that they would retain a
household together.

Nevertheless, when Tumi had been there for a short while,
the two broke up the household and went south to Dalir in a
company of twelve, which included Bjorn and Kolbeinn, two
of Dufgus’ sons. The company continued to Borgarfjérour and
over Gagnheidi, until they came to Olfusvatn.

At that farm, there lived a man named Simon knutur. He had
been Gissur Porvaldsson’s companion since early childhood,
had been with Gissur at the Battle of Orlygsstadir, and was
most evil in his designs towards the Sturlungar. He was also at
Reykholt when Snorri Sturluson was murdered and was thought
to have dealt one of the killing blows. Staying with Simon at that
time was a man named Porsteinn Gudinason, who came from
Kjos. Porsteinn had also struck a blow on Snorri when he was
murdered.

Tumi and his companions surrounded the yard and immedi-
ately began to search the farm. They found Simon in the sauna,
which was filled with steam. Simon was led out and executed
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Porsteinn var i seli. Pangad reid Bjorn Dufgusson og peir fimm
saman. Peir toku Porstein héndum og spurdi Bjorn hver hoggva
vildi af honum hendurnar. Sigurdur hét madur er kalladur var
vegglagur. Hann var norrenn og hafdi verid kertisveinn Skula
hertoga. Hann fér at hingad med Snorra og var pa { Reykja-
holti er Snorri var drepinn. Hann bad fa sér 6xina, sagdi sér pad
pa i hug er peir drapu htisbénda hans ad hann skyldi gera ein-
hverjum peirra illt er par stodu yfir ef hann keemist i betra feeri
um. Porsteinn rétti fram hondina vinstri. Bjérn bad hann hina
haegri fram rétta, kvad hann med peirri mundi 4 Snorra hafa
unnid, freenda hans, enda skal su af fara.

Eftir pad hj6 Sigurdur hond af Porsteini. Gerdu beir eigi fyrir
bad meira ad, ad Porstein meaeddi blodras. Eftir pad reendu peir
hrossum og lausafé. Og sidan ridu peir vestur yfir heidi og svo til
Dala. Féru padan heim i Flatey.
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by the man named Gunnar nautatik Hallsson. They were then
told that Porsteinn was in the livestock shelter. Bjorn Dufgus-
son rode there with four other men. They seized Porsteinn and
Bjorn asked who would cut his hands off. There was a man
named Sigurd vegglav. He was a Norwegian and had been Duke
Skule’s squire. Sigurd had come to Iceland with Snorri and was
at Reykholt when Snorri was killed. He asked the others if he
could wield the axe, saying that he had hoped to have a chance
to hurt one of the killers after they murdered his master, if the
circumstances ever favoured it. Porsteinn stretched out his left
hand but Bj6érn ordered him to extend the right instead, saying
that Sigurd ‘should cut off the hand’ with which Porsteinn had
wounded his cousin Snorri.

After that, Sigurd sliced off Porsteinn’s hand, and then they
began mocking him when he began moaning from the blood
loss. They ransacked the farm for horses and movable goods
and then rode back over the moor to Dalir, and thence home
to Flatey.
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Sautjandi kafli

Pad var Olafsmessudag ad Pérdur Sighvatsson spurdi pessi
tidindi er nu var frd sagt og skipkomu i Dégurdarnesi. bvi skipi
styrdi Eyvindur brattur sonur Eyvindar skalla. Pérdur fér pegar
sudur yfir Breidafjord vi0 heimamenn sina og var nokkurar
neetur vid skip i Dogurdarnesi. Komu pa menn nordan ur
sveitum og segja honum 6l tidindi pau er peir fréttu, svo pad
og a0 Kolbeinn var heima og allt kyrrlegt. Frétti hann pa ad
allir menn satu heima vestur fra Skagafirdi, hver ad sinu bui.
Sidan sendi hann pa Nikulds og Hrafn Oddsson sudur til Dala
og skyldu peir safna par hestum sem leynilegast. En hann gerdi
pad yfirbragd fyrir alpyou ad hann mundi fara vestur { fjérou.
En pegar er hann kom sudur i eyjar pa lysti hann pvi fyrir
heimamonnum sinum ad hann mundi snda heim til Dala og
padan nordur a sveitir svo sem honum potti sér feert vera lengst.

Snorri béralfsson er it kom med Pordi og fyrr var getio,
hann var nordlenskur ad ett, voru peir nafreendur hans Mordur
hinn sterki og Asbjorn Illugason og margir adrir Nordlendingar,
hann svarar pessu mali fyrst ad hann vildi fara pessa ferd med
Péroi ef hann skyldi na ad rada gridum fyrir freendur sina. En
Pérdur kvadst engum manni mundu gridum heita medan hefdi
eigi meira vald en sagdi pd mundu eigi hans ord stoda ef hann
veeri hvergi nerri. Snorri var og hinn stridasti, kvadst pvi ad
einu mundi fara ef honum veeri 4dur pessu heitid. Skildu peir
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Chapter Seventeen

On the mass day of Saint Olaf, Pérdur Sighvatsson learned the
news which has just been reported and also concerning the
arrival of a ship at Dogurdarnes. The captain of this ship was
Eyvind bratt, a son of Eyvind skalle. Pérdur immediately went
south over Breidafjérour with his retainers and encamped for a
few nights by the ship at Dégurdarnes. Then men came from the
northern districts and told Pordur all the gossip they had heard,
including that Kolbeinn was at that time at home and keep-
ing quiet. Pérdur was also told that all the householders west
of Skagafjordur were then at home, each at their own farms.
Pérdur now sent Nikulds and Hrafn Oddsson south to Dalir to
gather horses as secretly as possible. Publicly he pretended that
he was travelling back to the Vestfirdir. However, when he ar-
rived on the islands he proclaimed to his retainers that he would
go to Dalir and from there to the northern districts, as far as he
could.

Snorri Pérélfsson —who accompanied P6rdur back to Ice-
land as mentioned above, was from the Northern Quarter him-
self and had as close kinsmen Mérdur hinn sterki and Asbjérn
Illugason and many other Northerners besides —responded
first. Snorri said that he would join Pérdur on this campaign
if he could assure mercy would be granted to his kinsmen. But
bérour replied that he did not want to guarantee a truce for any
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vid pad ad Snorri for vestur i fjorou en Pordur {or leid sina sudur
a Skogarstrond og svo inn til Dala.

Fann Po6rdur menn sina alla laugardaginn ad Hofda vid
Haukadalsa. Riou peir pa um kveldid, manni midur en halfur
sétti tugur, sudur um Brottubrekku og sudur yfir Karlshéls
um néttina og svo upp eftir Kjarradal og komu fram drottins-
morgun { s6larrod til Fljétstungu svo ad engi madur vard var vid
reid peirra um héradid. Ridu peir drottinsdagskveldid 4 Arnar-
vatnsheidi.

Annan dag viku var Lérentiusmessa. P4 skyldi vera manna-
mot fjolmennt ad Gilja. Komu par til Miofirdingar og Langdeelir
og Vatnsdeelir og alpy0a fyrir vestan Skagafjord. Gekk pa su frétt
a0 Porour var farinn vestur { fjérou ur Dogurdarnesi. Potti pa
6llum vaent um pad ad peir mundu mega vera 1 fridi.

Porsteinn Jonsson bjé pa i Hvammi. ba var Eyjolfur son
hans nitjan vetra. Hann var manna efnilegastur i pann tima,
mikill madur og venn. Manna var hann best 4 sig kominn,
sterkur svo ad pa voru engir hans jafnaldrar pvilikir. Hann var
pa ymist heima med fodur sinum eda heimamadur Kolbeins
a0 Flugumyri. P4 var 4 vist med Porsteini i Hvammi Mordur
Eiriksson magur hans. Hann atti Borghildi déttur Porsteins.
Porsteinn 4tti Ingunni Asgrimsdéttur. Porsteinn og Mordur
héfdu verid 4 Orlygsstddum med Kolbeini pa er Sighvatur féll
og synir hans. Merdi voru eignadir averkar vio pa fedga. Morour
hafdi & Orlygsstodum spjét mikid sem pé var sidvenja. En pa er
peir ridu nordan um Vatnsskard pa reeddi madur um ad spjotio
veeri hlykkir einir.

Annar madur svarar er reid med peim er verid hafdi i ferd
med Merdi: Pad hefir hallast mjog { godabeinunum. Pessi ord
hafdi Pérdur spurt og hafdi pungan hug 4 Merdi fyrir pad.

Helgihétmadurogvar Himundarson. Hannbjé 4 Masstodum.
Hann var annar bestur béndi i Vatnsdal en Porsteinn. Hann atti
Valgerdi dottur Kolbeins kaldaljéss. Hann var laeknir mikill og
hafdi enn verid 4 Orlygsstodum moti Sturlungum.

Einar hét madur og var Hallsson. Hann bjé 4 Gilja. Hann
var hinn vasklegsti madur og var jafnan i ferdum med Kolbeini.
Hann hafdi og verid 4 Orlygsstédum { méti Sighvati.
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man until they came into his power and that any promise to
Snorri would be meaningless if he were not there to enforce it
himself. Snorri continued insisting, stating that he would not
come on the journey unless he had a promise beforehand. Thus
they parted and Snorri returned to the Vestfirdir, but bPérdur
continued on his way south to Skdgarstrond and so on to Dalir.

Pérdur met all his men on Saturday at H6fdi near Hauka-
dalsd. They rode five-four strong south over Brattabrekka during
the evening, and then by night over Karlshals and up through
Kjarradalur, and reached Fljotstunga shortly before dawn on
Sunday morning. They travelled while it was dark so that no
one saw them riding through the district. On Sunday evening,
they rode over Arnarvatnsheidi.

On Monday it was the mass of Saint Laurence and there was
a large meeting held at Gilj4, to which came the Midfirdingar,
Langdeelir, Vatnsdeelir, and almost everyone from west of Skaga-
fjorour. It was rumoured that Pérdur had turned back from
Dogurdarnes and returned to the Vestfirdir, and everyone was
pleased to be living in a state of peace.

At that time, Porsteinn Jénsson lived at Hvammur. His son
Eyjolfur was nineteen years old. He was one of the most promis-
ing men at that time, big and handsome, being so aesthetically
pleasing and strong that none of his peers could match him. He
was alternately at home with his father or serving Kolbeinn as
a retainer at Flugumyri. At Hvammur, Porsteinns son-in-law
Morour Eiriksson was staying: he was married to Porsteinn’s
daughter Borghildr. Porsteinn’s own wife was Ingunn Asgrims-
déttir. Porsteinn and Mordur had fought on Kolbeinn’s side at
the Battle of Orlygsstadir, where Sighvatur and his sons fell. It
was thought that Mordur had dealt them blows. Mordur had
had a large spear at Orlygsstadir, as was customary at the time.
When they had returned north through Vatnsskard, a man had
commented on the spear’s deformed shape.

Another companion who rode between then said that ‘the
bones of chieftains have bent it well.

bérour learned of these words and intended to kill Mordur
for them.
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Fig. 6. The rood cross (Rédukross) erected in memory of Brandur Kol-
beinsson. Source: Wikimedia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/
File:R%C3%B3%C3%Boukross_-_Brandur_Kolbeinsson.JPG.
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At Masstadir a man named Helgi Himundarson lived. He
was the best householder in Vatnsdalur after Porsteinn. Helgi
was married to Kolbeinn kaldaljos’s daughter Valgerdur. He was
a skilled healer and had also fought against the Sturlungar at
Orlygsstadir.

At Gilja, Einar Hallsson lived. He was an exceedingly brave
man and always journeyed with Kolbeinn. He had also fought
against Sighvatur at Orlygsstadir.
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Atjandi kafli

N er frd pvi ad segja ad Pérdur reid 4 Arnarvatnsheidi drott-
inskvoldid og reid pa annan dag vikunnar allt ad byggdinni i
Vatnsdal en um néttina, er myrkva tok, ofan i dalinn. Var pa
tekinn fyrst beer 4 Haukagili og hafdi hann pa fréttir ad heima
voru beendur allir i dalnum. Var pd skipt lidi { sveitir. Var
Asbjérn fyrir sveit einni og med honum en fyrir annarri var
Teitur Styrmisson og Svarth6fdi Dufgusson. Par var og Egill
Sélmundarson og Einar Asgrimsson. Voru péa 4tjon menn {
hverri sveit.

Var pa umreeda hvert hvorir skyldu fara. Vildu allir { Hvamm
sist fyrir sakir vinsalda Porsteins. Pordur kvad pad maklegast
a0 hann feeri pangad er 60rum veeri minnst um en pé veit eg
eigi, segir hann, pann mann fyrir nordan land ad eigi sémi mér
betur yfir ad standa en Porsteini Jonssyni.

Foru peir Teitur og Svarth6fdi med sveit sina & Masstadi.
Gestir skyldu rida til Hofs og svo ofan fyrir vestan ana a Breida-
bdlstad og taka pann mann er Hallvardur hét og var Jésepsson
og rida svo ofan til Holavads og skyldu menn par finnast.

Nu er par fyrst fra ad segja er Pordur reid i Hvamm og kom
par nokkru fyrir sélarrod. Voru par byrgdar hurdir allar en ekki
manna 4 fétum. Skipudust menn pa fyrir dur allar en Hakon
galinn hljép 4 hurdina fyrir peim durum er naestar voru kirkju
og braut upp og vid pad voknudu heimamenn. Hljép pa prestur
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Chapter Eighteen

Now we must tell that Pordur rode up onto Arnarvatnsheidi on
Sunday evening. On Monday he made it all the way to the dis-
trict of Vatnsdalur. When it began to grow dark in the valley, he
first surrounded the farm Haukagil, and then learned that all
the householders in the valley were home. The army was now
divided into companies. Asbjérn commanded one company
which included the Guests. At the head of another company
were Teitur Styrmisson and Svarth6f0i Dufgusson: in that group
were Egill S6lmundarson and Einar Asgrimsson also. In each
company there were eighteen men.

Each company was now given instructions concerning where
they were to go. Not everyone wanted to go to Hvammur be-
cause Porsteinn was an exceedingly popular man. Pérdur said
that it would be most appropriate if he went to Hvammur as the
others had little desire to do so and ‘besides’ he said ‘there is no
man other than Porsteinn Jonsson in the north who it seems to
me most worth killing’

Teitur and Svartho6fdi went with their company to Masstadir.
The Guests were to ride to Hof and then down the west side of
the river leading to Breidabolstadur, where they were to arrest a
man named Hallvardur Josepsson, and then continue down to
Holavad, where all the companies were to regroup.
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upp og ut { dyrin en peir Hrafn og Nikulds toku hann og badu
hann ut ganga. Hann feerdist milli hurdarinnar og veggjarins og
vildi eigi ut ganga. Og i pvi pa kom Mérdur i dyrin og lagdi at
og enn fleiri menn med vopnum.

[ pvi hrukku peir Hrafn t en hann vard laus presturinn og
b4 séttu peir ad en hinir vérdust. I pvi kom Pérdur og bad ad
peir skyldu ganga inn skorulega. Sa madur gekk fyrstur inn er
Almar hét og jatnfram honum Kolbeinn gron en Pérdur sjalfur
og Hrafn og Nikulas gengu inn allir jatnsnemma. ba hrukku peir
Morour ur durunum og i skalann. Eyjélfur vard seint vaktur og
vaknadi hann eigi fyrr en peir Mordur hrukku i skalann.

P4 meelti Bardur prestur: Leitum til peirra dura er til fjalls eru
pvi ad par voru engir menn fyrir 4dan.

Og svo gerdu peir. Og er peir komu ad durunum var par
enginn fyrir. Hljép Bardur prestur ut, tok sér hest med s6dli.
Hann bad Eyjolf hlaupa & bak hestinum og rida i fjallid sem
skjotast en mér mun vid engu heett, segir hann.

Hljép Eyjolfur pa a bak og reid undan.

En er peir Porour komu 1 skélann pa fékk Mordur averka og
komst vid pad at. Pa komu menn Pérdar ad og seerdu hann. Féll
Morour pa.

Porsteinn bondi komst og ut og vard handtekinn. Var honum
fylgt a fund Pérdar. Porsteinn bad sér grida en Pérdur kvad pa
hafa skyldu pau grid sem peir létu hafa Sighvat f6dur sinn 4
Orlygsstodum. Porsteinn kvad eigi Sighvat par drepinn mundu
vera ef hann hefdi par mestu um radid en kvadst vilja bjoda
Poérdi alla hluti til lifs sér, pa er honum sémdu vel, en bidja ekki
grida sér svo, ad Pordi veeru leidindi i pvi. Attu b4 margir hlut
a0 og voru tillagagddir. Ingunni huisfreyju fér og allskérulega.
Pérour segir ad Porsteinn skyldi grid hafa. Eftir pad gekk Pérdur
til og sagdi ad eigi voru peir fleiri i Nordlendingafjérdungi er
hann hefdi vid verr haft adur en hann for utan en eigi skyldi
hann pad meir anyja en tak vopn pin og klaedi og far med mér.

Og svo gerdi borsteinn.

Eftir pad gekk Pordur upp a vollinn og spurdi hver par legi.
Honum var sagt ad par var Mordur Eiriksson. Porour bad Hrafn
til ganga og sja hve mjog hann var sar. Hrafn gekk til og spurdi

136



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

First we must tell that Pérdur rode to Hvammur and ar-
rived there a little before sunrise. All the doors were closed and
nobody came outside. Pérdur posted men at all the entrances.
Hakon galinn charged into the door facing the church and broke
it down: the commotion roused the members of the household.
The priest sprang up and ran to the door. Hrafn and Nikulas
grabbed the priest and asked him to come outside. He did not
want to go outside and wedged himself between the door and
the wall. Concurrently, Mérdur and several more men came to
the door and thrust out with weapons. Hrafn and Nikulds now
retreated, releasing the priest as they did so. Then they thrust
and parried back at those inside.

Atthat, bérdur appeared and told them to hurry up and breach
the house’s entrance. The man who was called Almar— along
with Kolbeinn Dufgusson —crossed the threshold first. After
them, Pérour himself entered with Hrafn and Nikulas. Morour
and his comrades then fled from the entrance and into the hall.
Eyjolfur woke up late, being roused only when Mordur and his
comrades retreated into the hall.

Now, Bardur the priest said ‘let us find the door that exits
towards the mountain, for no men were barricading it

This plan they adopted, and on reaching that door, they
found no-one to be outside. Bardur the priest ran out and
grabbed a horse: he told Eyjolfur to leap on the horse and ride
up the mountain as fast as he could for I am in no danger’

Eyjolfur mounted and rode away.

When Pérdur and his men entered the hall, Mrdur received
a wound but managed to escape. But Pordur’s men followed and
continued striking him. Mordur then fell to the ground.

Porsteinn the householder escaped but was caught and
brought before Pérdur. Porsteinn begged for mercy. Pérdur re-
plied that Porsteinn would receive such mercy as he had granted
to his father Sighvatur at Orlygsstadir. Porsteinn said that Sig-
hvatur would not have been killed on that occasion if he had
been the one making the decision. He declared that in order to
save himself he would grant Pérdur all that he was able to, and
he did not cease pleading for mercy. Many now intervened and
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a0 sarum Mardar en hann lést vera greedandi og beiddi sér
grida. Hrafn kvad honum einsatt ad btast svo vid sem hann
mundi eigi grid hafa.

Mérdur spyr fyrir hvad Pérdur var honum svo gramur svo
vel sem med okkur hefir verid.

Hrafn segir hann mundi vita pad ad honum hefdu kenndir
verid averkar vid pa fedga 4 Orlygsstodum. Mordur kvedst
eigi sannur ad pvi. Hrafn fér pa og segir P6rdi ad Mordur var
gredandi. Pérdur bad pann mann er Arni hét ad vega ad honum
og svo gerdi hann. Hann var Eiriksson.

Bjarni hét madur, hann var Hunrédarson. Hann var seerdur
til ¢lifis. A premur ménnum var par §drum unnid.

Porsteinn for med Pordi. Reid hann pa ofan eftir dal.

beir Teitur og Svarth6fdi komu 4 Madsstadi, skutu pegar
stokki & dur og brutu upp hurdina. Hljopu peir sidan i skalann.
Helgi hljop upp i pvi er hann vard var vid 6fridinn og etladi til
duranna. Hann var allra manna knastur. Hratt hann peim af sér
svo ad peir hrukku { setin af honum. I pvi gat Svarth6{di tekid
hann. Helgi beiddi sér grida og hafdi pa fengid averka. Peir segja
a0 engi kostur mundi grida vera, badu hann rannsaka rad sitt og
tala vid prest og svo gerdi hann. Eftir pad var Helgi leiddur 1t
og v6 s4 madur ad honum er Alfur hét og var Porgilsson. Sidan
reendu peir hrossum og pvi sem innan gatta var og ridu padan
ut til Giljar og téku peir par Einar Hallsson. Var hoggvin hond
af honum og seerdur morgum sarum 6drum. Reendu peir par og
ridu peir eftir pad til Hélavads. Var Pérdur par kominn og svo
Asbjérn. Peir Asbjorn hofdu raent 6llu 4 Breidabolstad 63ru en
ganganda fé. Hallvardur hafdi undan komist en Leer-Bjarni var
seerdur til 6lifis. A h6fdu peir unnid fleirum ménnum.

Reid pa bPordur vestur og allur flokkurinn. Var pa vida rent
pvi sem fyrir vard par til er peir komu i Midfj6rd. Par 1ét Pérdur
engu rena. Reid hann pa vestur til Hratafjardar um kveldid.

Tvennir voru peir hlutir er Pérdur baud mestan varnad 4, ad
peir skyldu eira konum og kirkjum.

Reid Pordur pa vestur til Dala og svo til Saurbaejar.
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supported Porsteinn. Ingunn, the housewife, was most bold in
this. Pérdur then decreed that he would grant Porsteinn mercy.
After that, Pérdur came over to him and said that there were not
many men in the Northern Quarter with which he had hated
more since he went abroad but that this would not continue any
longer. ‘Get your weapons and clothes and follow me’ he said.

Porsteinn did so.

bérour then walked to the field and asked who was lying
on the ground. The men there responded by telling him it was
Morour Eiriksson. Pordur asked Hrafn to go and see how badly
wounded he was. Hrafn went to Mordur and asked what injuries
he had, to which the latter responded that he could be healed
and asked for clemency. Hrafn told Mordur that it would be best
to prepare himself for mercy not being granted and to confess
his sins.

Morour asked why Pordur was so hostile towards him, ‘as the
relationship between us had been entirely positive.

Hrafn responded that Pérdur knew that Mordur had been or-
dered to deal wounds to Sighvatur and his sons at Orlygsstadir.
Mérour denied any part in this. Then Hrafn went to P6rdur and
told him that Morour could be healed. Pérdur ordered a man
named Arni Eirfksson to kill him, and he did so.

There was a man Bjarni Hinrédarson who was fatally
wounded, and three other men with injuries.

Porsteinn joined Pordur’s journey and they now rode down
into the valley.

Teitur and Svarth6fdi came to Mdsstadir. They used a beam
as a battering ram against the door and, on breaking it, they
ran into the hall. Helgi sprang up when he noticed the distur-
bance and sought an escape. He was the strongest of all men.
He pushed them off him so that they shrunk away from him.
However, Svarthofdi found an opportunity to seize him. Helgi
was wounded asked for mercy. They responded to this plea by
saying that he would have no mercy from them and told him to
search his conscience and have confession with a priest. He did
so. Then Helgi was led outside and executed by a man named
Alfr Porgilsson. They took the horses and what there was in the
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Padan for hann ut til Skards. Padan hvarf Porsteinn Jons-
son aftur og vann P6rdi adur trinadareid. Skildu peir pa med
vindttu.

For bordur p4 aftur i fjorou og til bus sins & Myrar.

En er Eyjélfur Porsteinsson komst i burt reid hann nordur 4
Flugumyri og segir Kolbeini pessi tidindi.

Kolbeinn stefndi pegar saman ménnum og efldi setur. Hafoi
hann avallt einhverjar pad sem eftir var sumars. Pétti honum
pa skjotara til eftirreidar ef nokkur illvirki veeru ger 4 hérudum
hans.
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house. The men rode from there to Gilja and seized Einar Halls-
son. They cut off Einar’s hand, wounded him in other ways, and
looted there. After that, they rode to Hoélavad, where Pérdur
and Asbjorn were already. Asbjorn and his men had plundered
Breidabolstadur for all but the livestock. Hallvardur had escaped
but Leer-Bjarni was fatally wounded, and several other men had
been injured.

bérdur rode westward with the whole army, stealing all they
could until they came to Midfjordur where Pérdur allowed
nothing to be taken. In the evening he rode to Hrutafjérour.

bérdur gave a strong injunction to his men to spare two
things: women and churches.

Pérdur now rode west to Dalir and so on to Saurbeer, from
where he went to Skard.

Here, Porsteinn Jonsson turned back after swearing alle-
giance to Pordur, and they now parted in friendship.

Pérdur went to his farm Myrar in the Vestfirdir.

When Eyjolfur Porsteinsson escaped, he rode north to Flugu-
myri and told Kolbeinn what had happened.

Kolbeinn immediately gathered forces and posted sentries.
He retained levies of troops scattered in several places for the
rest of summer, feeling that he would thus be able to deal with
any invasion of his region much quicker.
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Nitjandi kafli

En er Pérour hafdi litla hrid heima verid pa sendi hann menn
alla vega fra sér til mannkvadar og var s mannkvod svo frek
a0 hver vigur madur skyldi fara. Dré Pérdur flokk pann allan
til Saurbeejar. St60 pa Sturla upp hid fyrsta sinni med Poroi
freenda sinum. Voru pd og menn kvaddir allt um Dali fyrir
vestan Brottubrekku. Var orpid 4 pad ad 1id Pordar mundi vera
4 4ttunda hundradi.

En er peir komu i Ljarskoga pa spurdi hann pad ad seta var
ad Asgeirsd. Voru beir par fyrir Illugasynir, Ari og Rognvaldur.
Pa sendi Pordur til Teit og Svarth6foa med sex tigi manna ad
hleypa upp setunni. Ridu peir nordur til Hrutafjardar um
kvoldid og um néttina & Midfjardarhals. Laust pa 4 myrkva svo
miklum ad mennirnir skildust. Komust peir Teitur eigi betur en
nitjan menn nordur 4 Audunarstadi. Urdu peir pa varir vio, er &
hestverdi voru af nordanménnum. Syndist peim sem fjoldi lids
veeri ad kominn. Hleyptu pa Nordlendingar a fjall er { setunni
héfdu verid. Asbjorn reid til Asgeirsar og nokkrir menn med
honum og sa ad ekki gerdi eftir ad rida.

Hurfu peir Teitur p4 aftur og ridu sudur Holtavérduheidi til
Borgarfjardar. Fundu peir pa Po6rd i Stafaholti. Reid Pérdur pa
med flokkinn allan 4 Ferjubakka og settist par. Kom pa Bédvar
bérdarson utan fra Stad. Porleifur Pérdarson kom og utan tr
Gordum og hafdi hvortveggi peirra mikinn flokk.
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Chapter Nineteen

After Pordur had been home for a little while he sent people
out in all directions to raise troops: the order was that all able-
bodied men should be conscripted. The army gathered around
Pérour in Saurbeer. It was on this occasion that Sturla first rallied
to the side of Pordur his kinsmen, and people were summoned
from everywhere in Dalir west of Brattabrekka. Altogether, the
approximate strength of Porour’s forces was between 840 and
960 men.

When they came to Ljaskogar, Pordur discovered that
there were sentries at Asgeirsd. At the head of that company
were Illugi’s sons, Ari and Régnvaldur. Pérdur sent Teitur and
Svarthofoi with a company of sixty men to disperse and push
back the scouts. They rode north to Hruatafjérdur in the evening
and during the night along the ridge above Miofjorour. The
darkness was so profound that the army did not keep together,
with the consequence that Teitur and his company arrived at
Audunarstadur numbering no more than nineteen. A group of
Northerners guarding horses then spotted them, and it appeared
to them that a great hoard had come. All the Northerners who
had been keeping watch fled swiftly to the mountain. Asbjérn
and some companions now rode to Asgeirsé but saw that there
would be nothing to gained by pursuing them.
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Mikjalsmessudag hafdi Pérdur fund i Stafaholti. Var par
Sturla, Porleifur og Bodvar. Pérdur krafdi pa freendur sina
lidveislu og ferdar nordur um land eda ella sudur um heidi svo
a0 hann meetti rétta skada sinn vid adra hvora. En peir kvadust
eigi mundu veita honum til hernadar 4 adra menn upp, s6gou ad
peir mundu rida til pings med honum ad sumri og veita honum
til einhvers drskurdar svo ad hann fengi séma sinn. Pérdur tok
pvi vel og pakkadi peim, kvedst penna kost piggja vilja pott
honum veeri sa starfameiri.

Reid Pordur pa ofan a Ferjubakka og 1ét alla flokkana sofa
undir Pj6dolfsholti um néttina.

En um morguninn i dégun pa kom Hékon galinn ofan ur
héradi er hann hafdi verid 4 njosn. Sagdi hann ad Kolbeinn
Arnoérsson ungi hefdi verid um néttina i Fljétstungu med prja
tigi manna. Pétti pa 6llum ad synu ganga ad storflokkar mundu
komnir i héradid.

Pérdur bad pa halda saman flokkunum 6llum um daginn.
Hafdi hann pa svo mikid 1id ad orpid var 4 télf hundrud manna.
En hann reid upp i héradid a njésn ad vita hvad titt var. Reid
hann pa upp 4 Gilsbakka og frétti par ad Kolbeinn hefdi ridid
nordur 4 heidi.

Gerdi Pérdur pa menn 4 njosn nordur a Tvideegru en hann
sat 4 Ferjubakka @ medan. En er peir komu aftur segja peir ad
setur veeru prennar i Skagafirdi en kolludu kyrrt allt annad,
s6gou Kolbeinn hefdi ridid nordan a njésn en engir hofou til
ordid adrir. P6tti ménnum par enn mjoég synast hvatleiki Kol-
beins ad hann reid med svo fa menn ad slikum stérflokkum sem
par voru fyrir.

En er Poérdur fra petta pa dreifdi hann flokkunum. Féru peir
Bodvar og Porleifur pa heim en Pérdur reid vestur i fjérou og
Sturla.

béttust pa allir skilja, peir er { pessari ferd h6fou verid med
Péroi, ad hann mundi verda hinn mesti h6fdingi ef hann héldi
sér heilum. Potti og ménnum mikils um vert er hann hafoi
slikum stérflokkum saman komid i svo fatekum sveitum.

For Pordur ni heim 4 Myrar. Sat hann pd heima um veturinn
allt um jol fram. En ad jélum baud hann til sin 6llum bestum
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Teitur and his company turned around and rode south
over Holtavorduheidi to Borgarfjordur, where they met
bérdur at Statholt. Pérdur rode the whole force to Ferjubakki
and remained there. Bodvar Pdrdarson then came out from
Stadastadur and Porleifur Pérdarson from Gardar and each of
those two had large companies.

On Michaelmas day Pérdur held a meeting at Statholt which
Sturla, Porleifur and Bodvar attended. Pérdur demanded assis-
tance from his kinsmen and their support on a campaign either
to the North or South over the heath so that he could avenge his
sufferings against one of their enemies. They replied that they
did not want to aid him in waging war against others, but that
they would ride to the assembly with him the next summer and
help him to pursue a case there which would bring him hon-
our. bordur received this well and thanked them. He said that
he would accept their proposal, even if it caused him more dif-
ficulty.

Pérour then rode down to Ferjubakki and had all his forces
slumber under Pj6ddlfsholt overnight.

The next morning as the sun rose, Hakon returned from the
district where he had been posted as a sentry. He said that he
had spotted Kolbeinn Arnérsson during the night at Fljétstunga
with thirty men. Everyone thought that now it was likely that
large armies would be facing off in the district.

Pérdur then ordered the army to hold together for the whole
day. He now had a great army: there were as many as 1,440 men.
Pordur rode up to the district to seek out and know what news
there was. He now rode up to Gilsbakki and discovered that
Kolbeinn had ridden north up to the heath.

Pérdur sent scouts northwards up to Tvideegra, but himself
remained at Ferjubakki. When these men returned, they report-
ed that while there were three sentries posted in Skagafjordur,
all else was quiet. They also noted that Kolbeinn had ridden
from the North to gather intelligence, but no others had come.
People thought that Kolbeinn had been overly hasty in riding
against such a large army with so few men of his own.
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monnum ur Vestfjoroum. Hafdi hann pa veislu mikla 4 Myrum.
Strengdi Pérdur pa heit og allir hans menn. Pérdur strengdi pess
heit ad lata aldrei taka mann ur kirkju hverjar sakir sem sa hefoi
til vid hann og pad efndi hann. En er menn féru i brott veitti
hann mérgum moénnum gjafir. Voru pa allir meiri vinir hans
en adur.
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On hearing this, Pérdur disbanded his army. Bodvar and
borleifur returned home while P6rdur and Sturla rode to the
Vestfirdir.

All those who had participated in this campaign with P6rour
now believed that he would become a great leader if he could
keep himself away from harm. It was thought particularly esti-
mable that he had been able to gather such a large army together
from such impoverished districts.

Pérdur now went home to Myrar and wintered at home until
shortly before Christmas. At Christmas time, he invited all the
best men from the Vestfirdir to a feast at Myrar. P6érdur and all
his men made promises. Pérour promised that he would never
had a man taken from a church’s sanctuary irrespective of what
that person had done to him, and he would fulfill this pledge. As
the attendees left, he gave them many gifts, and everyone was
now in a state of more sincere friendship than they had been
previously.
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Tuttugasti kafli

benna vetur var bordur Bjarnarson i Gordum med Einari Orms-
syni freenda sinum. Hann hafdi verid med Oraekju { Reykjaholti
a0 drapi Kleengs Bjarnarsonar.

Ormur Bjarnarson reid med toélfta mann i Garda til Einars.
Komu peir par sid um kvoldid i pann tima er peir Einar og
Pérour etludu ad ganga til bads. Toku peir Ormur Po6rd par
hondum. Leiddu peir hann pa inn til stofu. Pérdur vard vio alla
vega sem best og vasklegast og baud fyrir sig allt pad er honum
somdi. En pa er hann s4 ad Ormur vildi ekki annad hafa en lif
hans pa beiddist hann prestsfundar. Og svo var gert. Eftir pad
var hann leiddur { ytri stofuna. Lagdist Pérdur pa nidur opinn
og bad pa hyggja ad hvort honum bloskradi nokkud. Ormur
fékk pa mann til ad hoggva hann. Sa hét Einar munkur. Eftir
pad reid Ormur heim austur & Breidabdlstad.
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Chapter Twenty

That winter, Pérdur Bjarnarson was at Gardar with Einar
Ormsson, his kinsman. He had been with Orakja at Reykholt
when Klengur Bjarnarson was killed.

Ormur Bjarnarson rode in a company of twelve men to Einar
at Gardar. They arrived there late in the evening at the time when
Einar and Pérdur intended to go and bathe. Ormur and his men
arrested Pordur and led him into the sitting room. Pérdur be-
haved best in all ways and offered in exchange for his life all that
which would be honourable. However, when he saw that Ormur
would not accept anything except for his life, he asked to meet
with a priest. That was done. Afterwards, he was led into the
outer room. bordur then lay down on his back and asked them
to watch to see if he blanched at all. Ormur then got a man to
execute him. That man was named Einar munkur. After that,
Ormur rode east to his home at Breidabolstadur.
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Tuttugasti og fyrsti kafli

Pad er nu ad segja pessu neest ad Tumi Sighvatsson undi eigi
Flateyju. For hann pa inn til Medalfellsstrandar ad finna Snorra
prest ad Skardi Narfason. Hann var manna audugastur { Vest-
fjoroum. Hann var og gofugur ad ett. Hann hafdi verio alla eevi
mesti 4dstvin Sighvats og Sturlu. Hann atti annad bu ad Holum
a Reykjanesi. Voru par fyrir synir hans, Barour og Sigmundur.

Tumi beiddi Snorra ad taka vid bai ad Hoélum til fardaga.
Snorri 1ét pad uppi ef hann fengi honum handsalamenn pd er
varda vildu ad hann teeki par vi0 jafnmiklu fé ad vori.

Tumi leitadi eigi eftir handsalaménnum en settist i buid
a0 Holum. Drifu pd til hans menn, Bjoérn Dufgusson, Porgeir
stafsendi, Porkell Einarsson drattarhamar.

Penna vetur i moéti jolum ték ad fakkast med peim Pordi
Sighvatssyni og Asbirni Gudmundarsyni. Gerdist Asbjorn pa
svo stor ad hann vildi neer jafnast vid hann sjalfan. Bad Pérdur
hann p4 gera annadhvort, hafa sig i burt eda vera { hofi. Asbjérn
kvad hann eigi purfa ad reka sig i burt en kvad pad vel fyrir pvi
a0 sénar mundu vera framkvaemdir Pérdar pegar er hann feeri i
brott, sagdi og ad sa mundi heita mestur madur peirra avallt er
hann var med.

Porlaksmessudag reid Asbjérn { brottu og beir prir breedur,
Grimur og Porkell hnjédhamar. Ridu peir pa sudur a Hola. Tok
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Chapter Twenty-One

Next, we must report that Tumi Sighvatsson did not feel sat-
isfied on Flatey. He went to Medalfellstrond and visited Snorri
Narfason the priest at Skard. Snorri was the wealthiest man in
the Vestfirdir and of distinguished lineage. He had been the
best of friends with Sighvatur and Sturla his whole life. Snorri
had another farm at Hoélar on Reykjanes. At that place his sons
Bardur and Sigmundur lived.

Tumi asked Snorri if he could take over the farm at Holar un-
til the Moving Days. Snorri agreed to give it over to him through
a handshake agreement on the condition that he receive an
equal return of wealth in the spring.

Tumi did not bother to fetch guarantors but immediately set
himself up at Hélar. Now men flocked to him, including Bjérn
Dufgusson, Porgeir stafsendi, and Porkell drattarhamar Einars-
son.

This winter, around Christmas, a coolness arose between
Pérdur Sighvatsson and Asbjorn Gudmundarson. Asbjérn be-
came so hubristic that he presented himself as almost Pordur’s
equal. Pordur told him to moderate his behaviour or get lost.
Asbjérn retorted that Pérdur need not drive him away and that
it would be well if P6érdur realised how much of a nobody he
would be without Asbjérn, and that he would pledge himself
always to the greatest man available.

151



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

Tumi pa vid honum og var hann par i gédu yfirleeti um jolin.
Drifu pa ad Tuma mjog margir menn adrir.

Um veturinn & niu vikna fostu reid Tumi heiman af Holum
nordur til Hrutafjardar. Ték Asbjérn pad upp fyrir honum ad
hann skyldi vinna nokkur stérvirki og kvad pa eigi mundu
bykja minna um hann vert en P6rd brédur hans. Peir voru ellefu
saman, fyrst Tumi og Asbjérn, Grimur og Porkell breedur, Bjorn
keegill, Bitru-Keli, Bardur, Einar Oddason, Hinbogi svinsbogur,
Bergpor Snorrason, Vestlidi Bassason.

Toku peir pa pad rads ad peir skyldu rida nordur a sveitir ad
nokkrum peim ménnum er { sékum veeru vid Sturlunga.

En er peir komu i Hrutafjord til Fogrubrekku pa spurdi Bjorn
keegill Tuma hversu ferd st veeri atlud.

Tumi segir ad hann eetladi ad rida nordur & sveitir ad baendum
einhverjum.

Birni kvad pykja lid litid en hestakostur engi: Paetti mér rad
a0 pu veerir eftir en létir oss rida pangad sem pér likadi, kvad par
héflegt til heetta.

Tumi lést rida vilja. En b6 kom par ad um sidir ad hann vard
eftir ad Fjardarhorni. Peir spurdu hverju seetti.

bvi ad fyrirmadurinn mun latast, sagdi hann.

Pad eitt meelti hann spameeli. En par vard hann eftir i hloou.

En peir Asbjorn og Bjérn ridu nordur til Midfjardar til
Linakradals 4 pann bee er i Mula heitir. Par bjé sa madur er
Magni hét. Hann var 16ngum heimamadur med Kolbeini a
Flugumyri. Hafoi hann par verid um jélin. En er hann f6r heim
gaf Kolbeinn honum einn hinn besta hest, gran ad lit, og skyldi
hann halda njésnum til Pérdar pegar ef hann hreerdist nokkud
ur Vestfjoroum. beir toku hus 4 Magna og brutu upp hurd
og gengu inn. En er Magni vard var vid ad 6fridarmenn voru
komnir 4 beeinn leitadi hann Ut um laundyr. Peir urdu varir vio
manninn er undan peim fér en myrkt var i hisunum. Magni
komst at og hljop af tuninu. En er hann var skammt kominn
frda hisunum pd sau peir Bjorn hann og hlupu eftir honum.
Bjorn kaegill komst a pann hest gran er Kolbeinn hafdi gefid
honum Magna en peir hlupu sumir eftir honum. Bjorn komst
tyrir hann. En er Magni sa ad hann mundi eigi undan komast pa
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On the mass day of Saint Porldkur, Asbjorn and his two
brothers — Grimur and Porkell hnjédhamar — rode away. The
brothers headed south to Hoélar, where Tumi welcomed him. As-
bjorn remained there in comfort over Christmas. At that time, a
large number of other men had also flocked to Tumi’s side.

Over winter, during the nine week fast, Tumi rode away from
Holar and went northwards to Hrutafjérdur. Asbjérn suggested
to Tumi that he perform some great work so that men would
not think less of him than his brother Pérdur. They numbered
eleven men together: Tumi, Asbjérn and his brothers Grimur
and Porkell, Bjorn keegill, Bitru-Keli, Bardur, Einar Oddason,
Hunbogi svinsbégur, Bergp6r Snorrason, and Vestlidi Bassason.

They decided to ride north to those districts where lived
some of the enemies of the Sturlungar.

When they came to Fagrabrekka in Hrutafjérdur, Bjorn
keegill asked Tumi what the purpose of their journey was.

Tumi replied that he wanted to ride into the northern dis-
tricts to attack some of the householders there.

Bjorn replied by saying that, in his opinion, they were of little
strength, and lacked horses, so ‘I think it would be advisable if
you remained behind and had us ride ahead to do your bidding,
so that you do not come to any harm.

Tumi said that he wanted to come, but the end of the matter
was that he rode back to Fjardarhorn. Everyone else asked Bjorn
why he had asked Tumi to turn back.

He responded ‘because the leader of this mission shall die’

This was the only prophecy Bjorn ever spoke, but there were
many further bad omens to come on that journey.

Asbjérn, Bjorn, and the others rode north to Linakradalur
in Miofj6rdur to a farm called Muli. At Muli there lived a man
named Magni, who had been an attendant of Kolbeinn’s at
Flugumyri for a long time and had stayed there over Christmas.
When he left for home, Kolbeinn had give him an excellent
horse, of grey hue, and he was instructed to inform Kolbeinn
as soon as he set foot outside the Vestfirdir. They surrounded
Magni’s farm before smashing down the door and entering.
When Magni became aware that enemies had arrived at the
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snerist hann vid. Hjuggust peir Bjorn i méti og vard hvorgi sar.
Bjorn hjé til hans { annad sinn og kom hoggio fyrir ofan eyra a
hélsinn og vard pad mikid sar og banveent. Eftir pad ték Bjorn i
feetur honum og sneri honum { loft upp og lagdi sverdi til hans
og vard pad litid sar. I pvi kom Asbjérn ad og spurdi hvi hann
dreepi hann eigi. Hann kvadst ad hafa gert pad er hann mundi.
Asbjérn gekk pa ad honum og hjé af honum hofudid. Sidan
kom ad Vigdis Markusddttir kona hans. Asbjorn perrdi sverdid
blodugt 4 klaedum hennar en hin bad peim margra fyrirbéna og
bad gud hefna peim skjott sina motgerd.

Eftir pad sneru peir aftur og spurdu ad njésnarmadur Kol-
beins var & Torfustédum. S& hét Asgeir og var kalladur Kollu-
Geir. Ridu peir pangad og brutu upp utidurahurd og hljop
Asbjérn inn og bad kveikja ljés. Kollu-Geir hljép upp og greip
sinni hendi hvort, handsax og spjot, og lagdi hvorutveggju senn
til Asbjarnar. Kom annad lagid i bringuna en annad { nedan-
verda brynjuna.

Asbjérn melti pa: Takid pér djoful penna, hann vill vinna &
mér.

Asgeir er tekinn og leiddur ut. Asbjorn hét pé & sina menn ad
nokkur skyldi til verda ad drepa hann en engi vard til. Asbjérn
snaradi pa buklarafetil ad hendi honum. Bad hann pa einhvern
mann a0 halda en hann brd sverdinu og segir a0 hann skyldi lata
héndina og hjé sidan og kom & handlegginn uppi vid 6xl. En
sverdid renndi med beininu og skar ur allan vodvann allt ofan
i 6lnbogabdt. Var pad allmikid sar. Asbjorn vildi hdggva annad
en Bjorn bad hann l4ta vera. Var Asgeir pa inn borinn og vard
vid sar sitt allhraustlega. Kom par til svo mikil bl6dras ad eigi
vard stodvad. Lést Asgeir 4dur en peir Asbjérn ridu { burt.

bessa somu nott kom peyr mikill og hlupu votn fram og
leysti drnar. Og er peir Asbjorn ridu vestur Hrutafjardarhdls sja
peir troll eitt mikid og f6r pad i svig vid pa. Vard peim 6svipt vid
en Asbjérn hrakti b4 par um. En er peir ridu inn ad Brandagili
sja peir eld mikinn brenna { fjardarbotninum og vard peim par
illt vio.

En er peir Asbjorn komu til Stadar { Hrutafjord var fledur
saevar. Var pa eigi reitt yfir vadal. Var fjérourinn eigi ruddur af
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farm he searched for a way out through a secret doorway.
They became aware that the man had slipped the net, though
it was dark in the house. Magni escaped and ran away from the
compound. However, when Magni came a short distance from
the house, Bjorn and the others saw him and chased after him.
Bjorn keegill mounted the gray horse Kolbeinn had given to
Magni while the others ran after him, pursuing on foot. Bjoérn
passed Magni and wheeled the horse around to face him. When
Magni saw that he would be unable to escape, he turned towards
them. Magni and Bjorn then began striking at each other but
neither one left an injury on the other. Bjérn then thrust at
him a second time and now cut hit him in the neck just above
the ear: a great and fatal wound. Next, Bjérn grabbed Magni’s
legs, flipped him on his back, and impaled him with his sword,
though that wound turned out only to be a small one. While
this was going on, Asbjérn came over and asked Bjérn why he
had not simply killed him. Bjérn replied he was finished, but
Asbjérn stepped forward and decapitated him. Then Magni’s
wife, Vigdis Markussdéttir came to them. Asbjérn wiped his
bloody sword on her clothes, and she spat a slew of curses at
them and called on God to soon avenge the slaying.

After this, they turned for home, but discovered that one of
Kolbeinn’s sentries was posted at Torfastadur. This man’s name
was Asgeir, though he was called Kolla-Geir. They rode there
and broke down the outer door before Asbjérn ran in and or-
dered the fire lit. Kollu-Geir leapt up and grabbed his seax in
one hand and spear in the other, and began thrusting with each
of his arms at Asbjorn. One blow hit him in the chest and an-
other in the lower part of his byrnie.

Asbjérn then said: ‘seize this devil, he seeks to wound me!’

Asgeir was then arrested and led outside. Asbjorn ordered
that one of his men should volunteer to kill Asgeir, but no one
offered. Asbjorn now wrapped the shoulder-strap from his buck-
ler around Asgeir’s hand. Next, he ordered some man to hold it
and he drew his sword, commenting that Asgeir should lose the
hand before slicing and severing the arm at the shoulder. The
sword rent the bone and muscle all the way down to the elbow.
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isum en arnar 6faerar hid neesta. Bidu peir par lengi um daginn
fiorunnar. En er a ték lida daginn vildu peir fyrir hvern mun
vestur yfir ana pvi ad peim potti eigi 6rveent nema eftir peim
mundi ridid. Rada peir nu til vadlanna og hverfa aftur. Rida peir
nd upp med anni og finna hvergi par er peim peetti yfir feert.
Asbjérn eggjadi ad peir skyldu 4 rida og kalladi pa raga og kvad
ekki araedi med peim. Bjorn kvad dna ofaera pvi ad hun 14 4
bokkum uppi. En er peim voru minnst vonir hleypti Asbjorn
ut 4 dna en hesturinn missti pegar fétanna og rak pegar i kaf
hvorttveggja. En er Asbjérn kom upp var hann af baki og hélt
sér { stigreipin. En peir er 4 landi voru réttu ad honum spjot-
skaftid og er hann vildi par til taka vard honum laus hesturinn.
Drukknadi Asbjorn par og fannst eigi fyrr en um vorid eftir.

Sidan ridu peir férunautar til vodlanna og komust par yfir
um néttina vid illan leik og fundu Tuma i Fjardarhorni. Ridu
peir sidan vestur til Dala. Fér Tumi heim 4 Héla.
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That was an almighty wound. Asbjérn wanted to cut again but
Bjérn asked him to let Asgeir be. Asgeir was then borne inside
and dealt with his wound most manfully. There was so much
blood loss and it could not be stymied. Asgeir died and Asbjorn
and his companions rode away.

That same night there was a great thaw and the water level in
the lakes and rivers rose dramatically. As Asbjorn and his com-
panions rode west over Hrutafjardarhals, they saw a large troll
cross the path in front of them. This made them feel uneasy,
apart from Asbjérn who criticised their lack of courage. When
they rode into Brandagil, they saw a great fire burning at the
head of the fjord and they became still more uneasy. When As-
bjorn and his companions came to Stadur in Hrutafjérour, the
sea was at flood-tide. At that time it was not possible to cross the
ford on horseback. The fjord was not free of ice and the rivers
were next to impassable. They waited for most of the day for the
water level to drop.

Nevertheless, as the day drew on, they wanted beyond all else
to get west over the river because they thought it would not be
unlikely if men rode after them. They now aimed to ford the
river and turned back. They rode now up along the river but
found no place where they could cross. Asbjérn urged them to
ride across, calling them faggots and saying they lacked courage.
Bjorn said the river was impassable

[Here the text of Kréksfjaroarbok begins anew)

because it had burst its banks. But when they were least expect-
ing it, Asbjorn charged his horse out into the river but the horse
immediately lost its footing and both were dragged beneath the
surface. When Asbjorn resurfaced he had fallen off the horse’s
back, though his feet remained in the stirrups. Those who had
remained on dry ground lent out a spear shaft to him, but when
he tried to grab it, he came loose from the stirrups. Asbjérn
drowned there and his corpse was not recovered until the fol-
lowing spring.
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Fig. 7. Saudafell in Dalir - Sturla Sighvatsson’s home. Source: Wikime-
dia, https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Sau%C3%Boafell _o1.
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Now the band rode to the ford and only just managed to
crossed it during the night and found Tumi at Fjardarhorn. They
rode west to Dalir, and Tumi went himself from there to Hélar.
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Tuttugasti og annar kafli

Penna vetur hinn sama eftir jol bjé Pordur ferd sina vestan af
Myrum og f6r nordur til [safjardar en hann sendi Hrafn Odds-
son og Svarthofoa sudur til Dala ad segja vinum sinum a0 hann
etladi ad rida nordur til Skagafjardar.

[ penna tima ték ad sakja svo mjog ad Kolbeini unga pad
mikla mein er hann t6k eftir Orlygsstadafund. Pad sétti hann
svo fast a0 hann vard 16ngum banvaenn af.

En penna hinn sama vetur stefndi hann fjolmennan fund i
Geldingaholti. Komu par til allir hinir steerstu beendur i Nord-
lendingafjérdungi. Baud Kolbeinn béndum tvo kosti, taladi
langt erindi og sagdi deili 4 um vandraedi peirra Pordar. Taldi
pé upp mannalat pau er hvor peirra hafdi fengio fyrir 60rum.
Kvedst pann kost vilja bjoda peim annan ad fara utan og gefa
Péroi upp riki 6ll og bata honum svo fodur sinn og breedur:
Munud pér pd verda ad eiga yovart mal 4 hans miskunn. Varir
mig ad your mun Poérdur gefast vel fyrir pvi ad pa gafst Pérdur
mér best er eg heetti mest minum hlut undir hann. Vorud pér pa
og vinir, Skagfirdingar og hann.

beir kvadust penna kost eigi vilja og kvadu par tvennt til vera
pad er fyrir beit: Annar sa ad vid viljum 6ngum pjona 60rum
en pér medan er pu lifir en hinn er annar ad P6rdi munum vér
bykja hafa gert svo miklar sakir vid sig ad vér munum ekki bera
mega peer refsingar er hann leggur 4 oss.
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Chapter Twenty-Two

This same winter, after Christmas, Pérdur departed Myrar
and travelled north to Isafjérdur. He sent Hrafn Oddsson and
Svarthofoi to Dalir to let his friends know that he intended to
ride north afterwards to Skagafjordur.

At that time, the great wound that Kolbeinn had suffered af-
ter the Battle of Orlygsstadir began to pain him so greatly that
he felt he was at death’s door.

This same winter he summoned a meeting of the people at
Geldingaholt. All the biggest farmers in the Northern Quarter
came there to him. Kolbeinn offered the farmers two choices
and delivered a long speech discussing the troubles between
Pérour and them. He mentioned then the loss of men, which
each of them had inflicted upon the other. Kolbeinn said that he
wanted them to choose one of two alternatives. The first option
was that he would go abroad and give up to P6rdur his whole
domain and so compensate him for his father and brothers, and
‘you would then be obliged to have your affairs at his mercy. I
am aware that Porour will prove good to you, because Pérdur
proved best for me when I depended on him most. You were
also friends then, the Skagfirdingar and him’

They responded that they would never accept this alternative
for two reasons: ‘one is that we shall serve no-one other than you
for as long as you live, and the other is that Pordur will consider
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Kolbeinn sagdi pann kost vera annan ad pér haldid setum
bad sem eftir er vetrar, einni i Skagafirdi, annarri { Vatnsdal,
pridju i Vididal, veeri og uppi almenningur pegar er su njosn
kemur sem liklegt veeri ad Pérdur sé nokkur i nand peim.

Beendur kvadust penna kjésa mundu hvad sem pa kostadi ad
peir héldu sér saman.

P4 melti Kolbeinn til Porsteins Hjalmssonar, sagdi ad hann
vildi senda hann til Pérdar ad leita um grid fram til pings. Por-
steinn kvedst eigi pa ferd mundu undir héfud leggjast ef hann
fengi til fleiri dugandi menn med honum. Kolbeinn bad hann
kjésa mann med sér. Porsteinn kvedst kjosa mundu Eyvind
bratt styrimann. Kolbeinn kvad svo vera skyldu.

Gengu beir pa 4 tal prir samt. Bad Porsteinn ad Kolbeinn
skyldi gera fyrir guds sakir ad gefa honum nokkud seettarefni ad
flytja til Pérdar. Kolbeinn kvedst vildu ad hann flytti jafnseetti.
Porsteinn sagdi ad Pordi mundi pad eitt pykja jafnseetti ad hann
teeki eignir sinar allar. Kolbeinn kvedst allar ad 16gum fengid
hafa og kvedst ongvar lata mundu fyrir déma fram.

Eftir pad ridu peir Porsteinn og reid Kolbeinn 4 leid med
peim til Jokulsar.

P4 spurdi Porsteinn Kolbein ef Pordur veeri kominn 4 leid
med flokk tr Vestfjoroum ef Kolbeinn vildi nakkvad auka bodin
og yrodi peim flokki pa heldur hnekkt en adur.

Kolbeinn kvad Porstein heyrt hafa tal peirra bénda 4
fundinum og sitt en hversu sem med oss for pd vil eg 4 pad heetta
a0 gefa Poroi freenda minum upp allan Nordlendingafjéroung
og radast fra med ollu. Vil eg ad allir menn hafi p4 frio, lifs grid
og lima.

Porsteinn bad hann segja Eyvindi petta mal er hann var
undan fram ridinn.

Kolbeinn kvad pad ongu skipta hvort petta vissu fleiri menn:
Austmenn eru oft skjotordir en eg vil petta pvi ad einu bjoéda eda
uppi lata ad pu sjair ad vér hofum 6frid 1 annan stad.

Ridu peir pa par til er peir komu vestur i Dali. Fengu peir pa
bratt njosn af ad Pérdur var vestan kominn. Fundu peir P6rd ad
Skardi og gengu peir Porsteinn 4 tal. Bar Porsteinn fram ord-
sending Kolbeins baedi um grid og sattir. Pordur kvedst engi
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us to have harmed him so much that we will receive such retri-
bution from him as we will be unable to endure’

Kolbeinn now told them that the second option was that they
were to post sentries for the rest of winter: one party in Skaga-
fjordur, another in Vatnsdalur, and a third in Vididalur, and al-
ways be ready to go immediately if intelligence was received that
bérour was likely to be somewhere near them.

The householders responded by saying that they would all
hold to this condition, whatever the cost.

Next, Kolbeinn told Porsteinn Hjalmsson that he would send
him to Pérdur to negotiate a truce until the assembly. Porsteinn
said that he would only go if Kolbeinn provided other good
men to accompany him on the journey. Kolbeinn asked him to
choose which man he wanted as a companion. Porsteinn said
that he would choose Eyvind bratt—a captain—and to this
Kolbeinn agreed.

Then the three of them had a talk together. Porsteinn asked
Kolbeinn for God’s sake to propose terms of reconciliation
which he could convey to Pérdur. Kolbeinn responded that he
wanted to propose a peace settlement that would be of equal
benefit to both sides. Porsteinn replied that Pérdur would only
agree to a settlement that returned to him all his patrimony. Kol-
beinn retorted that he had gotten all of that property legally and
would not surrender them to anyone without a legal judgment.

Now borsteinn and his companion rode off and Kolbeinn ac-
companied them on the way to Jokulsa.

Porsteinn inquired of Kolbeinn what concessions he would
make if Pérdur had an army with him from the Vestfirdir and
needed to be prevented from attacking.

Kolbeinn replied that Porsteinn had heard what had been
said at the meeting with the householders, ‘but” he said ‘irre-
spective of what was decided there, I will offer to surrender the
whole of the Northern Quarter to my kinsman Pérdur, though
I would ask in return that Pordur grant mercy to those living
there and guarantee safety to them of life and limb?

Porsteinn asked if he could tell Eyvind when Kolbeinn rode
away from them.
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grio vilja, sagdi og ad hann vildi { 6ngra manna dém leggja eignir
sinar eda mannaforrad i Eyjafirdi. Peir Porsteinn og Eyvindur
poéttust pa skilja, a0 Pordur mundi atla sér ad rida nordur &
sveitir, af vidurbunadi peirra. Urdu peir og pess varir ad Sturla
mun pa og i ferd verda med Pordi. Lét Porsteinn pd uppi 6ll pau
bod er Kolbeinn baud fremst. Eyvindur kvedst ekki petta kunna
a0 segja og kvedst eigi pessi bod heyrt hafa. Porsteinn baud eid
sinn 4 ef Pordur vildi pa heldur trda. Pérdur gerdi pa rad sin og
vinir hans. Légdu margir gott til. Tok Pérdur pad af ad hann
seldi grid fram um paskaviku en jatadi settum, skyldi og pess
vera skyldur ad gera P6rdi mann nordan um langaféstu ef hann
vildi pessi seettarbod halda, svo og ef nokkur efni veeru i.

Porsteinn reid na nordur til méts vido Kolbein en Pordur for
vestur 1 fjorou.

En er Porsteinn kom nordur og bar upp erindi sin fyrir Kol-
beini, ni kvedst Kolbeinn pad aldrei meelt hafa ad gefa Poérdi
upp Nordlendingafjérdung. Porsteinn kvedst ekki annad flutt
hafa en pad sem Kolbeinn baud honum hver raun sem til veri
ger vid hann.

Tok Kolbeinn pd grid fram um paskaviku en vildi ekki pa
saett er Porsteinn hafdi bodid Pordi af hans hendi.

Reid Porsteinn vid petta vestur heim og likadi stérilla og
kvedst aldrei sidan skyldu fara med sattarbodum af Kolbeins
hendi. Gerdi hann pegar mann vestur til Pérdar og sagdi honum
hvad titt var. En er petta fréttist meeltu menn allmisjafnt til Por-
steins.
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However, Kolbeinn responded that there was nothing to gain
from anyone else knowing this, and he said ‘Norwegians are of-
ten loose-lipped, and I only want you to make this known or of-
fer this if it is apparent to you that we shall be ravaged by warfare
otherwise’

Porsteinn and Eyvind now rode west until they arrived in
Dalir. They were soon told that Pérdur had arrived from the
west. They met Pérdur at Skard, and he and Porsteinn began
conversing. Porsteinn presented Pérdur with Kolbeinn’s offer of
both a truce and settlement. P6rdur replied that he would nei-
ther agree to a truce nor would he allow custody of his property
and authority in Eyjafjordur to be determined by any man. From
this, Porsteinn and Eyvind were able to discern that Pérdur was
planning to attack the North, and they discovered that Sturla
intended to accompany Pérdur on this campaign. Porsteinn
mentioned the concessions that Kolbeinn had offered. Eyvind
stated that he could not confirm Kolbeinn had sanctioned such
an offer. Porsteinn said that he would swear an oath concerning
the truth of the offer if it would convince P6rour of his sincer-
ity. Pérdur then kept his own counsel and that of his friends.
Many were in favour of accepting the offer. He decided to agree
to a truce over Easter week and accept the settlement offered by
Porsteinn. Kolbeinn was to send a messenger to Pérdur during
the long fast to notify him whether or not the agreement would
be honoured.

Porsteinn then rode back north to meet Kolbeinn, while
Pérdur returned to the Vestfirdir.

When Porsteinn returned north and reported back concern-
ing his errand, Kolbeinn denied that he had ever said he would
give up the Northern Quarter to P6rour.

Porsteinn stated that he had never offered anything to Pérdur
other than that which Kolbeinn had given him permission to
everyone who asked him.

Kolbeinn agreed to a truce over Easter week, but refused to
fulfil the settlement that Porsteinn had offered Pérdur on his
behalf.
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Fig. 8. Snorralaug at Reykholt — the home of Snorri Sturluson. Source:
Wikimedia, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/5/5¢/
Snorralaugio.JPG.
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On hearing this, Porsteinn rode west to his home. Porsteinn
was extremely dissatisfied and said that he would never again
offer to negotiate a settlement on Kolbeinn’s behalf. Porsteinn
immediately sent a man west to Pérdur to tell him how things
stood.

When this news arrived, men thought most unfavourably of
Porsteinn.
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Tuttugasti og pbridji kafli

Um vorid i paskaviku 4tti Kolbeinn fjslmennan fund. Komu par
til Eyfirdingar. Sagdi Kolbeinn pa 6llum vinum sinum ad peir
skyldu svo vid buast ad hann mun rida vestur 4 sveitir pegar eftir
paskaviku. Stefndi hann Eyfirdingum nordan ad nefndum degi
til moéts vid sig.

Kom nordan Hallur af Médruvéllum, Porvardur Pérdarson
tr Saurbee, Porvardur Ornélfsson ur Miklagardi, Gudmundur
Gilsson undan Hvassafelli. En er peir komu vestur { Skagafjord
pa var par 1id0 saman dregid.

Rédust peir pa til ferdar med Kolbeini Brandur Kolbeinsson
fra Stad, og Broddi Porleifsson magur hans. Ridu peir pa med
flokkinn vestur til Langadals. Voru par pd menn upp teknir
og svo allt vestur til Midfjardar. Reid Kolbeinn pa vestur til
Hrutafjardar til Stadar og par a4du peir og h6fdu pa prji hundrud
manna.

Skipti Kolbeinn pa { tvo stadi 1idi sinu. Setti hann hoéfdingja
yfir adra sveitina Brand Kolbeinsson og Brodda Porleifsson.
Ridu peir til Laxardals. Bad hann pa fara hermannlega og muna
Vatnsdalsfor. Var pa nefndur til Sturla Pérdarson ad peir skyldu
hann drepa ef peir needu honum og Bjérn drumb Dufgusson.

Kolbeinn lysti pvi ad hann mundi rida med sina sveit ad
Tuma Sighvatssyni 4 Reykjahola og skyldu peir finnast i Gils-
fjardarbotni pa er peir ridu nordur aftur.
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Chapter Twenty-Three

In the spring, during Easter week, Kolbeinn held a large meet-
ing. The Eyfirdingar attended this. Kolbeinn then told all his
friends that they should prepare themselves to ride to the west-
ern districts immediately after Easter week. He summoned the
Eyfirdingar from the north to meet with him on a named day.

From the north came Hallur of Modruvellir, Porvardur
Pordarson of Saurber, Porvardur Ornélfsson of Miklagardur,
and Guomundur Gilsson from Hvassafell. When they came
west to Skagafjordur, the army was pulled together.

Brandur Kolbeinsson from Stadur and Kolbeinn’s brother-
in-law Broddi Porleifsson rode to meet with Kolbeinn for his
journey. They now rode west with the army to Langadalur. Men
continued joining the army all the way west as far as Miofjordur.
Kolbeinn rode now west to Stadur in Hrutafjordur and when
they counted the army there they found that it numbered 360
men.

Kolbeinn next divided his army into two companies. Brandur
Kolbeinsson and Broddi Porleifsson commanded one of these
and they rode to Laxdrdalur. He ordered them to go raiding to
avenge the attack on Vatnsdalur, and it was strongly enjoined on
them that they should kill Sturla Pérdarson and Bjorn drumbur
Dufgusson if they laid hands on them.
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En er peir ridu yfir vodla 4 Hrutafirdi pa sau menn reid peirra
fyrir vestan fjérdinn. Hljopu menn pa vestur til Dala og svo
vestur til Saurbeejar.

For pa Sturla vestur til eyja en Bodvar frd Hvoli og Porgeir
stafsendir og Hallur ur Tjaldanesi foru yfir 4 Héla og s6gdu
Tuma ad Ofridar var von.

Tumi bra vi0 skjott og lét setja fram skip og fékk par menn til
gaeslu a0 eigi skyldi uppi fjara. En Bjorn Dufgusson kaegil sendi
hann inn i Kréksfjérd og Porkel Arnason og Halldér barm.
Skyldu peir par halda hestvoro.

Peir ridu & bae pann er ad Tindum heitir. Par bjé pa Pérdur
Gilsson. Padan méttu peir sja inn fyrir Kréksfjardarmula. Héldu
peir par voro.

Nt verdur par til ad taka er fyrr var frd horfio ad Kolbeinn
reid ut med Hrutafirdi. Og er hann kom i Bz til Torfa pa hljop
Gils son hans ut og vildi gera njésn nabium sinum. En peir Kol-
beinn sdu hann og ridu peir eftir honum. Gegnir Illugason kom
fyrst ad honum og lagdi pegar i gegnum hann. Par Iést Gils. Potti
petta verk allillt pvi ad peir fedgar voru vandlega saklausir.

Peir Kolbeinn ridu pad kveld i Bitru og téku par alla beei um
néttina. En um morguninn eftir ridu peir til Kleifa og fengu par
sannar fréttir ad njosn var allt gengin fyrir peim 4 Reykjahola.
ba sogdu margir ad eigi mundi rida purfa lengra og badu ad
aftur veeri horfid, kvadu Tuma eigi mundu heima vera. Kolbeinn
kvad rida skyldu allt ad einu, sagdi Tuma heima mundu ef hann
veeri feigur.

Ridu peir pa Gt med Gilsfirdi. Pa bjé { Garpsdal Gunnsteinn
Hallsson og Vigfus son hans. Peir Kolbeinn létu par alla hluti
fridi en hvergi annars stadar og renndu menn grunum a fyrir
hvad petta var.

Annan dag viku ridu peir { Gilsfjardarmula og par seerdu peir
til 6lifis Jén son Halls Hallssonar.

Peir ridu i Garpsdal og gerdu par engar dspektir en par létu
peir eftir neer sex tigu manna.

Peir komu 4 Groéstadi. ba melti kona st er Helga hét Jons-
déttir einmeeli vid Kolbein. Eftir pad hreykti hann hestinn og
kvad konuna vel segja.
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Kolbeinn then proclaimed that he would ride with his con-
tingent to Reykjaholar where Tumi Sighvatsson was, and that
they should rendezvous at Gilsfjardarbotn when they were to
return north.

As they rode over the ford at Hrutafjordur, men now saw
them riding west from the fjord. People then ran west to Dalir
and also to Saurbeer.

Sturla thus went out to the islands, as did Bédvar of Hval.
Porgeir stafsendi and Hallur of Tjaldanes went over to Hélar
and told Tumi that war was expected.

Tumi immediately prepared defences and he had a ship
launched and instructed men to ensure that it was not beached
when the tide went out. Concurrently, he sent Bjorn keegil
Dufgusson, Porkell Arnason, and Halldér barm into Kroks-
fjordur. They were to hold a mounted guard.

They rode to the farm which is called Tindar. At that time,
bérour Gilsson lived there. From there they were able to see be-
yond Kroéksfjardarmuli. They held their watch.

Now we must take up where we left off before with Kolbeinn
riding out along Hrutafjorour. When he came to Torfi’s place
at Beer, his son Gils ran out, intending to warn his neighbours.
However, Kolbeinn and his men saw him and rode after him.
Gegnir Illugason reached him first and immediately stabbed
him. There Gils died. This was thought an utterly evil deed be-
cause father and son were complete innocents.

Kolbeinn and his companions rode that evening to Bitra and
took over the farm overnight. During the morning after they
rode to Kleifar and got there reliable intelligence that news of
their coming had gone ahead to Reykjahdlar. At that, many said
that there would be no point riding any longer and asked to turn
back because Tumi would not be at home. Kolbeinn said they
were all to ride as one and that Tumi would be home if he was
fated to die.

They rode along Gilsfjordur. At that time, Gunnsteinn Halls-
son and his son Vigfus lived at Garpsdalur. Kolbeinn left eve-
rything there untouched, but nowhere else, and people were
suspicious as to what the reason for this was.
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Peir fundu fyrir Kroéksfjardarmula Halldér hornfisk og
Ingiridi konu hans og Olaf Brandsson. Gisli Barkarson reid
fyrir. Hann bad Halldéri grida og kvad hann freenda Vigfuss.
Kolbeinn spurdi hann hvar njésnarmenn Tuma veeru. Halldér
kvad pa vera ad Tindum og munu feigir, sagdi hann.

Peir lustu Olaf med oxi.

Vedur var kafpykkt og drifanda og matti skammt sja.

A9 Tindum { Kréksfirdi voru njésnarmenn Tuma med hest-
vord, peir Bjorn keegill og Halldor barmur, Porkell Arnason.
Peir svafu { skala og voru vaktir er peir Kolbeinn ridu i tin og
komust tt. Hljop Bjorn inni 4 hestinn og reid ut og i fjall upp og
reid 1 dy og 1ét par hestinn og rann peim hvarf. Halldér komst
seint a bak. Var hann veginn vid husin sjalf en Porkell Bitru-Keli
komst upp i tindinn og vardist par drengilega. Pa komu sumir
a bak honum i skardid og vogu hann par. En er Bjorn hugdi ad
flokkurinn mundi um ridinn sneri hann ur fjallinu og eetladi til
skips er hann vissi ad flaut undir békkunum nidri. Hann hljép i
hendur peim og tok Bersi Tumason hann. Pa kom Kolbeinn ad,
spurdi hver par veeri. P4 var Bjorn kenndur. Kolbeinn bad drepa
hann. Ottar snoppulangur v6 hann.

Pa ridu peir til Kambs og pa Magnus grid af ordum Halls af
Médruvollum.

Rida peir pa fram i Kroksfjord til Baejar. Par bjé sa madur
er Steinn hét og var Arason. Ari hét son hans og var hann naer
tvitugum manni. Peir fedgar satu i stofu og gekk Ari Steinsson
ut er hann heyrdi gnyinn og taladi vid Hall Jénsson. Pa hljép
a0 borvardur matkrdkur og hjé a hondina og i sundur hand-
legginn uppi i aflvodovanum. Ari gekk inn og ristu konur kledi
af honum. Steinn fadir hans sat 60rum megin i bekk og hafdi
lagid hendur & vixl 4 kné sér. P4 kom Matkrakur i stofuna og hjo
med sverdi a badar hendurnar og af adra en énnur loddi vid og
vard aldrei nyt.

Sidan ridu peir 4 Gillastadi og par bjé Halldér Einarsson.
Hann hljép til vopna er hann heyrdi gnyinn af reidinni og bra
sverdi en peir seerdu hann til 6lifis. Padan ridu peir til Reykja-
ness.
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On Monday they rode to Gilsfjardarmuli where they wound-
ed Hallur Hallsson’s son Jon to death.

They went to Garpsdalur and did no damage. There they left
around sixty men.

They came to Grostadur. Then that woman who is named
Helga Jonsdottir sought a one-on-one conference with Kol-
beinn. After that he spurred the horses on and said the woman
had spoken well.

Before Kréksfjardarmuli they met Halldor hornfisk, his wife
Ingiridi, and Olafur Brandsson. Gisli Barkarson rode at the
front. He asked that Halldor be left in peace and said that he was
a kinsman of Vigfus. Kolbeinn asked him where Tumi’s scouts
were.

Halldér said then that they were on Tindar and were doomed
to die.

They hit Olafur with an axe.

It was misty and sleeting, so it was only possible to see a short
distance.

At Tindar in Kréksfjorour, Tumi’s scouts were keeping watch
on horseback, these were: Bjorn kegill, Halldér barmur, and
Porkell Arnason. They slept in the hall but were awakened when
Kolbeinn and his men rode into hayfield and fled. Bjorn leapt on
a horse inside and rode out and up to the mountain. However,
he got caught in a swamp, losing the horse there before running
out of their sight. Halldér was slow mounting. He was killed
by the house itself. Porkell Bitru-Keli made it to the mountain
peak and defended himself there bravely. Then some came up
behind him on the mountain pass and they killed him there.
When Bjérn thought that the company would ride away, he
turned from the mountain and intended to head for the ship
which he knew was afloat beneath the ridge. He ran right into
them and Bersi Tumason seized him. Then Kolbeinn came there
and asked who this was. Then it became known this was Bjorn.
Kolbeinn ordered him killed. Ottar snoppulangur slew him.

From there they rode to Kamb where Magnds received mer-
cy due to Hallur of M6druvellir’s advocacy.
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They then rode further into Kréksfjordur to Beer. There lived
that man who was named Steinn Arason. His son was named
Ari and he was nearly twenty years old. Father and son were sat
in the sitting room, but Ari Steinsson went out when he heard
the thump of hooves and spoke with Hallur Jonsson. Then Por-
vardur matkrakur leapt at him and struck his hand, rending the
arm up to bicep. Ari went inside and the women cut his clothes
off him. Steinn, his father, sat on the other side of the living
room on a bench and had his hands lay crosswise on his knees.
Then Matkrakur came into the sitting room and struck both his
hands with a sword and so that one was cleaved oft and the other
became permanently paralysed and so useless.

Next they rode to Gillastadir where Halldor Einarsson lived.
He grabbed his weapons when he heard the noise of riders and
drew his sword but they wounded him to death. From here they
rode to Reykjanes.
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Tuttugasti og fjordi kafli

A Hélum var pad tidinda p4 er peir Porgeir komu med njdsnina,
sendi Tumi pa Bjorn 4 njésn. Hann 1ét og flota skipi miklu er
par var og atladi par 4 ad ganga ef tom yrai til. Par var kominn
Bodvar Oddason og Pérélfur Kolbeinsson med honum og voru
peir pa farnir ut 4 Midjanes. Sendi Tumi pa eftir peim og féru
peir aftur a Hola.

Par var margt manna fyrir og gengu peir til matar um
kveldid. Voru menn 4 htsum uppi 4 verdi, Arni Snorrason og
Porsteinn djakni tittlingur. En er peir h6fou matast um hrid pa
kalladi Arni ad menn ridu innan hja Midhusum. Og er peir ridu
innan fra Midhusum pa voru menn uti 4 Hélum og preettu um
hvort vera mundi fénadur eda mannareid. Syndist peim er feigir
voru ad fénadur veri en konur s6gdu ad mannareid var. Petta
var tysdag fjorum néttum fyrir Jonsmessu biskups. Tumi kvad
pa Bjorn mundu par fara. ba var kallad a0 fleiri veeru mennirnir.
Tumi kvad par mundu vera Kroksfirdinga er hann hafdi pangad
stefnt. P4 var kallad ad ofridur veeri og sagt ad sumir veeru
komnir til Kjarrbdlagards en sumir 4 skeidid. Peir Tumi hljépu
pa upp og ut. Urdu peir Tumi eigi fyrr bunir brott af beenum en
hinir komu hid nedra gegnt Hélum en sumir innan ad gardi,
sumir til skips en sumir af vellinum. Sumir hljépu til kirkju og
foru sundurlaust naer sér hver. Bardur Snorrason er kalladur
var Skardsprestur komst skammt af vellinum. Var hann veginn
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Chapter Twenty-Four

When Porgeir and his companions brought news to Hoélar, Tumi
posted Bjorn and some others out as sentries. He had a large
ship put out to sea, thinking to use it to escape if he had the op-
portunity. B6dvar Oddason and Péralfur Kolbeinsson had come
there with him but they then travelled on to Midjanes. Tumi
sent for them then and they returned to Holar.

There were many men there and they went to eat in the even-
ing. Arni Snorrason and the deacon Porsteinn tittlingur were
in the house during the meal. After they had been eating for a
while, Arni called out saying that men were riding by Midhus.
When they had ridden past Miohus, men came outside at Holar
and they were concerned whether this would be cattle or horse-
men. Those who were doomed to die thought they were cat-
tle but the women said they were horsemen. This was Tuesday,
four nights before the mass of Bishop Jon. Next Tumi said those
travelling there were Bjorn and his men. Then someone shouted
out that these were many men. Tumi said they would be the
Kroksfirdingar who he had summoned to him. Then someone
called out that these were enemies and that some were heading
for Kjarrbélagardur and some towards the path on the ridge.
Tumi and the others leapt up and out. Tumi and his men did not
make it beyond the farmyard as some were riding beneath them
right across from Hoélar and some had reached the yard. Some
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skammt fra st6dli. Hann hafdi leiddan inn hja sér hest sinn og
réd til prisvar 4 bak ad hlaupa, er hann var manna best hestfeer,
og komst éngvan veg upp. Hann hafdi fengid 4 Orlygsstddum
tolf sar en nu prettanda adur hann lést. Guomundur biskup
hafdi vigdan hann til messudjakna.

Og er hann var nyvigdur tok biskup hendi sinni i h6fud
honum og meelti: Ekki mun pig, son minn, saka 1 h6fudid.

Og var pad svo. Hann var seerdur prettan sarum og kom ekki
i hofudid. Stefan Bjarnarson vann @ honum. Skammt padan var
tekinn Bédvar fra Hvoli. Og kom fyrst ad honum Porsteinn
goltur Illugason og ték Bodvar annarri hendi um hals honum
en annarri milli fétanna og skaut honum ad hofdi i keldu eina.
P4 kom ad Asbjorn Illugason og lagdi hann med spjéti til bana
og fleiri unnu peir @ honum. Pérélfur Kolbeinsson var saerdur
til dlifis skammt padan i frd og fékk hann komist heim. Porgeir
stafsendir var par fundinn ofan { myrina og kom Ogmundur
vandraeedamagur eftir honum og hjé Porgeir a badi leerin adur
hann komst af baki og vard hann ekki sar. Sidan komu fleiri ad
og sottu hann en hann hjé sem hann horfdi. Peir unnu pé fleiri
& honum en Ogmundur bar sér vigid. Grimur son Gudmundar
Soélémonssonar var seerdur til dlifis skammt fra Biskupsbrunni
og skreid hann 1 brunninn um néttina og var heim ferdur um
morguninn og fékk alla pjénustu. Arni Snorrason komst lengst
i myrarnar. Og var hann par veginn og hofou peir heim hofud
hans med sér. Hjalmur af Vidivéllum og Asgrimur Ormsson
og Stefan toku Tuma hondum og var hann litt sar Stefan pessi
var brédir Pérarins balta og fluttu hann heim. Var hann lagdur
undir kirkjugard. Porkell drattarhamar var par fyrir, freendi
hans, og gafu peir honum grid.

Kolbeinn var { stofu pa er Tumi kom heim. Gekk hann pa ut
til kirkjugardsins.

Tumi settist upp og bad sér grida og baud utanferd sina og
pad er Kolbeinn vildi piggja.

En Kolbeinn pagdi og allir adrir um hrid. Skagfirdingar badu
hann hafa slik grid sem breedur hans héfou haft & Orlygsstodum.

P4 meelti einn madur: Ekki mun purfa um seettir ad leita.
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of Tumi’s men ran to the ship, some from the field, some ran to
the church, and nearly everyone in the group scattered. Bardur
Snorrason —known as the priest of Skard — came a little way
from the field. He was killed a little way from the milking shed.
He had brought his horse close to him and tried three times to
get on its back, but despite being an excellent horseman he could
not mount. He had received twelve wounds at Orlygsstadir and
now got his thirteenth before he died. Bishop Gudmundur had
ordained him as a mass deacon.

When Bardur was newly consecrated, the bishop placed his
hand on his head and said ‘my son, your head will never be in-
jured’

And that prophecy was fulfilled. Bardur was wounded
thirteen times but none were on his head. Stefin Bjarnarson
executed him. Not far from there, Bodvar of Hval was caught.
Porsteinn goltur Illugason reached him first, grabbing his neck
with one hand and between the legs with the other before
throwing him head first into a bog. Then Asbjoérn Illugason
arrived and stabbed him to death with a spear along with
many others who put wounds on him. Péralfur Kolbeinsson
was mortally wounded a short distance away, even though he
reached the house. Porgeir stafsendi was found in the swamp
and Ogmundur vandraedamagur chased after him and hit
Porgeir on both thighs before he dismounted, but he was not
wounded. Then many others arrived and began to attack him
and struck at those he could see. However, the many were
able to wound him and Ogmundur ended up killing him.
Gudmundur Sélémonsson’s son Grimur was mortally wounded
near to Biskupsbrunnur and he crawled into the spring during
the night and was carried home during the morning and given
the last rites. Arni Snorrason lasted longest in the swamp.
However, he was killed there and they brought his head home
with them. Hjalmur of Vidivellir, Asgrimur Ormsson, and
Stefdn — the brother of Porarinn balti — seized Tumi (who was
only slightly wounded) and dragged him home. He was taken to
the churchyard. Porkell drattarhamar, his kinsman, was already
there and they had granted him mercy.
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Kolbeinn gekk pd fra og kvaddi til Pérarin grautnef ad vega
a0 honum.

Tumi skriftadist og meeltist vel fyrir. Sidan var hann leiddur
sudur fra kirkjugardi og hoggvinn. Kastadi hann sér nidur adur
hann var veginn.

Kolbeinn var 4 Holum um néttina og reendu peir hrossum og
lausafé 6llu. Ridu sidan brott eftir pad og til Kleifa. Prestar toku
lik Tuma er hann var veginn og unnu pvi.
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Kolbeinn was in the sitting room when Tumi came home. He
went then out to the churchyard.

Tumi was on the ground and begged for mercy, offering to
leave Iceland and grant whatever else Kolbeinn wanted. Kol-
beinn and all the others were silent for a while. The Skagfird-
ingar said that he would receive the same mercy afforded his
brothers at Orlygsstadir.

One person then exclaimed ‘you will get nowhere trying to
settle here’

Kolbeinn then walked away and ordered Porarinn grautnef
to execute him. Tumi confessed his sins and this was spoken
well of. Then he was led south from the churchyard and execut-
ed. He cast himself down before he was killed.

Kolbeinn remained at Holar overnight. In the morning they
ransacked the place for horses and all movable goods, before
riding away to Kleifar. The priests took Tumi’s corpse away with
them after he was killed.
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Tuttugasti og fimmti kafli

Kolbeinn sendi Brand Kolbeinsson og Brodda Porleifsson mag
sinn og Hafur Bjarnarson til Dala. Ridu peir ofan Laxardal og
h6fou 4 60ru hundradi manna. Peir komu 4 Donustadi og var
par ekki manna heima. Brandur fér og hans sveit fyrir nordan
ana ofan og voru menn hvergi heima pvi ad njosn hafdi komid,
st er Poérdur viti hafdi gert.

En peir Broddi og Hafur ridu fyrir sunnan dna og komu {
Grof og hljopu par inn. Par bjé pa Jén son Pals Massonar. Hann
hafdi skeint sig og 14 i rekkju. Og saerdu peir hann til 6lifis og do
hann af peim sairum um sumarid.

Padan ridu peir 4 Leidolfsstadi. Par bjé Hallur son Halls
Hallssonar. Hann hafdi farid 4 fjall um néttina. Var hann pa
kominn til matar. En er hann var mettur bad médir konu hans
hann verda i brottu, kvad par fara évina fylgjur. Hann kvad sig
syfja mjog. Og er hann vildi upp standa féll hann af Gt sofinn.
P4 var morgnad.

Litlu sidar komu peir Broddi par og brutu upp hurdina og
hljépu inn. Hallur vard allvel vid og vardi sig drengilega. Hann
horfadi undan til fjoss og fékk lag 1 gegnum hid efra holid. Sidan
komst hann ut fjésdyr og stefndi ofan til ar. Hun var 6reid. beir
riou pa eftir honum og h6fdu hesta géda. Toku peir hann nidri 1
myrunum og seerdu hann pa enn moérgum sarum til bana.
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Chapter Twenty-Five

Kolbeinn sent Brandur Kolbeinsson, his brother-in-law Broddi
Porleifsson, and Hafur Bjornsson to Dalir. They rode down
through Laxardalur with between 120 and 240 men. They came
to Donustadur where no-one was at home. Brandur and his
company went down north of the stream, but nowhere was
anyone at home, because a message from Pérdur had come to
warn them.

Broddi and Hafur rode south of the river and came to Grof,
which they entered. Jén, the son of Pall Masson lived there. He
had injured himself and was recovering in bed. They dealt him a
deadly wound from which he died during the summer.

From there, they rode to Leiddlfsstadir. At that place lived
Hallur, the son of Hallur Hallsson. He had gone to the mountain
during the night but was then at home to eat. After he finished
eating, his mother-in-law told him to run away telling him that
the daemons of his enemies were heading towards them. He re-
sponded by telling her that he was utterly exhausted. When he
tried to get up, he fell into a slumber. It was then morning.

A little while later, Broddi and his men came to the farm,
broke down the door, and entered. Hallur fought them manfully
and defended himself with valour. He managed to escape to the
stable where he received a blow to the upper chest. He was able
to flee out through the stable door and headed down the path
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Eftir pad ridu peir a4 Hoskuldsstadi og hljopu par inn. Gunn-
laugur bondila i utanverdum skala og htisfreyja en 69rum megin
gegnt lagu peir Ari son hans og Pérdur son Lauga-Snorra. Peir
sneru ad pvi riminu og 16gdu sverdum upp i rimid og skeindist
Pérour a feti. Sidan toku peir pa og leiddu ut ad harinu. Var Ari
pa lostinn i andlitid med buklara og vard hann sér af pvi. En peir
16gou fetil 4 hond P6rdi og etludu af ad hoggva adur Porbjorn
Seelendingur og Porsteinn lysuknappur brédir hans fengu grio
til handa 6llum peim pvi ad par voru tengdir 1 millum. Sidan
létu peir P6ro rida til vads med sér.

Og er peir komu i Hjardarholt voru peir Brandur par fyrir og
voru i svefni og hofou peir 4 6ngum moénnum pa unnid. Bjérn
var eigi heima og hvergi karlar 4 baejum.

Ridu peir Brandur pa inn til Hvamms og sau par mann undir
hlidinni upp fra Akri. Var par Porleifur son Gils Porleifssonar.
Hann vildi hlaupa undan og i fjallid er hann sa pa. En pa kom a
hann herfjétur og kunni hann ekki ad ganga nema i méti peim
og po seint. En er peir fundu hann végu peir hann.

Sneru peir pa upp til Tungu og komu par mjog 4 ovart og
komst Helga husfreyja kona Sturlu naudulega i kirkju med
Snorra son sinn er pa var fjogurra vikna. En peir unnu 4 peim
manni er Valbjorn hét, seerdu hann premur sarum og reendu par
til tuttugu hundrada med pvi er spillt var.

Kerling ein var par i Tungu med Joéreidi hasfreyju. Han kvad
visu pessa um pa flokksmenn:

Beinir Brandr til rdna,
brodir Pals, 1 hljodi.
Hykk a0 hvergi pykki
hvinn Broddi p6 minni.
Hér var 6lmr med hjalmi
Hallvardr of dag allan.
Hann mun hefdarvinnu
Hafr Bjarnarson varna.

Sidan ridu peir til Saurbeejar hvorirtveggju. Leitudu peir Sturlu
i kirkju i Tungu og svo ad Stadarhdli er peir komu par. Peir ridu
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to the river. It was impassable. They pursued him on good hors-
es. They tracked him down in the marsh and dealt him many
wounds until he died.

Afterwards, they rode to Hoskuldsstadir and entered there.
Gunnlaugur the householder lay in the outer part of the hall
with his wife, but on the other side — opposite them —lay his
son Ari, as well as Pérdur, one of the sons of Snorri from Laug-
ar. They turned towards this bed and thrust their swords down
into it, such that Pérdur received a wound on his leg. Then they
grabbed their hair and dragged them by it outside. Ari was
struck in the face with a round shield and injured by this. They
wrapped a strap around Pérdur’s hand and intended to sever
it until Porbjorn Szelendingur and his brother Porsteinn lysu-
knappur secured mercy for all of them because they were rela-
tives. Subsequently, they had Pérdur ride to a ford with them.

When they arrived at Hjardarholt, Brandur and his men went
inside and slept. They had not assaulted any men thus far. Bjérn
was not at home and there were no other men at the farm. Now
Brandur and his companions rode to Hvammur and spotted
men under the slope above Akur. There was Porleifur’s son Gils
Porleifsson. He wanted to run down and to the mountain when
he saw them. But then he froze in panic and knew of nowhere to
go except towards them, and this he did slowly. When they met
him they slew him.

They now turned up towards Tunga and arrived there total-
ly out of the blue. Helga the housewife, Sturla’s spouse, barely
made it with her four-week-old son Snorri to the church. Then
they attacked a man named Valbjorn, giving him three wounds,
and stole property worth the equivalent of 2,400 ells of wadmal
including that which was damaged.

There was an old housewife at Tunga named Joreidur, she
muttered this verse about the band of warriors:

Brandur — brother of Pall —leave
or pillage quietly.

I do not think that Broddi

is any less of a thief.
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a Bjarnarstadi og eltu par i fjall upp Porfinn i Mila og Pj6dolf
Porgeirsson. Peir fundust i Tjaldanesi og peir er Svinadal h6fou
ri0id. Ridu padan inn til Kleifa og par fundust peir Kolbeinn
allir og h6fou drepid prettan menn i pessi ferd en seerda marga.
Eftir pad ridu peir til Hrutafjardar. Lodinn hét madur er bj6 ad
Fjardarhorni. Hann ginntu peir ur banhusi og féthjuggu. En
hér eftir pessi verk reid Kolbeinn heim & Flugumyri og undi vel
vid ferd sina og potti sja verid hafa hin mesta herferd.
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All day, Hallvardur has

been a savage in a helmet.
Hafur Bjarnarson will ensure
that nothing honourable occurs.

Then both companies rode to Saurbeer. They searched for Sturla
in the church at Tunga and also at Stadarholl when they arrived
there. They rode to Bjarnarstadir and chased Porfinnur of Muli
and bjédolfur Porgeirsson up onto the mountain. On Tjaldanes
they met also those who had ridden to Svinadalur. From there
they rode to Kleifar where they all met Kolbeinn. On this jour-
ney then had killed thirteen men and wounded many. After that
they rode to Hrutafjorour. There was a man named Lodinn who
lived at Fjardarhorn. They enticed him out of the chapel and cut
off his foot. After this was accomplished, Kolbeinn rode home
to Flugumyri and was very pleased with his journey, thinking it
had been the most successful campaign.
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Tuttugasti og sjotti kafli

Eftir drap Tuma sigldu menn hans vestur til Flateyjar. Var padan
ger njosn vestur i Arnarfjérd. Var P6roi st sogn borinn ad Tumi
mundi vera i kirkju en Kolbeinn saeti um kirkjuna.

Pérdur bad menn sina pegar herkladast og ganga til skips.
Var ytt skipinu og kafdi pegar fyrir hvassviori og gengu menn
pa heim aftur. Hét Pordur pa 4 gud ad vedrio skyldi legja og
jafnskjott féll vedrid. For Pérdur pa a skipi inn til Otradals.

Voru par pa komnir menn af Bardastrond og s6gou peir 611
tidindi pau er gerst hofou i ferdum peirra Kolbeins og svo pad
med ad buridur Ormsdottir var komin i Flatey med son peirra
Tuma er Sighvatur hét og vildi hin finna P6ro sem fyrst. For
hann pd ad finna hana sem hvatast i Flatey.

Komu pa og innan ur Kroksfirdi menn Pérdar. Peir h6fou
handtekid mann er Lodinn hét og var Ingimundarson. Hann
hafdi verid med Kolbeini i Holaferd. Lét Pordur leida hann
nordur i Ferjuvog og fékk til bann mann er Porkell hét ad vega
hann. Hann var br6dir Asbjarnar Gudmundarsonar og Grims.

buridur spurdi Pord ad um fé pad er peir Tumi hofou att,
hversu hann vildi pvi skipta. Pérdur kvedst etla ad pad mundi
1itio til skiptis p6 ad peir hefdu att par 16nd nokkur badir samt
i D6lum. Pykir mér pad rad, sagdi hann, ad pu hafir fé pad er
vid eigum i pessum sveitum en eg hitt sem feest af félagi okkru
Kolbeins.
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Chapter Twenty-Six

After the killing of Tumi, his men sailed west to Flatey. From
there information was sent west to Arnarfjérour. bérdur was
then passed a rumour that Tumi was holed up in a church sur-
rounded by Kolbeinn.

Pérdur ordered his men to immediately don armour and
board ships. One ship set sail but was immediately sank by bad
weather, so everyone returned to the yard. Pordur then called
on God to calm the storm and immediately it ceased. Pérdur
went on a ship to Otradalur.

Men had come there from Bardastrond and they told eve-
rything that had happened on Kolbeinn’s journey and also that
buridur Ormsdéttir had arrived at Flatey with her son by Tumi
who was named Sighvatur and that she wanted to meet with
and speak to Pérdur straightaway. He then hurried to Flatey to
meet with her.

Pérour’s men then arrived from Kroksfjorour. They had ar-
rested a man named Lodinn Ingimundarson —he had been
with Kolbeinn in the expedition to Holar. Pérdur had him taken
north to Ferjuvog and executed by Porkell, the brother of As-
bjorn Gudmundarson and Grimur.

buridur asked Pordur about the property that he and Tumi
had owned jointly and how he wanted to divide it. Pérdur re-
plied that there could not be much worth splitting, even though
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Og pvi jatadi hun og pau handsél attust pau vid. Potti Puridi
petta gert af astid vid sig. Skyldu par og undirskild 61l manna-
forrad, ef til pyrfti ad taka, pau er Sighvatur hafdi att. Var Nikulas
Oddsson vottur og Teitur Styrmisson, Kolbeinn grén, Hrafn
Oddsson og margir adrir.

Fékk Pérour af pessu gott ord af alpydu. Pétti 6llum ménnum
honum petta vel fara.

Eftir petta for Puridur Ormsdottir til Saudafells og var par
vistum hin neestu misseri eftir.

bérdur for padan vestur i fjorou en sendi sudur Ingjald Geir-
mundarson til Borgarfjardar ad vitja heita peirra er peir Sturla
bérdarson og Bodvar og Porleifur h6fou honum heitid um
haustid a Ferjubakka ad peir skyldu veita honum til laga 4 pingi.

En er Ingjaldur fann Porleif og pa bredur gengu peir ur
skugga um pad ad peir mundu eigi til pings rida med Pordi.
For peim svo sem morgum 60rum ad minna potti fyrir ad heita
P6roi lidi en ad ganga i deilur vid Kolbein. Og er peir gengu tr
pessu mali pa sagdi Sturla pad sem satt var ad peir Pérdur hefou
engan afla til pingreidar méti fjolmenni Kolbeins og Sunn-
lendinga en p6 kvadst hann vilja veita Poroi slikt allt sem hann
meetti.

Eftir petta for Ingjaldur vestur i fjérou. Segir hann Pérdi til
svo buins.

Og penna hinn sama vetur sendi Kolbeinn Einar draga med
nokkura menn nordur 4 Langanes ad drepa pa Blasiussonu.

Gerdist pa svo ad Eyfirdingum og peim er verid héfou vinir
Sighvats pétti pungt undir ad bua peim afarkostum er menn
urdu pa ad pola af Kolbeini i manndrapum og ranum. Kom pa
svo a0 peir gerdu Pordi ord ad peir mundu honum veita ef hann
keemi med nokkurn afla nordur pangad til méts vid pa.
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they had owned some farms together in Dalir. ‘I think it would
be best, he said, ‘if you kept the property that Tumi and I owned
in these districts, and I content myself with the property of ours
that I can reclaim from Kolbeinn’

To this she agreed and they sealed the arrangement with a
handshake. Puridur thought this was done out of love for her.
They also made provision for her to receive all of Sighvatur’s for-
mer authority if circumstances necessitated this. The witnesses
to this were Nikulas Oddsson, Teitur Styrmisson, Kolbeinn
gron, Hrafn Oddsson, and many others besides. This benevo-
lence endeared Pérdur to all the people, and everyone thought
he had acted nobly. Afterwards, Puridur Ormsdoéttir went to
Saudafell and remained there until the following year.

Pérour went to the Vestfirdir, but sent Ingjaldur Geirmundar-
son south to Borgarfjordur to ask Sturla Pérdarson, Bodvar, and
borleifur to fulfil the promises they had made him during the
summer at Ferjubakki, that is, that they would help him in his
lawsuit in court at the assembly.

When Ingjaldur met Porleifur and the brothers, they did not
hide the fact that they did not want to accompany Pérdur to the
assembly. Like many others they simply found it easier to offer
words promising aid to Pérdur than to act directly in enmity
towards Kolbeinn. After they excused themselves from this case
then Sturla said, as was true, that Pérdur and his men were not
numerous enough to ride to the assembly against the hordes
of Kolbeinn and the Southerners though he did acknowledge
that he wanted to assist Pérdur in such ways as he was able to.
Ingjaldur returned to Pérdur and told him how the matter stood.

During that same winter, Kolbeinn sent Einar dragi with
some other men north to Langanes to kill the sons of Blasius.
It transpired that the Eyfirdingar and other former friends of
Sighvatur found it difficult to bear the harsh measures of kill-
ing and theft imposed on them by Kolbeinn. Consequently, they
sent an offer to Pordur stating that they would support him if he
came north to join them with an army.
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Tuttugasti og sjoundi kafli

Eftir drap Tuma Sighvatssonar var Pordur mjog hugsjukur
vid pad er margir freendur hans og tengdamenn gengu undan
honum { lidsemdinni. Vissi hann pa eigi gjorla hvad til rads
skyldi taka. Gaf hann nut upp bustad & Myrum.

Hrafn Oddsson baud honum pa ad taka vio bui a Eyri. Pérour
pekktist pad og pakkadi honum med mérgum ordum sem adra
vinsamlega hluti pa er Hrafn veitti honum. Pad létu peir na
verda radio ad Pordur 1ét bua 6l hin steerri skip 1 Vestfjoroum
og par til fékk hann manna svo ad pau voru 6l alskipud.

Kom Teitur Styrmisson til méts vid hann tr Breidafirdi med
eitt skip. Par voru @ med honum Bardstrendingar og heimamenn
hans. Svarthofdi og Hrafn styrdu einu skipi og Arnfirdingar
med peim. Bardur af Séndum hafdi pad skip er Raudsidan hét.
Pad var mest af 6llum skipum Pérdar. Voru par Arnfirdingar og
Dyrfirdingar. Helgi Halldorsson og Ingjaldur Geirmundarson
styrou teineeringi einum. Bjarni Brandsson og Pall gris Kalfs-
son styrou pvi skipi er Trékyllir var kallad. Voru par med peim
Dyrfirdingar. Kolbeinn grén og Hékon galinn styrdu stadar-
ferju ur Holti. Voru par ¢ Onundfirdingar. Annad skip var ur
Onundarfirdi. Pad var teineeringur. bvi styrdi Sigurdur rabiti
Eyvindarson. Ur Isafirdi voru buin prja skip. Nikulas Oddsson
og Eyjolfur Eyjolfsson, Sigmundur Gunnarsson, peir styrou
Ognarbrandinum. Pad var mikil skuta. bar voru 4 Isfirdingar.
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Chapter Twenty-Seven

After the killing of Tumi Sighvatsson, Pérdur became racked
with concern that many of his kinsmen and friends were reti-
cent with their help. He hardly knew what to do. He now moved
out of his home at Myrar.

Hrafn Oddsson offered him management of the farm of
Hrafnseyri. Pordur accepted this and thanked him with many
words for this and Hrafn’s service to him, as he did for all his
friends who helped him. They now decided that Pérdur would
order all the larger ships in the Vestfirdir prepared and men re-
cruited for them so that they were fully manned.

Teitur Styrmisson came to him from Breidafjérour and
brought one ship, on which were the Bardstrendingar and his at-
tendants. Svarth6fdi and Hrafn captained another ship and with
them were the Arnfirdingar. Sanda-Bardur had a ship called
Raudsidan: it was the largest of Porour’s fleet and on board were
Arnfirdingar and Dyrfirdingar. Helgi Halldérsson and Ingjald-
ur Geirmundarson captained a ten-oared boat together. Bjarni
Brandsson and Pall gris Kalfsson commanded that ship which
was called Trékyllir. On there with them were the Dyrfirdingar.
Kolbeinn gron and Hakon galinn captained a church ferry from
Holt. On board were the Onundfirdingar.

There was another ship from Onundarfjordur: it was a ten-
oared boat and was commanded by Sigurdur rébiti Eyvindarson.
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Bérdur Hjorleifsson styrdi teineeringi einum. Odrum teineringi
styrdi Sigurdur vegglagur, norreenn madur. Ketill Gudmundar-
son og Almar Porkelsson styrdu pvi skipi er peir h6fou tekid af
Hornstrondum er Snaekollur hét. Par var a gestasveitin. Pérdur
kakali styrdi skutu einni mikilli. Par voru 4 heimamenn hans
og mannval er honum pétti knalegast. A hvert skip setti hann
heimamenn sina pd er hann trudi vel.
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Three ships from Isafjérdur were provisioned. Nikulas Oddsson,
Eyjolfur Eyjolfsson, and Sigmundur Gunnarsson commanded
Ognarbrandinur, which was a large cutter and manned by Is-
firdingar. Bardur Hjorleifsson commanded a ten-oared boat.
Another ten-oared boat was commanded by Sigurd vegglav, a
Norwegian man. Ketill Gudmundarson and Almar Porkelsson
commanded the ship that they had taken from Hornstrandir
and which was called Sneekollur. On board were the company
of Guests. Pordur kakali commanded a large ship. Onboard
there were his attendants and a select group of men comprised
of those who he thought pluckiest. On each ship he placed those
of his attendants which he trusted well.
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Tuttugasti og attundi kafli

En er pessi fimmtan skip voru buin hélt Pérdur peim nordur
yfir [safjardardjup og svo nordur til Hornstrandar. Par kom til
bérdar Ari freendi hans Ingimundarson. Hann var pa atjan vetra.

Adur Pérdur sigldi ur Vestfjordum sendi hann ord Sturlu
Pérdarsyni ad hann skyldi vera fyrirmadur til geslu sveitanna
vestur par ef nokkur 6fridur veeri ger af Nordlendingum.

En er Pérdur var 4 Hornstrond pd settust fyrir hann vedur
en par var engi byggd i ndand. Fengu menn pa dngar vistir og
var pad fimm deegur. Padan téku peir Pérdur rédrarleidi allt
tyrir Strandirnar. Forst pa heldur erfidlega par til er peir komu i
Trékyllisvik tveim néttum fyrir Jonsmessu baptista. Hin var pa
a fostudegi. Voru pa tekin strandhogg stor. Lagdi Pordur Jons-
messukveld 6llum skipunum ut undir Trékyllisey og 4tti par
stefnu vio li0 sitt.

Kom b4 Asgrimur Bergpérsson til Pérdar og sagdi honum
pé sogu ad Kolbeinn draegi 1id saman fyrir nordan Fléa og hefdi
fengio morg skip og atladi ad Pordi og halda hid ytra til mots
vid hann en sendi suman herinn vestur landveg. En pad kunni
hann eigi ad segja hvoru lidinu Kolbeinn mundi fylgja. Peim
Péroi potti sem petta mundi kvittur nokkur um liddrattinn Kol-
beins, sa er otralegur veeri, ella mundi pad eigi vera meira lid
en hid fyrra sumarid fér nordan til Isafjardar. Fér Asgrimur pa
heim.
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Chapter Twenty-Eight

When these fifteen ships were prepared, Pordur sailed them
north over Isafjardardjip and so north to Hornstrandir. Ari
Ingimundarson, Pérdur’s kinsman, came to meet him there. He
was then eighteen years old.

Before Pordur sailed from the Vestfirdir he sent word to
Sturla Pérdarson, instructing him to command defence forces
in the districts west of there if some warfare was brought there
by the Northerners.

While Pérdur was on Hornstrandir the wind was against him
and there was no settlement nearby. The men now had no pro-
visions for five days. From there, Pérdur and his men rowed all
the way along Strandir, continuing with much difficulty until
they came to Trékyllisvik two nights before the mass of John
the Baptist. That was on Friday. Now they raided along the coast
and requisitioned lots of livestock. On the night of the mass of
John the Baptist, Pordur laid all the ships out under Trékyllisey
and had a meeting there with his army.

Asgrimur Bergpérsson then came to Pérdur and told him
that he had heard that Kolbeinn had drawn together an army
north of Fl6i and got many ships and planned to meet Pérdur in
a pincer manoeuvre attacking from the north by sea and send-
ing some of the army west along the land route. However, he
was unable to say for lack of knowledge which route Kolbeinn
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Pérdur taladi pa langt erindi fyrir lidinu og minnti menn
4 harma sina og eggjadi i dkafa ad menn skyldu vera sem
hraustastir p6 ad i nokkura raun keemi. Sagdi hann ménnum og
deili 4 a0 menn skyldu allir leggja til einnar hafnar. Voru pegar
uppgongur tladar og ad fara med hernadi. Péttist hann og eiga
vonir lids ef hann keemi til Eyjafjardar. Hann hafdi eigi meira 1id
en niu tigi annars hundrads. Baru menn pa grjot 4 skip sin og
bjuggust til brautlogu. Reru peir Pérdur pd inn fyrir Reykjanes.
Austangola var innan a fléana svo ad ifellt var og sigldu peir
Pérdur pa nordur a Floa.
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would be journeying on himself. Pérdur and his men thought
this talk of Kolbeinn’s gathering of troops to be mere rumour,
which could not be relied upon, and even if it were true they did
not believe that the force could be any greater than that which
had journeyed from the north to Isafjérdur the previous sum-
mer. Afterwards, Asgrimur went home.

Pérdur now delivered a long speech to his troops, reminding
them of the hardship they had borne and keenly encouraging
them to be courageous and brave, even if danger arose. He also
told them that everyone should aim for the same harbour, and
immediately on arriving to make for the shore and begin harry-
ing there. Moreover, Pérdur hoped that his force would be aug-
mented if he made it to Eyjafjorour. He had no more than 210
troops. The people now filled the ships with stones and readied
themselves for departure. Pordur and his men then rowed out
past Reykjanes. An easterly wind blew out into Hunafléi such
that the wind billowed in their sails, and P6érdur and his men
sailed northwards into the bay.
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Tuttugasti og niundi kafli

Nt er ad segja fra Kolbeini. Pegar er voradi dré hann saman 6ll
storskip 1 Nordlendingafjérdungi. Pessi skip 1ét hann 6ll verda
saman dregin til Skagafjardar og bjést hann i hofn peirri er
Selvik heitir.

Sa atburdur vard pd er peir bjuggust Eyfirdingar undir Hris-
eyju 40ur peir héldu nordan til Skagafjardar skipunum, ad pd er
peir gengu 4 milli skipanna steyptist einn madur a kaf svo ad
hann kom aldrei upp sidan. Sa hét Jon og potti ménnum petta
ill furda.

En er skip pessi 61l voru buin og komin til Skagafjardar pa var
og komid 1id allt nordan um Oxnadalsheidi, pad sem von var.
Skipti Kolbeinn pd flokkunum i tvo stadi. Setti hann pa Brand
Kolbeinsson hofdingja fyrir annan flokkinn. Skyldi hann fara
med sitt 1i0 landveg vestur til fjarda. Hafdi hann tvé hundrud
manna.

En er Brandur kom vestur til Miofjardar fékk hann sanna
njosn af feroum Poérdar ad hann var kominn 4 Strandir og @etladi
a0 sigla nordur 4 Fléa. Hafdi Brandur pa setur i Midfirdi og
atladi ad bida par pess er hann spyrdi hvert Pordur sneri.

En er Sturla Pérdarson spurdi ad Brandur var kominn i
Midfj6rd med flokk og eetladi vestur 4 sveitir pa dré hann pegar
lio saman. Kom pa til 1lids vi0 hann Porgils B6dvarsson og
Vigtus Gunnsteinsson. Ridu peir pa nordur yfir Haukadalsskard
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Chapter Twenty-Nine

Now we must tell about Kolbeinn. When spring arrived, he
drew together all of the big ships in the Northern Quarter. All of
these ships he ordered to gather together in Skagafjérour and he
prepared in the harbor which is called Selvik.

It transpired when the Eyfirdingar settled under Hrisey be-
fore they sailed their ships north to Skagafjérdur that as men
went between the ships, one man stepped into the sea such that
he did not get back out of it again. That man was named Jén and
people thought that this was a bad omen.

Once all these ships were prepared and brought into Skaga-
fjordur, all the troops from north of Oxnadalsheidi arrived, as
was expected. Kolbeinn now divided the army into two compa-
nies. He set Brandur as commander over the other half of the
army. Brandur was to go with his force via the land route to the
Vestfirdir. He had two hundred men. When Brandur came west
to Miofjordur he got reliable intelligence

[Here there is a lacuna in Kréksfiardarbok and the copies of
Reykjarfiardarbok are mostly followed]

about bordur’s journey, that he had come to Strandir and intend-
ed to sail north into Hunafl6i. Brandur remained in Midfjérdur

201



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

og ho6fou neer tvé hundrud manna. Toku peir pa afanga fyrir
nordan skardid. Komu pd aftur njéosnarmenn peirra Sturlu og
segja a0 Brandur var i Midfirdi og for heldur évarlega. Eggjadi
borgils pa ad peir skyldu rida ad peim skoérulega. En Vigfus
svarar svo a0 hann vildi veita Sturlu til pess ad verja hérad med
honum en fara kvedst hann mundu hvergi 4 sveitir annarra
manna med 6fridi. Téludu peir um petta langa hrid og urdu eigi
asattir. Porgils segir ad hann vildi ad peir ridu nordur 4 pa Brand
sem hvatast og vefoust eigi lengi i pessu radi. Sturla segir ad hann
vildi gjarnan ad peir héldu nordur 4 ef engir vildu undan skerast
fyrirmennirnir, segir p4 mundi litid verda efni par til atreiar er
eigi yrou allir 4 einu radi er fyrirmenn skyldu heita. Gekk Vigfus
pa ar pessu mali og reid i burt med sina menn. Dreifdist pa allur
safnadurinn peirra Sturlu. P4 reid Sturla vestur til Dala.

En er peir Brandur spurdu lidsafnad peirra Sturlu pa brugdu
peir 6llum setunum og ridu nordur til Skagafjardar og vildi
hann fa 1i0 meira.
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and intended to wait there until he discovered where Pérdur
turned.

When Sturla Pérdarson learned that Brandur had arrived in
Midfjérour with a company of troops and was heading towards
the western districts, he immediately drew together men. Por-
gils Bodvarsson and Vigfis Gunnsteinsson came to help him.

They rode north over Haukadalsskard and had around 240
men. They waited north of the pass. Then the scouts sent by
Sturla and the others returned and said that Brandur was in
Midfjorour and was not travelling very carefully. Porgils now
advocated that they ride at Brandur and his men boldly. Howev-
er, Vigfus responded by saying that he wanted to help Sturla de-
fend the region but would not go into other men’s districts with
hostile intent. They argued about this for a long while but were
not able to come to an agreement. Porgils said that he wanted
them to ride at Brandur and his men as fast as they could and
cease dithering any longer with this council. Sturla said that he
would prefer it if they headed north only if none of they leaders
wished to turn back, saying also that they would not be strong
enough unless all of they leaders agreed on one course of action.
Vigftis now withdrew from the conversation and rode away with
his men. Next, all Sturla’s and Porgils’ troops dispersed. After
this, Sturla rode west to Dalir.

As soon as Brandur learned of the troop raising of Sturla and
the others then Brandur and his men broke up their whole en-
campment and rode north to Skagafjordur because he wanted to
expand the number of men in his army.
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Pritugasti kafli

P4 er Kolbeinn var buinn til burtlogu pa vard pad til tidinda
a0 menn komu til hans sunnan um land og segja honum pau
tidindi ad Gissur Porvaldsson var ut kominn sudur a Eyrum
og stefndi fund vid Kolbein. En Kolbeinn segir ad hann var pa
buinn til ferdar peirrar er hann vildi fyrir engan mun bregda.

Pad var Jonsmessudag sjilfan ad Kolbeinn sigldi ut fyrir
Skaga og svo vestur a Floa. Hafdi hann pa tuttugu skip og neer
ellefu tigum hins fjérda hundrads manna. Kolbeinn sjalfur
styrdi pvi skipi er neer var haffeeranda og var prennum bitum
ttbitad. Par var og kastali 4 vid siglu. Odru skipi styrdi Asbjorn
Mlugason. Sokku-Gudmundur styrdi mikilli ferju. Ketill Gnuaps-
son og peir Grimseyingar h6fou enn mikid skip. Hjalti Helga-
son Ur Leirhofn styrdi mikilli ferju. Hrani Kodransson var enn
skipstjornarmadur. Einar dragi styrdi enn einu skipi. Ottar
snoppulangur hafdi ferju. Viga-Butur styrdi mikilli ferju. En pé
vér teljum eigi alla skipstjornarmenn nordan pa hafdi Kolbeinn
marga hina roskustu menn setta 4 hvert skip. Matti svo ad kveda
a0 oll skip Kolbeins veeru alskjoldud framan vio siglu. H6fou
engir menn sé0 & voru landi pvilikan herbtinad 4 skipum. Sigldi
Kolbeinn svo ttleid vestur a Fléa og @tladi eigi fyrr vid land ad
koma en fyrir vestan Horn.

N er frd pvi ad segja ad Pordur sigldi vestan a Floa. Og er
peir voru komnir 4 midjan fléann pa meelti madur 4 skipi Ketils
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Chapter Thirty

Once Kolbeinn was ready to leave, it so happened that messen-
gers had arrived from the south. They told Kolbeinn that Gissur
had returned via Eyrar and wanted to arrange a meeting with
him. However, Kolbeinn responded by saying that he was now
prepared for an expedition that he would not be deterred from
going on.

On the mass day of Bishop Jon itself, Kolbeinn sailed out
from Skagi and so west into Hunafl6i. He had twenty ships and
nearly 470 men. Kolbeinn himself captained the ship which was
almost fit for crossing the ocean and was divided into three parts
by cross-beams. There was also a castle on it by the sail. Another
ship was captained by Asbjérn Illugason. Sékku-Gudmundur
captained a large ferry. Ketill Gnupsson and the Grimseyingar
had another large ship. Hjalti Helgason of Leirhéfn captained a
large ferry. Hrani Kodransson was another captain. Einar dragi
captained yet another ship. Ottar snoppulangur had a ferry.
Viga-Butur captained a large ferry. Even though we shall not
enumerate all of the captains from the north, Kolbeinn nev-
ertheless had many of the boldest men placed on each ship. It
could be said that all of Kolbeinn’s ships had shields arrayed all
the way from the bow to the sail. Men had never before in our
land seen such preparation for warfare on ships. Kolbeinn now
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Guomundarsonar er Porgeir hét og var kalladur krdnusylgja,
hann leit til hafs Gt og spurdi hvort selar leegju 4 isinum. Og er
fleiri menn sja petta segja peir ad par sigldu skip Kolbeins. Voru
pa felld seglin.

Téku menn pd radagerdir. Maltu flestir ad pa skyldi pegar
réa ut ad peim pvi ad pa féll vedriod i logn. En sumum poétti pad
ofeert fyrir pa sok ad allir sau ad mikill mundi lidsmunur vera.

Var pad pa rad vitra manna ad heita nokkuru. ba hét Porour
4 gud almattkan og heilaga Mariu médur guds og hinn helga
Olaf konung til d&rnadarords. Var pvi heitid ad allir menn peir er
par voru med Pordi skyldu vatna allar fostunaetur innan peirra
tolf manada og fasta laugardaga alla til vetrar fram og lata kaupa
tolf manada tidir fyrir sal Haralds konungs Sigurdarsonar. ba
var fest heitid med handtaki.

Eftir pad bad Pordur menn buast til rédrar. Var pa pegar
skipad hversu skipunum skyldi framan leggja. Var pa tekinn
rédur 1t eftir Floa til méts vid pa pegar er peir voru bunir.

En er Kolbeins menn sdu ad skip Pordar reru innan 4 fléann
pé leegdu peir seglin og 16gdu skipin saman i tengsl. Var pad neer
Skaga en Horni. En pad var { pann tima deegra er sél var skammt
farin um morguninn.

Kolbeinn lag0i skip sitt mjog i midjan flotann. Skip Sokku-
Gudmundar 14 neest Skaga en skip Asbjarnar Illugasonar 14
annan arminn nast Horni. Sneru peir Kolbeinn framstéfnum
aland inn.

En er Pérour kom i skotmal vid skip Kolbeins bad hann pa
leggja sin skip i tengsl og greida atr6dur.

Var svo skipad ad Ognarbrandurinn er Nikulds Oddsson
styrdi var nestur Horni { méti skipi Asbjarnar Illugasonar en
par naest lagdi Pordur sinu skipi. En pa var skip Helga Hallddrs-
sonar, pa var skip Teits Styrmissonar. En i annan arminn mots
vid skip Sokku-Gudmundar var skip Sanda-Bardar. En par i
milli 16gdu menn fram skipum sinum sem drengskap h6fou til.

Eftir petta gekk Pordur i framstafn 4 skipi sinu. Og er hlj6d
tékkst pa taladi hann og baud Eyfirdingum og 6llum ménnum
fyrir nordan Oxnadalsheidi grid.
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sailed outbound west to Hunafl6i and intended not to make
shore before making it west past Horn.

Now we must tell that Pérdur sailed from the west into
Hunafl6i. When they arrived at the middle of the bay then a
man named Porgeir krunusylgja on Ketill Gudmundarson’s ship
said that he was looking out to sea to discover whether seals
were lying on the ice. When many others saw what he was look-
ing at, they responded that it was Kolbeinn’s ship. Then they
dropped the sail.

Men then began to make plans. Most said that they should
immediately row out to them because there was now no wind.
However, some thought that to be an unwise course of action
because they looked and all saw how great the difference in
forces would be.

Next, the more intelligent men advised that they make some
sort of promise. Pérdur then called upon the Holy Mary, mother
of God, and Saint-King Olaf for assistance. It was vowed by all
the men who were with Pérour that they would fast on water
every Friday night for the next twelve months and do the same
fast all day on every Saturday until winter began and pay for
twelve months of services for the soul of King Harald Sigurds-
son. This pledge was then fastened with a handshake.

After that, Pordur ordered his men to prepare to row, and
they then organised the positions of the ships in the fleet. When
this was accomplished, they began to row out across Hunafléi.

As soon as Kolbeinn’s men saw that Pérdur’s ship was row-
ing into the bay, they dropped their sails and tied their ships
together. That was near Skagi and Horn. This was at the time of
day in the morning when the sun had only recently risen.

Kolbeinn positioned his ship in the middle of his fleet. Sakka-
Gudmundur’s ship lay nearest to Skagi, and Asbjorn Illugason’s
ship was positioned on the opposite wing next to Horn. Kol-
beinnss fleet turned their fore-stems towards land.

When Pérdur made it within throwing distance of Kolbeinn’s
ships, he ordered his men to tie the ships together and prepare
to row.
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En er Kolbeins menn heyrdu hversu horfdi talio pa potti
peim eigi 6rveent ad nokkud mundu digna hugir manna peirra
sumra er freendur sina h6fdu 1atid & Orlygsstodum og pa voru
enn Obaettir.

P4 svarar einn af Kolbeins ménnum, bad dvininn pegja og
kvad aldrei seettast skyldu: Muntu fara slika for sem Tumi brodir
pinn for i vor 4 Hélum og pvi verri sem pu feerir pig sjalfur til
beinalagsins.

Eftir pad aptu hvorirtveggju herdp og tokst pa bardaginn og
var fyrst vakinn af Kolbeins ménnum med skotum og grjotkasti
og var pad hord hrid adur skipin komu saman og hvorir komu
stafnljam & skip annarra.
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The ships were arrayed such that the Ognarbrandur which
Nikulds Oddsson captained was next to Horn opposite the
ship of Asbjérn Illugason and next to it was Pordur’s own ship.
And next along was Helgi Halldérssons ship and then the
ship of Teitur Styrmisson. On the opposite arm, facing Sakka-
Gudmundur’s vessel was Sanda-Bardur’s ship. And in between
men arranged their ships according to how much courage they
had.

After this Pordur went to the fore-stem of his ship. Once he
got within hearing distance, he spoke and offered the Eyfirdingar
and all the men from north of Oxnadalsheidi mercy. As soon as
Kolbeinn’s men heard what Pérdur had said they thought that
some of the men would be turned against them, particularly
those who had lost their kinsmen at Orlygsstadir and who had
not yet avenged them.

Next one of Kolbeinn's men responded, telling the enemy
they should shut up and stating that they would never settle, for
‘today will go for you, Pérdur, as it went for your brother Tumi at
Holar in the spring, though your death will be worse for it shall
be as a result of your own misadventure’

Now both sides rose war cries and the battle began. The first
action was a volley of shots and stones cast by Kolbeinn’s men
and it was a hard while before the ships came together and grap-
pling hooks were thrown between the two sides.
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Pritugasti og fyrsti kafli

Tekst nt hardur bardagi og i fyrstu med grjoti og skotum. Skutu
menn Pérdar svo hart ad peir Kolbeinn fengu eigi annad gert
en hlifa sér um hrid. Halladist p4 bardaginn 4 Nordlendinga.
Kom pad mest tveggja hluta vegna, ad Kolbeins menn héfou
grjot eigi meira en litid 4 tveim skipum en Pérdar menn héfou
hladid hvert skip af grjoti, hinn annar ad a skipum Kolbeins
voru fair einir menn peir er nokkud kunnu ad gera 4 skipum,
pad er peim veeri gagn ad, en & Pordar skipum var hver madur
60rum keenni. Nu ma pad skilja ad med pvilikum atburdum ma
sigurinn skipast med audnu milli hofdingjanna. En eigi olli pad
a0 eigi hefdu hvorirtveggju mart hid besta mannval. En adur
grjothridinni var lokid pa hrukku Kolbeins menn flestir allir 4
sinum skipum aftur um siglu. Eggjadi Porour pa fast sina menn
a0 peir skyldu greida uppgongur. Eyjolfur Eyjolfsson og Nikulas
Oddsson og Sigmundur Gunnarsson gengu fyrstir manna upp
a skip Kolbeins. En er Kolbeinn og hans menn sau pad pd hertu
beir ad peim og baru pa alla fyrir bord & spjétum. Voru peir pa
dregnir af sundi upp a skip sin. Eftir pad tok bardaginn ad fest-
ast og var pa dkaflega barist og mest um stafna er feettist grjotio.
Tokst pa mannfall megnt og halladist pad mest i 1id Kolbeins.
Gekk og engi jafndjarflega fram af Pérdar ménnum sem hann
sjalfur svo sem segir Ingjaldur Geirmundarson i Atloguflokki
peim er hann orti um bardagann 4 Fléa. Nt er petta pvi merki-
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Chapter Thirty-One

Now a hard battle commenced, beginning with an exchange of
stones and shots. Pordur and his men put down such a barrage
that Kolbeinn and his men were unable to do anything but seek
cover for themselves for a long time. The Northerners began
losing the battle due to two contributory factors. The first was
the lack of stones on all but two of the ships in Kolbeinn’s navy,
whereas Pérdur’s men had filled all their ships with rocks. The
second was the fact that, among Kolbeinns men, only a few
were skilled sailors. It is clear that factors such as these can
grant victory in battle between chieftains if luck is on one’s side.
However, we must dispel with the notion that this was because
the two sides were unequally matched in the quality of their
men. Before the barrage of stones ceased, Kolbeinn’s men had
all fled behind the masts of their ships. Pordur then urged his
men to board. Eyjolfur Eyjolfsson, Nikulds Oddsson, and Sig-
mundur Gunnarsson were the first to set foot onto Kolbeinn’s
ship. On seeing this, Kolbeinn and his men thrust at them with
their spears and drove them all overboard, so that they had
to be pulled from the sea back into their ships. Now hand-to-
hand combat began — vigorous and deadly fighting—as the
stockpiles of stones were now depleted. The death toll was high,
especially among Kolbeinn’s men. Among Pérdur’s men no man
demonstrated more gallantry than he did himself, as Ingjaldur
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legt ad Ingjaldur var par i bardaganum og orti petta kvaedi pegar
um veturinn eftir:

Péror 60 i styr stridum,
strengs kom hagl a drengi,
endr rifu imunvindar
Yggjar tjold, fyrir skjoldu.
Gunnmana vann grenna
galdrs-Freyr Sigars tjalda.
Ormr raudst { val vormum,

vigskod drifin bl6di.

Rit vard raud ad meeta,
rudust spjot, valgrjoti.

Gustr knudist mjog Mistar.
Mein fékk her af steinum.
Steerdist hjaldr, en hurdir
Hars reiddust, skip meiddust,
bukr féll 4 val vika,
vopnaddéms, ad romu.

betta enn:

Péror vann flest, par er fyrdar,
fleinhregg, brutu eggjar.
Framr gat sonr ad semja
Sighvats dunur vigra.
Ognrokkum fr4 eg ekki
allsnart 1 styr hjarta,

par er hraut 4 sja sveiti,
sverdalfi mjog skjalfa.

Taka nt skipin ad leggja sem naest hvert 60ru til hdggorustunnar.
Tokst peim Kolbeini dgreitt atlagan svo ad eigi komst fram pad
hid mikla skipio er sjalfur hann var 4 og enn fleiri hin steerri
skipin peirra og vard pvi a bugur nokkur a fylkingu peirra og
halladist i pessari svipan bardaginn 1 1id Kolbeins.
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Geirmundarson says in Atloguflokkur, which he composed
about the Battle of Hunafléi. Now this poem is noteworthy
because Ingjaldur participated in the battle and composed it the
winter after.

Pérdur joined the hard battle

in front of the shields,

arrows hailed on the combatants,
before fierce assaults broke apart.

The warrior split shields

in the shield-song,

his spear reddened in the heat of battle,
weapons were dripping with blood.

Red shields came up to meet

casted rocks and spears were bloodied.
Battle was enjoined with gusto.

The stones hurt the warriors.

The din of battle increased

and shield were held aloft in the battle.
Ships became damaged

and corpses fell on their decks.

It continues:

bérdur fought for most of the battle
where men clashed swords.

The famous son of Sighvatur

caused the battle to be waged.

I have heard that

the stout-hearted warrior felt

no fear in his heart during the battle
where blood fell into the sea.

The ships now lay as near as they needed to be for close-quarters

combat to take place. Kolbeinn and his forces began to arrange
their ships for battle, though this was done in a disorderly fash-
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Hann hafdi sig lengstum litt vid orustuna um daginn. Baru til
bess tveir hlutir, sa annar ad hann péttist hafa lidskost gndégan
en sa annar ad hann var heill litt og po6tti honum sér varla hent
a0 ganga i storerfidi. En allir menn vissu ad Kolbeinn var hinn
freeknasti madur og hofudkempa til vopna sinna. St60 hann vio
siglu 4 kastalanum og skipadi padan til atlogu.

En er hann sa ad eigi var vist ad svo btid hlyddi pa hét hann
a sina menn og bidur suma ganga af sinu skipi og 4 pau skipin er
14 vid ad hrodin mundu verda. En Hjalti Helgason tr Leirhéfn
bad hann leggja sitt skip & skut skipi Pérdar. Og enn hét hann &
fleiri skipstjornarmenn ad leggja skyldu 4 skut vestanménnum
og gera hring ad peim. Er pad og eigi medalskomm, segir hann,
ef peir skulu vinna ydur med peim hinum smam og hinum fam
skipum er peir hafa méti peim mikla skipaafla er vér hofum ad
dregid.

Leysa peir nu skipin dr tengslum og fara svo ad sem Kol-
beinn hafdi fyrir sagt. En nu var adur svo komid orustunni ad
peir menn af 1idi Pérdar sem freeknastir voru h6fdu pa greiddar
uppgongur en sumir setludu pa ad ganga upp a skip peirra Kol-
beins.

Og hér urdu nt margir hlutir jafnsnemma, peir er mikillar
frasagnar eru verdir en nu verdur p6 um einhverja fyrst a0 tala.

Verdur pessi hrid mjog skadsom i lidi Kolbeins adur en hid
snarpasta mannvalid Kolbeins kom peim P6rdi { opna skjoldu
en beir Pordur hofou eydd aftan skip sin mjog og var allur
porri mannanna kominn fram um siglu. Og pa er kall kom 4
skip Pordar ad tveggja vegna veeri ad peim so6tt urdu peir pa vio
hvorutveggja ad sja. Gekk pa Pordur aftur 4 skip sitt og svo gerdu
nd margir hans menn. En Pérdur hafdi litid deildarlid. Eggjar
hann pa ad peir reekju af sér pa fyrst hina 6parflegu bakhjarla er
ba voru bunir peim til 6haglegra théggva. Bad Pordur pa pegar
a0 peir gengju upp a skip Hjalta. Vard par litil viotaka adur
uppgongur tokust. Gekk sa madur fyrst upp er Aron hét og var
sonur Halldérs Ragnheidarsonar, par neest Pordur sjalfur. Lagdi
Pérour til Hjalta { gegnum brynjuna og sjalfan hann og nisti
hann svo daudan 1t vid bordinu. Ruddist pad skip svo vandlega
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ion so that the large ship which he himself was on and many of
the other larger ships did not make it to the front. Kolbeinn’s
formation was somewhat bent. It was at this moment that the
tide of battle turned against Kolbeinn’s forces.

He played little part in the actual fighting for most of the day.
This was due to two reasons. The first is that he thought he could
rely on his subordinates. The second was that he was not in good
health and thought he would hardly be capable of any great ex-
ertion. But all people knew that Kolbeinn was an exceedingly
brave man and a military genius. He stood by the sail on the
castle and commanded the attack from there.

When Kolbeinn saw that matters were obviously not going in
his favour, he called out to his men and ordered them to move
from their ships and into those which were nearly empty of
men. He commanded Hjalti Helgason of Leirhéfn to position
his ship against the stern of Pérdur’s ship. Next, he ordered the
same of the other captains, that they should position themselves
at the sterns of the westerners and make a ring around them. ‘Tt
is shametful that they are able to overcome you with such small
and few ships as they have against such a great fleet as we have
brought together; Kolbeinn said.

They now loosed their ships from their bindings and did as
Kolbeinn had ordered them to. This was at the point in the bat-
tle when the bravest among Pérdur’s forces were boarding the
ships of Kolbeinn and his men, while the others were preparing
to do the same.

Now, many things happened concurrently, all of which are
most saga-worthy, but can only be related one at a time.

The battle had proved incredibly destructive to Kolbeinn’s
forces, before the bravest of Kolbeinn’s men caught Pérdur
off his guard and forced all his men to vacate the sterns and
flee beyond the sails to the bows of their ships. Then the call
came to Porour’s ship that a second front had opened up and
some turned to meet those attacking from the rear. Pérdur now
returned to his own ship and the vast proportion of his men did
also. However, Pérour had only a small reserve of men. Thus, he
urged his men firstly to force back their incompetent foes who
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a0 nalega var hver madur drepinn eda fyrir bord rekinn. Vard og
fam einum af sundi hélpid.

En medan Pordur hafdi petta ad starfa pa hofou Kolbeins
menn komid stafnljam 4 skip hans og dregid pad fram milli
skipa sinna. Féllu peir par Ann Askelsson og Snorri Loftsson
og Steindlfur Porbjarnarson i stafni a skipi Pordar og vildi engi
beirra flyja. Fj6rdi madur féll par, Klemet, og seerdu hann baedi
Kolbeins menn og bérdar menn. En allir adrir flyou a pau skip er
naest lagu. Tokust pa hlaup mikil milli skipanna. En er Kolbeins
menn gengu upp a skip Pérdar pa gerdist peim avinnt er neestir
lagu. En i penna tima hofou peir Kolbeinn gron og Teitur Styr-
misson og margir menn greiddar uppgongur 4 skip Kolbeins
unga. Og er til komu heimamenn Kolbeins peir er hann sendi til
af sinu skipi pa voru peir Teitur og Kolbeinn bornir ofurlidi og
reknir fyrir bord og komust naudulega aftur til sinna manna. Og
var pa bardagi hinn akafasti og komu Kolbeins menn stafnljam
a skip Teits og drogu fram 4 millum sinna skipa. Og i peirri hrid
voru serdir peir Teitur og Asgrimur baulufétur og allur porri
manna a pvi skipi flydi. Hljop Teitur pa 4 skip Kolbeins Dufgus-
sonar. Vard pad svo hladid og prongt ad inn féll um héreidarnar
og soxin. Hljop pa meginporri & skip Sanda-Bardar.

Tok nt bardaginn ad losna og hljopu menn n titt { millum
skipanna. En er Pordur atladi aftur a sitt skip pa sa hann ad
skipid var autt af hans ménnum en hann hafdi pa eigi lioskost
til ad seekja pad. Gekk hann pa 4 skip Svarthofda og dvaldist
par um hrid. En pa er hann sd ad peir Nikulds Oddsson og Eyj-
olfur Eyjolfsson og 6ll peirra sveit var hrokkin aftur um siglu
& Ognarbrandinum og par var p4 buid til uppgongu. Hljop
hann pa upp a skipid til peirra og eggjar akaflega ad peir skyldu
herda sig. Hleypur hann pa fyrstur allra manna fram i stafn og
hefir skjold yfir hofoi sér en sverd i annarri hendi. Fylgja peir
honum pa alldjarflega og verdur na hid snarpasta él og verda na
hvorirtveggju sarir. H6fou Kolbeins menn adur komid akkeri 1
stafninn a pvi skipinu. Gengu peir Pérdur pa svo skorulega fram
a0 1 pessu slagi komu peir af sér akkerinu.
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were attacking them from the rear and making ready to take them
from behind. P6rdur now commanded his men to immediately
board Hjalti’s ship. There was only a little resistance before their
assault broke through. The man who was named Aron (the son
of Halldér Ragnheidarson) went up onto Hjalti’s ship first, and
next bordur himself. Pérdur struck at Hjalti and pierced both
byrnie and flesh. Thus, Pérdur stabbed him to death and pushed
him overboard. That ship was nearly completely cleared because
almost everyone aboard had been killed or driven overboard.
Only a few were helped out of the sea.

While Pérdur was occupying himself with this, Kolbeinn’s
men had landed a grappling hook on his ship and dragged it
forward into the midst of their ships. There fell Ann Askelsson,
Snorri Loftsson, and Steindlfur Porbjarnarson at the stern of
bérour’s ship as they refused to flee. A fourth man fell there,
Klemet, wounded by both Kolbeinn’s and P6rdur’s men. All the
others fled onto the ship which lay nearest. Then much leap-
ing between ships began. When Kolbeinn's men went up onto
bérour’s ship, those who lay nearest to them began to give way.
At the same time, Kolbeinn gron, Teitur Styrmisson, and many
other men crowded aboard Kolbeinn ungi’s ship. Once those of
Kolbeinn’s attendants which he had sent for arrived from their
boats, Teitur and Kolbeinn were overcome by the overwhelming
force and driven overboard and narrowly made it back to their
own men. At that time the battle had reached its climax and Kol-
beinn’s men landed a grappling hook on Teitur’s ship and drew it
forward into the midst of their ships. In that fighting Teitur and
Asgrimur baulufétur were wounded and most of the men on
the ship fled. Then Teitur leapt onto Kolbeinn Dufgusson’s ship.
It became so overloaded and heavy that the bow and rowlocks
sunk beneath the surface of the sea. Most of the men then leapt
onto Sanda-Bérdur’s ship.

Now the battle began to loosen, and men leapt now to pass
news between ships. When Pérdur intended to return to his
ship, he saw that the ship had been abandoned by his men and
he had no crew with which to salvage it. He now went onto
Svarthofoi’s ship and remained there for a while. When he saw
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Og pba kenna peir nordanmennirnir Pérd. Eggjar pa hver
annan ad hann skyldi pa eigi undan komast er hann var svo
mjog kominn i greipur peim.

Pérdur svaradi: Rétt kennid pér, sagdi hann, og saekid nd ad
fast fyrir pvi ad sannlega skal your 6ragur reynast i dag fyrir-
madurinn Vestfirdinga. Segir mér og svo hugur um ad aldregi
sidan munud pér i jafnveent efni vid mig leggja.

Knyjast peir nt ad fast nordanmennirnir. Drifur na og
pangad til af 60rum skipunum Pérdar f6lkid pad er fracknast
var. Lauk svo pessari hrid ad engi var dsar peirra manna er fram
hofou gengid med Pordi. Finna peir pa eigi fyrr, er aftur voru &
skipinu, en vaxa tok austurinn. Bad pa Sigmundur Gunnarsson
a0 ausa skyldi.

Eftir sokn pessa losnadi heldur bardaginn vidast 4 skipunum.
Toku nu teinaeringarnir allir ad hoggva sig r tengslum nema
peir Helgi Halldérsson. Flydi Jén Alftmyringur fyrst manna
og nokkuru sidar Bardur Hjorleifsson, par neest Sigurdur
vegglagur. Pa kalladi Svarth6foi 4 Sigurd og bad hann ad leggja.
Hann gerdi svo. Gekk pa Svarthofdi par 4 skip og Hrafn snati
og nokkurir menn adrir. Svarthofdi bad og Hrafn mag sinn fara
med sér. Hrafn spurdi hvad hann vissi til Pérdar. Hann kvedst
ekki til hans vita.

Hrafn bad hann p4 fara sem honum likadi en hér er na Ottar
snoppulangur brédurbani pinn.

Svarthofoi kvedst ekki pad hirda, sagdi ad unninn mundi sa
sigurinn ad sinni er audid var. Hafoi Svartho6foi pa fengid stor
sar og vissi Hrafn pad eigi. Reru peir Svarthofdi pa fra og til
lands.

En er Teitur var af stokkinn skipi sinu pa gengu Kolbeins
menn par upp. Var pa 6dur vopnaburdur a skipinu Kolbeins
Dufgussonar svo a0 menn héldust eigi vid. Flydu menn pa svo
gjorsamlega af pvi skipi ad Kolbeinn st6d einn eftir. Toku pa
menn hans og drégu hann 6fgan milli skipanna til sin og i pvi
tékk hann fjogur sar, prju i leerid og voru tvo i gegnum leerid en
eitt { ilina nedan og skar ut i klaufina vid pumaltdna og vard pad
sar mikid.
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that Nikulds Oddsson, Eyjolfur Eyjdlfsson, and all their com-
pany had fallen back behind the sail on the Ognarbrandur and
were preparing to board from there, he leapt up onto their ship
to them and urged them to be courageous. Next he ran first of all
the men forward to the bow with his shield over his head and a
sword in his other hand. Now the rest followed him dauntlessly
and the most violent struggle began and there were wounded on
both sides. Kolbeinn’s men had earlier anchored their ship at the
stern. Pérdur and his men now went forward with such bold-
ness that in this struggle they got rid of this anchor.

Then the northerners recognised Pérdur. They now urged
each other that they should not allow him to escape,

[Here the text of Kréksfjaroarbok begins anew)

as he was almost within their grasp.

Pérdur replied: “You now understand and attack frantically
because you have experienced the truth today that the leader of
the Vestfirdingar is no coward. I also declare to you my view that
you will never have such fair odds the next time we fight!

The Northerners continued to struggle on steadfastly. The
most valiant of Pérdur’s men now arrived there from other
ships. This fight ended such that none of those men who had
attacked with Pérour were unwounded. Those who were at the
back of the ship now discovered that the water level was rising.
Sigmundur Gunnarsson now ordered people to start bailing.

After this assault, the battle somewhat loosened in most
places on the ships. Men on all the ten-oared boats now began
cutting their bonds except for Helgi Halldérsson and his men.
Jon Alftmyringr was the first man to flee, and a little later Bardur
Hjorleifsson did the same, and then Sigurd vegglav next. Then
Svarthofoi called to Sigurd and told him to wait. He did so.
Svarthof0i, Hrafn snati, and some other man then went onto the
ship. Svarthofdi asked Hrafn, his brother-in-law, to come and
join him. Hrafn asked him what he knew of Pérour. He said he
knew nothing of him.

219



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

Peir Ketill Gudmundarson og Almar Porkelsson 16gdu all-
djarflega fram svo Bjarni Brandsson og Pall gris héldust einir
best vid. En fralagan tokst peim giftusamlega. Sanda-Bardur
hafdi skip bordmest og lagdi vel fram. Sétti pangad flest mann-
anna er helst potti hléid. Fundu peir Bardur og hans félagar
eigi fyrr en skipid var svo hladid ad vid pvi var btiid ad sokkva
mundi undir peim. Var i pessari svipan allri saman mest st
orustan ad kastad var handséxum og boléxum { milli skipanna,
skotid selskutlum og hvaljarnum og barid 6llu pvi er til fékkst,
baedi beitidsum og drahlummum.

Var pd beedi ad flestir menn voru nokkvad tannsarir, tok pa
og flestum heldur ad leidast hoggorustan og leitudu flestir menn
sér ad hafa heldur heettuminna, pess er peir verdu sig vel fryju.

En 4 pvi skipinu er peir Pérdur voru a staddir pa urdu menn
par a0 standa i austri og var vi0 sjalft ad eigi mundi varid verda.
Finna peir nt a0 skipid var meitt nedan. Bidja peir Sigmundur
og Nikulds ad hafa { drarnar og leggja fra. En er Pérdur vard
bessa var pa bad hann pd eigi verda ad undri og flyja pegar
bardagann. beir s6gdu ad sum skipin voru fldin en petta skip er
nalega meitt til ofeers.

En 61l 6nnur skip sogou peir buin ad flyja og fra ad leggja. En
Pérdur tradi eigi fyrr en hann gekk sjalfur til ad sja austurinn.
En peir létu medan siga skipid 4 homlu og snta pvi naest.

En pegar er lid0 Pérdar sa af 6drum skipum ad hann lagdi fra
ba hét hver skipstjornarmadur 4 sina lidsmenn ad leysa sig ur
flotanum og flyr na hvert skipid sem skjotast verdur buid.

Hér um kvad Ingjaldur:

Mundi sist 4 sundi
svipknyjandi flyja

hildar gards fra hérou
hretvidri geirfletja

ef, hjaldrreitar, hoti
hlunnfaks sumir runnar,
gunnlatrs rudu Gautar
gleedr, fastara steedu.
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Hrafn asked him to go where he pleased, ‘though here now is
Ottar snoppulangr, the killer of your brother.

Svarthofoi replied that it did not matter, saying that he would
deal with it when the victory was fated for them. Svarthofoi
had received a large wound, though Hrafn did not know this.
Svarthofdi and the others then rowed away to the mainland.

After Teitur had leapt away from his ship, Kolbeinn’s men
boarded it. There was now a frantic bearing of weapons on
Kolbeinn Dufgusson’s ship such that men did not stand their
ground. Now everyone fled from that ship leaving Kolbeinn
standing alone after. Then his men grabbed and dragged him
awkwardly between the ships to them and from that he got
four wounds, three to the thigh (of these two went through the
thigh), and one to the sole of his foot which cut through to the
cleft next to the big toe and was a great wound.

Ketill Gudmundarson and Almar Porkelsson pushed for-
ward with great bravery, as did Bjarni Brandsson and Pall gris,
holding on as best they could. Luckily for them, the retreat be-
gan. Sanda-Bardur had the highest rising ship and had lain it
well forward. Most of the men sought it out who considered it
their preferred place of shelter. Bardur and his fellows did not
discover before the fact that the ship was overloaded and about
to sink beneath the waves. At this moment the battle for the
most part involved the casting of daggers and poleaxes between
ships, the throwing of harpoons for catching seals and whales,
and the bearing of all that which was to hand was, even tacking
booms and oar handles.

For the majority it was like pulling teeth, and most were be-
ginning to get somewhat fatigued from the hand-to-hand com-
bat. Thus, the larger part of the men began to seek out a degree
of safety for themselves in such a way that they remained well
clear of any questions concerning their honour.

On the ship on which Pérdur and the others were stood men
were still bailing water but it was inevitable that they would not
be able to continue. They now discovered that the ship was dam-
aged underneath. Sigmundur and Nikulas asked to use the oars
and set off. And when Pérdur became aware of this he ordered
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Hér segir Ingjaldur og pad hversu moérg skip hrudust af Kolbeini
i pessum bardaga:

Hraud, par er hermenn kniou,
hlutvandr, dunur randa,

menn vissu pad, prenna

Péror hlaupmari borda.

Ly0 fra eg lif vid dauda

lioveljanda selja,

en lands pess er grid greindust,

galt Leirhafnar-Hjalti.

Og enn segir Ingjaldur fra lidsmun:

Ims hafdi 1id ljoma
leikherdandi verdar,

rudust mél 1 styr stala
stinn, tveim hlutum minna.
Par fra eg Pundar skyja
pingeggjanda leggja
Gunnar seims fra glaumi
gondlar skids um sidir.

En er snuid var skipinu Pérdar kalladi hann til Hrafns Odds-
sonar, bidur hann fa sér menn nokkura. Hrafn sagdi ad peir
péttust hvergi of margir. En p6 hljop Hrafn pa 4 skipid til Pérdar
og pa hljopu fjoérir menn eftir honum. Héldu peir pa til lands inn
og svo hver sem btinn var.

Var pa umraeda mikil a skipi Pérdar hversu langur bardaginn
hefdi verid. Kom pad asamt med peim ad pa mundi sol vera neer
midju landsudri. En pa var lagur veggur undir sélinni er peir
fundust.

Var boérdur pd allhugsjukur pvi ad peir soknudu fyrir vist pa
skipsins Sanda-Bardar og svo Trékyllisins er Bjarni Brandsson
styrdi. Hugdu menn ad pvi mundi Kolbeinn ekki reka fléttann
a0 peir mundu hafa pessi skip i sinu valdi.

Peir Bardur hofou 14tid drarnar allar nema fjérar einar. Lagdi
pa Bjarni ad peim og tok af peim neer prja tigu manna en fékk
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them to not bring about shame by immediately fleeing the bat-
tle.

They said that some ships had fled and that this ship had been
rendered effectively useless due to the damage it had sustained.

‘And all the other ships, they said, ‘prepare to flee and leave
the battle! But Pordur disbelieved this before he went himself
and saw how waterlogged the ship was. While the ship sank, the
men got into the rowing position and then turned it.

As soon as Porour’s forces on other ships saw that he was re-
treating, then each captain called to his crewmen telling them to
loose themselves from the fleet and now each ship fled as soon
as they were ready. About this, Ingjaldur says:

The warrior

would not flee

across the sea

from the hard battle

if some men would
stand firm a little longer.
The belligerents
reddened their swords.

Ingjaldur also says in this poem how many of Kolbeinn’s ships
were emptied in this battle:

Upright bPérdur cleared three ships
where warriors fought

in the battle. People know this.

I have heard that troops

sacrificed their lives

for their commander there,

dying and breaking

the peace in the country.

And Ingjaldur also notes the strength of each navy:
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peim arar svo ad peir voru vel feerir. Reru pa undan allir samt.
Kolbeins menn reru eftir peim 4 tveim skipum litlum og pordu
eigi 4 pa ad rada er peir komu eftir og sneru aftur til flotans.
Lagu peir Kolbeinn par 4 hafinu og bidu hafgolu pvi ad ferjurnar
voru pungar i rodri.
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The warrior had the

smaller of the two forces.
Unyielding weapons were
reddened in the battle.

I have heard that the warrior
sailed swiftly to

the booming battle

and closed quarters.

When Pérdur’s ship turned he called out to Hrafn Oddsson,
ordering him to get some men. Hrafn said that he thought he
would not be able to find many. Then Hrafn leapt onto the ship
to Pérdur and four men followed him. All headed for dry land
as soon as they were ready.

On boérdur’s ship they discussed in detail how long the bat-
tle had lasted for. It was agreed that the sun was now near the
middle of the southeast, but that the navies had met shortly after
sunrise.

Pérdur was at that time riven with anxiety because Sanda-
Bardur’s ship as well as the Trékyllir which Bjarni Brandsson
captained were missing. The people thought that the reason that
Kolbeinn was not currently pursuing those taking flight was be-
cause he had these ships in his power.

Bardur and his men had lost all but four of their oars. Bjarni
placed his vessel alongside Bardur’s ferry and sent thirty men
onto it with their oars. Thus Sanda-Bardur’s boat was well able
to travel. Now they all rowed away together. Some of Kolbeinn’s
men rowed after them in two little boats but did not dare to at-
tack when they reached them and so turned back and rejoined
the rest of Kolbeinn’s fleet.

Kolbeinn and his men remained out in the sea, awaiting a
wind that would push them towards the shore, for the ships
were too heavy to be rowed.
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Pérdur og hans menn séttu rédurinn sem akafast og stefndu inn
undir Reykjanes pvi ad peir etludu ad pangad mundi skemmst
undir land. Var pa ad lagt og upp gengid. Téku menn pa vatn a
skipin pvi a0 margir voru a0ur akaflega pyrstir. Var pa nén dags.

Pérour bad Hrafn Oddsson ganga pa 4 skip sitt og roa fyrir
inn til Arness og l4ta taka hross pau 61l sem voru { vikinni. Vil
eg, sagdi hann, ad peir menn sem mest eru sarir ridi hrossunum
undan 6vinum sinum en eigi taki peir menn hrossin er vel mega
ganga og feetur hreera. En vér verdum ad bera hina a fj6ll upp.

Gerdi nt Hrafn svo en Pérdur for meir af tomi.

Oger Pordur kom i vikina pa kenndi hann ferju Sanda-Bardar
og svo Trékyllinn ad peir reru pa utan ad. Vard par hinn mesti
fagnafundur er peir hittust. Rannsékudu peir pa 1idid. Fundu
peir pa ad peir hofou faa eina menn latid en nalega var hver
madur sar nokkud, sa er med Pordi hafdi verid. En 61l alpyda
var litt sar.

Lét Pordur pd kalla saman 1idid og skaut 4 huspingi. bakkadi
hann moénnum pd géda fylgd og f6r par um morgum fégrum
ordum. Veentir mig ad nu i dag muni your pykja hafa um turnad
hamingjan med okkur Kolbeini pann tima er vér spyrjum pann
mikla mannskada er eg hygg ad peir skulu fengio hafa hja pvi
sem vér. Vil eg nu bidja your, godir halsar, ad pér leggio til hver
pad er radlegast pykir upp ad taka. Er nd svo komid voru mali
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Chapter Thirty-Two

Pérour and his men rowed as vigorously as they were able to and
steered beneath Reykjanes, as they thought that route would
bring them to land quickest. Then they went ashore, bringing
water to the ships as many aboard suffered from thirst. It was
Nnow noon.

bérour asked Hrafn Oddsson to board his ship and row
ahead to Arnes and get all the horses in the bay. He said ‘T want
those men who are most wounded to use the horses to escape
our enemies, but those who are able to walk can escape on their
feet— so do not take the horses. The rest of us shall head for the
hills?

Hrafn went ahead, with P6rdur travelling behind.

When Pérdur arrived in the bay, he recognised two ships
rowing towards them: Sanda-Bardur’s ferry and the Trékyllir.
When they met, they all greeted each other most joyfully. Then
they considered their forces: they discovered that they had lost
only a few men, but nearly everyone who had been with Pérdur
had some sort of injury. Nevertheless, among the common men,
not many were wounded.

Pérdur now summoned everyone together and held a coun-
cil. He thanked the troops for their good support and spoke
many beautiful words about it. He said T believe that today
you have changed the game in the dealings between Kolbeinn
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a0 pegar er Kolbeini gefur byr pa mun hann vestur hingad sigla
og synist mér sem vér munum litt vid komast um undanferdina
a skipunum med pvi ad vér hofoum 14tid tréreidann a flestum
skipum vorum. Vil eg pvi ad pér radid0 um med mér.

Logdu menn pa allmisjafnt til. Flestir peir er skipin attu fystu
a0 eigi skyldi vid pau skilja. En peir sem ekki attu i skipum pa
geymdu heldur hvad peim potti sér heettuminnst og verdur pad
a0 endurmeeli einu.

Og er Pordur sér ad litid nytti af tillogum alpyounnar pa tok
hann svo til ords: Svo gdda raun hafido pér mér nu gefid, pessir
hinir gé6du minir félagar og féstbraedur er mér hafa na i dag
svo skorulega fylgd veitt ad varla munu 4 voru landi deemi til
finnast, a0 menn hafi vid svo miki0 ofurefli 4tt ad skipta og svo i
moti gengid drengilega sem gud pakki your. Og eigi vil eg nt pvi
launa ydur ad leida ydur na enn a nyjaleik i haskann fyrir minar
sakir pvi ad meira pykir mér verdur einn géour drengur en allir
pessir skiptotrar. Parf hér eigi langt um ad tala a0 menn skulu
rydja skipin og bera reidann i kirkju og 6ll énnur féng. Skulu
og peir menn i kirkju er sarir eru og séu eigi med oss feerir. Peir
menn skulu og med oss fara er vér hyggjum ad eigi fai kirkju-
grio.

Var pad um nattmalaskei er petta var allt ad gert og Porour
sneri aleidis upp med fjalli fra Arnesi. Skildu peir p4 vid hann
Teitur Styrmisson og Egill S6lmundarson, Kolbeinn gron,
Asgrimur baulufétur og allir peir er honum péttu eigi feerir med
sér. Fékk hann peim hross og 6sdra menn til fylgdar og skyldu
peir flytjast til Steingrimsfjardar.

En er peir komu skammt 4 fjallid b4 gerdist Asgrimur svo
farinn af sairum ad hann matti eigi lengra fara. Var hann pa par
eftir og Gunnar nautatik og nokkurir menn adrir. En bPérdur
og su sveitin er med honum var sneri aleidis og upp 1 dal pann
er verdur skammt upp frd Arnesi. Beiddi p4 1idid hvildar er par
var komid.
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and me: I am sure we shall soon discover that they have lost
far greater numbers of men than we have. Now I ask you, brave
comrades, that everyone proposes the best plan they can. Our
situation is such that, as soon as Kolbeinn has a favourable wind,
he will sail west to here, and I think that it will be difficult for
us to escape by boat as we have lost the rigging on nearly all.
I therefore want you to give me your opinions concerning the
road ahead’

Now a large number of different suggestions were made.
Most shipowners were keen not to part with them, though those
who had no shares in shipping wanted to do that which seemed
least risky: thus the debate went back and forth for a while.

When Pérdur saw that the company’s discussion was prov-
ing fruitless, he spoke: ‘you have proved your courage and fi-
delity to me, my excellent comrades and foster brothers, who
have given your aid today with such boldness that it would be
difficult to find an instance of men who fought against such an
overwhelming enemy force and managed to repel it with such
valour. I will not reward you for your service by bringing you
to death’s door for my sake, because a brave man seems to have
ten times the worth of all these shipwrecks. There is no need to
talk any longer: men must empty the boats and carry the tackle
and other supplies into the church. Those who are wounded and
are unable to travel with us, they should go inside there also.
However, those men who are unlikely to be granted sanctuary
ought come with us’

It was at dinnertime that all this was decided and when
Pordur left and headed up the mount above Arnes. There he
left Teitur Styrmisson, Egill S6lmundarson, Kolbeinn grén, As-
grimur baulufétur, and all those who did not appear fit to travel
with him. He provided them with horses and uninjured men to
escort them: they were to travel to Steingrimsfjordur.

However, when they had reached a short distance up the
mountain, Asgrimur had become exhausted by his wounds to
the extent that he could not journey any further. He remained
there, along with Gunnar nautatik and some others. P6rdur and
those accompanying him went up the valley which goes a little
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Fig. 9. The church at present-day Flugumyri, Skagafjordur. Photo by
the author.
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above Arnes. It was here that the troops demanded that they
pause for respite.
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Nu er fra pvi ad segja er peir Kolbeinn lagu eftir 4 fléanum. Lét
hann nu rannsaka skip sin og skodadi hve margt fallid var eda
hvad svo var sart ad hann vildi eigi med sér hafa. Finnur hann
nua ad margt er fallid en fj6ldi sar. Feer hann n til tvo skip og lid-
feera menn svo ad birgt var og leetur flytja likin nordur til Skaga
0g sara menn.

Var pa a0 hugad hve morg Pordar skip par lagu eftir og fund-
ust prju. Voru a4 Pérdar skipi fallnir fjérir menn og engi pa enn
latinn. Voru pé grid gefin Snorra Loftssyni og Ani Askelssyni
pvi a0 hann nefndist nafni Pérdar broédur sins. Steindlfur Por-
bjarnarson var pegar hoggvinn fyrir bord en Klemet smidur var
pegar drepinn uppi { skipinu. Var Ann b4 leiddur upp 4 skip
Einars langs Jonssonar.

Toku peir Kolbeins menn pa hvild og bidu byrjar og atu mat.
Og hugdu peir ad vandlega hve marga menn peir h6fou 1atio 1
pessum bardaga og hofou 4 atta tigi alls latist med peim er sidar
létust af sarum.

Pessir menn voru mest virdir af peim er létust: Gudmundur
fra Sokku, Hjalti Helgason, peir Illugasynir, Einar dragi og Por-
steinn. Snorri Péralfsson, Sigurdur Rognvaldsson.

P4 melti Kolbeinn vid Einar Jénsson ad hann skyldi taka
Snorra Loftsson til sin. Er pér, sagdi hann, kunnast hver hvergi
peirra er Vestfirdinganna.
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Chapter Thirty-Three

Now we must tell of Kolbeinn and his men, who were still out in
the bay. He had his ships searched to discover how many men
had fallen or become badly wounded enough that he would not
want them with him. He then learned that many men had fallen
and a lot were wounded. He now got two ships and crewed them
with men who were fit to travel, and in these vessels had the
corpses of the dead as well as the wounded men conveyed north
to Skagi.

Next, they wondered how many of Pérdur’s ships had been
left behind and they counted three. Aboard Pérdur’s ship, four
men had fallen, though none of these were yet dead. Then mer-
cy was granted to Snorri Loftsson, as well as Ann Askelsson
because he called himself by the name of his brother Pérdur.
Steindlfur Porbjarnarson was immediately killed and thrown
overboard. Upon the ship, Klemet smidur was also slain. Ann
was then led up onto the ship of Einar langur Jonsson.

Kolbeinn’s men then had a rest, waited to set off, and ate
food. They thought hard about how many men had died in this
battle and counted eighty dead in total including those who later
died of their wounds.

These men were the worthiest of those who died: Gudmun-
dur of Sakka, Hjalti Helgason, Snorri Péralfsson, Sigurdur Régn-
valdsson, and the sons of Illugi (Einar dragi and Porsteinn).
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Sja peir nt og ad kyrrlegt gerir.

Og er Snorri kemur upp 4 skip Einars pd tekur hann til orda
er hann kennir An Askelsson og melti: Gud sé lofadur, Ann
félagi, er eg sé pig heilan.

En er Einar Jénsson heyrdi petta: Er svo, sagdi hann, ad Ann
flandinn er hér er flest illt hefir gert oss?

Lét hann pegar taka An og héggva fyrir bord.

Snorra potti petta verk svo illt ad hann vildi na gjarna heldur
bagad hafa og heldur hafa 1atid allt pbad er hann atti og potti of
mjog af sér hlotist hafa. En p6 fékk hann nu ekki ad gert.

Eftir petta bidur Kolbeinn reisa viduna og taka til segls. Vil eg
pvi nt lysa fyrir ydur, sagdi hann, ad nt skal sigla vestur yfir Fléa
a0 leita Pordar par til er vér finnumst og lata nu sverfa til stals
med oss. En ef vér finnumst eigi pa skulum vér sigla til Vest-
fjarda og herja, brenna baei en drepa menn og eyda svo byggdina
a0 Pordur megi eigi oftar padan eflast med 6fridi 4 hendur oss.
En b6 segir mér svo hugur um ad eigi sé radid ad mér verdi
audid ad standa yfir h6fudsvordum Pordar svo sem hann rak na
ur feeri ad sinni. Og enn er pad naer minu hugbodi ad 4 pessum
fundi muni hamingjuskipti ordid hafa med okkur Po6rdi. Hafio
nu pa stefnu sem pér saud ad peir Pérdur reru undan.

Siglir nt sa fyrst er skjotast var buinn vestur yfir Floa.
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Then Kolbeinn told Einar Jonsson that he should take cus-
tody of Snorri Loftsson, saying ‘after all, it is you who know eve-
ryone among the Vestfirdingar’

They also saw that calm had now fallen.

When Snorri came up onto Einar’s ship, words tumbled from
his mouth when he recognised Ann Askelsson and he said: ‘God
be praised that I find my comrade Ann safe and sound!”

As soon as Einar Jonsson heard this, he said ‘is it so that the
fiend Ann is here who has done such evil to us?’

He immediately had Ann seized, struck with a blade, and
thrown overboard.

Snorri thought this deed utterly evil and he wished now that
he had been silent and lost everything which he owned, think-
ing too much had resulted from his actions. However, there was
nothing he could do about it now.

After this, Kolbeinn ordered the sails raised so they could
set off. T now want to declare before you all, he said, ‘that we
shall now sail west across Hunafléi to search for Pordur until
we find him and then have him fight it out to the last against us.
But if we do not find him, then we sail to the Vestfirdir to harry,
burn farms, kill men and so to desolate the whole settlement
such that Porour may never again use it as a base from which to
launch warfare against us. However, my mind now says to me
it is unlikely that I will have the good fortune to kill Pérdur as
he has got away from me on this occasion. Yet it is near to my
thoughts that in this battle there must have been a shift in for-
tune between us and Pérdur. Now let us congregate where you
saw Pérdur row away to.

Now those who prepared fastest sailed west across Hunafloi
first.

235



Pritugasti og fjordi kafli

Nt er par til ad taka sem fyrr var fra horfid ad Pordur hafdi tekid
hvild uppi { dalnum. Hafa menn pa sofnad fast. Og er komid var
a0 solarfalli pa leetur Pérdur vekja 1idid og vard ad ausa koldu
vatni 4 marga menn adur folkio vaknadi.

Pa bad Pérdur ad tveir menn skyldu ganga fram 4 fjallio yfir
Arnes og hyggja ad ef peir seeju nakkvad til ferda Kolbeins. Foru
pa tveir menn fram & fjallid og komu aftur skjott. S6gdu peir
Péroi ad Kolbeinn sigldi pa utan ad Trékyllisey.

Sagdi Porour ad pa voru eigi setuefni. Bad hann menn pa
vopna sig. Gekk Pérour pa upp a fjallid og kom ofan i Ingoélfs-
fjord og tr Ingolfsfirdi til Ofeigsfjardar. Voru pa mennirnir svo
preyttir af maedi og blodras og svefnleysi ad pa vildu menn eigi
lengra fara. Logdust menn pa nidur og téku a sig svefn.

En drottinsdaginn er Pérdur vaknadi kalladi hann saman
menn sina og spurdi pa alpyouna hvad pa veeri likast til rdds ad
taka. Fann hann pad skjott ad beendur voru heimfusir. Kvedst
Pérdur gjarna vilja gefa peim heimleyfi ef peir keemu til hans
begar er Kolbeinn siglir skipum hid ytra vestur fyrir. Hétu par
flestir g6du um. Sneru flestir par 4 fjall upp og komu ofan i Isa-
firdi. Gengu sumir hid efra um fj6ll allt til Bardastrandar. Komu
hverjir par ofan i fjorduna sem heima attu.

bPérdur sendi menn sina ad leita ad smaskipum. En adur
menn skildu { Ofeigsfirdi p4 pakkadi Pérdur ménnum fylgd sina
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Chapter Thirty-Four

Now we must continue from where we left off, with Pérdur
encamped down in the valley. His men had fallen into a deep
slumber. When the sun set, Pérdur had his company awakened
and cold water had to be poured on many of the men before
they woke up.

Next, borour ordered two men to go away to the mountain
above Arnes to find out if they could see anything of Kolbeinn’s
journey. Two men went off to the mountain and came back
quickly. They told Pordur that Kolbeinn was now sailing to-
wards Trékyllisey.

bérdur said that now was not the time to relax. He called
his men to arms. Pérdur then went up onto the mountain
and came back down at Ingolfsfjorour and went from there to
Ofeigsfjordur. Men were now completely exhausted from short-
ness of breath, blood-loss, and lack of sleep, and they refused to
travel any further. Everyone then lay down and went to sleep.

On Sunday when Pérdur woke up he called together his men
and asked then all the people what plan they would like to adopt.
He soon found that the householders were keen to return home.
bérdur said he would like to give them leave to return home,
provided they immediately came to him if Kolbeinn sailed his
ships west around the top of the peninsular. Most there were
content to make this promise. Most of the men turned from
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er peir h6fou honum veitt, kvedst 6llum skyldu pad med godu
launa ef gud geefi honum tima til.

For Porour pa ut a Engines og padan til Dranga og pa til
Furufjardar. Setti Pérdur pa menn 1t 4 Stigagnup ad verda varir
vid ef Kolbeinn sigldi hid ytra med skipum.

En P6rdur for og kom Pétursmessumorgun { Holt { Onundar-

fjoro.

238



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

there up to the mountain and came down at Isafjordur. Some
went over the upper mountains all the way to Bardastrond. Each
person came down to the fjord where he had his home.

Pordur sent his men to search for small ships. Before the peo-
ple parted at Ofeigsfjordur, Pérdur thanked those men in his
following who had helped him, saying that all should receive
good rewards from him if God gave him the opportunity to give
them.

Now Pérdur went out to Engines, then from there to Drang-
ir, and thence to Furufjordur. Pérdur next placed men out at
Stigagnuip to watch out in case Kolbeinn sailed around with his
ships.

Pérdur continued on his way and arrived at Holt in Onundar-
fjordur on the morning of Saint Peter’s mass day.
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Pritugasti og fimmti kafli

En pé er Kolbeinn kom { Trékyllisvik gekk hann 4 land i Arnesi
og 1ét kanna kirkjuna og vildi vita hvad par veri peirra manna
er honum beetti sleegur til vera. En er hann 6ngan fann pann er
hann vildi nokkud ad gera pa raendu peir kirkjuna og téku slikt
er peir fengu.

Drottinsmorguninn fékk Kolbeinn njésn af ad sdramenn
nokkurir mundu vera uppi 4 fjallinu. Gerdi hann pa menn upp
& fjallid ad leita peirra. Hittu peir Asgrim Gilsson er kalladur var
baulufétur. Beiddi hann sér grida til fundar vid Kolbein og peir
jatudu honum pvi og fluttu hann heim { Arnes. Freendur hans
badu honum grida vid Kolbein ad hann mundi hann lata njéta
magsemdar pvi ad Kolbeinn hafdi fyrri fylgt Hallberu systur
hans. Kolbeinn kvedst eigi vilja sja hann og bad halshoggva
hann. Fékk hann pa til mann ad drepa hann.

Eftir pad lét Kolbeinn taka skip 61l og hafdi sum med sér en
sum lét hann brenna. I pessi ferd var pad gert sem aldrei hafdi
fyrr verid 4 Islandi. Hann 1ét taka hvalina suma en { suma lét
hann eld leggja og brenna upp, sagdi ad eigi skyldi Pérdur ala
sig 4 peim eda menn sina til 6fridar honum. Reendi Kolbeinn pa
allar Strandir og sigldi padan til Vestfjarda og kvedst pa aleyda
skyldu svo ad Porour meetti padan eigi eflast med 6frioi.

Hinn neesta dag eftir Pétursmessu sigldi Kolbeinn inn eftir
[safirdi.
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Chapter Thirty-Five

Once Kolbeinn arrived at Trékyllisvik, he landed at Arnes and
had the church searched for any men they might torture or kill.
But when they found no-one, he wanted to do something and so
had the church plundered for all movable goods.

On Sunday morning Kolbeinn got intelligence that there
were some wounded men upon the mountain. He thus sent
men up the mountain to search for them. They met Asgrimur
baulufétur Gilsson. He asked for safe conduct to meet with Kol-
beinn and they granted him that and they took him home to
Arnes. His kinsmen asked Kolbeinn to grant him the mercy that
was the benefit of kinship because Kolbeinn had previously had
Hallbera, his sister, as a concubine. Kolbeinn said he did not
want to see him and ordered his head cut off. He then ordered
a man to kill him.

Next, Kolbeinn had all the vessels impounded, taking some
with him and having the rest burned. On this expedition things
were done that never had been before in Iceland. He had some
whales seized and some he had set on fire and burned up, saying
that neither Pordur nor his men should feed themselves with
them to wage war against him. Kolbeinn now raided the whole
of Strandir and sailed thence to the Vestfirdir and said that they
would lay waste such that Pérdur might never be able to raise
forces for war from there.
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Geirmundur son Fanga-Ljots sa pa skipin er hann var 4 njosn
og for pegar bar til er hann fann P6rd og sagdi honum. En Kol-
beinn fér pa med skip sin inn til Adeyjar og lagdi par til hafnar.
En er Geirmundur kom i Holt sat Pérdur yfir bordum og hans
menn allir. En pegar er Geirmundur matti segja tidindi pa bad
hann P6rd tti verda, sagdi ad Kolbeinn mundi 6kominn adeins
vera nema hann hefdi siglt inn til Isafjardar.

Var pa hrundid fram bordunum og hljépu menn pa til vopna
og herkleeddust en sumir leitudu ad hestum. En er hestarnir
komu ad pa sendi Pordur alla vega menn frd sér til mannsafn-
adar. Hrafn Oddsson sendi hann vestur 4 Raudasand og
Bardastrond og um alla Vestfj6rou sendi hann menn. En Ingjald
Geirmundarson sendi hann til méts vid Sturlu Pérdarson og
Porleif Pordarson og Bodvar Pérdarson ad peir kemu allir til
mots vio hann { Breidafjord. En Eyjolf Eyjolfsson sendi hann til
[safjardar ad safna par ménnum. En Pérdur sjalfur skyldi safna
1idi um Onundarfjérd og skyldu finnast allir saman laugar-
kveldid at i Dyrafirdi.

En er Kolbeinn kom i Adey pa fann hann Pérdis Snorra-
déttir og Einar Porvaldsson og sendu pa ord ollum hinum
steerrum bondum fyrir nordan [safjord og 6llum peim sem i
frioi vildu hafa fé sitt og fjor, pa skyldu allir koma til méts vid
Kolbein og sverja honum trinadareida. Skutust pa margir vio
Pérd i tranadinum og foru til fundar vid Kolbein. Sumir lagu uti
a fj6llum med bu sin svo ad aleyda voru eftir beeirnir.

Fyrir nordan Dyrafjord kom Poérdur ekki upp ménnum og
gafst pba upp safnadurinn. Fér Pérdur pa ut 4 Eyri. Kom pa
Hrafn og Gisli vestan ad til Arnarfjardar med niu tigi manna.
Fundust peir Porour pa. botti honum pa engi fong 4 viotoku
pé ad Kolbeinn sigldi vestur 1 fjorouna. Lét hann pa fara heim
hid oknalegra 1idid en lét taka fjora teineeringa og 1ét flytja til
Bardastrandar og sté par 4 skip med sex tigu manna og fér
sudur um Breidafj6rd til Fagureyjar. Fann hann par Sturlu
freenda sinn. Spurdi hann pa ad Gissur Porvaldsson var kominn
i Breidafjardardali med fjolmenni. Hafdi hann pa saest vid Jon
Sturluson. Voru mal 6l116g0 i konungs dém.
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The day after the mass day of Saint Peter, Kolbeinn sailed
through Isafjérdur.

Geirmundur, the son of Fanga-Ljotur, saw the ship that he
had been looking out for and straightaway headed off until he
found Pérdur and informed him. Kolbeinn now went with his
ship to Adey and laid them there in the harbour. When Geir-
mundur came to Holt, Pérdur was sat at table with all his men.
As soon as Geirmundur could, he told them the news and asked
bérdur to leave, saying that Kolbeinn would be arriving immi-
nently unless he had sailed into [safjérdur.

Now the tables were pushed away and men seized their
weapons and donned their armour and some searched for
horses. When the horses arrived, Pérdur sent messengers in all
directions to raise troops. Hrafn Oddsson he sent westwards to
Raudasandur and Bardastrond, and others all around the Vest-
firdir. He also sent Ingjaldur Geirmundarson to Sturla Pérdarson
and Porleifur Pérdarson to Bodvar Pordarson, to call on both to
meet him in Breidafjordur. Still further, he sent Eyjélfur Eyjolfs-
son to [safjérdur to gather men there. Pérdur himself went to
gather men in Onundarfjérdur. Everyone was to rendezvous in
Dyrafjérdur on Saturday night.

When Kolbeinn came to Z£dey, he met Pordis Snorradottir
and Einar Porvaldsson. They sent messengers to all the most
substantial householders from north of Isafjérdur, letting them
know that all who wanted to save their lives and property should
come to Kolbeinn and swear him an oath of allegiance. Now,
some men reneged on their loyalty to P6rdur and sought out
Kolbeinn. Nevertheless, other hid in the mountains with their
livestock, leaving their farms empty.

Pérour did not succeed in raising troops north of Dyrafjorour
and he then abandoned his attempt to recruit men. Pérdur went
out to Hrafnseyri. Hrafn and Gisli came from the west to Arnar-
fjordur with ninety men. They met Pérour then. Pordur now
deemed that they did not have a large enough gathering to resist
Kolbeinn should he sail west and into the fjord. After this, he
let the weaker members of his force go home but had seized
four ten-oared boats and had them moved to Bardastrond. He
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En er Pordur spurdi ad Gissur var ut kominn pa séfnudu
peir 1idi Pordarsynir, Sturla og Bodvar, um Borgarfj6rd og it um
Snefellsnes og utan um Skdgarstrond og um Gilsfjord.

En er Gissur spurdi ad Pordur var vestan kominn og hafdi
lidsafnad pd ridur Gissur pegar sudur aftur.

Petta sumar var Toésti Dagfinnsson féthoggvinn badum
fotum. Hét s& madur Ingélfur og var Olafsson er honum veitti
averka.

Kolbeinn sigldi vestan pa er hann péttist til pess buinn vera
og sat pa heima 4 Flugumyri um kyrrt.

bérour for pa vestur i fjorou og sat 4 Eyri um sumarid. Var
pa kyrrt um hrio.
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boarded along with sixty other men and headed southwards
over Breidafjorour to Fagurey where he met his kinsmen Sturla.
Here, he discovered that Gissur Porvaldsson had come to
Breidafjardardalur with a large number of men. He had reached
a settlement with Jon Sturluson, and all their disagreements
were to be arbitrated by King Hakon.

After Pérour discovered that Gissur had returned to Iceland,
the sons of Pordur Sturluson, Sturla and Bodvar, gathered men
from Borgarfjérour, Sneefellsnes, Skogarstrond, and Gilsfjordur.
When Gissur heard that Pérdur had arrived from the west with
forces, he immediately fled south.

That summer, Tésti Dagfinnsson had his legs cut off by a man
named Ingdlfur Olafsson.

Kolbeinn sailed home when he considered his mission com-
plete and resided quietly at Flugumyri. Pérdur returned to the
Vestfirdir and remained alert throughout the summer. All was
quiet now for a while.

245



Pritugasti og sjotti kafli

Pérour kom vestan milli Mariumessna med mikla sveit og ridu
peir Sturla pa sudur i Dala og kvoddu menn upp. Peir fengu
pa enn hundrad manna og ridu nordur Haukadalsskard og
etludu ad Kolbeini til Skagafjardar. Peir ridu til Miofjardar og
svo nordur par til er peir komu { Miohép. ba sau peir ad njésnir
gengu fyrir b4 tt til Pingeyra en par voru menn Kolbeins, Olafur
chaim og annar.

Madur hét Harri er par bjé i Miohépi. Hann var pa i braut
ridinn og hafdi hest allgédan. Ridu peir Pérdur pa nordur til
Hoélavads. Sa pa nordur til baejanna ad sumir hleyptu i fjallid en
sumir nordurleidina.

Gerdist pa kurr i lidinu ad éradlegt veeri ad rida lengra. Var
pé um reett ad Sturla skyldi eiga um vid Pérd ad aftur veeri snuid.
Sturla vildi pad eigi pvi ad honum pétti peir hafa dmeelt sér um
sumarid ad peir hefdu sleelega ridid ad peim Brandi Kolbeins-
syni. Ridu peir par til er peir komu til Giljar.

P4 reeddi Pordur um ad peir skyldu aftur sntia: Sé eg na ad
pér metid vid mig atkveedi.

Peir ridu um kveldid i Midhép en um daginn eftir vestur til
Hrutafjardar og lagu uti um noéttina 4 Hruatafjardarhalsi.

En pann aftan kom Kolbeinn med prji hundrud manna i
Midfj6rd og komust peir naudulega 1 kirkju Gilssynir, Kalfur og
Ulthédinn. En sidan sendi Kolbeinn K&lf vestur eftir P6rdi ad
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Chapter Thirty-Six

Pérour arrived from the west with a great army between the
mass days of Mary. Sturla and P6rdur then rode south to Dalir
and raised troops: they gathered 120 men. Next, they rode
northwards over Haukadalsskard, heading for Kolbeinn in
Skagafjorour. They rode to Midfjérour and thence further north
until they arrived at Midhop. There they learned that news of
their coming had already arrived at Pingeyrar, where Olafur
chaim and another of Kolbeinn’s men were.

There lived a man named Harri at Midhop: he was away and
had a good horse. Pérdur and his men rode north to Hélavad.
They saw that north of the farms, the householders had run into
the mountains or along the roads leading north.

Then many in the army deemed it was inadvisable to ride
any further, and they asked Sturla to convince Pérdur to turn
around. But Sturla would not do this, because he thought
that — when he was in command in the summer —he had not
attacked Brandur Kolbeinsson and his forces with sufficient vig-
our. They continued on until they came to Gilja.

Now Pordur declared that they would turn back: T see that it
is up to me to decide’

In the evening they went to Midhop and the next day west to
Hrutafjordur. They slept outside at Hrutafjardarhals.
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leita um seettir eda grid og fann hann b6rd a Stadarholi. Voru pa
enn grid sett til veturnatta.

Jafnan 1ét Kolbeinn leita um seettir en aldrei vildi hann sveitir
eda goodord upp gefa eda fé pad er Sighvatur hafdi 4tt.

Medan peir voru nordur urdu afturreka skip tvo i Hvita,
Eyvindur brattur er at 1ét r Dégurdarnesi og Hofdabussan er
par hafdi ut latio.

Pérdur for na i fjorou vestur og var a Eyri um veturinn en
stundum sudur { sveitum. Pann vetur kvongadist Hikon galinn.

En um vorid toku til medalferdir. Var pad pa meelt ad peir
mundu fara utan badir, Kolbeinn og Pérdur, og skyldi Hakon
konungur gera um 6ll mal peirra en Kolbeinn skyldi lata fa
Péroi sex tigu hundrada vadmala til fararefna. Og pad kom fram
og var vara su feerd til Hvitar.

248



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

That evening, Kolbeinn arrived in Midfjérdur with 360 men,
and the sons of Gils, Kélfur and Ulfhedinn, barely made it into
the church. Then Kolbeinn sent Kélfur west to Pordur to negoti-
ate a settlement or truce. Kalfur met Pérdur at Stadarhdll. There
was to be a truce during the winter nights.

Kolbeinn was constantly offering a settlement, but never
wanted to give up the districts, chieftaincies, or property which
had belonged to Sighvatur.

While they were in the north, two ships were driven back to
Hvita: Eyvind bratt’s vessel which had sailed to Dégurdarnes,
and Ho6fdabussan which had sailed out from Huvita.

bérdur went to the Vestfirdir, spending the winter at Hrafn-
seyri and sometimes in the south of the region. That winter,
Hékon galinn married.

In the spring, mediators went between the two sides. It was
agreed that both Kolbeinn and Pérdur would go abroad and
that King Hakon would arbitrate all cases between them. It was
also decided that Kolbeinn would give Pérdur the equivalent of
7200 ells of wadmal to fund his travel. This was duly provided
and shipped to Hvita.
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En er 4 leid vorid tok mein Kolbeins ad vaxa og lagdist hann i
rekkju. Sa hann pa ad hann var ekki feer til utanferdar.

Var pd sent eftir Gissuri og kom hann nordur. Tok pa ad lida
a0 um matt Kolbeins. Vildi hann allt f4 Gissuri i hendur og peim
Brandi Kolbeinssyni. En Gissur var pess eigi buinn en hét ad
veita Brandi freenda sinum, ef hann veeri fyrir sveitum, allt slikt
gott sem hann hefdi fong 4 og feeri. Var pad pa rads tekid ad sent
var vestur til Pordar og voru pa upp gefnar sveitir fyrir nordan
Oxnadalsheidi og svo 61l hans f6durleifd. Skyldi hann pa selja
grid { mot og jatta seettum. En 611 hérud fyrir vestan Oxnadals-
heidi voru fengin Brandi Kolbeinssyni allt til Hrutafjardarar.
Skyldi hann veita Gissuri slikt er hann vildi og hvor peirra
60rum. Voru beendur { Skagafirdi til Brands fusastir pegar
Kolbein leid pvi ad hann var vinseell af allri alpydu. Vildi Kol-
beinn og Brand helst { sinn stad. Lysti Kolbeinn pvi og pa fyrir
6llum moénnum peim er pa komu ad finna hann 1 sjukleikanum
a0 Brandur etti allan porra godorda i Skagafirdi og mikio fyrir
vestan heidi p6 ad hann hafi mér vel unnad med a0 fara.

Var vi0 petta tal Kolbeins Brandur prestur Jénsson er sidan
var biskup ad Hélum. Hann kom sunnan med Gissuri og var
systrungur Brands Kolbeinssonar. Stadar-Kolbeinn var par vid
og eggjudu peir badir Brand vidtoku sveitanna. Fylgdarmanna-
sveit Kolbeins unga badu hann allir til ad hann skyldi fyrir bin-
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Chapter Thirty-Seven

When spring arrived, Kolbeinn’s injury had worsened to the ex-
tent that he was bedridden, and it was apparent that he would
not be fit to travel abroad.

Gissur was sent for and he came north. Kolbeinn’s strength
now diminished. He wanted to hand over everything to Gissur
and Brandur Kolbeinsson. Gissur, however, was not prepared
to accept this, but promised to help his kinsman Brandur, if he
became leader of the districts, with all the assistance he could
provide and perform. It was then decided that they should send
a message west to POrdur, stating that all the districts north of
Oxnadalsheidi would be returned to him as well as his patri-
mony. In return, he was to declare an armistice and agree to a
settlement. All the districts between Oxnadalsheidi and Hrta-
fjardara were given to Brandur Kolbeinsson. He and Gissur were
to support each other whenever one of them needed it. The
Skagfirdingar wanted Brandur to be their leader after Kolbeinn,
for he was incredibly popular among the commons. Kolbeinn
also wanted Brandur to be his successor. Kolbeinn told all the
men who visited him during his illness that most of the chief-
taincies in Skagafjordur and west of the heath were in Brandur’s
possession, ‘though, he added, ‘he has allowed me to manage
them!
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dast malum peirra. Var Brandur pd 4 Flugumyri en Gissur reid
sudur.

Kolbeinn ungi andadist pad sumar Mariumessu Magda-
lenu. Pa var hann halffertugur ad aldri sem Arndr fadir hans og
Kolbeinn Tumason f60urbrédir hans er hann var heitinn eftir.
Kolbeinn var mjog harmdaudi sinum moénnum og kunningjum
og svo allri alpydu i Skagafirdi. Hann var feerdur til Héla ut og
grafinn fyrir kirkjudyrum hja Kolbeini Tumasyni.
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THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

The priest Brandur Jénsson —who later became Bishop of
Holar — witnessed this statement by Kolbeinn. He came from
the south with Gissur and was Brandur Kolbeinn’s cousin on his
mother’s side. Stadar-Kolbeinn was there also and both he and
the priest urged Brandur Kolbeinsson to take over the districts.
Kolbeinn ungi’s whole retinue asked Brandur to bind their fates
to his. Brandur now remained at Flugumyri and Gissur rode
south.

Kolbeinn ungi died that summer on the mass day of Mary
Magdalene. He was then thirty-five years old: the same age as
his father Arnér and father’s brother Kolbeinn Tumason — for
whom he was named — had been when they died. Kolbeinn was
greatly mourned by his men, those who knew him, and all the
Skagfirdingar. His body was taken to Holar and buried in front
of the church door beside Kolbeinn Tumason.

253



Pritugasti og attundi kafli

Eftir pad var fundur attur ad Hestapingshamri. Kom par fj6l-
mennt um héradid og svo vestan um heidi. Var pa Brandur par
kosinn yfir allar sveitir peer er adur voru til nefndar. Hafdi hann
pa tekjur allar af sveitunum peer er Kolbeinn hafdi adur haft og
saudatoll. Hafoi hann pa b mikid ad Stad og fjolmennt.

Um haustid komu peir menn til Brands er verid hofou
fylgdarmenn Kolbeins unga, Gegnir Illugason, Hamundur
bordarson, Gisli Barkarson, Halldér nef, Ottar snoppulangur,
Ogmundur vandredamagur, Asgrimur Ormsson, Olvidur
Einarsson. Asbjérn Illugason var par 1éngum um veturinn og
svo Broddi Porleifsson. Arnér Eiriksson, systurson Brands, var
par um veturinn.
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Chapter Thirty-Eight

At that time a meeting was held at Hestapingshamar and many
gathered there from all around the region of Skagafjérour (in-
cluding the districts west of Vatnsskard). Brandur was then
elected leader of all the districts which were mentioned earlier.
He was to receive all the income from the districts which Kol-
beinn had previously had, as well as the sheep tax. At that time
he retained a grand and populous establishment at Stadur.

In the autumn, those who had been Kolbeinn ungi’s retain-
ers came to Brandur: Gegnir Illugason, Himundur Pérdarson,
Gisli Barkarson, Halldér nef, Ottar snoppulangur, Ogmundur
vandradamdagur, Asgrimur Ormsson, and Olvidur Einarsson.
Asbjérn Tllugason and Broddi Porleifsson were there for a long
time during the winter, along with the son of Brandur’s sister,
Arnor Eiriksson.
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Pritugasti og niundi kafli

Pad er ad segja fra peim vestur { sveitunum ad i penna tima bad
Hrafn Oddsson buridar Sturludéttur. Flutti Pérdur pad mjog og
var brudlaup peirra ad Saudafelli um sumario.

Petta sumar for Svarth6fdi utan i Hvitda med voru peirri er
Kolbeinn ungi hafdi fengid Poroi.

Pordur for nordur eftir brullaup Hrafns. Var svo melt ad
Eyfirdingar skyldu koma nordan i mét honum til Midfjardar.
Pérour reid nordur med heimamenn sina. Var pad 4 pridja tigi
manna. Sturla hafdi og neer tuttugu menn. Porleifur ur Gérdum
for enn med tuttugu menn. Par var og Ketill Porlaksson og
Gudmundur undan Felli og margir beendur ad bodi Pérdar. Peir
voru alls meir en atta tigir manna. En er peir komu til Midfjardar
voru Eyfirdingar par fyrir med 4tta tigu manna. Ridu peir pa
nordur allir saman. Pérdur kom i Eyjafjord Lafransmessudag.

Pann sama dag sigldi par skip af hafi. Par var & Gunnar
brattur. P4 var sagt lat Oraekju Snorrasonar. Hafdi hann andast
Jonsmessu baptista um sumarid.

For borour pa til skips og keypti hann par bjor mikinn og 1ét
flytja inn til Grundar. Var par buid til veislu 4 Mariumessudag en
sunnudaginn fyrir hafdi hann fund i Kristnesi vi0 alla hérads-
menn. Peir unnu honum eida og gafu upp allt pad er peir h6fou
a0 varOveita og Sighvatur hafdi att. Hann hafdi veislu fagra a
Mariumessu og gaf stérgjafir peim er honum héfou nordur
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Chapter Thirty-Nine

Concerning those living in the western districts, it is to be
reported that at this time Hrafn Oddsson wooed Puridur
Sturludéttir. Pordur strongly supported this, and their wedding
was held during the summer at Saudafell.

That summer, Svartho6foi travelled abroad from Hvita with
the goods that Kolbeinn ungi had left Pérdur.

After Hrafn’s wedding, Pérdur travelled to the north, and it
was arranged that the Eyfirdingar would meet him at Midfjérour.
Pérdur rode north with his retainers—around thirty men.
Sturla was accompanied by twenty men, as was Porleifur from
Gardar. Ketill Porlaksson and Gudmundur from Fell were also
present at Pordur’s meeting, along with many householders.
Together they were more than eighty men in total. When they
came to Miofjordur, the Eyfirdingar were there with eighty men,
and after meeting they rode north all together. Pérdur came to
Eyjafjordur on the mass day of Saint Laurence.

That same day, a seafaring ship landed: Gunnar was aboard.
Orzkja Snorrason’s death was then reported, he had died on the
mass day of John the Baptist during the summer.

bérdur went to the ship and bought a lot of ale, which he
brought to Grund. A great feast was prepared for the mass day
of Mary. On the Sunday before, he held a meeting at Kristnes
with all the region’s inhabitants. They swore oaths of allegiance
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fylgt. En Porour var eftir med sveit sina er peir ridu vestur og
voru peir margir tillagaillir.

Fylgdarmenn Kolbeins voru flestir med Helgu 4 Flugumyri.
Peir voru gemsmiklir, Einar langur og Gegnir Illugason og enn
fleiri adrir.
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THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

to him and returned everything of Sighvatur’s that they owned
to him. He held a splendid feat on the mass of Saint Mary and
gave expensive gifts to those who had accompanied him north.
Pérdur remained with his company but the others went west
and spoke many evil words about the Skagfirdingar.

Most of Kolbeinn’s retainers were with Helga at Flugumyri.
They — Einar langur, Gegnir Illugason, and many others — were
tull of gibes.
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Fertugasti kafli

Brandur hafdi bu 4 Stad 1 Skagafirdi sem fyrr var ritad. Hann var
vinseell madur. Hafdi hann mannmargt med sér og hélt sér vel
upp og hafdi risnu mikla i bi. Hann var manna o6rvastur af fé.
Hafdi hann pvi ordstir gédan. Svo segir Ingjaldur Geirmundar-
son { flokki peim er hann orti um Brand Kolbeinsson:

Meetr fékk ordstir yta
almrj6dandi gédan.

Itr kunni blik brjéta
Brandr glymfjéturs landa.
Litt unni sa sleitum

seim hyrbroti geima.

Oft gefna lét jafnan
0ddrjédr vinum hodda.

Vell gaf varga fyllir
vingd0r kyni pjodar.
Veitti aud, sa er atti,
oddroégs bodi, gndgan.
Bli0r var or af audi
oddstiklandi miklum.
beer lifa vist, er voru,
vinsels skorungs minjar.
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Chapter Forty

Brandur lived at Stadur in Skagafjorour, as was written before.
He was a popular man. Brandur had many men with him and
lived in high style and had received many guests in his house-
hold. He was a generous man with wealth and had from that a
good reputation. So says Ingjaldur Geirmundarson in Brands-
flokkur, which he composed about Brandur Kolbeinsson:

Among men the glorious Brandur
won a fine reputation, for

this excellent warrior made

a habit of sharing his wealth.

The generous man had little love
for holding back capital:

the champion regularly and often
dispensed treasure to his friends.

The friend-blessed warrior

gave gold to the common people,
distributing riches as much

as he overflowed with them.

This man was most generous
with his great fortune:
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Fylgdarmenn beir er verid h6fdu med Kolbeini unga en pa voru
med Brandi voru eigi triir ad pvi ad peir feeru med dansagerdir
peer er Poroi gast eigi ad. Kom pad til eyrna Pordi.

Og ba er Brandur vard var vid flimtan peirra bad hann pa
skjott nidur leggja og fara eigi med slik illindi, sagdi ad par
meetti mikio illt af standa en ekki gott. Gerdist pa ordasveimur
mikill { milli héradanna. Pérdur var fdordur en po6 likadi honum
pungt allt saman, gems peirra og pung malaefni er honum potti
peir hafa vid sig.

Mart var pa i Skagafirdi roskra manna en pessir voru mest
til radastodar med Brandi: Broddi Porleifsson magur Kolbeins,
Asbjérn Tllugason, Einar langur, Olafur chaim, hann bjé pa 4
Miklabee i Blonduhlid, og fleiri adrir er verid h6fou vinir Kol-
beins.

Pérdur hafdi margt fylgdarmanna med sér og gerdist
raunmikill ordasveimur er 4 leid veturinn. Var pa ber fjand-
skapur milli héradanna er 4 leid veturinn en vid barust 6ll
vandreaedi framan til paska. En grid st6ou milli allra manna
fram um alpingi. Og var st sett stofnud ad télf manna démur
skyldi 4 6llum malum, peirra manna er best paettu til fallnir a
ollu Islandi.

Oft sast stjarnan kometa um veturinn.

Menn Pérdar féru jafnan vestur { sveitir um veturinn ad
erindum sinum og hann sendi ord vinum sinum peim er hann
vildi ad nordur keemu. Teitur Styrmisson fér nordur milli jéla
og fostu. Hann atti bu i Flatey og hann hafdi um haustio fengio
Sigridar Halfdanardéttur. Hrafn Oddsson og Eyjolfur freendi
hans komu vestan 4 fostunni. Peir Pérarinn Témasson og
Hékon galinn komu pa og vestan fra Sturlu og var Pérarinn pa
heimamadur Pérdar. Bjérn drumbur fér og pa nordur og Péll
kappgnogur.

Um vorid a paskum sendi Pérdur Nikulas Oddsson og Almar
Porkelsson nordur til Oxarfjardar { lidsafnad og stefndi lidinu
nordan i paskavikunni.
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the memory of such a popular
and prestigious person shall endure.

Kolbeinn ungi’s former retainers, who now served Brandur, did
not act in good faith because they produced parodies which dis-
pleased Pordur. They reached Pérdur’s ears.

When Brandur became aware of their lampoons he ordered
them to stop behaving with such malice, saying that only great
evil would come of it and not good. It now happened that there
were a great number of rumours circulating throughout the re-
gions. Poérdur had little to say on the matter, however, he found
their lampoons and all the offences they had perpetrated against
him burdensome, all the same.

There were many bold men in Skagafjérdur at this time and
these were the closest advisors of Brandur: Broddi Porleifsson
(Kolbeinn’s brother-in-law), Asbjérn Illugason, Einar langr,
Olafr chaim (he lived then at Miklabzer on Blénduhlid), and
many others who had been friends of Kolbeinn.

Pérdur had many retainers with him and there were a lot of
rumours flying around during the winter. As winter drew on,
enmity emerged between the regions, but all troubles were pre-
vented until Easter. A truce continued to stand between all the
men until the general assembly. There it was agreed that twelve
men should pass judgment on all their cases, those men who
were thought to be the worthiest in all Iceland.

Often a comet was seen amongst the stars during the winter.

Pérdur’s men went often in the western districts during the
winter on errands and he sent word to his friends as to when
he wanted them to come north. Teitur Styrmisson went north
between Christmas and the fast. He had a farm on Flatey and
he had married Sigridur Halfdanardéttir during the autumn.
Hrafn Oddsson and his kinsman Eyjolfur came went dur-
ing the fast. Then Pérarinn Témasson and Hakon galinn also
came from Sturla in the west. At this time, Pérarinn was one of
bérour’s attendants. Bjorn drumbur and Pall kappgnégur then
went north as well.
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Fig. 10. Kakalaskali, set up to commemorate the Battle of Haugsnes.
Photo by the author.



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

In the spring, around Easter, Pérdur sent Nikulds Oddsson
and Almar Porkelsson north to Oxafjérdur to gather troops and
bring them south during Easter week.
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Fertugasti og fyrsti kafli

Snemma { fostunni sendi Brandur menn sina sudur til Gissurar,
Gegni Illugason og Haimund Pérdarson, med bréfi. Pad sagdi
svo:

Gissuri Porvaldssyni sendir Brandur af Stad kvedju guds og
sina fullkomna vindttu. Slikt hid sama er mitt skaplyndi um
samband vid pig freendi sem 1 fyrra sumar reeddum vid og fyrir
pvi ad ekki minnkar naudsyn hvorratveggju ad vér holdumst
saman sem best.

Kyrrt ma kalla um hagi Pérdar allt til fostuigangs. Pa gerdist
marga vega umleitan beedi um handsél 4 londum i Skagafirdi i
héradi voru, og heitast til og kallad sattarof ef eigi er uppi latid.
Mjog leita og Pérdar menn sina vini undan oss ad heimta med
pviliku sem pd verdur helst vio komist. Leitad hefir og verid ad
semja adra satt en adur var ger vid oss. bad er ordtak bordar
a0 engar megi heilar settir verda nema hann hafi allan Nord-
lendingafjérdung undir sér ad forradi. Hann pykist ni og allan
Borgarfjord eiga og kallar Porleif ur Gordum 6ruggan vin sinn.

Nu ger svo vel freendi, reyn slika menn sannri raun. bad
vildum vér og ad pu teekir alla kosti af Borgarfirdi eftir bodi
konungs pvi ad oss pykir par allgott ad ad veita. Sannspurt
héfum vér ad Pordur sendi bréf Sigvardi biskupi ad leyfa sér
kirkjugéngu og sex ménnum med honum og par med ad hann
skyldi halda ydur fra malum vid oss Skagfirdinga og hann hafi
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Chapter Forty-One

Early in the fast, Brandur sent his men Gegnir Illugason and
Héamundur Poérdarson south to Gissur with a letter. Its contents
were as follows:

“Brandur from Stadur sends Gissur Porvaldsson his greet-
ings and everlasting friendship. My views on an alliance with
you, kinsman, are much the same as they were when we dis-
cussed the matter last summer, especially given that the need
for us to remain united has at best remained the same. It must
be admitted that Pordur kept himself quiet until the begin-
ning of the fast. Then, we had many attempts launched from
both sides to negotiate over ownership of land sold through
handshake agreements in our region of Skagafj6rdur, along
with threats and promises to break the truce if these are
not given up. Pérdur’s men are seeking to turn their friends
against us with such means as they are able to. We have also
tried to broker additional settlements beyond those which
before have already been agreed to. Pérdur has proclaimed
that there will be no secure settlement reached until he has
the entire Northern Quarter under his authority. He thinks
now that he owns all Borgarfjérour and calls Porleifur of
Gardar his trusted friend. Now kinsman, please endeavour
to ascertain the sincerity of these men. It is also our wish that
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pvi heitid. En pad vitum vér ad biskup sendi bréf Steinmodi
presti ad leida hann i kirkju og svo gerdi hann.

Vel treystum vér héradsmonnum velflestum vist ef pt synir
pig par hja oss. Tregt veitir oss heldur ad fa gerdarmenn. bykir
vant og mikio i ad ganga. Nu ad svo komnu 6llu pa viljum vér
a0 pér saekid nordur hingad 4 vorn fund sem pti matt verda fyrst
vid latinn rad fyrir ad gera og ekki treystast menn sambandi
nema pu komir bradla til pvi ad vér megum fyrir 6ngan mun
tyrir sakir haska héradsbyggdarinnar yovarn fund sakja.

Peir Gegnir komu sunnan fra Gissuri og til Brands i paska-
vikunni og s6gdu ad Gissur mundi svo sem dkominn adeins.
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you retake control of all Borgarfjordur in line with the king’s
request because we think that this will prove of excellent as-
sistance to us. We have received a reliable report that Pérour
sent a letter to Bishop Sigvard to receive leave for himself and
six men to go to church and with this to prevent you from
involving yourself in his dealings with we Skagfirdingar. He
was promised that and we know that the bishop sent a let-
ter to the priest Steinmédur instructing him to lead Pérdur
to the church and so he did. We are certain that we shall be
able to trust most of the people in the region well if you show
yourself to be with us. It has proved most difficult for us to
find mediators though no less problematic to attack either.
Now that all of this has come to pass, we want you to come
here to the north to meet with us as soon as you can, firstly
to make plans, and secondly because people shall not trust in
the alliance unless you come here posthaste. This is because
we are not able to visit you due to the threat to the settle-
ments of the region”

Gegnir and Hdmundr came north from Gissur to Brandur in
Easter week and said that Gissur would soon come.
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Fertugasti og annar kafli

Pad er sagt a0 hinn fjérda dag paska atti bPérdur fund 4 Grund
vid alla beendur par i héradi nema Hall 4 M6druvollum pvi ad
hann var pa heimamadur i Ba sudur. Pordur gerdi pa bert ad
hann eetladi vestur til Skagafjardar med flokk pann er hann fengi
og reka harma sinna, ad pvi er hann kalladi, vid Skagfirdinga.

Klyppur Ketilsson svaradi fyrstur reedu boérdar: Vel er ng,
sagdi hann, p6 ad vér forum til Skagafjardar. Eigi munum vér
nu skjotlegar 4 braut reknir en neestum er vér féorum par med
flokkana.

Engi madur melti par i méti Pordi en fylgdarmenn fystu
mjog og 16gdu margir hardlega til. Sunnudaginn eftir paskaviku
tor Porour heiman og ut i Horgardal en pridja daginn vestur yfir
heidi. Ridu fylgdarmenn Pérdar fyrir. Eyjolfur Porsteinsson var
tyrir peim.

P4 kvad Ingjaldur visu pessa:

Hvatr fer heldr a0 vitja
hlyrgards, Skagafjardar,
von er hreggs, ef heima,
hjarlstridandar bida.

N gerist nordr 4 heidi,
nids mun herr reka errinn,

pjo0d dregst a veg vida,
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Chapter Forty-Two

It is said that on the fourth day of Easter, Pordur held a meet-
ing at Grund which was attended by all the householders in the
region of Eyjafjérour except for Hallur of Modruvellir who was
staying at that time in the south at Beer. P6rdur then told them
that he was planning to go to Skagafjérour with as large an army
as he could gather to avenge the insults perpetrated by the Skag-
firdingar on them.

Klyppur Ketilsson responded first to Pérdur’s plan. He said:
‘it is well now that we go to Skagafjordur. We will not be chased
away any faster than the last time we went there with an army’

No-one there spoke against Pordur and his retainers were to-
tally in favour of the plan and most spoke hostile words against
the Skagfirdingar.

The Sunday after Easter week Pordur left home and went
out to Horgardalur and then on Tuesday west over the heath.
bérour’s retainers rode at the front, though Eyjélfur Porsteins-
son was beyond them. Then Ingjaldur spoke this verse:

The bold man shall visit Skagafjérour —
one should expect battle

when warriors are invited —

the winds of war are in the air.

The valiant army will
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vindlegt, glerils strindar.

Allur flokkurinn fér a Silfrastadi um kveldid. Pérdur hafdi
nordan ner fimm hundrad manna.
Brandur spurdi lidsafnad Pordar i paskavikunni. Dré hann
palid saman um allt hérad og svo vestan um heidi og ur Fljétum.
Svo segir Skald-Hallur i drapu peirri er hann orti um Brand
Kolbeinsson:

Brandr drést yta undir,
atrei0 vard pa skatna.

Britt of breidar sveitir
buendr saman strendu.
Pustu Vatnsskard vestan
vinir Brands og svo handan.
Skjott, fra eg, heldr ad hittust
hérads drott og 1id Fljota.

Pad er ad segja frd peim Po6roi ad peir lagu tti um néttina, er peir
voru 4 Silfrastodum, nidri 4 vellinum. Vindur kom 4 pa er f6lkid
flest hafdi sofid um hrid og paut mjog i spjétunum. Og vakna
sumir menn vid pytinn og hugdu ad 6fridur veeri ad kominn,
hljépu upp og brugdu vopnum. Bordust peir pa sjalfir og hljopu
sumir 4 hiis upp og vordust padan en sumir sottu ad i akafa og
var 16ng hrid og snérp adur peir kenndust. Midvikudaginn reid
Pérour ofan { Vallaholt. Einn madur hafdi fallid er Eirikur hét en
sarir h6fou ordid margir.

Brandur med sina sveit var pa 4 Vidimyri og hafdi sex hund-
rad manna.

Féru pa menn i milli peirra, Isar prestur Palsson og Ver-
mundur Halldérsson, er sidan var aboti ad Pingeyrum, og adrir
kennimenn.

Voru pé grid sett til medalferda. Budu Skagfirdingar dém
Gissurar, hvern sem Pordur teeki til. En Pordur vildi ekki nema
sjalfdeemi. En peir eeptu i méti pvi og vard ekki af seettunum.

Bjorn hét prestur og var Starrason. Hann for i lidsafnad um
Laxardal og Reykjastrond. Hann var ad Sauda midvikunéttina
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avenge the slander:
people are carrying
the rumour up to the northern heath.

The whole company went to Silfrastadur in the evening. Pérdur
had brought around six hundred men northward.

Brandur learned in Easter week of Pérdur’s armament, he
then drew troops together from all over the region of Skaga-
fjorour and the districts between the heath and Hrutafjardara.
Then Skaldhallur says in Brandsdrdpa:

Brandur soon gathered people

from the broad districts.

The men rode to him:

the householders flocked.

Brandur’s friends came

from west and east of Vatnsskard.

I have heard that the Fljétamenn and Skagfirdingar
rushed to the leader of the region.

Concerning Pérdur and his men it must be reported that they
slept under the stars the night that they were at Silfrastadir,
down on the plain. A gust of wind began to buffer them when
most of the people had slept for a while and rattled the spears
a lot. Some men woke at the sound and thought that enemies
had come. They leapt up and brandished their weapons. They
then struck out at their comrades and some ran up into houses
and defended themselves from there. Some fought violently, fer-
vently, and for a long while before they recognised each other.
On Wednesday, Pordur rode down to Vallaholt. One man had
fallen who was named Eirikr and he had received many wounds.

Brandur was at that time with his army at Vidimyri and he
had 720 men.

Now men went between them, including the priest Isar Pals-
son, Vermundur Halldérsson (who later was the Abbot of Ping-
eyrar), and other learned men.
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ba er peir bordust fimmtadaginn eftir. Hann dreymdi pegar
hann sofnadi um kveldid ad madur kom ad honum og laut
upp vfir hviluna og meelti pessi ord: Domine Jesu Christe accipe
spiritum meum. Hann vaknadi prestur og gekk at og sidan inn
aftur til hvilunnar og sofnadi og bar hid sama fyrir hann { annad
sinn og hid pridja. Penna mann péttist hann skyrt kenna baedi
a0 harferd og yfirlitum, ad Brandur var Kolbeinsson.

En pa er Skagfirdingar voru a Vidimyri kom sétt 1 1id peirra
med pvi moti ad par féllu 1 dvit neer prir tigir manna og voru
oOfeerir. Par var Pall brédir Brands i pvi flodi.
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There was a truce agreed while mediation went on. The Skag-
firdingar offered to submit the matter to the judgment of Gissur
and whoever Pérdur wanted to choose. But Pérour would have
nothing but self-judgment. And they shouted that down and so
no settlement was reached.

There was a priest named Bjorn Starrason. He went to raise
troops in Laxardalur and on Reykjastrond. He was at Sauda on
Wednesday night right before the battle took place on the Thurs-
day. He dreamed immediately after falling asleep in the evening
that a man came to him and bent over the bed and spoke these
words: ‘Domine Jesu Christe accipe spiritum meum’ [Lord Je-
sus Christ accept my spirit]. The priest woke up and went out
and when he came inside to go back to bed and sleep the same
happened again and then a third time. On the basis of both the
hairstyle and outline of the body, which the man recognised, he
believed the figure had been that of Brandur Kolbeinsson.

While the Skagfirdingar were at Vidimyri, a cloud of soot en-
gulfed their army and with that nearly thirty men fell witless
and so were unfit to travel. Brandur’s brother Pall was caught in
this flow of ash.
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Midvikudaginn um kveldid reid Pérdur 4 Ulfsstadi med allan
flokk sinn. En Skagfirdingar voru 4 Vidimyri um néttina en féru
padan snemma fimmtadaginn nordur yfir Jokulsa og ndmu stad
fyrir sunnan Djupadal 4 skridunni og fylktu par sinu lidi og
hofou framarlega a sétta hundradi manna. Eysteinn hvitur aust-
madur fylkti lidi Brands. Par biou peir Pérdar og hans manna.

Hafdi Poérdur neer imm hundrad manna og var pad lid allvel
buid.

Fylking Skagfirdinga horfdi vi0 i moti vestri og etludu peir
a0 bordur skyldi padan ad ganga en peir Pordur ridu ofan med
brekkunum. Og er peir stigu af hestum sinum og hljépu saman
ba horfou peir 4 jadarinn Skagfirdinga fylkingu. Peir Brandur
snerust vid peim og brast pa fylking peirra og voru torfgrafir
fornar milli peirra og gengu peir P6rdur par yfir. Pérdur var i
midri sinni fylkingu og pé fremstur en i hinn nyrdra arminn
voru Svarfdelir og nordanmenn en Eyfirdingar voru i hinn
sy0ra arminn og férst peim hvorumtveggjum heldur seinna
um grafirnar. Par voru peir Brandur fyrir og fylgdarmenn hans.
bérdur réd pegar 4 er peir mettust. Var fyrst grjothrid en pa
gengu spjotalog og tok pa skjott ad losna fylking Skagfirdinga
sem klambrarveggur veeri i rekinn. Par heitir Haugsnes upp fra
sem bardaginn var fra ofan 4 grundinni. Svo segir Skald-Hallur:
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On Wednesday evening, P6rdur rode to Ulfsstadir with his
whole army. The Skagfirdingar were at Vidimyri overnight, but
Brandur left early on Thursday and went north over Jokulsa and
encamped south of Djupadalur on the hillside and gathered
more to their army from there so that he had nearly 720 men.

Eystein hvit, a Norwegian, joined Brandur’s army. There they
awaited the arrival of Pérdur and his men.

Pérdur had around six hundred men, and his army was all
well prepared.

The army of the Skagfirdingar were facing east as they as-
sumed that Pérdur would attack from that direction. However,
Pérdur and his army rode down the slopes and when they dis-
mounted their horses and ran together they faced the flanks of
the army of the Skagfirdingar. Brandur and his forces turned
towards them and there were ancient turf trenches between
them which Pérdur and his men crossed over. Pérdur was in
the middle of his army, though among the front ranks and on
the northern arm were the Svarfdelir and those from north of
Oxnadalsheidi, and the Eyfirdingar were on the southern arm
and both were going at a slow pace due to the trenches. Before
them were Brandur and his retainers. Pérdur attacked as soon
as they met. First came a hail of rocks, which was followed by
thrusts of spears. The lines of the army of the Skagfirdingar now
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Bratt vard ferd ad fréttum
fundr, 4 Hauganess grundu,
heettr, sa er holdar attu,

hlif raudst, fira lifi.

Lagdi lyor par er dugdi
landfélk saman randir,

og fullhardra fyrda
tylkingar 4 gengust.

Ruddist bryndum broddi,
Brandr neytti vel handa,
af par er eggjar skifou,
aud-Baldr, hluti skjaldar.
Geystust geirar traustir,
gekk hrafn af pvi drekka,
fast ad fyrda brjéstum,
fen dreyrugra benja.

bess getur Hallur og ad Brandur var framarlega i fylkingu
ondurdan bardagann og gekk pa fram fyrir hann Jén Skidason
er kalladur var koérkjappi, mikill madur og sterkur.

Svo segir Hallur:

Gekk, par er geirar stukku,
godi vor med hjér rodnum
fyrstr 1 fylking trausta

fram og P6rdr hinn rammi.
Fast hygg freendr ad lystu,
ferd ofradi sverdum,

él vard Yggjar bala,

ondurt saman rondum.

Jon Skidason, er hann hljép fram fyrir Brand, lagdi tveim
hondum spjéti til Pérdar svo ad hann féll vid en Skagfirdingar
aptu ad. Porsteinn Gunnarsson hljép fram yfir hann. ba urdu
margir atburdir senn i hoggum og spjotaléogum. Var petta hin
snarpasta orusta svo ad engi hefir slik ordid 4 Islandi bedi ad
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began to bend and break as if a wedge had been hammered into
it. Haugsnes is the name of the place up from the battlefield,
though it was fought down in the field. So says Skaldhallur:

Soon there was much talk
about the Battle of Haugsnes,
where blood spilled

and many were slain.

All the people boldly besieged
the shield fortress

and the chieftains’ armies
pressed on each other.

Brandur fought with skill

pressing forward with sharp spear
to the place where shields

were cut to pieces.

His spear was sharp

and stung the torsos of many men.
The gushing, bloody wounds
served to slake the raven’s thirst.

Hallur also mentions that Brandur led from the front at the be-
ginning of the battle. In front of him was Jon korkjappi Skida-
son, who was a big, strong man. So Hallur says:

The good one fought with a bloody sword
in front of the swell of troops,

where the spears flew,

as did Pordur, the strong one.

The kinsmen fought vigorously.

Men swung swords,

and each smash of shield

was answered by the crash of a blade.

Jon Skidason, when he leapt in front of Brandur, thrust a two-
handed spear at Pérdur so that he fell down. At this, the Skag-
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fiolmenni og mannfalli. Pérdur st6d skjott upp er hann hafdi
fallio og kvad sig ekki saka. Gegnir Illugason gekk vel fram.
Hann lagdi til Hakonar galins. Kom lagid i augad og bryddi ut
um hnakkann. Vard pad hans bani. Vard pa mikid mannfall af
hvorumtveggjum.

Einar audmadur hét madur. Hann bjé i Vik 1t fra Stad. Hann
atti Ingibjorgu Bergporsdottur, frendkonu Pérdar. Hann var til
pess settur sem hann gerdi ad hann flydi fyrstur allra manna og
Brandur son hans og par margir eftir.

beir Pordur gengu pa ad fast er peir sau ad flottinn brast og
vard pa mannfall enn af hvorumtveggjum. Hafur Bjarnarson,
Brandur Atlason og margir adrir og Fljotamenn med peim og
Slétthlidingar komust 4 fylkingararm Pdrdar hinn nyrdra og
gengu ad drengilega og drapu par ner tuttugu menn af nordan-
moénnum svo ad hver 1a hja 6drum. En héradsmenn og vestan-
menn um heidi, 4 peim brast flotti og var pad fj6ldi manns. En
ef peir hefou stadid kyrrir p6 ad peir hefou ekki annad gert pa
hefdu Skagfirdingar kosid a vid nordanmenn. En nu bar eigi svo
til handa. Pérarinn Témasson, hann komst 4 hest og rak a flott-
ann. En Porbjérn Salendingur reid undan med 60rum flotta-
monnum. Pa heyrdi hann kall 4 bak sér aftur ad hann skyldi
drygja dad og duga honum. Porbjérn sneri skjott aftur og sér ad
tveir menn séttu ad Sveini eldbodungi og var annar 4 hesti. Por-
bjorn lagdi pegar til pess er 4 hestinum var og rekur i gegnum
hann spjo6tid. Var pad banasar. Var pad Pérarinn Témasson.
Drepinn var sa og er ad Sveini sotti annar. Ari Finnsson er bjé
i Bjarnarstadahlid, hann vildi eigi flyja og studdist 4 6xi sina
og song Mariuvers er menn heyrdu sidast. Almar Porkelsson
hjé6 hann banahogg. Broddi Porleifsson, Asbjorn Illugason,
Einar langur, Gegnir Illugason, Jén kjappi, Karp-Helgasynir
prir, Koll-Sveinn, Porvaldur, Bergpér gengu allir fram rosklega
og mikil sveit med peim. Gengu peir svo fram fyrir Brand ad
honum var vid 6ngu heett medan peir voru allir heilir og eigi
sundurskila. A mét peim kom P6rdur og fylgdarmannasveit
hans og mikil sveit dnnur. Vard pa af nyju hid hardasta él. ba
vard Gegnir fraskila sinum félogum. Séttu hann pa prir eda
fjérir en hann vardist vel og drengilega. Vard hann médur mjog
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firdingar cried out. Porsteinn Gunnarsson leapt over him. Then
many things happened at once in terms of strikes and spear
thrusts. This was the largest battle that has ever been fought here
in Iceland, both in respect of the number of combatants and the
multitude of them that fell. Pérdur stood up shortly after falling
and said he was unhurt. Gegnir Illugason attacked courageous-
ly. He struck at Hakon galinn. The strike came into his eye and
went through his head, coming out at the neck. That became his
death. Then great numbers of men began to fall from both sides.

There was a man named Einar audmadur. He lived at Vik
out from Stadur. He was married to Ingibjorg Bergporsdottir, a
kinswoman of Pérdur’s. He did as he was ordered by Pordur and
fled first of all, then his son Brandur, and they were followed by
many others.

bPérdur and his men continued steadfastly when they saw
the retreat and people continued to fall on both sides. Hafur
Bjarnarson, Brandur Atlason, and many others, such as the
Fljétamenn and Slétthlidingar, courageously attacked the north-
ern arm of Pordur’s army and there they killed nearly twenty
men from north of Oxnadalsheidi so that the bodies piled up.
But now those from both the region of Skagafjérour (includ-
ing the districts west of Vatnsskard) began to flee in great num-
bers. If the Skagfirdingar had stood firm without wavering, they
would have overcome the men from north of Oxnadalsheidi.
But this did not take place. Pérarinn Témasson mounted a horse
and chased after those fleeing. Porbjorn Selendingur rode away
with the other fugitives. Then he heard a call from behind him
that he should have courage and render some aid. Porbjérn im-
mediately turned back and saw that two men were attacking
Sveinn eldbodungur, one of whom was on horseback. Porbjérn
thrust immediately at the one on the horse and impaled him on
his spear. That was a mortal wound: the man slain was Pérarinn
Témasson. The other man who had attacked Sveinn was also
killed. Ari Finnsson who lived at Bjarnarstadahlid did not want
to flee and leaned on his axe to sing the Ave Maria: this was
the last thing men heard him utter. Almar Porkelsson delivered
his death wound. Broddi Porleifsson, Asbjoérn Illugason, Einar
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er hann hafdi brynju punga og féll hann fyrir peim en peir flettu
upp um hann brynjunni og drapu hann svo. Hjalti hét madur
og var kalladur jarnauga. Hann var vasklegur madur og féll har
bleikt & herdarnar undan stalhtfunni. Pad setludu nordanmenn
Pal Kolbeinsson og séttu ad honum prir menn en hann sagdi ad
engi einhleypingurinn eda leysinginn skyldi peim sidur hlifa en
hann. Peir sottu hann lengi 4dur hann féll. Hann hafdi 4 pridja
tigi sara og 1ét hann med miklum drengskap lif sitt. Jon Skidason
lét sem hann sai 6ngan mann annan en Pérd og sotti hann i
akafa. Svo sagdi Pordur sidan, er um var talad, ef slikir hefoi
prir verid kjapparnir ad hann hefdi aldrei sdl séd. Séttust pa
allir i akafa, peir sem vid héldust med Brandi. Svo segir Hallur
i Brandsdrapu:

Hardr frd eg heldr ad yroi
Hildar leikr par er gildir
baugskerdandar bordust.
Bitu sverd i hlym ritar.
Yggs var0 annar tveggja,
a0 gengust skatnar,

odda meidr { 60u

alls gnyhreggi falla.

Létu lif fyrir spjotum,
lask eigi par haski,
sungu vopn 4 vangi
vighlj60, biendr godir.
Vitt 14 valr 4 gryttu,
vard tafn buid hrafni,
gunnar mdr yfir gaurum
gall, Haugsnesi fallinn.

Og er 16ng hrid hafdi svo gengid pa ridladist sveitin Brands og
urdu pa manndrapin. Hrani Kodransson feerdi stein mikinn ad
Joni Skidasyni og kom 4 bringuna og gengu inn bringspelirnir
og vard pad hans bani. Jén vardist p6 nokkura stund sidan
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langr, Gegnir Illugason, Jén kjappi, and the three sons of Karp-
Helgi (Koll-Sveinn, Porvaldr, and Bergpoér) all went forward
bravely and a large company with them. They went thus in front
of Brandur so that he was in no peril while they all remained un-
injured and unseparated. Pérdur and his followers came against
them, along with a large company of other men. Now, hard bat-
tle resumed anew. Gegnir became separated from his fellows.
He now fought three or four men and defended himself well
and bravely. However, Gegnir became most fatigued as he had
a heavy byrnie and he fell before his attackers. They took off
his byrnie and thus slew him. There was a man named Hjalti
jarnauga. He was a manly man and his pale hair fell down from
his helmet onto his shoulders. The Northerners thought this was
Pall Kolbeinsson and three men attacked him but he said that no
vagrant or freeman would show them less mercy than he. They
fought for a long time before he fell. He had thirty wounds and
left his life showing great bravery. Jén Skidason focused blink-
eredly on Poérdur and attacked him zealously. Pérdur said of this
afterwards, when he spoke about it, that if there had been three
such he-goats he would never have seen the Sun again. Then all
those who stood with Brandur attacked fervently. So says Hallur
in Brandsdrdpa:

The battle intensified

the longer it went on.
They fought hard:

sword bit shield.

One of the two warriors
had to perish in the mélée.
Eagerly, the men thrust

at one another.

Good householders expired,
impaled by long-shafted spears.
The loss of life was great:
swords sang on the battlefield,
and the entire area
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en hann hafdi neer engi 6nnur sar og lét hann par lif sitt med
miklum drengskap og hreysti ageetrar karlmennsku.

Brandur komst a hest og var tekinn i milli Grunda 1 flott-
anum. Kolbeinn gron tok hann og feerdi hann upp 4 grundina
par sem nu stendur krossinn.

Kolbeinn fann Pérd og sagdi ad Brandur var handtekinn.

Pérour meelti: Hvi drepid pér hann eigi?

Pérdur sat pa uppi 4 grundinni. Var pa lokid mjog bardaga-
num.

Kolbeinn meelti: Eg vissi eigi nema pu vildir til ganga.

P4 st6d bordur upp.

Pa meelti Hrafn Oddsson: Gangid eigi til Pérdur ef Brandur
skal eigi gri0 hafa.

b4 fékk boérdur til Sigurd Glimsson ad vega ad honum.

Gekk Kolbeinn gron par til sem Brandur var handtekinn
og margir menn med honum. Sigurdur hjé til Brands med 6xi
en Brandur skaut yfir sig buklara. Kolbeinn snaradi af honum
buklarann. Pa hjé Sigurdur um pvert hofudid Brandi og klauf
hofudid ofan ad eyrum. Lét Brandur par lif sitt. Vio liflat Brands
var 4 pridja tigi manna. Par var sett upp r6da sem Brandur féll
og heitir par R6dugrund sidan.

Eyjolfur Porsteinsson fékk tekid Einar lang fraenda sinn og
gaf honum grid og hafdi hann drengilega barist.

Fleiri menn voru par teknir, peir er grid voru gefin af ymsum
freendum sinum eda vinum. En peir flydu allir er pvi komu vid.

Par féll fjoldi manna af hvorumtveggjum og fj6ldi vard sar.
Og hinir bestu baendur féllu ur Eyjafirdi: Klyppur Ketilsson, Por-
gils Holasveinn, Gudmundur Gilsson, Magnus Narfason, Vigfis
Porgilsson. Neer fjorum tigum féll af Pordi. Af Skagfirdingum
téll Brandur Kolbeinsson, Jon Haflidason, Kleppjarn Hallsson,
Olafur chaim, Illugi fra Svinavatni. Af Brandi féll 4 sjsunda tigi.

Svo segir Ingjaldur i flokki peim er hann orti um Brand og
kvad & hversu mart latist hefir:

Hreggsulli tok halla,

hné ferd i dyn sverda,
skoglar furs a skyra

284



THE SAGA OF bPORDUR KAKALI

was strewn with corpses.
The ravens smelled supper
and started to shriek.

After a long while, Brandur’s forces split and men began to fall.
Hrani Kodransson threw a huge rock at Jon Skidason and it hit
his chest and breached his ribcage and that became his death.
However, Jon continued to defend himself for a little while after
but he had nearly no other wounds and left his life there with
great courage, valour, and excellent manhood.

Brandur fled on horseback but was routed in between the
two farms which are both called Grund. Kolbeinn grén seized
him and led him up to the field where the cross now stands.

Kolbeinn found P6rdur and told him that Brandur had been
captured.

‘Why have you not killed him?” Pérdur retorted.

Pérdur was at that time sat on the battlefield, the action al-
most over.

Kolbeinn said: ‘T did not know if you wanted to be there’

Then Po6rdur stood up.

Hrafn Oddsson interjected: ‘Pérdur, do not be there if Bran-
dur is not to receive mercy’

Pérdur now ordered Sigurdur Glumsson to kill Brandur.

Kolbeinn gron went to where Brandur was being held and
many men with him. Sigurdur cut at Brandur with an axe but he
shielded himself with a buckler. Kolbeinn tore the buckler from
him. Then Sigurdur hit Brandur across his head and cleaved it
down to the ears. There Brandur left his life. At his death, thirty
men were present. A rood cross was set up where Brandur fell
and this place has since been known as Rédugrund.

Eyjolfur Porsteinsson had Einar langur his kinsman seized
and granted him mercy. He had fought courageously.

More men were seized there, those who were granted mercy
by various of their kinsmen or friends. However, all fled who
were able to.

Onboth sides many fell and were injured. The best household-
ers from Eyjafjorour fell: Klyppur Ketilsson, Porgils Holasveinn,
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Skagfirdinga stirdum.
Hvits hefir hundrad latist
hjaldrlands i styr manna,
trautt ma tal pad er hittum,
tireett, ur pvi feetta.

Skiptu skop sem oftar,
skorungr féll 1 dyn hjorva
dstr med ordstir bestan,
Osvifr fira lifi.

Far ma fleina skurar
freegr aldrlagi beegja
seids né sinum dauda
svipskordandi forda.

Elgrundar bjarg pt éndu
a0str pjo0konungr maestri,
g60s samir budlung beida,
Brands, viofjornis landa.
Hvild fai 60lingr, aldar,
allvis paradisar,

prutt sa er pislum léttir,
Pals brodur frid salu.

Pérdur reid 4 Flugumyri af fundinum. Gerdi hann pa bert ad
allir menn skyldu { gridum koma 4 hans fund, peir er settast
vildu vid hann.

Séttu pa margir menn til hans, peir er 4 fundinum hofou
verid og margir menn adrir. Seldu allir honum sjalfdemi og
svordu honum trunadareida.

Hann ték undir sig 611 hérudin og fér vid pad heim nordur og
sat nd um kyrrt nokkura stund.
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Gudmundur Gilsson, Magnus Narfason, and Vigfus Porgils-
son. Nearly forty of Pérdur’s men fell. Among the Skagfirdingar
fell Brandur Kolbeinsson, Jon Haflidason, Kleppjarn Hallsson,
Olafur chaim, and Illugi of Svinavatn. On Brandur’s side nearly
seventy men fell. As Ingjaldur says in Brandsflokkur about how
many died:

The tide of the battle turned

against the brave Skagfirdingar:

their knees sank in a din of swords,

the blades pummeling them.

A hundred men were lost on the battlefield,
a land of flashing shields.

At that encounter no more fell,

yet there were no fewer for that.

Fate shaped events as often in life:
in the din of swords there fell

the noblest and worthiest chieftain,
a man who now rests in peace.
No-one — not even

the most well-known warrior —

is ever able to dodge

or delay his death.

King of kings and heaven,

grant salvation to glorious Brandur’s soul,
for all want to land ashore

in a better place.

All-wise king of men,

who replaces suffering with joy,

grant the soul of Pall’s brother

the repose of paradise.

Pérdur rode to Flugumyri after the battle. He then let it be

known that all men who wanted peace with him should come to
meet him, where they could settle with him.
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Now many men sought him out, those who had been in the
battle and many others. They all granted him self-judgment and
swore oaths of allegiance to him.

Pérour took under himself all of the districts and with that
went north to his home and sat thereafter quietly for some while.
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Lik Brands var fert til Stadar og par jardad fyrir sunnan kirkju
vid songhusio fyrir stikudyrum og var hann mjég harmdaudi
sinum moénnum.

Svo segir Ingjaldur { Brandsflokki:

Mildr réd skemr en skyldi
skjaldreyrs hotudr aldri,
prymkennis tok pannig
pungr harmr sonu unga.
Viggs mega varla hyggja
vedrtams svana bedjar
ams bliknjotar itrir
audmilds skorungs dauda.
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Brandur’s corpse was taken to Stadur and there buried before
the south side of the church, in front of the door to the choir
house, and he was greatly mourned by his men. So said Ingjald-
ur in Brandsflokkur:

Death prematurely took

the generous warrior: thus,

great grief gripped

his young sons.

It is unthinkable

to the distinguished men

who followed him

that the openhanded champion is dead.
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Tidindi pessi flugu skjott um land allt og péttu mikil, sem var.

En pegar Gissur spurdi pessi tidindi dré hann lid saman og
for nordur um land. Hann hafdi neer fjogur hundrud manna.
Hann kom { Skagafjord og pa heimbod med fimmtanda mann
a0 Jorunni Kalfsdottur ad Stad og hét henni og sonum hennar
lioveislu sinni traustri og vinattu. Jéorunn gaf honum gjafir
go0ar. Skagfirdingar sottu pa 4 fund Gissurar og jatudu honum
sinum tranadi.

Njosnir gengu pa til Pérdar og safnadi hann pa pegar
moénnum og fékk pa enn mikid lid. En menn hans voru 4dur
mjog hremmdir og var eigi jafnléttvigt sem um vorid fyrir
fundinn.

Eftir pad tokust medalferdir og foru peir 4 milli Porir tottur
Arnpdrsson, hann hafdi skip 4 Eyrum og var med Gissuri. Mar-
gir menn féru adrir 4 milli og vard saman komid settum med
pvi a0 Hakon konungur skyldi gera med peim vid pa menn sem
hann vildi vid hafa. Skyldu peir fara utan um sumarid badir,
bérdur og Gissur. Séru tolf menn satt pessa ir hvorutveggja
rikinu og a0 halda pessa sett en peir fundust ekki sjalfir Gissur
og boérour.

Eftir seettina for Gissur sudur.
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Chapter Forty-Five

News of the events which had taken place spread quickly throug-
hout the country and all who heard thought it momentous.

When Gissur learned these tidings, he drew an army together
and went to northern Iceland. He had nearly 480 men. Gissur
came to Skagafjorour and visited Jorunn Kalfsdéttir at Stadur
with fourteen other men. He promised to provide her and her
sons with strong support and friendship. Jérunn gave him good
gifts. The Skagfirdingar then sought Gissur out and swore their
allegiance to him.

Intelligence of this reached Pérdur and he immediately sum-
moned men and once again gathered a great army. However, his
men were utterly depleted and not as keen for battle as they had
been in the spring.

Now, negotiations began with Périr tottur Arnpdrsson acting
as the go-between: he had a ship at Eyrar and was on Gissur’s
side. Many other men also mediated between the two sides. It
was agreed that King Hékon would arbitrate their case along
with another man of his choosing. Pérdur and Gissur were both
to travel abroad in the summer. Twelve men involved in the case
from each domain swore that this agreement would be fulfilled,
though Gissur and Pérour did not meet in person.

After the agreement, Gissur went south.
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En Pordur bjost til utanferdar. Hann fékk rikio til geymslu Half-
dani magi sinum og skyldi hann vera 4 Grund og Steinvér og
born peirra. Par voru og fylgdarmenn Pérdar, Kolbeinn grén og
Almar Porkelsson. Pordur gifti Puridi Sturludéttur Eyjolfi Por-
steinssyni. Skyldu pau og vera 4 Grund um veturinn.

En peir féru utan med Po6rdi Nikulds Oddsson, Porsteinn
Gunnarsson, Ingjaldur Geirmundarson. Féru peir utan i Eyja-
firdi. En Gissur fér utan 4 Eyrum og peir med honum Onundur
biskupsfrendi, Gudmundur Pérhildarson, Porleifur hreimur.
Peir komu hvorirtveggju til Noregs um haustid og fundu Hakon
konung 1 Bjorgvin og foru hvorirtveggju med honum nordur til
Prandheims pvi ad konungurinn sat par um veturinn.

Hékon konungur lagdi stefnu til mala peirra Pérdar og
Gissurar.

Og a stefnunni 1ét Pordur lesa upp rollu langa er hann hafdi
latid rita um skipti peirra Haukdeala og Sturlunga. Birtist par &
margur skadi er Pordur hafdi fengid i mannalatum.

P4 meelti konungurinn: Hvad flytur pu hér i mét Gissur?

Hann svarar: Ekki hefi eg skrasett sagnir minar en p6 kann
eg hér nokkru i moéti ad svara. En pé kalla eg hér einardlega fra
sagt vorum skiptum.

Og pann ordrém fengu peir badir ad menn kvadust eigi heyrt
hafa einardlegar flutt en hvor flutti sitt mal, svo margt sem i
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Chapter Forty-Six

bérdur prepared to travel abroad. He gave his brother-in-law
Haélfdan his domain to oversee. Halfdan was to stay at Grund
with Steinvor and their children. He also left his retainers Kol-
beinn gron and Almar Porkelsson there. Pérdur married burid-
ur Sturludéttir to Eyjolfur Porsteinsson. They were also to re-
main at Grund during the winter.

Nikulds Oddsson, Porsteinn Gunnarsson and Ingjaldur
Geirmundarson went abroad with Pérdur. They disembarked
from Eyjafjorour. Gissur went abroad from Eyrar and with him
he had Onundur biskupsfreendi, Gudmundur Pérhildarson,
and Porleifur hreimr. Both came to Norway in the autumn, met
King Hakon at Bergen, and went north with him to Trondheim
because that was where the king stayed during winter.

King Hakon summoned a meeting to decide the case be-
tween Pordur and Gissur.

At the meeting, Pérdur had a long roll read aloud which he
had had written about the feud between the Haukdelir and
Sturlungar. In it was reported the many injustices Pérour had
suffered in loss of life.

Then the king said, ‘what do you have to say in reply Gissur?’

Gissur responded: ‘T have not written a statement, but I shall
give a speech. Nevertheless, I shall admit that the account of our
troubles already given is most reliable’
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hafdi ordid. Meelti og hvorgi 6drum i moti eda 6sannadi annars
sogn. En pad péttust menn skilja ad konungurinn mundi heldur
aleidis vikja fyrir Gissuri allt pad er honum poétti svo mega. Og
hofou menn pad fyrir satt ad pad mundi mjég vera fyrir sakir
mala Snorra Sturlusonar er lat hans hafdi nakkvad af konung-
inum leitt.

Peir budu malin 6l 4 konungs dém en konungur 1ét pa eigi
festa og ongan urskurd gerdi hann a4 madli peirra um veturinn.
En um vorid fér konungurinn sudur til Bjérgvinjar og badir peir
med honum Gissur og Pordur og menn peirra med peim. Var pa
enn talad um mélin er peir komu sudur.

En er Porour keerdi 4 um malid Snorra Sturlusonar svaradi
konungurinn par fyrir og sagdi ad hann étti pad ad bacta en bad
Gissur svara 60rum malum.

pétti méonnum pa sem Hakon konungur mundi lidsinna
Gissuri um allt pad er honum peetti sér séma eftir honum ad
meela.

Voru peir nt badir med konungi.
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This enhanced both their reputations as people said they
had never heard more concordance between accounts given by
disputants in a case, especially such a contentious one as this.
Neither of them opposed or denied the utterances of the other.
However, people thought that the king would do everything in
his power to support Gissur. People thought that this was mostly
because of the matter of Snorri Sturluson, the death of whom
the king was partly responsible for.

They offered to submit the whole case to the king’s judgment,
but the king had not made up his mind and he did not decide
the outcome of their dispute during that winter. In the spring,
the king went south to Bergen, along with Gissur, Pérdur, and
their men. After arriving in the south, they then presented their
cases again.

When Pérdur brought up the matter of Snorri Sturluson the
king responded to this and said that he had that to compensate
but instructed Gissur to answer the other charges.

Because of this, people thought that King Hékon would as-
sist Gissur whenever he thought that speaking would harm his
credibility.

They now remained with the king.
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Fertugasti og sjoundi kafli

N skal hér taka til 4 Islandi. Pad sumar eftir Haugsnessfund og
fall Brands var fridur 4 Islandi.

Stadar-Kolbeinn var pa fyrir radum ad Hélum og var heill
litt um sumarid eftir fundinn. Naut hann hvorki svefns né matar
og potti mikid frafall Brands sonar sins. Hann kom til Stadar a0
finna Jérunni nokkuru fyrir Olafsmessu hina fyrri og gisti ad
Stad og fékk ekki meelt vid Jérunni né adra hugdarmenn sina.
Padan reid0 hann upp 4 Vidimyri til Ingigerdar dottur sinnar.
Lagdist hann 1 rekkju er hann kom par og andadist Olafsmessu
hina sidari og pétti peim ménnum er gjorst vissu sem honum
mundi mannamissir mjog grandad hafa. Var hann ferdur til
Stadar og jardadur fyrir sunnan kirkju hja Brandi syni sinum.

Kolbeinn var pa neer sjotugum manni er hann andadist. En
Brandur var halffertugur er hann féll, vetri yngri en Kolbeinn
ungi. Jafnlengd Brands og peirra manna er pann dag létust er
fjorum néttum fyrir Jénsmessu Holabiskups.

P4 var 1i3id fr4 falli hins heilaga Olafs konungs sex vetur hins
tiunda tigar og hundrad télfraett en fra brennunni i Hitardal er
mest tidindi h6fou pa énnur ordid hér 4 landi, tveim vetrum fatt
i tiu tigi vetra. P4 er Brandur féll var Innocentius pafi i Roma,
Fridrekur var keisari, Eirikur Eiriksson konungur i Svipjéd,
Eirikur og Abel i Danmork, Hakon konungur i Noregi, Heinre-
kur konungur i Englandi.
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Chapter Forty-Seven

We must now return to events in Iceland. The summer after
the Battle of Haugsnes and Brandur’s death there was peace in
Iceland. Kolbeinn of Stadur was then staying at Holar and he
remained there during the summer after the Battle of Haugsnes.
Kolbeinn was ill and could neither eat nor sleep for grief over
his son’s death. He went to Stadur to meet Jérunn to celebrate
the former mass day of Saint Olaf and lodged there, but was
unable to speak to either Jérunn or any of the people closest to
him. From there he rode to Vidimyri to his daughter Ingigerdur.
Kolbeinn took to his bed when he arrived there and died on the
latter mass day of Saint Olaf. The people who knew most about
the circumstances assumed he had died of a broken heart on
account of the death of his son. Kolbeinn was taken to Stadur
and buried in front of the southern wall of the church with his
son Brandur.

Kolbeinn had been almost seventy years old when he died,
and Brandur thirty-five years old when he fell, a year younger
than Kolbeinn ungi. The death day of Brandur and the men who
died with him is four nights before the mass of Jén the bishop
of Holar.

This was 216 years after the death of Saint-King Olaf and nine-
ty-eight years after the fire at Hitardalur, which was the second
most significant event to have ever taken place here in Iceland.
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Fig. 11. King Hékon’s hall in Bergen, Norway. Source: Wikimedia,
https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Haakonshallen_Bergen_
Norway_2009_1.JPG.
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When Brandur died, Innocent was the Pope in Rome, Frederick
was the Holy Roman Emperor, Erik Eriksson was the King of
Sweden, Erik and Abel were the Kings of Denmark, Hakon was
the King of Norway, and Henry was the King of England.
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Fertugasti og attundi kafli

Vetri eftir Haugsnessfund kom hingad i Nordurlénd og til
Bjorgvinjar Vilhjalmur kardinali sendur af pafa Innocentiusi
til pess ad vigja Hédkon konung undir kérénu. Hann vigdi og
Postulakirkju i konungsgardi a Svithunsmessudag um sumario.

Hékon konungur 1ét pa Gissur og Pord kara mal sin svo ad
kardinalinn var vi0 og 1ét tja honum alla malavoxtu peirra.

En er kardindlinn heyrdi og skildi mannlat pau er Pérdur
hafdi fengio i skiptum peirra Gissurar pa veik hann par mjog
eftir og potti jafnan sem hans hlutur mundi hafa vid brunnid.
Vildi hann pad eitt heyra ad Pordur feeri pa til Islands en Gissur
veeri par eftir, kvad pad og rad ad einn madur veeri skipadur yfir
landid ef fridur skyldi vera.

b4 var og vigdur Heinrekur biskup til Islands til Hélastadar
og dré hann mjég fram hlut Pérdar vid kardinalann og svo vid
konunginn. Var pa og allkaert med peim biskupi og P6roi.

Um sumarid Olafsmessu var Hakon konungur vigdur undir
kérénu. Hafdi hann pa veislu mikla ut i naustinu.

P4 var pad radio ad Pordur skyldi at og var hann pa skipadur
yfir allt landio til forrada.

En Gissur var pa eftir og potti honum pad allpungt. Var
honum pa skipud sysla nordur i Prandheimi.

borgils freendi Pordar var pa eftir med konungi svo sem 1
nokkurri gislingu fyrir P6rd til trunadar vid konung.
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Chapter Forty-Eight

One winter after the Battle of Haugsnes, Cardinal William came
to Bergen in Norway. William had been sent by Pope Innocent
to coronate King Hakon. William also consecrated the Church
of the Apostles in the king’s courtyard during the summer on
the mass day of Saint Swithun.

At that time, King Hakon had Gissur and Pérdur present
their case before the cardinal, explaining to him all the details
of the case.

When the cardinal heard and so understood the loss of men
suffered by Pérdur in his dealings with Gissur, he was profound-
ly moved by what he had heard and thought that Pérdur had
suffered most of the two. He wanted to hear nothing but that
Pérdur would return to Iceland and Gissur remain in Norway,
providing also that counsel that if there was to be peace in the
country only one man should rule there.

At that time also, Bishop Henrik was consecrated to the epis-
copal see of Holar and he strongly supported Pérdur’s cause
with the cardinal and so with the king. At this time, Pérdur and
the bishop were the best of friends.

During the summer, on the mass day of Saint Olaf, King
Hékon was coronated. He then held a great feast in the boat-
house.
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Then it was decided that Pérdur should return to Iceland and
govern it.

Gissur was to remain behind and he was most displeased
about that. He was then made sheriff of a northerly county in
Trondheim.

Pérdur’s kinsman Porgils also remained in Norway as some-
thing of a hostage to guarantee P6rdur’s allegiance to the king.
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Fertugasti og niundi kafli

Sumar pad er bordur for til Islands var tveimur vetrum eftir pad
er Kolbeinn ungi andadist og Svarth6foi Dufgusson for utan i
Hvita med voru pa er Kolbeinn lagdi til utanferdar Pordi. Var
Svarthofoi pann vetur i Noregi er Pérdur var 4 Grund. En pad
sumar er Pordur for utan kom Svartho6fdi at i Vestmannaeyjum.

Pad sumar er Hakon konungur var vigdur féru peir Heinrekur
biskup og Pérdur til Islands. Kom Pérdur i Vestmannaeyjar. Tok
hann par vin mikid er hann 4tti en Svarth6foi hafdi at flutt og
skilid par eftir i eyjunum. Fér Poérdur upp til Keldna, fann par
Haélfdan mag sinn og Steinvoru. Voru pau baedi komin nordan
ur Eyjafirdi. Hafdi peim litt likad til fylgdarmanna Pérdar.
Pérour reid sidan nordur til Eyjafjardar til Grundar og dvaldist
par nokkura hrid 4dur hann foér vestur i sveitir. Og er hann kom
i Borgarfjord tok hann undir sig sveitir allar og allt fé Snorra
Sturlusonar og svo héradid i Borgarfirdi. Hann fér i Garda til
Porleifs og tok af honum trinadareida og skipadi hann mest yfir
héradid. Sendi hann pa menn 4 Bessastadi og tok bu pad til sin
og hafdi padan molt mikil og flutti upp { Reykjaholt og wtladi
par a0 sitja um haveturinn. En hann fér pa vestur til Saurbaejar
og var a Stadarhdli med Sturlu um jélin 6ndverd. Sidan foru peir
Sturla badir sudur i Reykjaholt og satu par framan mjog til fostu.

Pba kom vestan Einar Porvaldsson og Hrafn Oddsson og
jatudust allir Vestfirdingar til hlyoni vid Poro.
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Chapter Forty-Nine

The summer that Pérdur returned to Iceland was two winters
after the summer when Kolbeinn ungi died and Svarth6fdi went
abroad via Hvita with those goods which Kolbeinn had provid-
ed for Pérdur’s journey abroad. The winter that Svarthofdi was
in Norway, Pordur was at Grund. The summer that Pérdur went
abroad, Svartho6fdi returned to Iceland via the Vestmannaeyjar.
The summer when King Hakon was coronated, Bishop Hen-
rik and Pérdur went to Iceland. Pordur returned via the Vest-
mannaeyjar. He took on much wine there, which belonged to
him, and which Svarthofdi had imported and left there on the
islands. Pordur travelled up to Keldur, where he found Halfdan,
his brother-in-law, and Steinvor. They had both come from
Eyjafjorour in the north. They had liked Pérdur’s retainers little.
Pérour then rode north to Grund in Eyjafjordur and remained
there for some while, before he went west into the districts.
When he came to Borgarfjordur, he established himself as leader
of all the districts and custodian of all the property of Snorri
Sturluson and so the region of Borgarfjordur. He went to Gardar
to Porleif and took an oath of allegiance from him, placing him
as leader of the region. Next he sent men to Bessastadir and took
that farm for himself and had much malt from there taken up to
Reykholt and intended to remain there during midwinter. Then
he went west to Saurbaer and was at Stadarhdll with Sturla dur-
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Pann vetur kvongadist Nikulas Oddsson i Reykjaholti.

Kom pa sunnan Sigvardur biskup og urdu peir Pérdur ekki
mjog sattir i fyrstu sin 4 milli en greiddu po vel. Gaf Pérour til
stadarins { Skalaholti Skégtjorn 4 Alftanesi fyrir sal f6dur sins
og modur. Hun andadist pa um haustid 4dur hann for nordan.

Pérdur reid nordur méti paskum og tok undir sig 61l hérud 1
Nordlendingafjérdungi. Meelti b4 engi madur { méti pvi. Ongvar
baud hann beetur eftir Brand freenda sinn enda beiddi engi béta.
Voru synir Brands pa ungir, annar atta vetra en annar niu.

Um vorid gerdi Pordur annad bu i Geldingaholti { Skagafirdi
og var hann par [6ngum. Var par fyrir Kolfinna Porsteinsdottir.
Hun var frilla Pérdar og attu pau déttur er Halldéra hét. Pérdur
atti tvo sonu vid Yngvildi Ulfsdéttur, P6rd og Ulf. Styrmir hét
son hans og Nereidar Styrmisdéttur. Jon karin var elstur. Hann
var feeddur i Vestfjoroum.

betta sumar reid bordur til pings med fjolmenni mikid og
voru pa flestir hinir steerri menn 4 pingi og veittu allir P6rdi
tilleeti nema Sunnlendingar peir er voru menn Gissurar og enn
sumir Averjar beir er eigi vildu hlyda rddum Hélfdanar.

P4 voru peir freendur ungir i Austfjordum, synir Porarins
Jonssonar, Porvardur og Oddur. Peir h6fou fodurleifd sina
og viku peir 6llum sinum mélum undir P6rd og hans forsja.
Semundur Ormsson hafdi Siduna og fodurleifd sina. Guo-
mundur var pa ungur, brédir hans, og réd Semundur fyrir
peim. Hann var vitur madur og heldur agjarn og potti liklegur
til mikils hofdingja. Hann bjo ad Kalfafelli. Hann meelti til
hinnar mestu vinattu vid P6rd og vildi ad hann hefdi forsja fyrir
honum. Hann beiddist ad gerast heimamadur bérdar.

En Pérdur réd einn 6llu 4 pinginu. Hann tok til I6gmanns
Olaf hvitaskald Pérdarson. Hann yfdist heldur vid Sunnlend-
inga og kvedst sja hverra f6durbéta peir vildu honum unna er
peir vildu sidur pjéna honum en 6drum ménnum 4 Islandi. En
peir gafu ekki gaum ad pvi. Hann hét pvi ad peim mundi eigi
betur ganga ef peir héldu pvilikri steerd fram. En p6 reid bPérdur
nordur af pinginu og var heima um sumarid.

En um haustio pa er skipagangur var reyndur og vitad var
a0 Gissur kom ekki ut reid Pérdur sudur um Kjol med mikla
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ing the beginning of Yule. Afterwards Sturla and Pérdur both
went south to Reykholt and remained there until muchway
through Lent.

Now Einar Porvaldsson and Hrafn Oddsson came west, and
all the Vestfirdingar pledged obedience to Pérdur.

That winter was the wedding of Nikulas Oddsson at Reykholt.

Following this, Bishop Sigvard came from the south, and he
and Pérdur were not at all agreeable with each other at first, but
they settled well though. Pérdur gave Skdgtjérn on Alftanes to
the see at Skalholt for the souls of his father and mother. His
mother had died then during the autumn, before P6rdur went
north.

bérdur rode north towards Easter and established himself
as leader of all of the regions in the Northern Quarter. No-one
spoke against that at that time. He offered no compensation
for Brandur, his kinsman; moreover, no-one asked for any.
Brandur’s sons were young then, one eight winters old, and the
other nine.

During the spring, Pérdur established another farm at
Geldingaholt in Skagafjorour, and remained there for a long
time. Kolfinna Porsteinsdéttir controlled the household there.
She was bordur’s mistress, and they had a daughter, who was
named Halldéra. Pérdur had two sons with Yngvildur Ulfs-
déttir, P6rdur and Ulfur. Styrmir was the name of his son with
Nereidur Styrmisdottir. Jon karin was the eldest, he was born in
the Vestfirdir.

That summer, Pérdur rode to the assembly with a large com-
pany, and at that time all the greater men were at the assembly,
and they all granted deference to Pérdur, except the Southern-
ers, those who were Gissur’s men, and also some of the Averjar,
those who did not want to obey Halfdan’s advice.

At that time, those kinsmen who lived in the Austfirdir were
young, the sons of Pérarin Jénsson, Porvardur and Oddur. They
had their patrimony and they turned over all their matters to
Pérdur and his foresight. Semundur Ormsson had Sida and his
own patrimony. Gudmundur, his brother, was then young and
Semundur controlled all for them. He was a clever but some-

309



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

sveit manna og fér um alla sveit Gissurar. Maeltu p4 flestir menn
ekki i moti ad pjéna honum og var peim p6 hin mesta naudung.
Hann lagdi og fégjold 4 alla baendur og pétti peim pad léttara
en pjona opinberlega til Pordar pvi ad peir voru einfaldir i sinni
bjonustu vid Gissur. Poérdur for ofan allt 4 Nes og svo upp i
Borgarfj6rd. Var pa kominn til hans Seemundur Ormsson. Fér
Pérour ur Borgarfirdi 1 Dala vestur og skipti rikjum med peim
freendum sinum Sturlu Pérdarsyni og Joni Sturlusyni. Pad gerdi
hann 4 Porbergsstodum. Reid hann sidan nordur Laxardalsheidi
og sat 4 Grund um veturinn.

Pann vetur gifti hann Ingunni Sturludéttur Semundi Orms-
syni og féru pau um sumarid austur til bus pess er Seemundur
atti par. Gerdist hann pa ofsamadur mikill og poétti liklegur til
hofdingja.

Petta sumar reid Pérdur til pings og melti pa engi madur
mot honum a pingi. Guldu Sunnlendingar gjald pad er Pérdur
lagdi 4 pa og gekk po allt med hinni mestu naudung.

Petta sumar urdu peir nokkud missattir Semundur Orms-
son og Ogmundur Helgason. Keerdu peir pad fyrir P6rdi og setti
hann per greinir pa nidur er voru 4 milli peirra og peim bar
a. Meelti pa og engi madur 4 moti pvi er Pordur vildi ad veeri.
Sumar petta kom 1t bréf Hakonar konungs til Pérdar og var
honum stefnt utan. Og par voru 4 nokkurar sakargiftir og at6lur
vid P6rd um pad ad hann hefdi meiri stund a lagid ad koma
landi undir sig en undir konung sem honum pétti einkamal
peirra til standa.

Heinrekur biskup fylgdi og pessu ad Pordur héldi eigi pad
er hann hefdi konunginum heitid. Féru pa i margar greinir
med peim svo ad nalegt engi hlutur bar peim saman. Svall petta
sundurpykki svo ad Heinrekur bra til utanferdar petta sumar og
kom 4 fund Hékonar konungs. Ték hann vid biskupi forkunnar
vel pvi ad hann vissi ad hann hafdi einardlega fylgt hans mali &
[slandi. En biskup flutti ekki mjog mal Pérdar og kvad hann eigi
efna pad er hann hefdi heitid, kvad konungs vilja aldrei mundu
vid ganga 4 Islandi medan Pordur rédi svo miklu. Biskup var
med konungi um veturinn og hlyddi konungur allmjég 4 hans
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what demanding man and thought likely to become a powerful
leader. He lived at Kalfafell. He sought the greatest friendship
with Pérdur and wanted to take advantage of his foresight. He
asked to become Pérdur’s attendant.

bérdur decided all alone at the assembly. He appointed
Olafur hvitaskald Pérdarson as lawspeaker. He was fairly hostile
to the Southerners and said that he would see what compensa-
tion for a father they would give to him, when they wanted less
to serve him and other men in Iceland. However, they did not
take heed to that. He promised that things would not get bet-
ter for them if they continued to be this arrogant. Nevertheless,
Pérdur rode north from the assembly and was at home during
the summer.

During autumn, when the comings and goings of ships were
discovered and it became known that Gissur would not return,
bérour rode south over Kjol with a great company of men and
went all about Gissur’s district. Now most men did not speak
against serving him, but they were however under the most du-
ress. He also imposed fines on all the householders, and they
thought that paying these was more bearable than openly obey-
ing Pordur, because they were simple in their obedience to Gis-
sur. Porour went down all the way to the headland and so up to
Borgarfjorour. Then Semundur Ormsson came to him. bérdur
went west from Borgarfjordur to Dalir and divided the domain
between his kinsmen, Sturla Pérdarson and Jon Sturluson. He
did that at Porbergsstadir. Afterwards he rode north to Laxar-
dalsheidi and sat at Grund during winter.

That winter he married Ingunn Sturludéttir to Semundur
Ormsson, and they went east during the summer to the farm
which Seemundur had there. He then became a greatly over-
bearing man and was thought likely to become a leader.

That summer, Pérdur rode to the assembly and at that time
no man at the assembly spoke against him. The Southerners
paid those fines which Pérdur had imposed upon them, how-
ever, all was paid under the greatest duress.

That summer, Seemundur Ormsson and Ogmundur Helga-
son came somewhat into disagreement. They brought the matter

311



PORDAR SAGA KAKALA

sagnir. En pa var fatt peirra manna i Noregi er mjog dreegju fram
hlut Pérdar nema nokkurir 16gunautar hans.
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before Pordur and he settled the disputes which were between
them and bore on them. At that time no-one spoke against that
which Pérdur wanted to happen.

That summer a letter from King Hakon arrived for Pérdur,
and he was summoned abroad. There were some accusations
and reproaches against Pérdur in this: that he had taken more
pains to ensure that he established himself as leader of the coun-
try rather than the king, as he thought their special, personal
agreement to stand.

Bishop Henrik agreed that Pérdur had not stuck to that which
he had promised to the king. Now many disputes emerged be-
tween them, so that there was nearly nothing on which they
were agreed. This disagreement grew to the extent that Henrik
determined to go abroad that summer and he came to meet
King Hakon. He greeted the bishop exceedingly well, because he
knew he had faithfully pursued his case in Iceland. The bishop
did not speak favourably about Pérdur’s case and said that he
did not perform that which he had promised and said the king’s
cause would never proceed in Iceland, while Pérdur controlled
everything. The bishop was with the king over the winter, and
the king listened closely to what he said. However, there were
at that time few men in Norway who promoted Pérdur’s case,
except for some of his messmates.
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Gissur Porvaldsson fér utan sem fyrr segir naesta sumar eftir
Flugumyrarbrennu. Hann kom vid Hordaland. Frétti hann ad
Hakon konungur var { Tansbergi. Sté hann par 4 land og pegar i
byrding og fér austur til konungs. Ték konungur honum allvel.

bérour kakali var pa { Bjorgvin er skip pad kom pangad er
Gissur hafdi a verid. bPar voru margir islenskir menn 4 skipinu.
P4 frétti Pordur pau tidindi er gerst h6fdu 4 Islandi.

Og svo bar til litlu sidar er peir h6fou upp skipad ad bPérdur
og nokkurir menn gengu hja stofu einni og heyrdu pangad
mannamal. Peir ndimu stadar og heyra ad sagt var fra drapi
Kolbeins Dufgussonar. S4 madur sagdi fra er Porour hét og var
Steinunnarson. Péttust peir pad finna ad hann bar allar sogur
betur Gissuri en brennumdnnum, kvad alla menn undrast ad
Kolbeini vard ekki fyrir.

ba gengur Pérdur i stofuna og meelti: Nu skal sja hversu
mikid pér verdur fyrir.

Laust hann pegar med 6xi er hann hélt 4 svo ad Pordur féll
pegar i ovit.

Litlu sidar for Pordur kakali austur til Tunsbergs og tok
konungur honum eigi marglega. Gissur var par fyrir. Og er
Pérdur hafdi par skamma hrid verid bidur hann konung ad
hann 1éti Gissur 4 brott fara og segir eigi 6rvaent ad vandreedi
aukist af ef peir vaeru { einum kaupstad badir.
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[Here the copies of Reykjarfiardarbok are followed)|

Gissur Porvaldsson went abroad, as was said before, the next
summer after the burning of Flugumyri. He came ashore in
Hordaland. He learned that King Hakon was at Tunsberg. He
step on land there before boarding a merchant ship and heading
east to the king. The king greeted Gissur most well.

bérour kakali was in Bergen when the ship on which Giss-
ur had been arrived. There were many Icelandic men on that
ship. Pérdur now learned of the events which had taken place
in Iceland.

So it happened that a little later, when Gissur and the others
had gone up from the ship, that Pérdur and some men went to
a sitting room and heard men’s voices thither. They took places
and heard news of the killing of Kolbeinn Dufgusson. The ac-
count was given by that man who was named Pérdur and who
was Steinunn’s son. They considered that he told the whole story
completely in Gissur’s favour rather than that of the arsonists,
and everyone said they were astonished to hear that Kolbeinn
was not difficult to overcome.

Pérour then burst into the sitting room and announced: ‘now
I shall see how difficult you are to overcome’
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Konungur svarar: Hver von er pér pess ad eg reki Gissur
freenda minn fra mér fyrir pessi ummeeli pin? Eda mundir pa
eigi vilja vera i himinriki ef Gissur veeri par?

Vera gjarna herra, segir Pérdur, og veeri p6 langt { milli okkar.

Konungur brosti ad. En p6 gerdi konungur pad ad hann fékk
hvorumtveggja peirra syslu. Hafdi Pérdur syslu i Skidunni. beir
foru badir til Hallands med konungi. Er par mikil saga fra bordi.
Pérour var vinsell 1 syslu sinni og pykir peim sem fair islenskir
menn hafi slikir verid af sjdlfum sér sem Pérdur.

Svo segir Kolfinna Porvaldsdoéttir, og var hin pa med bo6roi,
a0 bréf Hakonar konungs komu til hans si0 um kvold er hann
sat vid drykk, pad er Pérdur vottadi ad konungur hafdi gefid
honum orlof til [slands og gera hann mestan mann. Vard hann
svo gladur vid ad hann kvad 6éngvan hlut pann til bera ad honum
peetti pa betri. Pakkadi hann konunginum mikillega. Drukku
menn pa og voru allkatir. Litlu sidar taladi Pordur, sagdist og
eigi fara skyldu af Islandi ef honum yrdi audid tt ad koma. Litlu
sidar segir Porour ad svifi yfir hann. Var honum pa fylgt til hvilu
sinnar. Ték hann pa séttinni svo fast ad hann 14 skamma stund
og leiddi hann til bana. Er fra honum mikil saga.
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Immediately, Pordur kakali struck out with the axe which he
was holding, so that his namesake immediately fell unconscious.

A little later Porour kakali went east to Tunsberg, but the
king did not greet him in a friendly manner. Gissur had arrived
there before him. After Pérdur had been there a short while, he
asked the king to send Gissur away, saying it was not beyond
expectation for trouble to arise if they were together in the same
market town.

The king responded: ‘why do you expect that I would drive
my kinsman Gissur away from me on account of these words of
yours. Would you not want to go to heaven, if Gissur was there
also?’

‘Twould want to be, Lord, replied Pordur, ‘but there would be
a great distance between us!

The king smiled at that; however, he made sure that he gave
each of the two their own county. Pérdur’s county was in Skien.
Pérdur and Gissur both went to Halland with the king. There
is a great saga about Porour. Pérdur was popular in his county,
and they think that there have been few Icelandic men like him.

So says Kolfinna Porvaldsdottir, and she was with Pérdur at
this time, that a letter from King Hédkon came to him late in the
evening, when he was sat at drink, in which Pérdur saw that the
king had given him leave to return to Iceland and appointed him
the country’s governor. He was filled with joy and commented
he had never received better news than this. Pérdur thanked the
king profusely. Now men drank and they were exceedingly mer-
ry. Shortly after this, Pérdur spoke, vowing that he would never
leave Iceland if he was fortunate enough to return. A little later
on, Pordur noted that a chill had come over him. He was then
helped to his bed. A sickness then took hold of Pérdur with such
rapidity that he only lay for a short while before he died. There is
a great saga about him.
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